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Corporate Information
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Financial Highlights

MBRE

2023 2022
—Z—= —ET-=
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR® TR ARBFIT
Revenue EERR 3,307,839 3,828,984
Gross profit EH 1,469,365 1,877,563
Gross profit margin EFE 44.4% 49.0%
Operating profit/(loss) LERAR,(EE) 378,051 (607,975)
EBITDA margin#* EBITDA X ## 22.9% 32.2%
EBIT margin EBIT X 11.4% -15.9%
Selling and marketing expenses to sales HERMGHEERZMEEL X 9.9% 9.0%
Administrative expenses to sales THRZGHEEL = 25.1% 21.6%
Profit/(loss) for the year KEFEERBF(FE) 290,483 (901,050)
Adjusted profit for the year” KRG NERA" 346,985 606,660
Profit/(loss) attributable to the ARRIEZFEA
equity holders of the Company FE(R&TF, (EE) 233,633 (1,054,547)
Ajusted profit attributable to the KRG 2 A NRIRSEE A
equity holders of the Company” e & A 290,135 453,163
Basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per BREAREERT,(EB)
share (RMB cents) (AR®ED) 7.23 (32.65)
Net cash generated from operating activities &8 /Z B E £ 2 IR /F 5 965,266 798,746
Net cash* FHE 2,021,538 3,990,775
Total equity BrEw 14,271,137 14,557,438
Final/special dividend per share (HK cents) &RXHIER 4 RIA% 2 GEAL) 5.0 5.1
Total dividend per share for the year
(HK cents) FREESRAERSGEMN) 8.5 8.48
Dividend payout ratio for the year FEREX 106.9% N/A i
Debt ratio* BfEL R 3.6% 5.4%
Current ratio (times) TENEE & (1F) 6.1 5.0
Liquidity ratio (times) RENLL R () 5.3 4.3
Inventory turnover (days) FERAER(R) 197 177
Trade receivables turnover (days) FEURERF A E=E(R) 97 89
Trade payables turnover (days) ENERFAEE(R) 51 53

*“‘ “EBITDA margin” equals to “Earnings before taxes, interest,  **

depreciation, amortisation, share-based compensation expenses
and impairment of goodwill” divided by “Revenue”.

” Excluding impairment of goodwill of RMB56,502,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2023 and RMB1,507,710,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2022.

* “Net cash” means “Short-term time deposits” plus “Cash and
cash equivalents” minus “Borrowings”.

# “Debt ratio” means “Total borrowings (include current & non-

current borrowings” divided by “Total Equity (exclude non-
controlling interests)”.
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Company Profile and Corporate Culture

CORPORATE PROFILE

Huabao International Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries
(the "Group”), consisting of flavours and fragrances segment,
tobacco raw materials segment, aroma raw materials
segment, condiments segment, is mainly engaged in the R&D,
production, distribution and sales of flavours and fragrances,
tobacco raw materials, aroma raw materials, as well as
condiments. The Group also makes diversified investments
around its core businesses. It is an industrial holdings group
based on the taste-based consumer goods market.

The Group is a market leader in China’s flavours & fragrances
industry. It owns many famous flavour brands, including
“Huabao Flavours” on the A-Shares platform, “Hedon”,
“"Huabao”, "H&K", "Tianhong"”, “Huafang”, "Owada"”,
“Amber” and so on. The Group has internationalised product
development and manufacturing capabilities, owns production
bases in regions such as Shanghai, Guangdong, Jiangsu,
Yunnan, Jiangxi, Fujian, Hong Kong, Indonesia, and Botswana
in Africa, etc., has a R&D centre in Holzminden, Germany
and Singapore, a state-level enterprise technology centre in
Shanghai, and R&D departments in Guangdong, Yunnan and
Fujian. Member(s) of the Group takes on leadership roles in a
number of industry associations which are relevant to flavours
and fragrances business, including the Vice Chairman of China
Food Additives & Ingredients Association, Deputy Director
of China Association of Fragrance & Flavour and Cosmetic
Industries, Deputy Director of China Association of Bakery
& Confectionery Industry, and Chairman of Shanghai Food
Additive & Batching Association.
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Company Profile and Corporate Culture

The Group is also one of the market leaders in China’s
tobacco raw materials field, and its production technology
and product quality have taken the leading position at
domestic level and reached advanced international level.
Guangdong Jinye, a subsidiary of the Group, is one of the
RTL R&D bases authorised by the STMA. In November 2012,
the second phase of RTL production line of Guangdong Jinye
was completed, put into production and accepted by the
STMA, which became the first landmark of paper-making
RTL production line certified by the STMA. Its production
technology has been recognized by the STMA to have reached
the highest technology level in terms of domestic paper-
making RTL production, while its major technical parameters
have also reached advanced international level. In 2016, the
“Key Laboratory for RTL Technology Research in Tobacco
Industry”, which was jointly founded by Guangdong Jinye
and Guangdong Tobacco, was recognized as the sole key
laboratory in the RTL field in China. In terms of new materials,
Shanghai Huabao Biological Technology Co., Ltd. has
developed rapidly in the cigarette new materials field, which
is represented by tobacco flavour capsule and core line. Newly
established bases Jiangxi Huabao Xinhui Technology Co., Ltd.
in 2017 became the manufacturing base for flavour capsule
business. In 2022, the Group has completed the construction
of a factory in Indonesia, which will mainly produce HNB
RTL to seize the opportunity of global development of HNB
cigarettes.

The Group is also one of the leading enterprises in China’s
aroma raw materials field. The principal products include
many natural aroma and synthetic aroma products. Its
production capacity and sales revenue account for a
significant market share in the industry, and its production
technology and product quality have reached the leading
domestic and international level. The Group acquired Jiangxi
Xianghai in 2017 and completed the production techniques
and process optimization in 2021. The acquisition played a
positive role in the establishment and layout of the Group's
aroma raw materials segment. The Group, by virtue of its
own industry advantages of the leading position and strong
scientific research strength, plans to build a leading aroma
raw materials production base in Asia and even the world.

Huabao International Holdings Limited ¥ ¥ BB} 2% A R A 7
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Company Profile and Corporate Culture

In 2018, through the acquisition of Jiahao, the Group entered
into the compound condiment market that is of great growth
room, and also further completed and optimized the Group’s
business structure, and created more sources of income. At
present, the Group has successfully established an industry
chain with full coverage from raw materials, processing, to
consumption, which brings the Group’s competitive strength
in taste-based fast-moving products industry to a new level.
The Group will also combine its industry advantages and
integration capability with the social capital, through the
multi-capital platforms, multi-collaboration channels, as well
as multi-investment collaboration models, to create more
value for the shareholders.
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Flavour Your Life VISION
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Innovative, pragmatic,
SPIRIT loyal and cooperative
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STRATEGY
B

e Adhere to the “concentric diversification strategy” and
develop into the world’s leading taste-based consumer
product industrial holdings group

e (Consolidate the existing market of flavours and
fragrances and explore new markets with product and
technology innovation

e Seize the opportunity of integration in aroma raw
materials industry and strive to achieve the goal of “Being
the global leader in the aroma raw materials industry”

e Develop international markets and boost the tobacco
raw materials business

e Consolidate the Group’s leading role in the niche
segment in the condiment industry, leverage enriched
product mix to build condiment business as the Group's
growth point
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Client first, value creation and CORE
shared achievements VALUES

=EEE - EEAE - tzag \ ROEEE

o ER[ELZITLEE] ERKSEI
BENKBREERBEXEREE

s RETREBNGEMS EBEMK
AR - FIRIEEMS

o MEBFBRBITEERANKE mIKAE
BREANBRHMERLE|E—BREL

o FHEERMS  HEERRMERER

s EREAEARMMIBAD REAR LM
- MAEREENEMERE  HEH
RmEBR R A EEEEERE

2023 Annual Report &



Chairman’s Report

Dear shareholders,

In 2023, with the end of the pandemic which lasted three
years, both production and operation of domestic enterprises
and people’s lives returned to normal. The Chinese
government launched various convenient measures for visiting
China, held different trading exhibitions, strengthening
economic cooperation and people-to-people exchanges
between China and the globe and striving to expedite the
recovery pace of economy post pandemic. Meanwhile, the
artificial intelligence achieved breakthrough in development;
consumers’ consumption model transformed; and the scale
of digital economy increased constantly. Facing technology
progress and market changes, we are aware that only by
constantly optimizing operation strategies and improving
management level as well as advancing with the times can we
maintain our competitiveness in rapidly changing market.

On behalf of the Company, | would like to share our measures
and actions adopted after pandemic and how they improved
the Group's competitiveness and management capabilities
with you.

Firstly, we strictly upheld the corporate vision of “Flavour
your life”, based on which we will strive to include the
promotion of the health of Chinese or even global consumers
in our mission. Management analyzed the current position
and future development trend of market demand and
considered that our products should not only bring consumers
with flavour delight, but also bring more additional value
for consumers, thus improving consumers’ physical health
and health conditions. As such, all of the product mix and
development strategies of our segments are transforming
toward this target. It can be seen that our self-developed
natural flavors and food ingredients, heat-not-burn RTL and
natural aroma are aimed at bringing positive changes and
effects on consumers’ health.

Secondly, we promoted an operation model of “Lean
Production” in various segments of the Group. “Lean
Production” can minimize corporate’s production costs and
reduce operation and management costs, thus effectively
improving management efficiency of the Group. The Group
selected pilot companies in each business segment, and
organized special teams in pilot company to be in charge

Huabao International Holdings Limited ¥ ¥ BB} 2% A R A 7
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Chairman’s Report

of the implementation, oversight and analysis of “Lean
Production”. After one year's practice, every pilot company
achieved inspiring progress in production cost reduction,
product quality improvement and inventory management
optimization. In future, the Group will promote “Lean
Production” model in all companies of the Group, so as to
improve production efficiency, product competitiveness and
service quality.

Finally, we formed an environmental, social and corporate
governance (ESG) strategy and execution team, prioritizing
the Group's sustainable development work. Climate
change, energy transition and handling of relationship with
stakeholders have significant impacts on operation risk, cost,
efficiency and result of corporates, playing a more and more
important role in corporate competitiveness. We provided
various ESG work related trainings for our management and
employees at different levels, which enriched everyone’s
professional knowledge about ESG and enhanced their
awareness on the importance of ESG work. In addition, part of
our subsidiaries took actions to optimize production facilities,
refine production process and perfect rules and regulations,
the outcome of which passed assessment by clients on ESG
work. With more attention paid by our country and the globe
to ESG work, we will devote more resources in this regard and
strive to, together with society, achieve development of high-
quality and sustainability.

| hereby express my sincere gratitude to all of our employees’
joint efforts for above realized changes and achievements. In
2024, there are still many challenges in economy prospects,
including potential reoccurrence of geopolitical conflicts
and trading protectionism, and insufficient consumption
confidence. Countries global-wide and China face great
pressure on economy development. The recovery of market
demand is also full of uncertainties. It is at this time that we
shall meet the challenges with more calmness and steadily
promote development of each business with long-term vision.
We appreciate your trust and support for Huabao, and we
wish to, being with you, face and solve difficulties, pursue
excellence and keep progress.

CHU Lam Yiu
Chairlady

Hong Kong, 26 March 2024
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Management Discussion and Analysis

In 2023, both the domestic and international economies have
experienced great challenges and difficulties. Internationally, due to
the outbreak of geopolitical conflicts and the continuation of tight
monetary policies, market demand in major countries and regions
declined. Domestically, economic activities began to return to normal
after the pandemic. Given consumer confidence was still depressed,
with a conservative sentiment in consumption, the demand for goods
and services did not rebound as expected. Amidst insufficient or even
reduced market demand at home and abroad, enterprises paid more
attention to costs control and improvement in production efficiency,
and were more cautious and conservative in investment. In order
to cope with pressures arising from the domestic and international
macroeconomic downturn, the management of the Group took
numerous measures to reduce its operating risks and pressures. In
particular, in terms of production, the Group implemented the “Lean
Production” program to improve the resource use and production
efficiency for business development and reduce production costs.
In terms of market, the Group consolidated the domestic market
and promoted the development of overseas markets to expand
business coverage. In terms of sustainable development, the Group
formulated an ESG (environmental, social and corporate governance)
development strategy, improved its management system for the
sustainable development, enhanced its ability to cope with climate
risks and conduct corporate management, enabling the Group to
meet the ever-increasing ESG-related requirements of customers on
suppliers and strengthening its ability to sustainably and steadily
create values.

INDUSTRY OVERVIEW

Overview of the tobacco industry

According to the data from the National Bureau of Statistics, the
cigarette production volume in China reached 48.855 million cases
in 2023, representing an increase of 0.4% year-on-year. The tobacco
industry realised industrial and business tax and profit amounted to
RMB1,521.7 billion, representing a year-on-year increase of 5.6%;
realized a fiscal income of RMB1,502.8 billion, representing a year-
on-year increase of 4.3%. In view of the low demand elasticity
of tobacco products and the slight impact of macroeconomic
fluctuations, the tobacco industry has developed steadily in terms
of the production and sales, which has made positive contributions
to stabilizing the economic market, ensuring the national and local
fiscal revenue growth, and promoting the social development.

Huabao International Holdings Limited ¥ ¥ BB} 2% A R A 7
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Management Discussion and Analysis

During the Reporting Period, domestic and foreign market regulators
further strengthened the supervision of e-cigarettes. Internationally,
regulators in major e-cigarette markets formulated more explicit
requirements for the taste, naming standards, advertising, and
promotion of e-cigarettes to avoid the use of e-cigarettes by
teenagers. Domestically, regulators provided guidance for e-cigarette
enterprises to learn the National Standards for Electronic Cigarettes
and the Administrative Measures for Electronic Cigarettes, and
issued the Guidelines on Promoting the Construction of Export
E-cigarette Product Quality Assurance System, urging Chinese
e-cigarette enterprises to continuously strengthen the process and
management, and improve the competitiveness and reputation of
China’s e-cigarettes products in the international market. With the
continuous improvement of e-cigarette supervision in recent years,
the e-cigarette industry at home and abroad entered into a stage
of standardized development. In the future, the market share and
potential development of e-cigarette enterprises will depend on its
comprehensive competitiveness.

According to the data released by major international tobacco
companies, the proportion and growth rate of HNB cigarettes in
the sales of their products continued to increase, and international
tobacco companies regarded HNB cigarettes as an important
product for strategic transformation and sustainable development.
The vigorous development of HNB cigarettes brought business
opportunities for suppliers in the industrial chain, which, on the
other hand, represented the gradually increasing investment
opportunities in the industry, further resulting in a more intense
competition. For suppliers, their competitiveness in the industry
and market shares could be improved only if they have established
competition barriers, improved product quality and strengthened
cooperation with customers.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Overview of the food and beverage industry and
daily-use chemical industry

After the end of the pandemic, the Chinese government issued
several papers to boost consumption, and the food and beverage
industry also ushered in a rebound. According to the National
Bureau of Statistics, the value-added industrial output of the food
manufacturing industry with enterprises of designated size or above
increased by 3.3% year-on-year, the value-added industrial output
of the agricultural product processing industry grew by 0.2% vyear-
on-year, and the value-added industrial output of the wine, beverage
and refined tea manufacturing industry grew by 0.8% year-on-
year. Although the business environment of the food and beverage
industry improved after the pandemic, the residents’ conservative
sentiment forced food and beverage enterprises to adopt promotions
and cost reduction methods to increase their sales. In the daily-use
chemical industry, a group of Chinese local daily-use chemical brands
gained consumers’ attention through live streaming and other
marketing methods, and acquired more market share by virtue of
cost-effective products. Amidst such overall gloom environment with
subdued consumer sentiment, local daily-use chemical brands are
expected to win the favour of more consumers and grow stronger
with their high quality and low price attributes.

Overview of the condiment industry

In 2023, the catering industry rebounded sharply, with annual
revenue exceeding RMB5 trillion, reaching RMB5,289 billion,
representing a year-on-year increase of 20.4%. The revenue of
the catering industry in 2023 increased by 13.3% year-on-year
compared with 2019 before the outbreak of the pandemic, and
the strong recovery of the catering industry boosted the demand
for condiments. During the post-pandemic period, given the fierce
competition in the catering industry, catering enterprises actively
adopted promotion, discounts and other ways to increase customer
traffic, and improved their sales by creating popular dishes in
segmented tracks. Condiment companies realized the change
in customer demand and began to introduce more compound
condiments to help customers create popular dish items and improve
their order fulfilment efficiency as well as operation efficiency.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

RESULTS

During the Reporting Period, the Group achieved a revenue of
approximately RMB3,308 million (2022: approximately RMB3,829
million), representing a year-on-year decrease of 13.6%; gross profit
margin of approximately 44.4% (2022: approximately 49.0%),
representing a year-on-year decrease of 4.6 percentage points;
operating profit of approximately RMB378 million (2022: operating
loss of approximately RMB608 million); profit attributable to the
equity holders of the Company of approximately RMB234 million
(2022: loss attributable to the equity holders of the Company
of approximately RMB1,055 million); basic earnings per share
of approximately RMB7.23 cents (2022: basic loss per share of
approximately RMB32.65 cents).

Excluding the impact of the goodwill impairment of RMB56.5
million in 2023 (2022: goodwill impairment of RMB1,508 million),
the Group recorded an adjusted operating profit of approximately
RMB435 million (2022: adjusted operating profit of approximately
RMB900 million), representing a year-on-year decrease of 51.7%;
adjusted profit attributable to the equity holders of the Company of
approximately RMB290 million (2022: adjusted profit attributable
to the equity holders of the Company of approximately RMB453
million), representing a year-on-year decrease of 36.0%.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Review of F&F and Food ingredients business

During the Reporting Period, revenue of the F&F and Food ingredients
business of the Group amounted to approximately RMB1,464 million
(2022: approximately RMB1,877 million), representing a year-on-year
decrease of 22.0%, and accounting for approximately 44.3% (2022:
approximately 49.0%) of the Group’s total revenue. The decrease
in revenue was mainly due to the changes in market demand and
the increased market competition. Operating profit of the segment
amounted to approximately RMB406 million (2022: approximately
RMB824 million), representing a year-on-year decrease of 50.8%;
and operating profit margin was approximately 27.7% (2022:
approximately 43.9%), representing a year-on-year decrease of 16.2
percentage points. The decline in operating profit and operating
profit margin was primarily attributable to changes in product mix.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Flavours

In terms of tobacco flavours, the fierce market competition
resulted in the decreased customer purchases. The sales team
actively communicated with customers, presented the Group's
comprehensive competitive strength to customers and maintained a
stable cooperation relationship with customers. For food flavours,
the demand of downstream customers for food and beverage
rebounded, boosting the sales growth of food flavours. The Group
produced heat-resisting flavours for baking and puffed food
manufacturers, and heat-resisting flavour products include potato
microcapsule powder flavor and ginger microcapsule flavor, etc.,
which may well preserve the food’s flavour and delicious taste
during the high temperature production process. The Group studied
the prevailing flavours in the market and launched products with
regional characteristics such as pandan and coconut to provide
customers with more options. For overseas markets, Warlbor Asia
Pacific in Singapore considered the demand of major surrounding
markets and obtained halal certification for several flavour products
so that products could be adapted to the eating habits and
preferences of local consumers. Warlbor Asia Pacific also analyzed
the development trend of the Southeast Asian and global food and
beverage market, optimized its recipe and order system, with an aim
to provide customers with personalized products and high-quality
and efficient services. The Group also acquired land in Indonesia for
the construction of a local plant for the production of flavours and
food ingredients, so as to make its products be easily and quickly
available to the Southeast Asian market.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Fragrances

After the pandemic, domestic daily-use chemical brands were
recognised by consumers with their excellent cost-effective
products. The Group strengthened communications with existing
local customers and actively developed certain new customers.
Internationally, the Group’s marketing and sales teams visited
countries in Africa and Southeast Asia to study local consumer
preferences, strengthen relationships with local suppliers and
customers, and further explore the international market.

Food ingredients

The food ingredient market has a broad prospect for development,
and consumers are increasingly focusing on the functionality and
health of food ingredients. The Group’s food ingredients mainly
include natural fruit products, and have been recognized by
customers with their excellent appearance, taste and nutrition.
In response to the Group's internationalization strategy, the
management of the food ingredients business studied the laws and
regulations of overseas markets and consumer demand, actively
participated in various exhibitions to enhance the understanding
of overseas markets and strengthen the Group's visibility and
influence in the international market. The Group made more efforts
in providing major customers with product supporting services,
and carried out in-depth cooperation in food ingredients solutions
with leading customers such as Mondelez and Orion by leveraging
its own technical advantages, covering beverage, baking, puffed
food, hot and spicy food, catering and other sectors. In addition,
the Group actively promoted new superior products such as natural
fruit and vegetable powder and IceFire Magic Ball Popping Boba,
conducted regular in-depth exchanges regarding product technology
with customers, actively provided customers with creative planning
of new products and a full set of solutions for customized research
and development through its research and evaluation on the market
trend.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Investment progress of the proceeds raised by Huabao Flavours

In April 2021 and April 2023, the Group adjusted the use of the
proceeds raised from the IPO of Huabao Flavours in 2018 and the
implementation plans for the investment projects in order to better
respond to the industry changes and the Company's development.
The Group ceased the construction of “Huabao Yingtan Flavours
and Ingredients Production Base Project” and the “Lhasa Pure
Land Healthy Food Project” and transformed the “Huabao H&K
Food Flavours and Food Technology Development Project” into the
“Huabao Technology Innovation Center and Supporting Facilities
Project” (“Huabao Techinno Project”), and launched the new
“Huabao Digital Transformation Project” (“Huabao Digital Project”).

As of 31 December 2023, the cumulative amount dedicated for the
Huabao Techlnno Project was approximately RMB9.423 million (31
December 2022: approximately RMB5.0323 million), representing
an investment progress of 2.09% (31 December 2022: 1.1%).
The cumulative amount dedicated for the Huabao Digital Project
was approximately RMB21.4969 million (31 December 2022:
approximately RMB17.5898 million), representing an investment
progress of 35.83% (31 December 2022: 29.3%). As of 31 December
2023, the balance of unused IPO proceeds (including accumulated
interest income received) amounted to approximately RMB1,660
million (31 December 2022: approximately RMB1,668 million).
As of 31 December 2023, the IPO proceeds utilized amounted to
approximately RMB940 million (31 December 2022: approximately
RMB901 million), accounting for 40.8% (31 December 2022:
39.0%) of the total proceeds from the IPO in 2018 of approximately
RMB2,310 million.

Huabao International Holdings Limited ¥ ¥ BB} 2% A R A 7

BERE

oy

2

Ve &R

BEERGBEESETRELEE
BTETMESTESENQREEDN
=B 2021F 48 K2023F4 7 K
EEEH20018FEERMDERLAFHER
ESHBMEBEHRIRET T AR -
AEBKRLITIZEEZERABEBR
R EEREMIBR | R EBNESF
TRERREE | BIEEZHLERR
ERERMEMAEIER JARRIESE
OB EIF T L REERGEEE ([
ERAIEE D] UHEIEERDET
{bERIEE ([EESHRFTEB )] -

HE2023F 128318 E=ERAE
BE:IRANARE 942 38 7T(2022
F12H31B: 49 A B %503.23&8
) WEETE £2.09% (2022412
A31B:11%)- EEH FHE R
AL ARY2,149.698 7£(2022
F12A31H: HH AR ¥1,758.988
JT) 0 B E 535.83% (20224F 12
H31H :29.3%) - # £20234F 12 A
3MH: MAFERNBEAAHAEEES
HEBE(BERFTRIOFNE)HARE
16.6187C(2022F 12 A31H : HAR
¥ 16.6818 7L ) ° B =20234F 12 A 31
H BEFEANEXAHEEESSEY
AR B94E (2022128318 -
HWARBIOEIT) (h2018F &
RAFAERESHARE231ETH
40.8% (20224128 31H :39.0%) °



Management Discussion and Analysis

Review of the tobacco raw materials business

During the Reporting Period, revenue of the Group’'s tobacco
raw materials business was approximately RMB465 million (2022:
approximately RMB454 million), representing a year-on-year
increase of 2.3%, and accounting for approximately 14.0% (2022:
approximately 11.9%) of the Group’s total revenue. The increase
in the segment revenue was mainly due to the sales growth of
RTL in overseas market. Operating profit of the business segment
was approximately RMB90.77 million (2022: operating loss of
approximately RMB238 million), representing a year-on-year
increase of 63.0% in comparison to the adjusted operating profit of
RMB55.68 million (excluding the goodwill impairment of RMB293
million) in 2022; operating profit margin was approximately 19.5%,
representing a year-on-year increase of 7.2 percentage points in
comparison to the adjusted operating profit margin of 12.3% in
2022. The increase in operating profit and operating profit margin
was mainly due to the Group's efforts to reduce production costs
and operating expenses.

RTL

RTL includes traditional RTL and HNB RTL. Due to the weak demand
for traditional RTL in the domestic market, the output and sales of
traditional RTL in China have not increased, and the Group failed
to implement scale production of HNB RTL as the market was not
open yet. In response to the “One Belt, One Road” Initiative, the
Group invested in the construction of a plant in Indonesia for the
production of HNB RTL, in order to provide quality products to
international customers, and the plant had achieved sales growth.
The Group’s plant in Indonesia has a total of three production lines,
one of which has been put into production and steadily provided
some customers with products, and the other two production lines
are still under construction and are expected to be completed in
the third quarter of 2024, bringing the total production capacity
of HNB RTL to 3,000 tonnes. The Indonesian plant has successfully
completed customers’ inspection in terms of process, management
and social responsibility, and is able to provide customers with high-
qguality products and services in the future, contributing to the
development of the Group's international business.

6]
‘:ﬂ_lllt
3
¥
a>
=X

B

ERRERREKERE

WEHAN - AEEERRERBESHEEW
AANREE4658TT(2022F  HAR
4548 70)  RELBRE2.3%  (HE¥
EEBEHWKAEL14.0% (2022 F :
#911.9%) c WA LA FTERHNTE
BEEGIIMBHEER - RIRESER
FIE AR 077 EL(2022F « &8
EEAOARK238E7T)  E20224F
LA E BRI ARKS 5688 T
BREEREARB293EL) M
F63.0% : ZBEBREFMEH19.5% + £
2022 F AL ERFNE12.3% AL
EAT2EEDH  BERBINMEER
FEEFARERABEEREEERE - &
DEBEBHR -

HiEER
BEEEBRERBEEEMMEATIR
BEREEE - ARBEATISHEREE
BEFFRS  ERBEEEERNN
EEMHEWRBIER - MATRES
MBI R A 3 5 B R B b T 1 BE 4
MBREEE SBEE—&F—KIE
FENERATREERTEEM
A TMEBEEENTIR  REEREERP
REEEER  ULHERHEEER - &
BENERATN IR — LB =REE
B HEP—REERERRALELR
MOBPREMRE - RIMREERE
FEREHRF  EABR2024FE=FFE
SERGER - MR NGB EEENR
EEREER]3,000W - EEPE S THA
T B dHe@ETFHTHEAKDB
BT EPHRE  BEAERKREFR
HEENERNRY  SEEBEKEER
BB EORIE AN ©

2023 Annual Report 3§

17



18

Management Discussion and Analysis

Tobacco new materials

Due to changes in customer demand and product structure, the sales
of tobacco new materials in China declined. In order to boost sales,
the sales team developed overseas markets, leading to a significant
increase in sales of products in overseas markets. The overseas
market has a strong demand for high-quality tobacco new materials
products, and the Group has the confidence to further expand its
overseas market share and improve the overall business segment
performance leveraging its superior product process and quality.

Review of the aroma raw materials business

During the Reporting Period, revenue of the aroma raw materials
business of the Group was approximately RMB625 million (2022:
approximately RMB924 million), representing a year-on-year
decrease of 32.4%, and accounting for approximately 18.9% (2022:
approximately 24.1%) of the Group’s total revenue. The decrease
in segment revenue was mainly attributable to a decline in domestic
and foreign market demand. Operating loss of the business segment
was approximately RMB83.41 million (2022: operating profit of
approximately RMB79.53 million), which was mainly due to lower
revenue and the impairment of the segment’s goodwill and fixed
assets.

During the Reporting Period, the decline in domestic and
international market demand was mainly due to the following
factors: (1) reduced purchases of customers for the purpose of
inventory reduction; (2) the decline in consumption and demand
resulting from the sluggish macroeconomy. In addition, to cope with
product oversupply, competitors lowered product prices to promote
sales, intensifying the industry competition and further resulting in a
decline in revenue and profit of the business segment.

In the aroma raw materials business segment, the Group prioritized
safe production and sustainable development, and conducted several
safety production trainings for employees to enhance their safety
awareness and prevent accidents. Additionally, the subsidiaries under
the segment updated equipment, improved product process and
efficiency and reduced exhaust gas and waste emissions, improving
the sustainable development performance of the segment.

Analysis of goodwill impairment of Yancheng Chunzhu CGU

At the end of the reporting period, the Group engaged an
independent valuer to conduct an impairment test on the goodwill
of Yancheng Chunzhu CGU as at 31 December 2023. Based on
the assessment results, Yancheng Chunzhu CGU recognised an
impairment of goodwill of approximately RMB28.425 million in the
second half of 2023, together with the RMB8.995 million recognised
in the first half of 2023, the total impairment of goodwill was
RMB37.42 million in 2023.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Background of goodwill impairment of Yancheng Chunzhu CGU

In August 2015, the Group acquired 30% equity in Yancheng
Chunzhu from an independent third party at a cash consideration
of RMB84 million. In December 2015, the Group acquired a further
30% equity in Yancheng Chunzhu from an independent third
party at a cash consideration of RMB84 million, pursuant to which
Yancheng Chunzhu became a subsidiary of the Group. The goodwill
generated by the Group’s acquisition of Yancheng Chunzhu was
RMB66.73 million.

Reasons for recognising the impairment of goodwill of Yancheng
Chunzhu CGU

Following the acquisition of Yancheng Chunzhu, the Group
integrated its competitive advantages with Yancheng Chunzhu and
exerted the synergistic effect to improve the revenue and profit
of Yancheng Chunzhu. However, there were negative impacts on
Yancheng Chunzhu's operations and performance by the occurrence
of a series of events such as the COVID-19 pandemic in recent years.
Firstly, Yancheng Chunzhu’s products consist primarily of low-carbon
alcohol, esters, acids, aldehydes and other food flavors, which
are mainly exported and sold to companies such as food and daily
chemical flavors, feed flavors, pharmaceuticals, healthcare products
and chemicals, with customers mainly concentrated in Europe,
the United States, Southeast Asia and Japan. In the aftermath of
the pandemic, the long period of destocking in the market was
attributed to the large inventory of customers, caused by repeated
outbreaks worldwide. Secondly, affected by Sino-US trade disputes
and rising international transportation prices, there is no competitive
advantage in product prices compared to other regions. Thirdly,
weak global economy and more cautious and conservative end use
consumption had led to falling demand for products. Competition
in the market has intensified as peers have adopted price reduction
strategies to promote sales. The above factors have resulted in the
performance of Yancheng Chunzhu failing to meet the expectation.
Based on the principle of prudence and conservatism, with reference
to the impairment test report prepared by an independent valuer,
the Group has lowered its future profit forecast for Yancheng
Chunzhu and recognised a goodwill impairment of approximately
RMB37.42 million on Yancheng Chunzhu CGU. Yancheng Chunzhu
CGU has a goodwill balance of approximately RMB29.31 million
after the impairment was recognised.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Analysis of goodwill impairment of Jiangxi Xianghai CGU

At the end of the reporting period, the Group engaged an
independent valuer to conduct an impairment test on the goodwill
of Jiangxi Xianghai CGU as at 31 December 2023. Based on the
assessment results, Jiangxi Xianghai CGU recognised an impairment
of goodwill of approximately RMB7.552 million in the second half
of 2023, together with the RMB5.952 million recognised in the first
half of 2023, the total impairment of goodwill was approximately
RMB13.504 million in 2023.

Background of goodwill impairment of Jiangxi Xianghai CGU

In September 2017, the Group acquired 95% shares in Jiangxi
Xianghai from an independent third party at a cash consideration
of RMB25.208 million, pursuant to which Jiangxi Xianghai became
a subsidiary of the Group. The goodwill generated by the Group’s
acquisition of Jiangxi Xianghai was RMB13.504 million.

Reasons for recognising the impairment of goodwill of Jiangxi
Xianghai CGU

Following the acquisition, the Group integrated its competitive
advantages with Jiangxi Xianghai and exerted the synergistic effect
to improve the revenue and profit of Jiangxi Xianghai. To realize the
long-term planning and sustainable development of the enterprise,
the Group has strengthened the construction of its second phase
project with multi-product and multi-capacity capabilities, which
has been substantially completed. However, there were negative
impacts on Jiangxi Xianghai's operations and performance by the
occurrence of a series of events such as the COVID-19 pandemic in
recent years. The reduced demand for business in the post-pandemic
market was due to changes in the market environment, restrictions
on Sino-US trade due to tariff barriers, the Russian-Ukrainian war,
the reduction in the momentum of international economic and trade
growth, and the insufficient domestic demand due to degradation
in consumption. In addition, as Jiangxi Xianghai belongs to the
fine chemical industry, it invests heavily in fixed assets such as
environmental protection, safety and fire protection, which cannot
be fully diluted in the case of poor sales, further reducing the
profit margin. The above factors have resulted in the performance
of Jiangxi Xianghai failing to meet the expectation. Based on the
principle of prudence and conservatism, with reference to the
impairment test report prepared by an independent valuer, the
Group has lowered its future profit forecast for Jiangxi Xianghai and
recognised a goodwill impairment of RMB13.504 million on Jiangxi
Xianghai CGU. Jiangxi Xianghai CGU has a goodwill balance of nil
after the impairment was recognised.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Review of the condiment business

During the Reporting Period, revenue of the Group’'s condiment
business was approximately RMB754 million (2022: approximately
RMB573 million), representing a year-on-year increase of 31.6%, and
accounting for approximately 22.8% (2022: approximately 15.0%)
of the Group’s total revenue. The revenue growth of the segment
was mainly due to a strong recovery in the catering industry leading
to increased customer demand for condiments. The operating profit
of the business segment was approximately RMB117 million (2022:
operating loss of approximately RMB1,117 million), representing
a year-on-year increase of 117.3% in comparison to the adjusted
operating profit of approximately RMB53.73 million (excluding the
goodwill impairment of RMB1,171 million) in 2022. Operating profit
margin was 15.5%, representing an increase of 6.1 percentage
points in comparison to the adjusted operating profit margin of 9.4%
in 2022. The increase in operating profit and operating profit margin
was due to the increase in revenue.

In terms of product mix, during the post-pandemic period, consumers
pursued cost-effective products, forcing catering enterprises to lower
prices to obtain market share, and catering enterprises had a more
urgent demand for “cost reduction and efficiency improvement”.
The soup base products, chicken essence products and sauce
products launched by the Group could help customers improve their
cooking efficiency, ensure the flavour of dishes and enhance their
operating efficiency, and were a supplement to core products such
as chicken sauce and mustard, further improving the product mix.

6]
il:_}lt
3
¥
a>
=X

BB

FARmEKEE

WEHRN AEEFARBEBRHEHEWR
A ANRETSAEITT(2022F + H) A
R#®s573187T) ALEE31.6% -
AREBE W A#A22.8% (20225 © 4
15.0%) - IRB|WRABEFTERERE
RERNEHTHIRPEHFARDTR L
FeoRREBEBRFMOARBINTET
(2022F : 2EFEEHARE1117E
Jo)  HI2022 FEABREERFLOA
RES373ET(MBEEREAREK
11.711E7C) M8 BB ER117.3% :
BB ERL155% @ E2022 F & H
BEEBERMNERIA% L - BN
6.IEEDE - EEBERFME BEBRFE
FIERFERZHNVIAIE -

EmEBLIE  REBERABEEEER
KIEEL - BREXIETAEINER
MERERTSNE  EREEHIR
RIBINFRE AL o EEHELH
BIREm - BREM ETERENE
PEFPRESMINE - BEHmEK -
RARFPHEERER - FLEMUGET
MITERM EZ O EmEER TR
ER > & TEmAERE -

\

The Group launched new products to improve the

flavour of clients’ dishes

S EHE R EE SR R TR P S R O RLIR

2023 Annual Report 3§



22

Management Discussion and Analysis

In terms of sales channel, the sales team seized the opportunity of the
recovery of the catering industry to further expand the sales network. As
of 31 December 2023, the Group had more than 650 Tier 1 distributors,
representing an increase of approximately 250 compared with the
corresponding period last year, which made the Group’s products available
to more customers and promoted the sales revenue growth.

In terms of marketing strategy, the Group developed special
marketing activities based on the characteristics of each product and
target customers to make every product fully exposed to customers
in the market segment and grab market share. The Group organized
several chef’s presentations to make new and existing chefs aware
of product characteristics, changes and application, with an aim to
make them users and enhance their brand loyalty.

Review of R&D

During the Reporting Period, the Group's investment in R&D was
approximately RMB253 million (2022: approximately RMB266
million). R&D expenses accounted for 7.7% (2022: 7.0%) of revenue,
representing a year-on-year increase of 0.7 percentage point. All
(2022: 100%) of the R&D expenses were expensed, with no R&D
cost capitalised (2022: Nil).

In terms of F&F and Food ingredients, the Group was granted 12
patents, including “A kind of Flavouring and Fragrance for Oral
Tobacco and Its Preparation and Application”, “A kind of Galangal
Flavour and Fragrance and Its Preparation and Application”, "A
kind of Sandalwood Flavour and Fragrance with High Temperature
Resistance and Its Preparation and Application” and “A kind of
Vacuum Tank Air Tightness Testing Equipment”. These patents cover
flavours and fragrances for cigarettes, food, daily chemicals and food
ingredients, demonstrating the Group’s research and development
capabilities in the specific area. The Group’s food flavours won the
2023 Mondelez Quality and Food Safety Culture Award, representing
the recognition and trust of customers in the Group’s products.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

In terms of tobacco raw materials, the Group obtained an invention
patent of “Quantitative Control System, Control Method and
Production System of Thickened Pulp Paper-making Process for RTL"
in China, as well as a utility model patent of “"HNB Cigarettes, its
Preparation Method and HNB Cigarettes System” in Japan. These
patents not only represent the competitiveness of the Group in the
field of HNB cigarettes, but also lay a solid foundation of intellectual
property for the Group to carry out HNB cigarettes business in
the future, enabling the Group to protect its own commercial
interests. The Group fully utilized its own technology and experience
in capsule production, and obtained an invention patent of "A
Gastrointestinal Controlled Release Probiotic Strains”, which allowed
the Group to better provide high-quality capsule products for
probiotic manufacturers and expand more business.

In terms of aroma raw materials, Jiangxi Xianghai obtained a patent
of “A Method for Recovering Chloroethane and its Solvent from the
Production of Alpha-ethyl Furan Carbinol”. Guangdong Zhaoqing
was awarded the “Certificate of Professional, Advanced, Specialized
and New SME of Guangdong Province” as well as the “Certificate of
Top 50 Technology Innovation Enterprises in Zhaoging”.

In terms of condiments, the Group explored and innovated in the
field of core products and compound condiments, and successively
applied for three invention patents, including “A Quality Control
Method for Preserving High-sugar Juice Beverage Pulp”, “A Method
for Preserving the Flavour of Vegetable Juice-Soy Sauce Compound
Condiment at Ambient Temperature Storage and Transportation”
and “"A Compound Method for Preserving the Tallow Flavor
during Sterilization”. The Group obtained a patent of “A kind of
Preparation Method of Thermally Processed Concentrated Citrus Fruit
Juice with Inhibition of Non-enzymatic Browning”. The patent can
effectively inhibit and slow down the browning of fruit juices during
storage, extend the storage time and make fruit juice products easier
to preserve, which is of significant commercial value to the Group.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Human Resources and Corporate Culture Construction

As at 31 December 2023, the Group employed a total of 3,995 (as
of 31 December 2022: 3,875) employees in Mainland China, Hong
Kong, Germany, Indonesia, Singapore and other places.

After the end of the pandemic, China’'s economy began to
experience a fast followed by slow recovery, which arouse different
concerns from various employees in all walks of life about economic
prospects and personal professional development, as well as the
pressure of cost reduction, efficiency improvement and labor cost
control faced by corporates. Amidst the increasing uncertainty of the
business environment, the Group continued to provide employees
with various benefits and psychological relief trainings to help
them relieve their stress and further concentrate on their work. At
the same time, according to the business development plan, the
Group optimized the compensation structure and provided more
support and subsidies to employees in key projects, encouraging
them to strive for the Company’s business development. The Group
kept up with the market trend, organized several special trainings
for employees, including ESG case analysis, artificial intelligence
development, lean production management, etc. These trainings
enriched the knowledge structure of employees, improved their
comprehensive work ability, enabled employees to perform various
tasks more accurately and efficiently, and improved the operating
efficiency of the Group.

The Group’s employees are located in different countries and
regions at home and abroad. In order to enable them to understand
the development of the Group from multiple perspectives, the
Group launched a bilingual corporate journal in Chinese and
English. In the internal publications, the Group keeps employees
informed of the progress of various businesses and projects, shares
management methods to improve production efficiency, introduces
the culture and customs of different regions, in order to enhance
their mutual understanding and improvement. Domestically, the
Group organizes different cultural and sports activities every month
to make employees relax and enhance mutual trust. Internationally,
the Group respects local cultural customs, provides an appropriate
working environment for employees, celebrates local holidays,
and enhances the brand awareness of the Group, so as to attract
more local talents to join the Group in the future and promote the
development of the Group’s overseas business.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Digital Transformation

The Group has seen great development and progress in the digital
transformation. The Group applied the SAP ERP system to every
business segment, and the purchasing, warehousing, planning,
production, quality, sales and accounting data of each segment
could be displayed on the platform. Through the automatic analysis
of the data on the platform, the management could understand the
business development condition in a timely and accurate manner.
The application of the fund management system enabled the Group
to monitor and check the existing funds of the Group in real time,
and to predict the future fund demand on a rolling basis, thus
improving the capital efficiency and management ability of the
Group. The product life cycle management system was applied to
the Group’s overseas research and development center, food flavour
management and tobacco flavour formula management, effectively
improving the Group’s compliance in the process of research and
development and avoiding legal and regulatory risks.

The Group has implemented the digital transformation for two
years, during which the Group provided several trainings for the
management and core employees to emphasize the strategic
significance and importance of the digital transformation. The digital
transformation team would record and answer employees’ issues
arising from the application of the digital transformation system,
and optimize the system based on the feedback of employees,
so as to improve the efficiency for implementation of the digital
transformation and contribute to the business development of the
Group.

OUTLOOK

Affected by factors such as geopolitical tensions, high debt and
interest rates, overseas economic growth may further slow down
in 2024, and market demand may further decline. In China, the
restoration of consumer confidence remains uncertain. Overall, the
risks and challenges facing the domestic and foreign macroeconomy
have not diminished.

In the new year, the management of the Group will continue to
develop the Group’s business prudently, utilize its main resources to
invest in projects with high safety margins and stable returns, and
continue to reduce costs and increase efficiency through the “Lean
Production”, further improving operational efficiency and business
performance. With the vision of “Flavour Your Life”, the Group will
make its products more nutritious and healthier through continuous
technology and product innovation, and become a advocate of
Chinese and even global consumers’ health protection.

6]
‘:ﬂ_lllt
3
¥
a>
=X

B

griEn

BF B THEERBARIRG TR
MR AMAE S - SRE I SAP ERP RALE
I TEEXHRRE - SEREAK
BoRRF FE LE HE HE-
TEHBEHMENET S LR BBYH
FEEEENBEBEIN - BEEERERN
KB - EREMBRAEERERNL B2
B R HRY MR R B S E Ry BRI
EHEBNESTE  RITABKRERN
B2F R B TEENESERRE
MEREN  EmEnBHEERGE
RLERIEEEIMAEDRL  BRm

ERERE ERERESTERE AR
HTEEMBEBIETHERE  RET
ERERER o

BBV TR RESEETTM
FoAEMRIENBREES  SERE
BE MO B THETT T Z RGN At
MRSt EE THENERERERE
2 - HEBTHEERAFCEBRERRE
BRETNHEE  BFCELEKET
UREMEE  YRESTERRRDN
REHRGETEL  REBFLEL
TENRITRE IHEBEBERE -

RE

XEMEBORRBER  BHNNXRS
TCERZFE  BIMEHEE2024F W
HEAAREE—HNE MEFREN
RE—F N -EFEERN ERHEZE
ELUNEHRERAFETETE - B8Mm
5 BIARSNZ2 B A% 75 e e ) R g A0 D BEK
I AR

BN —F SEEEEREEARE
MEEEREEXRY  BXTEERKRE
REZ22BRS  OWBENEB L X
HEBRBIREEEIRNBER  =ES
LEYEMEBRR - KREGUIEK
HEESIREIRES - NERBRMAM
EmAlF  EEENEMENEE - 2
B RATENEMFUEEEERNHE
B$E -

2023 Annual Report 3§

25



26

Management Discussion and Analysis

In terms of flavours and fragrance and food ingredients, the
Group will seize the opportunity of customer transition regarding
international tobacco, food and beverage, demonstrate its own
strengths through sufficient communication to acquire more
business. In terms of tobacco raw materials, the Group will take
the development of overseas markets as the key focus, providing
quality RTL, capsules and filters for international customers,
striving to be their excellent partner and reliable supplier. In terms
of aroma raw materials, the Group will reduce costs and increase
efficiency through “Lean Production”, enhance the competitiveness
of products, develop domestic and overseas markets, and improve
business performance. In terms of condiments, the Group will focus
on customers, conduct innovation in research and development,
products, supply chain and sales, creating value for customers,
helping them deal with problems and increasing sales revenue.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Analysis of annual results for the year ended 31 December 2023

Revenue

The Group’'s revenue amounted to RMB3,307,839,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2023, representing a decrease of 13.6% as
compared with RMB3,828,984,000 for the corresponding period
last year. The decrease in the revenue was due to a decrease in the
revenue of the F&F and Food ingredients segment by 22.0% year-
on-year to RMB1,464,433,000 as a result of the changes in the
downstream market demand and increased market competition; and
a decrease in revenue of the aroma raw materials segment by 32.4%
year-on-year to RMB624,686,000 as a result of a decline in demand
in both the domestic and overseas markets. However, the decrease
was partially offset by a 31.6% year-on-year increase in revenue
of the condiment segment to RMB754,060,000 due to increased
customer demand as a result of the recovery of the catering industry.

Cost of goods sold

The Group’s cost of goods sold amounted to RMB1,838,474,000 for
the year ended 31 December 2023, representing a decrease of 5.8%
as compared with RMB1,951,421,000 for the corresponding period
last year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Gross profit and gross profit margin

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group's gross profit was
RMB1,469,365,000, representing a decrease of RMB408,198,000
or approximately 21.7% as compared with RMB1,877,563,000
for the corresponding period last year. The gross profit margin for
the year was approximately 44.4%, representing a decrease of 4.6
percentage points as compared to 49.0% for the corresponding
period last year. The decrease in gross profit and gross profit margin
was mainly attributable to the decline in revenue for the year as
well as changes in the product mix of the Group, and a provision for
impairment of “property, plant and equipment” of RMB76,353,000
in total during the year, of which a provision for impairment of
plant and equipment of RMB47,062,000 after assessment in Jiangxi
Xianghai due to the significantly year-on-year decrease in revenue
and gross profit, and a provision for impairment of bearer plant of
RMB29,291,000 after assessment in Shanghai Yifang due to the
revenue and profit failed to meet the expectation for the year.

Other income and other gains - net

For the year ended 31 December 2023, other income and other
gains (net) of the Group was RMB146,608,000, representing a
decrease of RMB66,204,000 as compared with RMB212,812,000
for the corresponding period last year. The decrease in other
income and other gains was mainly attributable to: (1) the loss from
changes in fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss (“FVPL") for the year amounting to RMB8&,810,000 (2022:
gain of RMB106,052,000), representing a year-on-year decrease of
RMB114,862,000, mainly due to the loss from changes in fair value
of contingent consideration regarding the acquisition of Shanghai
Yifang (“Contingent Consideration”) for the year amounting to
RMB29,200,000 (2022: gain of RMB63,490,000), representing a
year-on-year decrease of RMB92,690,000, as well as the loss from
changes in fair value of listed equity investments held in the year
amounting to RMB21,824,000 (2022: gain of RMB3,957,000),
representing a year-on-year decrease of RMB25,781,000; (2)
government grants reaching RMB151,051,000 in the year (2022:
RMB126,085,000), representing a year-on-year increase of
RMB24,966,000; (3) a loss of RMB24,083,000 recorded last year but
not in the current year in respect of the changes in the fair value of
previously held interest in a jointly controlled entity upon acquisition
as a subsidiary.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Selling and marketing expenses

The selling and marketing expenses of the Group comprised mainly
travelling expenses, business and markets promotion expenses,
agency services expenses, salaries and office expenses, etc. The
selling and marketing expenses of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2023 was RMB326,809,000, representing a decrease of
5.1% as compared with RMB344,405,000 for the corresponding
period last year. Selling and marketing expenses for the year
accounted for approximately 9.9% of the total revenue, representing
an increase of 0.9 percentage point as compared with approximately
9.0% for last year. The increase in such ratio was mainly attributable
to the Group’s increase in the business and marketing expenses
in response to the fierce market competition, and the decrease in
revenue in the current year.

Administrative expenses

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group’s administrative
expenses amounted to RMB830,866,000, representing an increase
of RMB4,907,000 or 0.6% as compared with RMB825,959,000
for the corresponding period last year, similar with that in last
year. Administrative expenses for the current year accounted for
approximately 25.1% of the total revenue, representing an increase
of 3.5 percentage points as compared with approximately 21.6% for
the year ended 31 December 2022. The increase in percentage was
mainly attributable to the fact that revenue declined at a faster rate
than administrative expenses.

Operating profit/(loss)

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group's operating profit
was RMB378,051,000, representing an increase of RMB986,026,000
as compared with the operating loss of RMB607,975,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2022. The increase in operating profit
was mainly due to a year-on-year decrease of RMB1,451,208,000
in impairment of goodwill for the current year, which was partially
offset by the decrease in gross profit.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

If the effect of goodwill impairment for the year and last year
of RMB56,502,000 and RMB1,507,710,000, respectively, was
excluded, the adjusted operating profit for the year would be
RMB434,553,000, representing a decrease of RMB465,182,000
or 51.7% compared with RMB899,735,000 (excluding goodwill
impairment) for the corresponding period last year, mainly due to
the decrease in gross profit as well as other income and other gains
(net) for the year. Adjusted operating profit margin for the year
would be approximately 13.1%, representing a decrease of 10.4
percentage points from approximately 23.5% (excluding goodwill
impairment) for the corresponding period last year, mainly due to
the drop in gross profit margin and the increase in administrative
expenses as a percentage of revenue for the year.

If goodwill impairment of RMB56,502,000 and RMB1,507,710,000
for the year and last year were excluded respectively, the changes
in fair value of Contingent Consideration amounted to a loss of
RMB29,200,000 and a gain of RMB63,490,000 for the year and last
year were excluded, respectively, and the provision for impairment
of property, plant and equipment amounted to RMB76,353,000
and RMB31,774,000 for the year and last year were excluded,
respectively, the adjusted operating profit for the year would
be approximately RMB540,106,000, representing a decrease of
RMB327,913,000 or 37.8% as compared with RMB868,019,000
(excluding goodwill impairment, a gain from changes in fair value
of Contingent Consideration and the provision for impairment of
property, plant and equipment) for last year.
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Provision for impairment relating to the investment in an
associate

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group recognised an
impairment loss of RMB22,291,000 (2022:RMB139,000,000) for the
investment in an associate, being the difference between the fair
value of the equity investment in Junjieshang of RMB179,391,000
and its carrying amount as at 30 April 2023. As one of the Group’s
common director at the subsidiary level retired in April 2023, the
Group lost its influence over Junjieshang. In accordance with the
relevant accounting standards, the Group designated the equity
investment in Junjieshang at fair value to financial assets at fair
value through other comprehensive income. The Group engaged an
independent valuer to assess the fair value of the equity investment
in Junjieshang as at 30 April 2023,which was determined based on
VIU by using the estimated future discounted cash flow approach.
The key assumptions adopted in the VIU calculation were: (1) the
CAGR of revenue for the forecast period of 12% (2022:22.3%),
118.3% (2022:121.2%) and 113.8% (2022:115.4%) for advertising,
SaaS e-commerce service and Saa$S platform service, respectively; (2)
the post-tax discount rate of 25% (2022:25%); and (3) the terminal
CAGR of 5% (2022:5%). Impairment was made mainly due to the
advertising market was still in the midst of a difficult recovery after
pandemic and the intensified competition from peers.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group engaged an
independent valuer to assess the fair value of the equity
investment in Junjieshang. Based on the assessment results, the
Group recognised fair value loss of RMB177,260,000 in other
comprehensive income for the year. Considering that the actual
advertising orders is much lower than the forecast based on the
framework agreement signed in prior year, and the recovery trend
of China’s advertising market is not significant and is still in the
process of recovery, Junjieshang is confronted with huge challenges
in developing its existing business and expanding its new business in
the face of weakening downstream markets. Therefore, Junjieshang
is unable to accurately estimate the operating revenue during
the forecast period. Meanwhile, as the Company is a minority
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Management Discussion and Analysis

shareholder of Junjieshang and has neither appointed directors nor
participated in the operation of Junjieshang, it is difficult to quantify
the risks it bears in obtaining expected returns. Therefore, the valuer
assessed the recoverable amount of Junjieshang based on fair value
less cost of disposal ("FVLCOD") by using the comparable company
method under the market approach. The key assumptions used in
the FVLCOD calculation were: (1) the enterprise value/sales multiples
("EV/S Multiple”) observed from a group of comparable companies
engaged in the same business and adjusted by size correction
coefficient and financial indicator correction coefficient between the
comparable companies and Junjieshang to get the corrected EV/S
Multiple of 4.19; and (2) the discount rate for lack of marketability
for Junjieshang's industry of 29.5%.

Income tax expenses

The income tax expenses of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2023 was RMB125,442,000, representing a decrease of
RMB55,398,000 as compared with RMB180,840,000 for last year.
If the effect of goodwill impairment for the year and last year and
provision for impairment on the investment in an associate were
both excluded respectively, income tax rate of the year would be
approximately 25.3%, representing an increase of approximately
5.8 percentage points as compared with approximately 19.5% for
last year, which was mainly attributable to the higher than expected
withholding income tax on dividends distribution by subsidiaries in
Mainland in the year.

Profit/(loss) for the year

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group's profit was
RMB290,483,000, representing an increase of RMB1,191,533,000
as compared with the loss of RMB901,050,000 for last year. The
year-on-year change was mainly due to a year-on-year decrease in
impairment of goodwill of RMB1,451,208,000 for the current year,
which was partially offset by the decrease in gross profit.

If the effect of goodwill impairment for the year and last year
of RMB56,502,000 and RMB1,507,710,000, respectively,
was excluded, the profit for the year would be approximately
RMB346,985,000, representing a decrease of 42.8% as compared
with RMB606,660,000 (excluding goodwill impairment) for the
corresponding period last year.
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If goodwill impairment of RMB56,502,000 and RMB1,507,710,000
for the year and last year, respectively, the changes in fair value
of Contingent Consideration of a loss of RMB29,200,000 and a
gain of RMB63,490,000 for the year and last year, respectively,
the provision for impairment of property, plant and equipment of
RMB76,353,000 and RMB31,774,000 for the year and last year,
respectively, and the provision for impairment on the investment in
an associate of RMB22,291,000 and RMB139,000,000 for the year
and last year, respectively, were all excluded, the profit for the year
would be RMB474,829,000, representing a decrease of 33.5% as
compared with RMB713,944,000 (excluding goodwill impairment, a
gain on changes in fair value of Contingent Consideration, provision
for impairment of property, plant and equipment and provision for
impairment on the investment in an associate) for last year.

Profit/(loss) attributable to the equity holders of the Company

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the profit attributable
to the equity holders of the Company was RMB233,633,000,
representing an increase of RMB1,288,180,000 as compared with
the loss attributable to the equity holders of the Company of
RMB1,054,547,000 in the last year. The year-on-year change was
mainly attributable to a year-on-year decrease in impairment of
goodwill of RMB1,451,208,000 for the current year. However, the
impact was partially offset by the decrease in gross profit.

Net current asset value and financial resources

As at 31 December 2023, the net current asset value of the Group
was RMB6,975,409,000 (31 December 2022: RMB6,944,129,000).
The Group generates its working capital mainly through its
operating activities to maintain a sound financial position. As at 31
December 2023, the Group’'s cash and bank balances amounted
to RMB2,539,493,000 (31 December 2022: RMB4,747,978,000),
over 65% of which were held in RMB. In addition, the fair value
of outstanding bank wealth management products held by the
Group as at 31 December 2023 amounted to RMB3,847,748,000
(31 December 2022: RMB1,594,315,000), which was presented as
financial assets at FVPL.
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Bank borrowings and gearing ratio

As at 31 December 2023, the total bank borrowings of the
Group amounted to RMB455,250,000 (31 December 2022:
RMB677,700,000), all of which were RMB loans, including secured
loans due within two years amounting to RMB36,000,000 (31
December 2022: RMB65,000,000 due within one year) and
unsecured loans amounting to RMB419,250,000 (31 December
2022: RMB612,700,000) due within one year. During the year, the
average annual interest rate for secured loans was 4.2% (year ended
31 December 2022:4.2%), while the average annual interest rate for
unsecured loans was 2.9% (year ended 31 December 2022:2.8%).
As at 31 December 2023, the Group's debt ratio (total borrowings
(including current and non-current borrowings) divided by total
equity, excluding non-controlling interests) was 3.6%, representing
a decrease of 1.8 percentage points from 5.4% as at 31 December
2022.

Investing activities

The Group’s investing activities included the purchase of property,
plant and equipment, financial assets investment and merger
& acquisition activities related to the strategical development
strategies. For the year ended 31 December 2023, the net cash used
in investing activities amounted to RMB2,604,686,000, mainly used
in the purchase of bank wealth management products. For the year
ended 31 December 2022, the net cash generated from investing
activities amounted to RMB1,244,039,000.

Financing activities

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the net cash used in the
Group’s financing activities amounted to RMB674,196,000, mainly
comprising of repayment of bank borrowings of RMB855,000,000,
payment of cash dividends of RMB252,348,000 to shareholders
of the Company, payment of cash dividends of RMB184,030,000
to non-controlling interests, and addition of bank borrowings of
RMB632,550,000. For the year ended 31 December 2022, the net
cash used in financing activities amounted to RMB997,635,000.
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Trade receivables turnover period

Trade receivables turnover period is calculated on the basis of the
average amount of trade receivables as at the beginning of and at
the end of a relevant financial period divided by the total revenue
for the corresponding period and multiplied by 360 days. The Group
generally offers its customers a credit period of approximately
0-180 days, depending on the business volume of, and the length
of business relationship with the customers. For the year ended 31
December 2023, the Group's average trade receivables turnover
period was 97 days, representing an increase of 8 days as compared
with 89 days for the corresponding period last year. The increase
was mainly due to the decrease in the Group’'s average turnover
higher than the decrease in average trade receivables during the
period.

Trade payables turnover period

Trade payables turnover period is calculated on the basis of the
average amount of trade payables as at the beginning of and at the
end of a relevant financial period divided by the cost of goods sold
for the corresponding period and multiplied by 360 days. Credit
periods granted by suppliers to the Group ranged from 0-180 days.
For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group's average trade
payables turnover period was 51 days, which basically remained the
same as 53 days for the corresponding period last year.

Inventory and inventory turnover period

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s inventory balance amounted
to RMB994,592,000, representing a decrease of RMB25,431,000
as compared with the balance of RMB1,020,023,000 as at 31
December 2022. For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group’s
inventory turnover period (calculated on the basis of the average
amount of inventory balances as at the beginning of and at the
end of a relevant financial period divided by the total cost of goods
sold for the corresponding period and multiplied by 360 days) was
197 days, increased by 20 days as compared with 177 days for the
corresponding period last year. The increase was mainly due to the
fact that the decrease in the Group’s average costs of sales exceeded
the decrease in average inventory balance during the period.
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Foreign exchange and exchange rate risk

The principal businesses of the Group are located in Mainland China
and the majority of the revenue is denominated in RMB, with the
exception of only a certain amount of imported raw materials and
equipment which are denominated in foreign currency such as USD
or EUR. The Group’s bank deposits are mainly denominated in RMB,
USD and HKD. Management concurs with the views of the People’s
Bank of China on the RMB exchange rate, that is, conditionally
maintaining RMB exchange rate generally stable at an adaptive and
balanced level.

Pledge of assets

During the year ended 31 December 2023, certain buildings and
right-of-use assets of Shanghai Yifang Group with total carrying
values of RMB39,245,000 were used as collateral for bank
borrowings of RMB36,000,000 (31 December 2022: buildings and
right-of-use assets of Shanghai Yifang Group with total carrying
values of RMB17,662,000 used as collateral for bank borrowings of
RMB65,000,000). Apart from the above-mentioned, the Group had
no pledged assets as at 31 December 2023.

Capital Commitments

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had capital commitments
in respect of the purchase of property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets, intangible assets and investments in a jointly
controlled entity and financial assets at FVPL, contracted for but not
provided in the financial statements amounting to approximately
RMB140,455,000 (31 December 2022: RMB215,563,000).

Contingent liabilities

According to the information available to the Board, the Group had
no significant contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2023 and
2022.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. CHU Lam Yiu, aged 54, the Chairlady of the Board,
CEO, Executive Director and the Chairlady of Nomination
Committee of the Company. Ms. Chu has been a member of
the Board since March 2004. Ms. Chu is the mother of Mr.
LAM Ka Yu (the Co-Chairman of the Board and an Executive
Director of the Company) and Ms. LAM Ka Yan (an Executive
Director and a member of the Nomination Committee of
the Company). Ms. Chu is also a director of the Company’s
principal subsidiaries marked with “C1" as set out in Note
37 to the consolidated financial statements. Ms. Chu has
extensive experience in formulating strategies and making
executive decisions on business operation, investments and
market development. She was a member of the Fourth and
Fifth Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference
Committee (Shenzhen, Guangdong Province). Ms. Chu,
through the corporations controlled by her, is the beneficial
owner of Company as set out on page 109 of this annual
report headed under Directors’ Interests in Shares, Underlying
Shares and Debentures.

Mr. LAM Ka Yu, aged 31, the Co-Chairman of the Board
and an Executive Director of the Company. Mr. Lam has
been a member of the Board since November 2013. Mr.
Lam is the son of Ms. CHU Lam Yiu (the Chairlady of the
Board, CEO, Executive Director and Controlling Shareholder
of the Company), and the brother of Ms. LAM Ka Yan
(an Executive Director and a member of the Nomination
Committee of the Company). Mr. Lam is also a director of
the Company’s principal subsidiaries marked with “L1" and
the legal representative of those companies marked with
“L2" as set out in Note 37 to the consolidated financial
statements. Mr. Lam was educated in the United Kingdom
and the United States of America. For corporate management
experiences, Mr. Lam is currently a managing director and
legal representative of a private company, which is engaged
in e-commerce business in China. He previously served as
a director and the general manager of a company which is
engaged in advertising media business in China.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. XIA Liqun, aged 57, an Executive Director, Vice
Chairman, President and a member of the Remuneration
Committee of the Company. Mr. Xia has been a member of
the Board since September 2006. Mr. Xia is also a director of
the Company's principal subsidiaries marked with “X1” and
the legal representative of those companies marked with “X2"
as set out in Note 37 to the consolidated financial statements.
Mr. Xia holds a Bachelor's degree in economics and is a
certified accountant, certified tax specialist and certified
appraiser in China. Mr. Xia has over 20 years of financial and
corporate management experience. He previously worked
in domestic accounting firms in China and was a senior
management member of a foreign invested enterprise in
China. Mr. Xia is currently the honorary chairman of the
Shanghai Food Additive & Batching Association.

Mr. POON Chiu Kwok, aged 61, an Executive Director, Vice
President and the Company Secretary of the Company. Mr.
Poon has been a member of the Board since March 2004. Mr.
Poon was awarded the postgraduate diploma in laws by the
University of London. He holds a Bachelor’s degree in laws, a
Bachelor’'s degree in business studies and a Master's degree
in international accounting. He is a fellow of CPA Australia
Ltd., The Chartered Governance Institute, and The Hong Kong
Chartered Governance Institute and a member of its Technical
Consultation Panel, and a fellow member of the Hong Kong
Securities and Investment Institute. Mr. Poon has extensive
experience and knowledge in areas of compliance, corporate
finance and corporate governance of listed companies.

Ms. LAM Ka Yan, aged 26, an Executive Director and a
member of the Nomination Committee of the Company. She
has been a member of the Board since February 2022 where
she is involved in the formulation and implementation of the
Group's strategy and involved in the strategic direction and
positioning of the Group’s innovative businesses. Ms. Lam
had joined the Group in July 2020 where she was engaged in
the sales and marketing of the Group’s condiment segment.
Ms. Lam is the daughter of Ms. CHU Lam Yiu (the Chairlady
of the Board, CEO, Executive Director and Controlling
Shareholder of the Company), and the sister of Mr. LAM Ka
Yu (the Co-chairman of the Board and an Executive Director
of the Company). Ms. Lam obtained a bachelor’s degree in
economics from Columbia University (U.S.).
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Ms. CHOY Man Har, aged 57, an Executive Director of the
Company. She has been a member of the Board since February
2022. Ms. Choy joined the Group since 2006 and has held
various positions within the Group. She has been the deputy
chief financial officer of the Group since 2018 and was
mainly responsible for the financial reporting and financial
management of the Group. Ms. Choy has over 30 years of
experience in accounting and financial management related
disciplines. Before joining the Group, Ms. Choy worked in
quasi-governmental organizations in Hong Kong. Ms. Choy
holds a bachelor degree in Business Administration of the
Chinese University of Hong Kong and is a fellow member of
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants in the
United Kingdom, a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants, and a fellow member of The
Chartered Governance Institute and The Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. LEE Luk Shiu, aged 66, an Independent Non-executive
Director, the chairman of both of the Audit Committee and
Remuneration Committee and a member of the Nomination
Committee of the Company. Mr. Lee has been a member
of the Board since May 2006. Mr. Lee is a member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Lee
has over 30 years of experience in commercial accounting
and corporate finance. Mr. Lee has principally engaged in
corporate finance and regulatory aspects in the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange. He was an assistant vice president of the
Listing Division of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, and his
duties included regulating and monitoring the Hong Kong
listed companies in relation to their compliance with the
Listing Rules and processing new listing applications. He also
served as a senior consultant of an investment bank for more
than 5 years.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Jonathan Jun YAN, aged 61, an Independent Non-
executive Director and a member of each of the Audit
Committee and Nomination Committee (appointed in February
2022) of the Company. Mr. Yan has been a member of the
Board since May 2019. Mr. Yan graduated from University
of Technology, Sydney with a Master of Management. Mr.
Yan previously served as the Director of the MBA (Mandarin
International) Education Centre of the University of
Technology, Sydney from 1998 to 2000, the General Manager
of Insearch Consulting (Shanghai) Ltd. from 2001 to 2005,
the General Manager of Ecole Fashion Consulting (Beijing)
Ltd. from 2006 to 2013 and the Director of Global Finance
Development Education Center of PBC School of Finance,
Tsinghua University from 2013 to 2020. Mr. Yan is the
president of China Global Philanthropy Institute (CGPI) since
September 2020.

Mr. HOU Haitao, aged 43, is an Independent Non-executive
Director and a member of each of the Audit Committee,
Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee of
the Company. He has been a member of the Board since
May 2022. Mr. Hou has over 13 years of experience in the
investment banking industry. Mr. Hou holds a master’s
degree in accounting. Since 2008, Mr. Hou has been working
in different securities companies in China. He is a senior
professional in the capital market. He has presided over the
listing and capital operation of many companies and has
extensive experience in the capital market.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. YUAN Xiaoqin, aged 55, a president of Huabao Flavours,
joined the Group since August 2006. Ms. Yuan is also a
director of the Company’s principal subsidiaries marked
with “YX1" and the legal representative of those companies
marked with “YX2" as set out in Note 37 to the consolidated
financial statements. Ms. Yuan holds an MBA degree and is a
qualified engineer. Before joining the Group, Ms. Yuan served
as an executive in a Hong Kong listed state-owned enterprise.
She has over 20 years of experience in senior management
position. Ms. Yuan is currently the deputy director of
China Association of Fragrance Flavour and Cosmetic
Industries, deputy director of China Association of Bakery
& Confectionery Industry, chairman of the Food Additives
and Ingredients Industry Association in Shanghai City and
consultant of the Federation of Industry and Commerce in
Chaoyang District, Shantou City. She was a representative of
the People’s Congress in Shantou City, Guangdong Province
and a member of the National Committee of the Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference in Chaoyang
District, Shantou City.
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Mr. ZHAO Dexu, aged 47, a vice president of the Group,
joined the Group since July 2020. Mr. Zhao is also a director
of the Company’s principal subsidiaries marked with “ZD1"
and the legal representative of those companies marked with
"ZD2" as set out in Note 37 to the consolidated financial
statements. Mr. Zhao graduated with a Master’'s degree
in Computer Science from The Brandenburg University
of Technology Cottbus-Senftenberg in Germany and had
previously worked in Germany. Mr. Zhao was selected as
an “overseas high level talent” of Jiangsu Province and as a
"high-end foreign talent” in Shanghai. He was presented the
“2012 Best Value CIO Award” in 2012 and was named as one
of China’s digital transformation leader in 2018 and 2019.
Since 2019, he also serves as the sixth batch of postgraduate
advisor of Jiangsu Province and an industry professor of
Jiangsu University. Before joining the Group, Mr. Zhao held
executive position in large diversified organizations. He has
extensive experiences in the fields of corporate management,
strategic and information management.

Mr. Alan DAVIES, aged 76, the chief flavourist of Huabao
Flavours and general manager of Aromascape Development
Centre in Germany, joined the Group since February 2007.
Mr. Davies is also a director of the Company’s principal
subsidiaries marked with “AD1"” as set out in Note 37 to the
consolidated financial statements. Mr. Davies holds a Higher
National Diploma in food science of Grimsby College of
Technology, United Kingdom. Mr. Davies served as a senior
flavourist in charge of creation and applications in a number
of world renowned flavours and fragrances companies and
tobacco factory, including BBA, Carreras Rothmans, Dragoco
and Symrise. Mr. Davies has over 50 years of experience in
tobacco flavours.

Mr. REN Miao, aged 44, a vice president of Huabao Flavours,
joined the Group since September 2016. Mr. Ren is also a
director of the Company’s principal subsidiaries marked with
“RM1" as set out in Note 37 to the consolidated financial
statements. Mr. Ren graduated from Taiyuan University of
Technology with a bachelor’'s degree in Machinery Design,
Manufacturing and Automation. Prior to joining the Group,
Mr. Ren held several executive positions such as marketing
director, vice president, etc. at various companies, and
has extensive practical experience in marketing strategy
management.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. GAO Xu, aged 40, the president of Tobacco Raw
Materials Business Division and general manager of the
Company's subsidiaries namely, Shanghai Huabao Biological
Technology Co., Ltd., Guangdong Jinye and Hunan Jishou
Minzu Materials Co., Ltd, joined the Group since April
2007. Mr. Gao is also a director of the Company’s principal
subsidiaries marked with “GX1"” and the legal representative
of those companies marked with “GX2" as set out in Note
37 to the consolidated financial statements. Mr. Gao holds
a bachelor’s degree in Food Science and Engineering from
Nanjing University of Finance and Economics and a master’s
degree in Food Science from Jiangnan University. Since joining
the Group in 2007, Mr. Gao has held different positions,
namely technician of tobacco flavour market service center,
deputy general manager of Yunnan Tianhong Flavor and
Fragrance Co., Ltd., assistant to the chairman of Guangdong
Jinye, vice president of Tobacco Raw Materials Business
Division and president of Tobacco Raw Materials Business
Division. He has extensive operational and managerial
experience in tobacco raw materials.

Ms. LI Xiaojun, aged 54, a vice president of Huabao Flavours,
joined the Group since June 2000. Ms. Li is also a director
of the Company’s principal subsidiaries marked with “LX1"
and the legal representative of those companies marked with
“LX2" as set out in Note 37 to the consolidated financial
statements. Ms. Li holds a bachelor’s degree and is a qualified
Intermediate Accountant. After joining the Group, Ms. Li
served as a financial manager in the Group and presidents
of several subsidiaries. Since August 2020, she is also the
chairman of Amber (XiaMen) Fragrance Co., Ltd. (a subsidiary
of the Group listed on the National Equities Exchange
and Quotations). Ms. Li has about 20 years of extensive
experiences in the field of corporate management.
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Corporate governance refers to the rules and incentives
by which the management of a company is directed and
controlled to maximize the profitability and long-term value
of the firm for shareholders while taking into account the
interest of other legitimate stakeholders (UK Cadbury Report
1992). The Board recognises the importance and benefits of
good corporate governance practices and has adopted certain
corporate governance and disclosure practices aiming at a
high level of transparency and accountability. The Company is
committed to continuously improving its corporate governance
practices as part of its own corporate culture.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

Save and except as disclosed below, the Company had
complied with the code provisions in the CG Code and, where
appropriate, adopted the recommended best practices as set
out in the CG Code throughout the financial year ended 31
December 2023 (the “Financial Year”).

The Company has not fully complied with the code provisions
C.2.1 and F.2.2 in Part 2 of the CG Code as the performance
of the chairman’s duties by Ms. Chu has been affected to
a certain extent since late January 2022 as Ms. Chu was
placed under residential surveillance at a designated location
(GEEEFTEEREF). For details, please refer to the section
headed “Investigation Against Directors”of this report. The
responsibilities of Ms. Chu's duties as Chairlady and CEO
under code provision C.2.1 in Part 2 of the CG Code for
the period from 1 January 2023 to 2 July 2023 (Ms. Chu
had fully resumed her duties on 3 July 2023) were shared
and undertaken substantially by the Co-Chairman (Mr. LAM
Ka Yu), Vice Chairman & President, the Vice President &
Company Secretary and other directors including presiding
over the daily business meetings and meetings of the board
of directors, participating in general meeting of shareholders,
and implementing the formulated business strategies, etc. In
addition, due to the reasons discussed above, Ms. Chu did not
attend the annual general meeting of the Company held on
15 May 2023 in accordance with code provision F.2.2 in Part
2 of the CG Code.
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Corporate Governance Report

Enhancing corporate governance is not simply a matter
of applying and complying with the CG Code but about
promoting and developing an ethical and healthy corporate
culture. The Directors will continue to review and, where
appropriate, improve the standard operations of the Company
on the basis of the experience and regulatory changes
to enhance the confidence of the Shareholders, and to
safeguard Shareholders’ interest for assuring healthy business
developments.

CORPORATE'S CULTURE AND STRATEGY

The Group is committed to developing a culture that is built
on its vision, spirit, core values and mission which create
corporate culture that builds consensus (ft 5 i) and
inspires progress (M EIE#). Upholding the corporate vision
of “Flavour your life” (EWK 4£)E3|%85), the Group’s business
development has been around its spirit of “Innovative,
pragmatic, loyal and cooperative” (BIF + I5E « £ - HB1E)
since its inception, in which “client first, value creation and
shared achievements” (BEFZE F - BEAIE - £ZH5F) have
been integrated into all business operations from sourcing,
production, transportation, through to the sales and customer
services. More information about the Company’s vision, spirit,
core values and mission are available on the Company website
(www.huabao.com.hk).

The Group has a set of prudent and continuous strategic
planning procedures to identify and evaluate potential
opportunities and challenges faced by the Group and
formulate action plans for the Group to create sustainable
long-term value for shareholders. The Group's strategy is
based on the concentric and diversified development strategy
of flavors and fragrances as the “core”, with the development
concept of “green, healthy and nutrition” (4 - 2 « &
%), to create a taste-related consumer goods industry cluster
with flavors and fragrances as the “core”, and a delicious
life in the large catering sector’s ecological platform as two
wings, with the long-term development goal of becoming a
diversified industrial holding group of taste-related consumer
goods.
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During the quarterly, semi-annual and annual business
meetings, each business segment makes partial adjustments
to business objectives and strategic measures based on actual
business analysis and submits them to the group management
for discussion and approval, and monitors and evaluates the
implementation of the strategic plan in a timely manner.

THE BOARD

Board Composition

The Company has a well-balanced Board. As of date of this
report, the Board comprises six Executive Directors and three
INEDs. The members of the Board are as follows:

Executive Directors

Ms. CHU Lam Yiu (Chairlady and CEO)

Mr. LAM Ka Yu (Co-Chairman)

Mr. XIA Liqun (Vice Chairman and President)

Mr. POON Chiu Kwok (Vice President and Company Secretary)
Ms. LAM Ka Yan

Ms. CHOY Man Har

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. LEE Luk Shiu
Mr. Jonathan Jun YAN
Mr. HOU Haitao

There is no relationship (including financial, business, family
or other material relationship) between any members of the
Board, except for Ms. CHU Lam Yiu being the mother of
both Mr. LAM Ka Yu and Ms. LAM Ka Yan (all are Executive
Directors of the Company). Biographies of the Directors are
set out on pages 36 to 39 of this annual report. The present
Board has experience, expertise, and qualifications in aspects
of production and operation, management, accounting
and finance and regulatory both in Hong Kong and China.
One out of three INEDs possesses recognised professional
qualification in accounting. The INEDs bring independent
judgment, professional knowledge and experience appropriate
for the Board’'s deliberations. All Directors have relevant
qualifications in relevant field of expertise and have exhibited
personal and professional ethics and integrity. The diversity
of experiences and backgrounds enable the Board to enhance
better corporate governance and performance standard and
to bring in valuable contributions and objective advice for the
development of the Group's businesses.
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During the Financial Year, the Board met the requirements of
the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of independent
non-executive directors representing at least one-third of the
Board, with at least one independent non-executive director
possessing appropriate qualification, or accounting or related
financial management expertise (in compliance with Rule 3.10
of the Listing Rules).

The Company has received, from each of the INEDs, an annual
confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. The Board has assessed their independence and
concluded that all the INEDs are considered to be independent
pursuant to the Listing Rules.

Chairlady and Chief Executive Officer

Ms. CHU Lam Yiu (“Ms. Chu”) is the Chairlady of the Board
(responsible for the management of Board's operation and
development of the Group's strategic planning) and Executive
Director of the Company. She took up the position of CEO
(responsible for important management and business decisions
making of the Group) since 2013. The Board believes that
Ms. Chu, by taking up the roles of the Chairlady and CEO
concurrently, is beneficial to the business development and
management of the Group. Upon the appointment as Co-
Chairman of the Group of Mr. LAM Ka Yu (“Mr. Lam”) in
2022, Mr. Lam and Ms. Chu were jointly responsible for the
management of the Board’'s operation and development of
the Group's strategic planning.

Mr. XIA Liqun as Vice Chairman and President, is responsible
for the daily operational management of the Group and
reports to the Chairlady and CEO directly. With the support of
Mr. Lam as Co-Chairman, Mr. XIA Liqun as the Vice Chairman
and President, Mr. POON Chiu Kwok as the Vice President
and Company Secretary, the Chairlady shall ensure that
all Directors are properly briefed on issues arising at board
meetings and receive adequate, complete, reliable and timely
information for making decisions.
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Roles and Responsibilities of Directors

The primary objective of the Board is to maximize the
profitability of the Company and to safeguard and enhance
long-term value of the Company for the Shareholders. To this
end, the Board assumes the responsibilities for leadership and
management of the Company and oversees the businesses,
strategic development direction, financial performance and
corporate governance of the Group. All new board members
have been given information on the general business
background and policy of the Company on joining the Board.
All Directors have been provided with regular trainings by
external experienced lawyers to update and refresh the
applicable legal and other regulatory requirements and
enhance the knowledge and skills required by directors to
perform their duties.

The Board, working side-by-side with the Chairlady and Co-
Chairman, is collectively responsible for formulating and
approving the business strategies of the Company, setting
objectives for management, overseeing its performance
and assessing the effectiveness of management strategies.
The Executive Directors are responsible for the day-to-day
management of the Company’s operations and conduct
meetings with senior management of the Group at which
operational issues and financial performance are evaluated.
The Board is also responsible for developing, reviewing and
monitoring the code of conduct and compliance manual
applicable to employees and Directors and reviewing the
Company's compliance with the code of conduct and
disclosure in the corporate governance report.

The Bye-laws set out the responsibilities and proceedings
of the Board. Significant operational policies have to be
discussed and approved by the Board. To enable the Directors
to meet their obligations, an appropriate organizational
structure is in place with clearly defined responsibilities and
limits of authority.
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Directors’ and Officers’ Liabilities Insurance

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover for
the Directors and senior management of the Company in
respect of legal action that may be brought against them in
the course of execution of their duties in good faith.

Board Meetings

The Board conducts scheduled board meetings on a quarterly
basis to discuss strategies and business issues, including
financial performance of the Group. Details of attendance of
the Directors at the meetings are set out on page 71 of this
annual report.

Notices of board meeting are given to each member of the
Board at least 14 days prior to the meeting, whereby the
Director can put forward his/her proposed items into the
agenda. The agenda and the relevant board papers are then
circulated to the Directors at least 3 days before a board
meeting is convened to enable them to make informed
decisions at the meeting.

Drafts of the board minutes and board committee meeting
minutes are circulated to all Directors and the relevant
board committee members respectively for their review
and comments before finalization. The final version of such
minutes will be kept by the Company Secretary and are open
for inspection by the Directors and committee members. If
a Director has an interest in a matter to be considered at
a board meeting, the Board will ensure that an adequate
number of independent directors are involved in the
consideration of the relevant resolutions, and the relevant
director(s) having an interest in the matter will abstain from
voting.

Every Director is entitled to have access to Board papers,
relevant materials and have unrestricted access to advice
and services of the Company Secretary/Legal Department
and Compliance Department of the Company with a view
to ensuing that board procedures and all applicable rules
and regulations are followed. Directors are able to seek
independent professional advice as and when required at
the Company’s expense. INEDs are encouraged to take an
active role in board meetings and serve on the sub-board
committees.

During the Financial Year, the Co-Chairman has held a
meeting with the INEDs without the presence of other
Directors.
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Directors’ Interests and Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code as the code of
conduct regarding dealing in the securities of the Company by
the Directors. Having made specific enquiries of all Directors,
the Company has received their written confirmations that
they have complied with the required standard as set out in
the Model Code throughout the Financial Year. Full details of
the Directors’ interests in the Shares are set out on page 109
of this annual report.

Delegation of Directors

The Board may from time to time delegate all or any of
its powers that it may think fit and proper to a director or
member of senior management of the Company. The Board
has formulated specific rules and policies on such delegation
of power to facilitate efficient operation of the Company and
is supported by three committees which are the Remuneration
Committee, Audit Committee and Nomination Committee.

Changes in Information in respect of Directors

In accordance with Rule 13.51B (1) of the Listing Rules, the
changes to information required to be disclosed by Directors
pursuant to paragraphs (a) to (e) and (g) of Rule 13.51(2)
between 25 August 2023 (being the date of approval of the
Company’s 2023 Interim Report) to 26 March 2024 (being the
date of approval of this report) are set out below:

1) Mr. POON Chiu Kwok (“"Mr. Poon"”) retired as
independent non-executive director of Yuanda China
Holdings Limited (Hong Kong stock code: 02789) with
effect from 9 September 2023.

2)  Mr. Jonathan YAN retired as independent non-executive
director of Haisco Pharmaceutical Group Co. Ltd. (stock
code: 002653.5Z) with effect from 26 August 2023.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Company has maintained the Remuneration Committee, Audit
Committee and Nomination Committee. Each of these committees
has specific written terms of reference which deal clearly with
their authority and duties. The chairman of the committees will
report their findings and make recommendations to the Board
after each meeting.

Huabao International Holdings Limited ¥ ¥ BB} 2% A R A 7

ERERRE
EERBENRTRSERS

ARFDHRMFETR  (ERERETART
BHEXFNBETEL - KREREFFLEE
LK ARACHRI2REEEMREIRS
ERAFREEBRFAHE B TRETRMAE
EZIRE - EF A IRHIINAFRSE 109
g

EERENBR

EEeNATERBEMESERABENERTH
RBRBBELBEENRNRAAEFTAEREEREKX
B -EXgAFHEZES BEERZBESRRER
ZEE-EZEEXF TR BREESIEBM
AR R MR - EARREABIEE -

EEEREH

B E B E1351BMIE: RBE
13.51(2) 6k (a) = (e) M (g) B 25K - 02023 %
SA2H(ABBART2023F 2 HRE
EH)E2024F3A26B8(ABRABARNRES
H)EME  ARRIMEZTEREZZHHIINAT ¢

1) BERELAE(ELEDBREIERATEE
AR AR (EFEBRMDARIE : 02789) 8
SVIEHITEE 0 B2023F9A9HEA
R o

2) Jonathan YANZEARE G BRI EEEF
B A BR A B (B3 A 5% : 002653.52)
B IEITES - B20234 826 H#E
R o

EERET

ARARBFMNEES  BRZBEEMERZ
Bg XL BQCrIHEEBERE - JBHE
EERETNEE ZESTRAEBRERRMA
ExgERMELEE -



Corporate Governance Report

Remuneration Committee

As of the date of this report, the Remuneration Committee
consists of two INEDs, namely Mr. LEE Luk Shiu (the chairman
of Remuneration Committee) and Mr. HOU Haitao, and one
Executive Director, Mr. XIA Liqun.

The Remuneration Committee’s responsibilities include making
recommendations for approval by the Board with respect to
matters relating to the remuneration of Executive Directors
and senior management. In discharging its responsibilities, the
Remuneration Committee has performed the following works:

e To review and make recommendations on the Company’s
policies and structure for the remuneration of the
Executive Directors and senior management for approval
by the Board;

e To evaluate remuneration packages of the Executive
Directors by reference to market conditions, performance
of the Group and the individual and corporate goals
and objectives as set by the Board from time to time,
and make recommendations on the remuneration of the
INEDs for the Board's approval; and

e To review and evaluate the Company’s share option
scheme and share incentive scheme (if any).

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee
was published on the Company’'s website at
www.huabao.com.hk and on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s
website at www.hkexnews.hk.

Directors will abstain from voting in determining their own
remuneration packages. During the Financial Year, the
Remuneration Committee met three times to, among other
things, review the emolument packages of the Directors
and senior management. The individual attendance of
Remuneration Committee members at meetings is set out
on page 71 of this annual report. Details of the emolument
of the Directors are set out in Note 39 to the consolidated
financial statements while details of the Share Option Scheme
and Share Incentive Scheme to the Directors and senior
management are set out on pages 84 to 98 and pages 105 to
107 of this annual report.
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Audit Committee

As of the date of this report, the Audit Committee comprises
three INEDs, namely Mr. LEE Luk Shiu (the chairman of Audit
Committee), Mr. Jonathan Jun YAN and Mr. HOU Haitao.

The principal responsibilities of the Audit Committee
include assisting the Board in maintaining a high standard
of corporate governance, developing and reviewing the
Company's policies and practices on corporate governance
and making recommendations to the Board, particularly by
providing independent review of the effectiveness of the
Company’s financial reporting process and material internal
controls, including financial, operational, compliance and risk
management controls, and to maintain good and independent
communications with the management as well as auditors of
the Company. The Audit Committee is also responsible for
performing the corporate governance duties set out in the
terms of reference under code provision A.2.1 in Part 2 of the
CG Code as delegated by the Board including but not limited
to developing and reviewing the Company’s policies, practices
on corporate governance, training and continuous professional
development of the Directors and senior management, and
the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal
and regulatory requirements. In discharging its responsibilities,
the Audit Committee has performed the following work:

e To review the financial budget and planning including
the annual and interim financial statements and results
announcements during the financial year/for the
reporting period;

e To discuss with the external auditors and the
management on possible accounting risks;

e To review the effectiveness of the Group's financial
controls, corporate governance, internal controls and risk
management systems;

e To review the sufficiency of manpower, resources, staff
qualifications and experience, training programmes and
budget of the Company’s accounting, internal audit and
financial reporting functions;
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e To approve the audit fees and terms of engagement of
the external auditors;

e To review the independence of the external auditors
and make recommendations to the Board on the re-
appointment of the external auditors; and

e To review and monitor the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with corporate governance and
other legal and regulatory requirements, and to report to
the Board on their decisions or recommendation.

The terms of reference of Audit Committee was published on
the Company's website at www.huabao.com.hk and on the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s website at www.hkexnews.hk.

The Audit Committee meets regularly with the Company’s
external auditors to discuss accounting issues and reviews
the effectiveness of risk management and internal control
systems.

During the Financial Year, the Audit Committee met three
times to, among other things, review the financial reports
for 2022 audited annual results and 2023 interim results
(including the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
the contents disclosed in the Corporate Governance Report)
and the effectiveness of the Group's risk management
and internal controls system. The individual attendance of
Audit Committee members at meetings is set out on page
71 of this annual report. Members of the Audit Committee
were satisfied with the effectiveness of the Company’s risk
management and internal control systems and the financial
reporting disclosures.

The Audit Committee of the Company has reviewed the
Group’s audited annual results for the Financial Year.

The external auditor has attended the Audit Committee
meetings to discuss the issues arising from the audit and
financial reporting matters.
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Nomination Committee

As of the date of this report, the Nomination Committee
comprises two Executive Directors, Ms. CHU Lam Yiu (the
Chairlady of Nomination Committee), and Ms. Lam Ka Yan
and three INEDs, namely Mr. LEE Luk Shiu, Mr. Jonathan Jun
YAN and Mr. HOU Haitao.

The principal responsibilities of the Nomination Committee
include formulating nomination policy for the Board's
consideration and implementing the Board’s approved
nomination policy, considering the development targets and
strategies of the Company, with due regard to the structure,
size and composition (including the skills, knowledge and
experience) and the board diversity policy, identifying
individuals suitably qualified to become Board members,
selecting or making recommendations to the Board on the
selection of individuals nominated for directorships, assessing
the independence of independent non-executive Directors and
making recommendations to the Board on the appointment
or re-appointment of directors and succession planning for
directors, in particular the chairman and the chief executive
and monitoring the implementation of the board diversity
policy and review such policy, as appropriate, to ensure its
effectiveness.

The nomination process is summarized as follows:
(a) Appointment of new Director

(i) The Nomination Committee and/or the Board
should, upon receipt of the proposal on
appointment of new director and the biographical
information (or relevant details) of the candidate,
evaluate such candidate based on the criteria as set
out above to determine whether such candidate is
qualified for directorship.

(i) If the process yields one or more desirable
candidates, the Nomination Committee and/or the
Board should rank them by order of preference
based on the needs of the Company and reference
check of each candidate (where applicable).

(iii) The Nomination Committee should then recommend

to the Board to appoint the appropriate candidate
for directorship, as applicable.
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(iv) For any person that is nominated by a shareholder
for election as a director at the general meeting of
the Company, the Nomination Committee and/or
the Board should evaluate such candidate based on
the criteria as set out above to determine whether
such candidate is qualified for directorship.

(b) Re-election of Director at general meeting

(i)  The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should
review the overall contribution and service to the
Company of the retiring director and the level of
participation and performance on the Board.

(i) The Nomination Committee and/or the Board
should also review and determine whether the
retiring director continues to meet the criteria as
set out above.

(iii) The Nomination Committee and/or the Board
should then make recommendation to shareholders
in respect of the proposed re-election of director at
the general meeting.

During the Financial Year, the Nomination Committee held
one meeting and all committee members were present at
the meeting. The Nomination Committee has determined
the policy for the nomination of Directors, the nomination
procedures, process and criteria adopted by the Nomination
Committee to select and recommend candidates for
directorship and senior management.

Pursuant to the Bye-laws of the Company, all Director are
appointed by the Board, whether to fill a casual vacancy or
as an addition to the Board, shall hold office until the next
annual general meeting at which time they must retire and
be subject to re-election. Although all the Directors were
not appointed for a specific term, every Director shall, in
accordance with bye-law 84 of the Bye-laws, retire from office
by rotation no later than the third annual general meeting of
the Company since their last appointment or re-election and
are eligible for re-election.
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The Board recommended the re-appointment of the Directors
standing for re-election at the forthcoming AGM. The
Company's circular to be despatched to the shareholders will
contain detailed information of the Directors standing for re-
election.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee was
published on the Company’s website at www.huabao.com.hk
and on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange’'s website at
www.hkexnews.hk.

DIVERSITY

Board Diversity Policy

The Company adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) in September 2013 which sets out the
approach to achieve diversity on the board by considering
a number of factors and measurable objectives, including
without limitation, gender, age, cultural and educational
background, professional skills, knowledge, experience and
length of service, in order to maintain an appropriate range
and balance of talents, skills, experience and background of
the Board. Appointments of Board members shall be based
on merit, and candidates will be assessed based on objective
criteria. The Company will also take into account factors
based on its own business model and specific needs from time
to time.

In considering the Board’'s succession, the Nomination
Committee will also consider through different channels,
among others, engaging independent professional search
firm(s) to help identify potential candidates for Directors,
as and when appropriate. Since 2004, there have been at
least two female Directors on the Board (also the target of
the Board). The Board will continue to take opportunities
to increase the proportion of female members, wherever
possible. As of 31 December 2023, the Board consists of three
female Directors and six male Directors (31 December 2022:
three female Directors and six male Directors), and female
representation remained at about 33 per cent of the Board (31
December 2022: 33 per cent).

The Nomination Committee will monitor the implementation
of the Board Diversity Policy, review the Board Diversity Policy
at least on an annual basis, and report to the Board on their
decisions or propose recommendations on any amendments
for the Board's review and approval, in order to ensure the
effectiveness of the Board Diversity Policy.
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During the Financial Year, the Nomination Committee
has reviewed the board structure, the diversity of Board
members and the commitment of Directors and making
recommendations to the Board. The Nomination Committee
considered that the composition of the Board is well
balanced and diversified in terms of gender, age, educational
background, professional skills and experience, and diversity
of the Board and the Board Diversity Policy, to ensure the
Board’'s composition complies with the CG Code with an
appropriate mix of skills, experience and diversity that are
relevant to the Company’s strategy, governance and business
and contribute to the Board's effectiveness and efficiency. The
implementation of the Board Diversity Policy for the Financial
Year was considered effective. It meets the needs of the
business operations and development of the Group.

In addition, the Board is of the view that every Director has
dedicated sufficient time and attention to the affairs of
the Company. Each Director had disclosed to the Company
at the time of his/her appointment of the directorships
held in other listed companies or nature of offices held in
public organizations and other significant commitments.
The Company has also requested Directors to provide in a
timely manner any change in such information. The individual
attendance of Nomination Committee members at meetings is
set out on page 71 of this annual report.

Gender Diversity

The Group is committed to achieving gender diversity to
eliminate any form of gender discrimination, including but not
limited to recruitment, remuneration, training and promotion,
and keeps reviewing gender equality within the Group
regularly and taking corrective actions to improve gender
balance. As of 31 December 2023, the number of employees
of the Group (including senior management) consisted
of 2,503 male or 62.7% and 1,492 female or 37.3% (31
December 2022: 2,492 male or 64.3% and 1,383 female or
35.7%). The Group strives to achieve gender diversity in order
to enjoy the benefits of accessing a wider talent pool and
boosting creativity and innovation. For details, please refer to
the ESG report for the Financial Year.
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BOARD INDEPENDENCE

The Company recognises that Board independence is pivotal
in good corporate governance and board effectiveness. The
Board has established the following mechanisms to ensure
that independent views and input are available to the Board:

()

(i)

Composition

The Board ensures the appointment of at least three
INEDs and at least one-third of its members being INEDs
(or such higher threshold as may be required by the
Listing Rules from time to time), with at least one INED
possessing appropriate professional qualifications, or
accounting or related financial management expertise.
Further, INEDs will be appointed to Board Committees as
required under the Listing Rules and as far as practicable
to ensure independent views are available.

Independent Assessment

Independent non-executive Directors enhance the
effectiveness and decision-making of the Board by
providing objective judgement, a constructive and
complementary attitude to management and their
independence is assessed upon appointment, annually,
and at any other time where the circumstances warrant
reconsideration.

Independence confirmations from INEDs are to be
submitted to the Company in writing annually or upon
appointment to the Board.

Each INED is required to inform the Company as soon as
practicable if there is any change in his or her personal
particulars that may affect his or her independence. No
such notification was received during the Financial Year.

Every Nomination Committee member will be abstained
from assessing his/her own independence. The
Nomination Committee affirmed that all INEDs continued
to demonstrate strong independence in judgement and
were free from any business or other relationship which
could interfere with their ability to discharge their duties
effectively, and they therefore all remained independent.
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Where the Board proposes a resolution to elect an
individual as an Independent non-executive Director at
the general meeting, the circular to shareholders and/or
explanatory statement accompanying the notice of the
relevant general meeting will set out the reason why the
Board believes he/she should be elected and the reasons
why it considers him/her to be independent.

(iii) Board Decision Making

All Directors are encouraged to express freely their
views and constructive challenges during the Board/
Board Committees meetings. Directors (including
INEDs) are entitled to seek further information from the
management on the matters to be discussed at Board
meetings and, where necessary, independent advice from
external professional advisers at the Company’s expense.

A Director (including INED) who has a material interest
in a contract, transaction or arrangement shall not vote
or be counted in the quorum on any Board resolution
approving the same.

The chairman/co-chairman would hold meetings with the
INEDs without the presence of other directors at least
annually.

During the Financial Year, the Board at all times met the
requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment
of Independent Non-executive Directors as mentioned in item
(i) above.

The Company has received confirmation in writing of
independence from each of the INEDs and considers them
to be independent of the management and free of any
relationship that could materially interfere with the exercise of
their independent judgement.

During the Financial Year, the Co-Chairman has held one
meeting with the INEDs without the presence of other
Directors.

The Board, through its Nomination Committee, had reviewed
and considered that the above mechanism is effective in
ensuring that independent views are conveyed to the Board.
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RISK MANAGEMENT, INTERNAL CONTROL AND
CULTURE

The Board has full responsibility for maintaining an integrated
and effective risk management and internal control systems
of the Group, which includes the establishment of a defined
management structure with specified limits of authority.
The internal control system is designed to assist in the
achievement of business objectives of the Group, safeguarding
assets against unauthorized use or disposition, ensuring the
proper maintenance of accounting records for the provision
of reliable financial information for internal use or for
publication and ensuring compliance with relevant legislation
and regulation. The internal control system is designed to
provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against
material misstatement or loss. The internal control measures
and system (embedded in the operations of the Company and
forms part of the Group’s culture) includes:

e effectiveness and efficiency of operations;

e capability in responding quickly to evolving risks to the
business arising from factors within the Company and
to the changes in business environment; and include
procedures for reporting immediately to appropriate
management levels regarding any significant control
weakness that are identified together with details of
corrective action being undertaken;

e reliability of financial reporting; and
e compliance with applicable laws and regulations.

The key procedures that the Board established to provide
effective internal controls are as follows:

Organizational Structure and Risk Management

An appropriate organizational structure is in place with
defined operating policies and procedures as well as
responsibility and lines of authority.

The Company has set out Internal Audit Department with
scope of works advised by the Audit Committee.
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The Legal Department and Compliance Department are
led by professional legal staff and professional company
secretary respectively. Together with other business functions
(including Internal Audit Department) of the Group, the
Legal Department and Compliance Department monitor and
assess risk regularly, boost related management standards
and evaluate investment projects. The Company has a long-
term engagement with reputable international law firm as its
annual retainer counsel for provision of legal advice relating
to compliance of Listing Rules and regulatory requirements.

Managing ESG risks with risk management framework

The effective management of ESG risks is a key focus of the
Company’s risk management activities. Particularly, ESG risks
have been managed alongside with other relevant business
and operational risks under the risk management framework.
Moreover, the enhancement for scope and process of the risk
management and internal control systems will be continued to
provide more timely and transparent information on the status
of ESG risks.

Authority and Control

The Executive Directors and senior management are delegated
with respective levels of authorities to carry out the corporate
strategies and policies and related matters formulated by the
Board.

Budgetary Control and Financial Reporting

The Group implements a comprehensive budget management
and the overall financial budget is executed upon approval
by the Board. Relevant procedures have been established
to assess, review and approve major capital and recurring
expenditures, and regular review and make comparison
between operating results and the budget.

The Group has established appropriate internal control
procedures to ensure accurate and complete accounting and
management records are kept on a timely basis. Examination
and review are carried out regularly to ensure that the
financial statements are properly prepared in conformity with
the generally accepted accounting principles, the Group’s
accounting policies and the applicable laws and regulations.
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Risk Management and Internal Control Review

During the Financial Year, the Internal Audit Department had
carried out an annual review on the internal control system
including financial, operational and compliance control, and
risk management functions. The review adopts a risk-based
approach to create and review the effectiveness of an internal
control system and includes the following works:

(i)  To follow up on individual matters concerning the
improvement of the internal control system in accordance
with the guidance and suggestions of independent
directors and the external auditor of the Company;

(i) To carry out a high level review on the internal control
system of new members/businesses of the Group, by
integrating the internal control framework set out by The
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Committee ("COSO"), the China Internal Auditing
Standards, the basic internal control standards and
complementary guidelines of the Group, etc. as basic
requirements;

(iii) To arrange site visit and perform focused walk through
test on the internal control system of members of the
Group on risk control priority basis pursuant to the risk
control principles mentioned above; and

(iv) To design and review the questionnaires on the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems submitted by the head offices of the
Group, subsidiaries, business sectors of the Company.

The Company has adopted a set of risk management and
internal control policies and procedures to safeguard the
Group's assets, to ensure proper maintenance of accounting
records and reliability of financial information, and to ensure
compliance with relevant laws and regulations.

The Executive Directors and senior management of the
Company received local, market, and operations-related
information regularly while their understanding of the
risk assessment is enhanced through the regular senior
management meetings, at which they discuss cases of the
potential risk management and operation of individual
business segments.

Huabao International Holdings Limited ¥ ¥ BB} 2% A R A 7

EEERRSE

2 B i T I P R BE AR AT A

RAMBEER - REPEERFIH A RRESIE &
H(BRME  EEMAREENEREIED
) ETFERHE - SHERARRER T A E
AR R EME B R BT T

(i) REBBILEERARAINEZEAEDNIE
BERARES BERTANEZERS
BRI F IR

(i) #4& The Committee of Sponsoring

Organizations of the Treadway
Committee ([COSOJ) A & 2= I 4E 28 -
(hBIREERTER]) - ANEE R EBE
ERNRBMEERSIFHEELAER  §
EEFKEREBNNEEERRET

BERBE

(i) mERELEKRBINDAEEZMEMR
1 b it e R R RIS R D B 1 R AR
TTEBEFITAR M

(iv) RethmEEEEHN JFWBRARILSE
EHMEREERABEZRSENE
MIEIRRZ B RS

ARBEHFM—ERREERABEEBRR L
B UWREAEEEE  BERSFLHZE
RIF R B ER A SEIE - A NFERE T IER
RERRIER

RRABNPTEENSRERE T RS
ER (BT - MBS REEEMIEE) B
BEMNSAEEBERIWARETENRR
EERERRBIRBELITR - LIBMMITE
EREREEEHRE R HHRA



Corporate Governance Report

Identification, assessment and management:

- The head of each department such as the Investment
Department, Finance Department, Legal Department and
Compliance Department of the Company will inform and
report to the relevant Directors regarding the factors
that have impact on the profit and price based on the
nature of business and their own experience. During the
course of execution, the concerned project teams of the
Company will handle relevant documents and report to
the relevant personnel (including the Directors).

- As for the matters as required to be disclosed under the
Listing Rules, the Compliance Department will present
the issues to the Board for review and discussion, and
the Legal Department and Compliance Department will
separately inform relevant members of the project team
that dealing in the shares of the Company is prohibited.

Review prior to the transactions:

- Generally, the prescribed price sensitive information
reporting forms regarding the daily operation and
connected transactions of the Company will be circulated
to relevant departments at the beginning of every month
by the Finance Department, and the Finance Department
will combine and submit the forms to the Compliance
Department for overall review in the middle of each
month, ensuring that there are no material omissions.
The Legal Department will also assist to regularly confirm
with the Compliance Department for any material
contracts (if any).

During the Financial Year, Internal Audit Department has
presented its review report and make recommendations to
the Audit Committee and the Audit Committee has discussed
with the management and reported the progress of the work
plan and related findings, particularly those related to new
members of the Group to the Board at board meeting.
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Measures to further enhance Internal Control Systems
and Corporate Governance practices

In compliance with the requirements of the Listing Rules and
for the purpose of reinforcing the Group's internal control
system, the Company has established a whistleblowing
policy and system for employees to raise concerns, in a
confidential manner, with the Audit Committee about
possible irregularities in financial reporting, internal
control or other matters related to the Company. The
Audit Committee is responsible for reviewing the relevant
policy and system regularly. The Company had established
an anti-fraud leadership team, aimed at strengthening the
guidance, organization and coordination of anti-fraud and
whistle-blowing works to reinforce standard operations
and risk management and issued the “Anti-Fraud, Bribery
and Whistleblowing Policy”( [ REE¥ - BERRMERH|E ] )
accordingly.

The Directors has further strengthened corporate governance
practices, including execution of the internal reporting
policy throughout the Group in monitoring the operation
and business developments of the Company so as to capture
potentially price-sensitive information on an on-going basis,
monitoring the continuing disclosure obligation. The Board
has further strengthened corporate governance practices
by establishing lending policy to monitor its credit level. In
addition, the annual retainer counsel of the Company has
provided the Directors (existing and new board members) and
the relevant senior executives with trainings on Listing Rules,
regulatory requirements and analysis of enforcement cases at
least twice a year.

During the Financial Year, the Internal Audit Department
of the Company has carried out internal control audits in
respect of those risk areas, such as business operation,
financial system, project investment and management,
corporate governance, etc., and also head offices, business
sectors and certain subsidiaries of the Group. The Internal
Audit Department has reported to the Directors in respect
of the effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control system and significant risks. The Board reviewed and
evaluated the effectiveness of risk management and internal
control systems of the Company and its subsidiaries by
considering reviews performed by the Audit Committee with
the assistance of the management team, the Internal Audit
Department and the external auditors.
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As a result of the above measures and upon review, the
Board confirms, and management has also confirmed to the
Board, that the Group's risk management and internal control
systems are effective and adequate (including the resources,
staff qualifications and experience, training programmes
and budget of the Company’s accounting, internal audit and
financial reporting functions are adequate) and have complied
with the CG Code provisions on risk management and internal
control throughout the Financial Year and up to the date of
this annual report.

Handling and Dissemination of Inside Information

For the purposes of handling and disseminating inside
information in accordance with the Listing Rules and the
SFO, the Company has in place a policy on handling and
dissemination of inside information (the “Policy”) which
sets out the procedures and internal controls for handling
and dissemination of inside information in a timely manner
in such a way so as not to place any person in a privileged
dealing position and to allow time for the market to price
the listed securities of the Company with the latest available
information. This Policy also provides guidelines to staff of
the Company to ensure proper safeguards exist to prevent
the Company from breaching the statutory disclosure
requirements. It also includes appropriate internal control
and reporting systems to identify and assess potential inside
information.
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TRAINING

Directors’ Training

All Directors participated in appropriate continuous
professional development and provided the Company with
their records of training they received during the Financial
Year. Directors participated in the training which included
reading regulatory updates, attending seminars or conducting
training sessions and exchanging views.
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Attend seminars/conduct
training sessions
and exchange views

HESERHNE EFIR

Executive Directors HITES

Ms. CHU Lam Yiu RME L Yes B
Mr. LAM Ka Yu MEFEE Yes B
Mr. XIA Liqun BN BT E Yes B
Mr. POON Chiu Kwok EIBE A Yes B
Ms. LAM Ka Yan MM L Yes B
Ms. CHOY Man Har BENELL Yes ]
Independent Non-executive Directors BYFHTES

Mr. LEE Luk Shiu I EE Yes B
Mr. Jonathan Jun YAN Jonathan Jun YAN 44 Yes B
Mr. HOU Haitao EgELE Yes =]

Company Secretary’s Training

Mr. POON Chiu Kwok, the Executive Director, Vice President
and Company Secretary of the Company, is responsible for
assisting the Board for facilitating communications among
Directors as well as ensuring that the Board’s policy and
procedures are followed properly. The Company Secretary
also provides professional advice and services to the Board
on corporate governance and other matters. He is also
responsible for organizing general meetings and facilitating
the induction and professional development of Directors.

During the Financial Year, Mr. Poon has complied with Rule

3.29 of the Listing Rules by taking not less than 15 hours of
continuing professional training.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Directors’ Responsibility in Preparing Financial Reporting
The Board is responsible for the preparation and timely
publication of financial statements. In preparing the financial
statements, relevant statutory requirements have been
complied with, applicable accounting standards in force
in Hong Kong have been adopted, appropriate accounting
policies have been applied on a consistent basis, going
concern basis has been adopted and reasonable and prudent
judgments and estimates have been made.

Auditors’ Report and Remuneration

The Company's external auditors are PricewaterhouseCoopers.
There has been no change in the Company’s external auditors
for the preceding three years.

The external auditors have a primary responsibility for auditing
and reporting on the financial statements. The Auditors’
Report to the Shareholders is set out on pages 121 to 130 of
this annual report.

During the Financial Year, the remuneration paid/payable
to the Company’s auditors (including statutory auditors of
the subsidiaries) in relation to audit services and non-audit
services provided to the Group are as follows:
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Amount
Nature of Services REME k]
(RMB'000)
(AR®TIT)

Audit services ZE R
— for the audit of the Group - BET 7,032
— for the statutory and other audits of the subsidiaries ~FRRLEE N HEMER 2,328
Non-audit services FEZERTE 311

Please also refer to Note 27 to consolidated financial
statement set out on pages 241 to 242 of this annual report
for details of Auditors’ Remuneration.

RN FBERLEHRNAFRE 2412
242 B E B RRMTE27 ©
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Shares with voting rights in the Company are ordinary shares.
The number of issued ordinary shares as at 31 December 2023
was 3,229,926,876. Details of share capital of the Company
are set out in Note 19 to the consolidated financial statements
on page 232 of this annual report. Shareholders holding

EEERRSE

B AR

AR ZENORNDHEARRTEBBRRG - R
2023F 12 A31H  BEBTEEABRKRMHEE
%3,229,926,876 % - A ARIRAFFBEEHN A
FRE2NELEEVBHRENTFI0ORN - FH
RAREBITERR ZBRRNAT

issued ordinary shares of the Company were set out below:

Full details
can be Total
found on the number of Percentage of
following page issued the issued
of this report Shares held share capital
FHEERH EHEE
RAEF R 2817 HEe 1T
Category/Name L) g NTEH RHEE BAB DL
Ms. CHU Lam Yiu KBTI (HE) Pages 109 to110  2,293,408,900 71.00%
(Note) £109£ 1108
Public N YN 936,517,976 29.00%
Total CEl 3,229,926,876 100.00%
Note: B 5E -

As defined in the Listing Rules, any person (including a holder of
depositary receipts) who is or group of persons (including any holder
of depositary receipts) who are together entitled to exercise or control
the exercise of 30% (or such other amount as may from time to time
be specified in the Codes on Takeovers and Mergers and Share Buy-
backs as being the level for triggering a mandatory general offer) or
more of the voting power at general meeting of the Company.

Procedures by which shareholders may convene a special
general meeting

Pursuant to bye-law 58 of the Bye-laws, shareholders holding
at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-
tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the
right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at
all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board
or the Secretary of the Company, to require a special general
meeting ("SGM") to be called by the Board for the transaction
of any business transaction specified in such requisition.

Huabao International Holdings Limited ¥ ¥ BB} 2% A R A 7
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The requisition shall state clearly the matters required to be
considered and approved at the SGM and must be signed by
the requisitionist(s) (with contact details) and submitted to
the Board in written form to the Company’s principal place of
business in Hong Kong at least 21 days before the proposed
date of the SGM.

The SGM shall be held within 2 months after the deposit
of such requisition. If the Directors do not within 21 days
from the date of the deposit of the requisition proceed to
convene a meeting, the requisitionists may themselves do
so in accordance with the provisions of Section 74(3) of the
Companies Act 1982 of the laws of Bermuda (as amended)
(the “Companies Act”), but any meeting so convened shall
not be held after the expiration of 3 months from the said
date.

Shareholders’ right to propose resolutions at general
meeting

Pursuant to Sections 79 and 80 of the Companies Act, (i)
any number of shareholders representing not less than
one-twentieth (5%) of the total voting rights of all the
shareholders having at the date of the requisition a right to
vote at the general meeting to which the requisition relates;
or (ii) not less than 100 shareholders, may submit to the
Company a written request stating the resolution intended
to be moved at AGM or a statement of not more than 1,000
words with respect to the matter referred to in any proposed
resolution or the business to be dealt with at a particular
general meeting.

The written request/statement must be signed by all the
requisitionists and may consist of several documents in like
form, each signed by one or more of the requisitionists,
and must be deposited at the Company’s principal place of
business in Hong Kong, not less than 6 weeks before the AGM
in case of a requisition requiring notice of a resolution or not
less than one week before the general meeting in case of any
other requisition. Provided that if an AGM is called for a date
6 weeks or less after the requisition has been deposited, the
requisition though not deposited within the time required
shall be deemed to have been properly deposited for the
purposes thereof.

TERER

alE

\'/

BRERAEBREYIH %ﬁﬁﬂx?%ﬁ'ﬁ(/_\i%f&
MM ERBIEMBEFS  UREEERALT
HERUNEERERA %l]%%/’\ FREHEBFRK
%’HEUKAEIHHK’J\NiHI ERXRZEARRAR
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BREEQRNEEIER) (T RRA]) E7403) &
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Shareholders’ right to propose a person for election as a
director

Shareholders shall have the right to propose a person for
election as a director at the Company’s general meeting.
Please refer to the detailed procedures for such right on the
Company’s website www.huabao.com.hk.

Making enquiries by Shareholders

Shareholders shall have the right to examine the relevant
information of the Company according to the Bye-laws.
Shareholders should direct their questions about their
shareholdings to the Company’s branch share registrar in
Hong Kong, Tricor Tengis Limited. Shareholders may also
direct questions or requests for information through the
Company’s website at www.huabao.com.hk or by contacting
the Head of Investor Relations Department of the Company
(email: ir@huabao.com.hk).

ACCESSIBLE AND TRANSPARENT
COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company has reviewed the implementation and
effectiveness of the Shareholders’ Communication Policy
during the Financial Year. Since there have been no changes
to the existing Shareholders’” Communication Policy and given
there is no barrier for the shareholders to communicate their
views to the board as a whole, the Company considered that
such Shareholders’ Communication Policy remains effective.

In addition to the on-going Investor Relation Department’s
efforts mentioned in the next section, the Board values the
importance of communications with the Shareholders. The
Company uses a range of communications tools, such as
AGM, annual report, various notices, announcements and
circulars, to ensure its Shareholders are kept well informed of
key business imperatives of the Company.

The Company has maintained a website www.huabao.com.
hk for corporate communication with its Shareholders and
the general public. All corporate communications required
under the Listing Rules are displayed and can be downloaded
(for documents published in the previous 7 years) from the
Company’s website and there is established procedure to
ensure timely update in compliance with the Listing Rules.

Huabao International Holdings Limited ¥ ¥ BB} 2% A R A 7
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Open Communications

The Group is committed to acting in good faith and in
the best interests of its Shareholders at all times and in all
areas of its operations. The Group actively promotes open
communication and full disclosure of all information needed
to protect and maximize transparency.

Shareholders’ Communication Policy

The Shareholders” Communication Policy of the Company (the
“Shareholders’ Communication Policy”) is available for
viewing on the Company's website at www.huabao.com.hk.

The Shareholders’ Communication Policy was reviewed by the
Board during the Financial Year to ensure its effectiveness
and continues to be adopted in the forthcoming financial
year. Taking into account the steps taken at the general
meetings, the handling of queries received and the multiple
communication channels in place, the Board is of the
view that such policy is effective and has been properly
implemented during the Financial Year.

ERERRE
LR 3
AREAZERRA - 25 AR R EF
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Shareholders’ Meetings held during the Financial Year

The general meeting provides a forum for the Board to
communicate with the Shareholders. To facilitate enforcement
of the Shareholders’ rights, significant issues were dealt with
under separate resolutions at the general meeting, including
the election and re-election of individual Director. Details
of general meeting(s) held during the Financial Year are
summarized as follows:

EEERRSE

REFREFERNBTHRRAE
BRAGAEFTHMRIEH—HEERE -
RTERRERRAG LITREN  EE2FEH
TRBERNAZRNBRAE LERIE - B1FE&
BREZMEHES - RAFRFERABITZK
RAg@EmMN

Meeting Date Venue Resolutions

25 =R Hb B REBR

AGM 15 May 2023 Room 1, 1. To receive and consider the audited
RERBFRE 2023 5H15H United Conference financial statements and the reports of

Centre, 10/F.,

United Centre,

95 Queensway,
Admiralty, Hong Kong
B

B 95 5%
H—RLTER—

A A Noem
EETLE

MERGERS & ACQUISITIONS

No material mergers and acquisitions of the Group were
carried out during the Financial Year.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Details of the continuing connected transactions of the
Company are set out on pages 116 to 119 of this annual
report.

Huabao International Holdings Limited ¥ ¥ BB} 2% A R A 7

the directors and of the auditors for
the year ended 31 December 2022;
BEHE202F12A3MBIEFELSE
ZMBEmE  ERRERREMRE

2. To declare the special dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2022;
TREZE2022F 12 A3 1 BIEFENR
RIRZ S

3. To re-elect and elect Directors and
to authorize the Board to fix their
remunerations;
EEREREE  UEEEFSETERS
2B

4. To re-appoint the auditors and to
authorize the Board to fix their
remunerations; and
BREZHA  TRBEEEEETANS
54

5. To grant general mandates to buy back
shares, to issue shares and to exercise
the buy-back mandate
BET—REENDERG  ZHTROK
FTEEEERRE -

i BB & B
RAFBFEER » RRARNRBETEMNERK
BaptEe -

AEBZFHEBEXZFBHNAFRE 116
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ATTENDANCE RECORD

Details of attendance of the Directors (either in person or
through telephone conferences) at Board meetings, meetings
of Board committees and general meetings during the
Financial Year are set out below:

TEER

H & R 8%

wE

EEENAVHRFEARBLFIELERE
FIALFESEEH
RAGHHERFRHEHIIOT

CEEZBEgR LK

Audit  Remuneration Nomination Annual
Board Committee Committee Committee General
Meeting(s) Meeting(s) Meeting(s) Meeting(s) Meeting(s)
B M B4
Ezees ZEEEH ZEEEH ZEEEE RREEAE
No. of meeting held EE Ve 31 3 3 1 1
Executive Directors YrEs
Ms. CHU Lam Yiu (Chairlaay and CEO) (Note 1) RIMERL(#EREEHTTE) Wit 1) 19731 NIATER NIATER on on
Mr. LAM Ka Yu (Co-Chairman) WEFEEBELE) 3131 NATER NIATER NATER 1
MIr. XIA Liqun (Vice Chairman and President) ~ ENBRE(GIZE#EH) 3131 NIATER ElE! NIATER 1
Mr. POON Chiu Kwok (Vice President ERELE(BEHFLTHE) 3131 NIATER NIATER NIATER 1
and Company Secretary)
Ms. LAM Ka Yan et 31131 NIAT @R NIATEE i 1
Ms. CHOY Man Har EYEnt 31131 NIAT @R NIAT @R NATER 1
Independent Non-executive Directors BUkyiEs
Mr. LEE Luk Shiu FRkAE 3131 33 33 11 1
Mr. Jonathan Jun YAN Jonathan Jun YAN % & 3131 3R NANER 11 11
Mr. HOU Haitao BEELE 31131 313 313 N N
Note: fisE -

1. Ms. Chu had resumed her duties since 3 July 2023.

MAJOR CHANGES TO THE BYE-LAWS

During the Financial Year, the Company did not make any
amendments to the Company’'s Bye-laws. An up-to-date
version of the Bye-laws is available on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange. Shareholders may refer to
the Bye-laws for further details of the rights of shareholders.

1. K&ER2023F7 A3HBIRERER -

RAMUERBE
RAMBEER » RARALEHARFZ AR
ABRIVEHERMERT  RFTARAH 2 AR AT R
PRt Ean] - BRARRENZE
ZElE MR 2HAFME -

EN/NSIDSE 33
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The Company is committed to upholding an open and
proactive investor relations strategy with an aim at optimizing
the knowledge and understanding of the investment
community with respect to the Company’s corporate mission
and vision, development strategies, competitive position in
the industry and operating and financial performance, so
as to enable public investors to make informed decisions on
their investments. The Company fulfils the above-mentioned
through a designated Investor Relations Department.

The Investor Relations Department acts as an intermediary
between the Company and public investors. The Company
abides by the basic and fair disclosure guidelines to ensure
that communication with Shareholders, investors and media
is conducted in a fair manner and that no material non-public
information is made available to any individual on a selective
basis.

INVESTOR RELATIONS REVIEW

During the Current Reporting Period, the Company proactively
communicated with investors by multiple channels to convey
its latest developments, performance, and strategic goals
so that investors could have a better understanding of the
Group and sets solid foundation for the Group’s activities in
the capital market in the future. Investor relations activities
conducted by the Group are as follows,

Details Frequency
Results Conference Call 2

e  Annual general meeting

It is important that the Shareholders have access
to clear and meaningful data which enables them
to have a constructive dialogue with the Company.
Shareholders can raise any questions and comments on
the performance or future business directions of the
Company and on any resolutions to be considered at
the AGM. The Company’s co-chairman and the Audit
Committee’s Chairman were present in person or
through telephone/video conferences and available to
answer questions raised at the AGM.
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Detailed financial statements

The Company attaches great importance to annual
reports and interim reports, put a lot of resources for
these two reports’ preparation, and uses them as one of
the major communication bridges between the Company
and investors.

Through this approach, the latest information of the
Group can be transmitted to investors, aiming to
convey the Group's comprehensive strategy, operating
principles, business and financial performance and future
prospects in a detailed and accurate manner.

E-Communication via Websites of the Company and
Professional Investor Relations Website

The Company's website at www.huabao.com.hk
contains information such as important corporate data,
biographical details of Directors, organizational structure
and press releases.

In addition, the Company also has professional investor
relations website (http://huabao2.aconnect.com.hk/
sc/home.aspx) to publish interim and annual reports,
announcements and circulars that enables the Company’s
shareholders and members of the investment community
to have timely access to the most updated information
about the Company.

INVESTOR RELATIONS CONTACTS

For inquiries, please contact:

Investor Relations Department
Huabao International Holdings Limited
Suite 3008

30th Floor, Central Plaza

18 Harbour Road

Wanchai

Hong Kong

Telephone: (852) 2877 8999
Fax: (852) 2511 8229
E-mail: ir@huabao.com.hk
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REZESEB(R=-Z2-_=F+=-A=+NA)

Information for investors (as at 29 December 2023)

1. Huabao International Holdings Limited 1. EZEEEEREERBERAA
Board Lot Size 1,000 shares SBFEEHEMRE 1,000
Number of shares issued 3,229,926,876 shares BEITRMHER 3,229,926,876 %
Market capitalization Approximately MEMZZE-=F #EE-80.4318T
(based on the closing HKD8.043 billion +—A—-+AH
price of HKD 2.49 per share Wi EEREE

on 29 December 2023)

2.49TEHE)

Stock code AR 7 5%

The Stock Exchange of 00336 BEBMERSZFN 00336
Hong Kong Limited stock code &1 5%

Reuters ticker 336.HK BRI AL RRAD 55 336.HK

Bloomberg ticker 336.HK AR 336.HK

Huabao Flavours & Fragrances Company Limited (a non-
wholly owned subsidiary of the company listed on the

EEEREMNAERAR(ARBHN—ER
FRNBHZRHABIER ETHERET

ChiNext of the Shenzhen Stock Exchange) NA])

Board Lot Size 100 shares SFEESMBRE 100/

Number of shares issued 615,880,000 shares BEITRMHEER 615,880,000 &

Market capitalization Approximately MEUUZZEZ=F HARE
(Based on the closing RMB13.186 billion +—A=-+A8 131.86 17T
price of RMB21.41 per share Wi EERARE
on 29 December 2023) 21.41 L&

Stock code A& 1D SR

ChiNext of Shenzhen Stock 300741 B EZ SR 300741
Exchange stock code Bl ZEAR AR AN 5%

Reuters ticker 300741.5Z BB A AR IR 300741. SZ

Bloomberg ticker 300741: CH T RH AR 300741: CH
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Financial Calendar

Closing date for transfer of
shares for Annual
General Meeting

Annual General Meeting

Ex-dividend date

Closing date for transfer of
shares for proposed
final dividend and
special dividend

Date of payment of proposed
final dividend and special
dividend for the fiscal year
ended 31 December 2023

Financial year-end date

9 May 2024 (Thursday) to
14 May 2024 (Tuesday)
(both days inclusive)

14 May 2024 (Tuesday)

6 June 2024 (Thursday)

11 June 2024 (Tuesday) to
12 June 2024
(Wednesday) (both days
inclusive)

28 June 2024 (Friday)

31 December
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Directors’ Report

The Board is pleased to present its annual report together
with the audited consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2023 (the “Financial Year”).

ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Company did
not undertake any material acquisition and disposal of
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures during the Financial
Year.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding
and the Group is principally engaged in the R&D, production,
distribution and sales of flavours and fragrances, and food
ingredients, tobacco raw materials, aroma raw materials
and condiment products in the PRC. The activities of the
Company's principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 37 to
the consolidated financial statements. Further discussion and
analysis of the operating activities of the Group during the
Financial Year, and an indication of likely future developments
in the Group’s business, as required by Schedule 5 of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, can be found in the
sections headed “Chairman’s Report”“and “Management
Discussion and Analysis”as set out on pages 8 to 9 and pages
10 to 35 of this annual report respectively. Such discussion
forms part of this directors’ report.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group's financial condition, results of operations and
business prospects may be affected by a number of risks and
uncertainties directly or indirectly pertaining to the Group’s
businesses. To the best of knowledge and belief, the Directors
consider that the following are the key risks and uncertainties
identified by the Group as at the date of this report.
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The risk of downstream industry control and policies on
tobacco industry

Following the promulgation and implementation of the
PRC Advertising Law in 2015, the restrictions on tobacco
marketing have in turn become more rigid, and consequently
the room for marketing the tobacco market becomes
narrower. On the other hand, the tax-induced price hike policy
has raised the consumption tax and wholesale price, and
subsequently escalated the consumption cost of cigarettes,
which to a certain extent has suppressed the demand for
cigarette consumption. With the tightening of tobacco control
policies by the international health organizations and local
governments, and the increased awareness of the public on
health and tobacco control, it is possible that the production
and sales volumes of cigarette will further decline in the
future, which in turn will cause the reduction of revenue
and operating profit of the tobacco-related products of the
Company. In this regard, the Company will continue to pay
attention to the impacts of industry and policy changes on
the business, and will adjust our business and development
strategies in a timely manner.

The risk of consumer behaviour changes and the impact
on the downstream industries

With the continuous progress of society and the improvement
of people’s living standards, consumers have increased their
awareness of health and environment protection. On the
other hand, the age structure and level of consumers continue
to evolve. New consumption trend as well as consumption
concept and consumption behaviour keep changing. The
demand for the Group's downstream tobacco, food, daily
chemical industry continues to change, thus affecting the
Group's flavours and fragrances and food ingredients related
products and we may face the risk of market share shrinking.
The Company will continue to focus on and enhance the
insight into consumer behaviour, and further optimize
the product structure to meet the requirements of a new
generation of consumers.
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Food safety and food policy risk

At present, the PRC implements an authorized management
system for the food industry, and the major laws, regulations
and standards involved are the Food Safety Law of the PRC
and the Announcement on the Licence for Production of
Food Additives. At the same time, international organizations
such as the International Standards Organization (ISO), the
Codex Alimentarius Commission (CAC), and the International
Organization of the Flavor Industry (IOFI) have formulated and
promulgated product standards and industry norms to provide
industry management systems and the basis for formulating
the relevant industry standards.

To a certain extent, the new policy will increase the operating
costs of enterprises. Should there be any further changes in
the above policies and standards, it will have a direct impact
on the Company’s future development. The Company will
continue to make corresponding adjustment, investment and
improvement in product structure, production technology
and product performance and other aspects to ensure our
products and operation comply with food safety standards.
Although the Company has established a strict food safety
control system, because the Company has many production
and operation links, and involves transportation and storage
links, once the Company and customers are negligent, food
safety problems may occur, which will have an adverse impact
on the Company.

The risk of environmental protection

With the increased awareness on the environmental protection
by the society, the government’s continuous improvement
in environmental protection may lead to more stringent
environmental protection standards and requirements in the
future; if the Company is unable to upgrade the production
facilities in time to improve the handling of wastage so as to
comply with the more stringent environmental standards and
the requirements for environmental protection, it will have an
adverse impact on the Company’s production and operations.
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The risk of core technology and formula leakage

The Group, having always highly valued R&D work, owns a
state-certified enterprise technology centre and an overseas
R&D centre. Through long-term development, the Group
has developed numerous core technologies and flavours
and fragrances formulas which have intellectual property
rights. The Group faces the risk of technology leakage since
there are difficulties in protecting most of the Group’s core
technologies, especially flavours and fragrances formulas,
by using patents so that the Group had to rely on its
confidentiality mechanisms for protection. The Group has
adopted extremely stringent confidentiality measures to some
of the core technologies and strictly follows those measures.
The Group implements process segregation to important
production aspects which only allows the core formulas of the
various flavours and fragrances products to be known to a
few core technicians (who had been bound by Confidentiality
Agreements), thereby minimizing and controlling the risk of
core technology and formula leakage.

Risk of fluctuations in raw material prices

During the Financial Year, due to the imbalance of supply
and demand and imported inflation caused by the epidemic,
the prices of certain raw materials fluctuated violently
and increased significantly. The Company will continue to
dynamically track the price trend of major raw materials,
adjust raw material reserves in a timely manner according to
price changes, optimize inventory management, and flexibly
implement the strategy of determining production based
on sales. In order to reduce the impact of the international
epidemic on the cost of imported raw materials, the Company
has carried out the localization of suppliers to reduce the
dependence on imported raw materials. At the same time, the
Company continuously improves the technical level, increases
the added value of products, and then increases the gross
profit margin of products, so as to ensure the profitability of
the Company.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group plays an important role in protecting our
environment and is committed to minimizing our impact on
the environment and natural resources. We educate and train
our employees on environmental issues and proper handling
of hazardous substances and require adherence to corporate
guidelines on environmental protection measures. Our plants
have basically installed equipment and procedures designed to
comply with the requirements in business operation.
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In addition, the Group installed video conference and
telephone conference facilities for convening board meetings,
committee meetings and management meetings. It enhances
the efficiency of business travelling and convening meetings
for the management so as to reduce the energy consumption.

The Group promotes awareness towards environmental
protection to the employees. It implements green office
practices such as utilizing emails for internal and external
communication, adopting e-filing in server; minimizes
documents printing and copying; and reduces energy
consumption by switching off lightings and electrical
appliances when not in use.

We have completed our Environmental, Social and Governance
("ESG") report which contains our ESG information in 2023
and the requirements under the ESG Reporting Guide of
the Listing Rules. For details, please refer to the ESG report
published on the websites of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange
(www.hkexnews.hk) and of the Company (www.huabao.com.
hk).

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Directors recognise that employees, customers, suppliers
and business partners are the keys to the sustainable
development of the Group.

Regarding employee salary and incentive system, the Group
has formulated a set of remuneration system referenced to the
market to attract and retain key personnel and talents with
appropriate skills, experience and competence which would
complement and meet the corporate and business objectives
of the Group. The Group ensures all employees are reasonably
remunerated and the remuneration packages of employees
are reviewed regularly and necessary adjustments are made
from time to time to the remuneration packages to align with
the market standards. Further details on the Group's staff
are set out in the “Human Resources and Corporate Culture
Construction”section of this report.
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The Group adheres to its core value of “client first”for years
to maximize client value, maintains good relationship with its
customers and suppliers, and has ongoing communication with
the customers and suppliers through various channels such
as telephone, emails and physical meetings to obtain their
feedback and suggestions. Besides, the Group has entered
into related agreements to promote probity and environmental
protection with respective suppliers and conducted an
evaluation of its suppliers, with a view to maintaining business
relationships with suppliers and customers based on principle
of mutual benefit.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Company has complied with the requirements under the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended from time to
time), the Listing Rules and the SFO relating to, among other
things, the information disclosure and corporate governance.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the Financial Year
by business segment is set out in Note 5 to the consolidated
financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the Financial Year are set out
in the consolidated income statement on page 133 of this
annual report.

Dividend Policy

The Group is committed to sharing its development and
achievements with Shareholders through proactive, stable and
sustainable dividend policy. The Group would strive to strike
a balance between the short-term dividend returns and long-
term development of the Group prudently. When considering
the dividend policy, the Group will comprehensively observe
the macro-economic operation, the competition pattern of
the industry and the Group’s own development strategy.
Under the premise of ensuring that the Group has sufficient
working capital and capital expenditure to implement the
development strategy, the Group will distribute surplus funds
to Shareholders and reward their support for the Group.

In general, the Company will declare/propose dividends semi-
annually when the Board approves the interim results and the
annual results. If the Company pays dividends, the dividend
payout ratio is expected to remain at 30% or above of the
profit attributable to the equity holders of the Company for
the whole year.
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Proposed Final Dividend and Special Dividend

The Board proposes to declare a final dividend of HKO0.8
cent per Share (2022: nil) and a special dividend of HK4.2
cents per Share (2022: HK5.1 cents per Share) both in cash,
amounting to approximately RMB23.416 million (2022: nil)
and RMB122.935 million (2022: approximately RMB147.1
million) respectively for the Financial Year, which is expected
to be paid on 28 June 2024 to Shareholders whose names
appear on the register of members of the Company on 12
June 2024. The payment of the final dividend and special
dividend is subject to Shareholders’ approval at the AGM
which is scheduled to be held on 14 May 2024.

CLOSE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS FOR AGM

In order to determine the entitlement of Shareholders to
attend and vote at the AGM which is scheduled to be held
on 14 May 2024, the register of members of the Company
will be closed from 9 May 2024 to 14 May 2024, both days
inclusive, during which no transfer of shares will be effected.
All properly completed transfer forms accompanied by the
relevant share certificates must be lodged for registration with
the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor
Tengis Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt
Road, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on 8 May 2024.
Shareholders whose names are recorded in the register of
members of the Company on 14 May 2024 are entitled to
attend and vote at the 2024 AGM.

CLOSE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS FOR PAYMENT
OF FINAL AND SPECIAL DIVIDENDS

In order to determine Shareholders who qualify for the
proposed final and special dividends, the register of members
of the Company will be closed from 11 June 2024 to 12
June 2024, both days inclusive, during which no transfer of
shares will be effected. All properly completed transfer forms
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged
for registration with the Company’s branch share registrar in
Hong Kong, Tricor Tengis Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance
Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m.
on 7 June 2024. Shareholders whose names are recorded in
the register of members of the Company on 12 June 2024 are
entitled to receive the final and special dividends in cash for
the Financial Year.
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RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company
during the Financial Year are set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on pages 135 to 136 and in
Note 21 to the consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2023, the distributable reserves of the
Company amounted to approximately RMB4,316 million (2022:
approximately RMB4,408 million).

DONATIONS

Charitable and other donations made by the Group during the
Financial Year amounted to approximately RMB0.30 million
(2022: approximately RMB0.84 million).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment of
the Group are set out in Note 6 to the consolidated financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company are
set out in Note 19 to the consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s bye-laws, or the laws of Bermuda, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to
existing Shareholders.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on pages 272
to 273.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Pursuant to a share option scheme (the “2016 Share Option
Scheme”) adopted on 9 August 2016 (“Adoption Date”), the
2016 Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a
period of ten years commencing on the Adoption Date. The
following is a summary of the 2016 Share Option Scheme:

(@) Purpose

The 2016 Share Option Scheme aims at encouraging
the participants to make contributions to and promote
benefits of the Group, developing and maintaining business
relationships with participants for the benefit of the Group.

(b) Participants

The Directors may, in accordance with the provisions
of the 2016 Share Option Scheme and the Listing
Rules, invite person(s) who or which is/are eligible to
participate as grantee(s) and receive options under the
2016 Share Option Scheme, and to take up share options
to subscribe for Shares.

() Maximum number of shares available for
subscription

The total number of share options to be granted under
the 2016 Share Option Scheme shall not exceed 10%
of the issued Shares of the Company as at 9 August
2016. Upon approval by the Shareholders, the Company
may renew the Scheme Mandate Limit, provided that
each renewal shall not exceed 10% of the issued Shares
as at the date of approval by the Shareholders, and a
circular regarding the proposed renewal of the Scheme
Mandate Limit has been dispatched to the Shareholders
in @ manner complying with, and containing the matters
specified in, the relevant provisions of Chapter 17 of the
Listing Rules. The aggregate maximum number of Shares
which may be issued upon exercise of share options
granted under the 2016 Share Option Scheme and any
other share option scheme(s) of the Company must not
in aggregate exceed 30% of the total number of Shares
in issue from time to time. Accordingly, the total number
of shares available for issue under the 2016 Share Option
Scheme shall not exceed 310,665,796 shares, which
represents 9.62% of the total shares in issue as at the
date of this annual report.
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(d)

(e)

(f)

(9)

Maximum entitlement of each participant

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued
upon exercise of the options granted to each participant
(including both exercised and outstanding options under
the 2016 Share Option Scheme) in any 12-month period
must not exceed 1% of the issued share capital of the
Company. Any excess over 1% shall be subject to the
approval of the Shareholders at general meeting with
such participant and his/her close associates abstaining
from voting and the Company shall issue a circular
pursuant to relevant provisions of Chapter 17 of the
Listing Rules.

Time of acceptance and exercise of a share option

The grantee may accept the offer of the share option
within 30 business days from the date of the offer letter
issued by the Company. The grantee shall pay HKD1 as
consideration for accepting the offer of the share option
granted. The grantee may subscribe for Shares during
such period as may be determined by the Board (the
said period shall not in whatever case be later than the
last day of the 10-year period after the day on which
the offer relating to the option is duly approved by the
Board in accordance with the 2016 Share Option Scheme
(subject to early termination).

Minimum period for which an option must be held
before it can be exercised

Unless the Directors determine otherwise and state in
the offer of the grant of option to the grantee, the 2016
Share Option Scheme does not provide for any minimum
period for which share options must be held before it
can be exercised. The 2016 Share Option Scheme does
not set out the vesting period of options granted or to
be granted.

Basis for determining the exercise price

The exercise price of share option granted pursuant
to the 2016 Share Option Scheme shall be determined
by the Board and shall be at least the higher of (i) the
closing price of the Shares as stated in the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet on the date of
offer, which must be a business day; (ii) the average
closing price of the Shares as stated in the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of the
offer; and (iii) the nominal value of the Shares.

(d)

(e)

(f)

(9)

ESHEETVERER LR

B2 EEPMEM12E A REARTER
ERBRE(ERBRRE2016 B R ERT 2
BETEERRRITEZBERE)ME ET
MiGETZBRNEE  TEBELRARA
BEETRAZ1% WREZHEBE
1% @ AIZARBRR KRS EBSRERILAE
MEBA2EENAEETBBALERE
BE - MARBIFARR EWRAE 7
BABBZRERHBEK

BRRTEBREZHR
ARARRAARZEEHBLHREE A
BEAB0EZEXARNEMRERESZLYH -
ERRRBERESHE BB
THRE - ABRATREZSEFT 2N
MARBRD (ZHMERNARENE
E2RBE2016BREFSI EXIEEH
BREZHEARTFBEZRE—A
fE i (TR RIAR L)) ©

BRETTFITEAAREZRENE

BRIFEERTREERAEARARL Z
BIREZAOTRE - BRI2016 BT
830 8 AR SR TE BB IR R] T T AT AR
B2 &R - 2016 fE AR AT &1 17 R &
AERHRABRONMENEEY -

BETEENEE

RI% 2016 fE B ST &I P LI AV A AL A -
HIEEAHESESET  EASER
THERERPZERE  (VERBEEQA
HMWESLEXRB)BEABMIMERERE
RATHZ BRI E ¢ () EREZRELHA
A A EE2X A ER BB M E A RE
KA E R 1 8 K (i) B fn m
o

2023 Annual Report 3§

85



86

Directors’ Report

(h)

Movement in share options under the 2016 Share
Option Scheme

The table below summarises the movement in shares
options under the 2016 Share Option Scheme since the

(h) 2016 R ESTEIE THWHIESE

TR T ERA 2016 BRETEIRE
AHEEBRZAEBRTERENESE

adoption thereof and up to the date of this report. S e
Date of Date of Exercise
grant vesting period Exercise
Number (day/ (day/ (day/ price*
of options month/ month/ month/  (HKS per Lapse
Grantee and description granted @ year) year) year) (i share) date
R R4 AH %EA fTRHA
R (B/ (B/ (B/ THEE*
ERARE® gEO B/ %) B/ %) B/E)W (BREBR) A¥AH
*Independent Business Consultant 11,000,000 6/5/2019  5/11/2019 5/11/2019- 3.708  30/6/2020
* B X BERE 30/6/2020
*Being service provider with 5/5/2020- 30/6/2020
options granted in any 30/6/2020

12-month period exceeding

0.1% of the relevant class of
shares in issue

*BIRMER 12 [AABAERER

iii)

B RITHARRE R 0.1% #)
HENRBREE

The number of options granted is 11,000,000 shares
options, each share option entitling the Grantee to
subscribe for one ordinary share of HK$0.10 in the share
capital of the Company. The closing price per Share
immediately before the date on which the options were
granted was HK$3.73.

The share options granted were exercisable in two
tranches (50% of share options granted in each), with
the first tranche exercisable from 5 November 2019 to 30
June 2020 (both days inclusive) and the second tranche
exercisable from 5 May 2020 to 30 June 2020 (both days
inclusive).

The above granted options lapsed on 30 June 2020 and
no options were exercised.

The above Grantee is not a director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of the Company, or an associate
of any of them.
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()

Save as disclosed above, no other share options were
granted to the following persons under the 2016 Share
Option Scheme since the adoption thereof and up to the
date of this report:

D) each of the directors, chief executive or substantial
shareholders of the Company, or their respective
associates;

ii)  each participant with options granted in excess of
the 1% individual limit;

iii) each related entity participant or service provider
with options granted in any 12-month period
exceeding 0.1% of the relevant class of shares in
issue of the Company;

iv)  the five highest paid individuals during the financial
year; and

v) other employee participants,
participants and service providers.

related entity

For further details of the above movement, please refer
to the announcement of the Company dated 6 May
2019.

The life of the 2016 Share Option Scheme and
Others

The 2016 Share Option Scheme will remain in force
for ten years starting from 9 August 2016 (can be
terminated before expiration). As at the date of this
report, the remaining life of the 2016 Share Option
Scheme is less than 3 years.

At the beginning and at the end of the Reporting Period,
and up to the date of this report, there were no share
options outstanding under the 2016 Share Option
Scheme and there were no share options granted, vested,
exercised, cancelled or lapsed during the Financial Year.

()
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The 2016 Share Option Scheme itself did not specify
number of share options available for grants to the
following participants in any financial year:

i) each of the directors, chief executive or substantial
shareholders of the Company, or their respective
associates;

i) each participant with options to be granted in
excess of the 1% individual limit;

iii) each related entity participant or service provider
with options to be granted in any 12-month period
exceeding 0.1% of the relevant class of shares in
issue of the Company;

iv)  the five highest paid individuals during the financial
year; and

v) other employee participants, related entity
participants and service providers.

SHARE INCENTIVE SCHEME - HUABAO FLAVOURS
SHARE INCENTIVE SCHEME

Pursuant to the written resolutions of the directors of Huobao
Flavours passed on 30 August 2023 and 8 December 2023,
respectively, Huabao Flavours, an indirect non-wholly-owned
subsidiary as well as a principal subsidiary of the Company,
approved, adopted and implemented a share incentive scheme
(the “Huabao Flavours Share Incentive Scheme”) in which
directors, senior management, core management, technical
and business personnel of Huabao Flavours (including its
controlling subsidiaries) and such other personnel (all of whom
being directors or employees of Huabao Flavours and/or its
controlling subsidiaries) as the board of directors of Huabao
Flavours may deem necessary to be incentivized pursuant to
the provisions of the Huabao Flavours Share Incentive Scheme
(“Incentive Participants”) will be entitled to participate.
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The Huabao Flavours Share Incentive Scheme was adopted
for the issuance of a total of 16,950,000 restricted shares
(“Restricted Shares”), representing approximately 2.75% of
the total share capital of Huabao Flavours of 615,880,000
shares as at the date of this report. The total number of
underlying shares involved in all the share incentive schemes
in force will not in aggregate exceed 10.00% of the total
share capital of Huabao Flavours. The aggregate number of
Huabao Flavours’ shares granted to any Incentive Participant
under the Huabao Flavours Share Incentive Scheme through
all the share incentive schemes in force shall not exceed 1.00%
of the total share capital of Huabao Flavours.

The Huabao Flavours Share Incentive Scheme constitutes the
grant of awards over new shares of a principal subsidiary
(within the meaning of Rule 17.14 of the Listing Rules) of the
Company and therefore is also subject to compliance with the
requirements set out in Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

Summary of Terms
Purpose of the Huabao Flavours Share Incentive Scheme

The purpose of the Huabao Flavours Share Incentive Scheme
is to further establish and improve the long-term incentive
mechanism of Huabao Flavours, attract and retain outstanding
talents, fully mobilize the enthusiasm of the directors, senior
management, core management, technical and business
personnel of Huabao Flavours and such other personnel (all
of whom being directors or employees of Huabao Flavours
and/or its controlling subsidiaries) as the board of directors
of Huabao Flavours may deem necessary to be incentivized
as well as effectively combine the interests of shareholders
and Huabao Flavours with the personal interests of the core
team, so that all parties will jointly focus on the long-term
development of Huabao Flavours, and on the premise of fully
protecting the interests of shareholders of Huabao Flavours.

Restricted Shares and their Ranking

The incentive instrument adopted under the Huabao Flavours
Share Incentive Scheme is Restricted Shares (Class Il Restricted
Shares) and the source of the underlying shares involved is
the A shares in the ordinary share capital of Huabao Flavours
issued to the identified Incentive Participants.
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Class Il Restricted Shares are different from Class | Restricted
Shares as the latter are new shares to be issued at the date
of grant. Pursuant to the Administrative Measures on Share
Incentives of Listed Companies T2 &) A& AE &E) & 18 #15 )
(Revised in 2018) issued by the China Securities Regulatory
Commission (FEIESFEEEREEZE®) ("Administrative
Measures”), Class | Restricted Shares refer to the shares of
the listed companies the transfer of which are restricted in
accordance with the conditions stipulated in the relevant
equity incentive plans. Class | Restricted Shares may not
be transferred, used to guarantee or repay debts before
the restrictions are lifted. Therefore, relevant incentive
participants are required to open securities accounts with
securities registration and clearing institutions for the lock
up of the Class | Restricted Shares. Save for the transfer
restriction, holders of Class | Restricted Shares shall be
entitled to the same rights as other shareholders including
the rights to receive dividends, voting rights and rights to
nominate director(s). Dividends derived from Class | Restricted
Shares will be paid by the listed company to the registration
and clearing institutions which will then distribute such
dividends to the scheme participants through the securities
account. The essence of the Class Il Restricted Shares is that a
company grants its employees the right to subscribe shares of
the company at the grant price after satisfying the conditions
for exercising the options, and the employees can capture
the upside gain of the share price above the grant price on
the exercise date but do not bear the downside risk of the
share price. Class Il Restricted Shares, under the “Application
Examples of Share-based Payment Standards — Grant of
Restricted Shares” by the Accounting Department of the
Ministry of Finance of the PRC, are treated as share options,
which are equity-settled share-based payment transactions.
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As at the date of this report, Huabao Flavours has no Class |
Restricted Shares and has no current intention to issue Class
| Restricted Shares. The Incentive Participants to whom Class
Il Restricted Shares are granted are not entitled to the rights
of shareholders including the voting rights, dividend rights,
nor the right to nominate a seat at the board of directors of
Huabao Flavours before vesting. The Incentive Participants
who meet the attribution conditions (“Vesting Conditions”)
to be satisfied by the Incentive Participants in order to receive
Restricted Shares under the Huabao Flavours Share Incentive
Scheme of the Huabao Flavours Share Incentive Scheme will
subscribe new A shares in the ordinary share capital of Huabao
Flavours at the price at which the Incentive Participants
receive the shares of Huabao Flavours as determined by
Huabao Flavours at the time of granting Restricted Shares to
the Incentive Participants (“Grant Price”) in tranches after
satisfying the corresponding Vesting Conditions, and such
shares will be registered at the Shenzhen Branch of China
Securities Depository and Clearing Corporation Limited.
The new A shares granted under the Huabao Flavours Share
Incentive Scheme will be subject to the provisions of the
memorandum and articles of associations of Huabao Flavours
as amended from time to time and shall rank pari passu in
all respects with the then existing fully paid A shares in issue
on the allotment date or, if that date falls on a day when the
register of members of Huabao Flavours is closed, the first
date of the re-opening of the register of members, other
than any dividend or other distribution previously declared or
recommended or resolved to be paid or made if the record
date shall be before the allotment date.

Scope of Incentive Participants

The Incentive Participants of the Huabao Flavours Share
Incentive Scheme will be the directors, senior management,
core management, technical and business personnel of
Huabao Flavours (including its controlled subsidiaries)
and such other personnel (all of whom being directors
or employees of Huabao Flavours and/or its controlling
subsidiaries) as the board of directors of Huabao Flavours may
deem necessary to be incentivized. All Incentive Participants
must have worked for Huabao Flavours or its controlling
subsidiaries during the assessment period of the Huabao
Flavours Share Incentive Scheme and have signed employment
or engagement contracts with the Huabao Flavours or its
controlling subsidiaries. The proposed Incentive Participants
will be the "employee participants” (within the meaning of
Rule 17.03A(1)(a) of the Listing Rules).

RAREBH  FERMHILES —BRFIMEK
ZARKESHTE BRHIMERRE - BT
FE_HRBIMERENHBE RN EEAEES
BEERMBEREN - BREFRORE - DAOEX
EXeRURERE - TEEERNBEAEE
TR BRI (RBGRM ) ADGE
B R AR AT 1R T 2 R B IR RS
ﬁ% T 2 40 e 5R B AR 1R Mﬂ@ﬁ%T
BEEROHZBEOMNERLERAEER
{Fk%ﬁﬁﬁ%@ﬁﬁkmzﬁ Br) (&
TERDDRABBEERMIZENAREER
K ZEREHAETEESELEEARAEM
RAEVRY D AAEITER - REFEROHKE
@@ﬁ%&ﬁzﬁAHﬁxiath%fJ
ZRBERRAM AR Z REFRIR - WP
BErmERERP(NEZERNEEERNE
EWIER B P BT AR - B RIRIENRE
BRihBFELFEEHER)NRAEETH
RABRZERSERN - Rk BMERLER
Bz A - BISEATE Ik Sk B2 SORE K (4 2 1E H
AR BB SR E A IRER I ©

-l EsES ]

EERMBREBEBENHEEREAEER
MD(EERNBARMES  aREEAS -
ﬁ&ﬁﬁ R EBABUREERNDES
EREFEHHNEBREMABIAEER
&/&ﬁ%h%% AIMESHET) - Fr
BERBE R BERNREER D REHE T E
EZBAEEEROIEZERMTBAR ITIE -
WEEER DK EIERNBRARIERR] 74584
HEEEY - MENIABYREAIEEZR
HE (TR EMBRIZE 17.03A(1) @) 1) -

2023 Annual Report 3§

91



92

Directors’ Report

The Huabao Flavours Share Incentive Scheme was proposed by
the Remuneration and Evaluation Committee of the board of
directors of Huabao Flavours and the Incentive Participants are
reviewed by the supervisory committee of Huabao Flavours.

Grant Price and Basis of Determination of the Grant Price
of Restricted Shares

The Remuneration and Evaluation Committee of the board of
directors of Huabao Flavours shall be responsible for preparing
the draft and summary of the Huabao Flavours Share Incentive
Scheme and submitting it to the board of directors of Huabao
Flavours for consideration. The draft Huabao Flavours Share
Incentive Scheme was considered and approved at a meeting
of the board of directors of Huabao Flavours held on 30
August 2023 and 8 December 2023, with the Grant Price for
the initial grant of the Restricted Shares under the Huabao
Flavours Share Incentive Scheme being fixed at RMB11.13 per
share. The announcement dated 31 August 2023 regarding
the draft Huabao Flavours Share Incentive Scheme was also
published by Huabao Flavours.

Pursuant to the Administrative Measures, the Grant Price of
the initial grant of Restricted Shares (including the reserved
portion) under the Huabao Flavours Share Incentive Scheme
shall not be less than the higher of:

1. 50% of the average trading price (total trading amount
on the preceding trading day/total trading volume on the
preceding trading day) of Huabao Flavours’ shares on
30 August 2023, the trading day immediately preceding
the announcement of the draft Huabao Flavours Share
Incentive Scheme, of RMB21.91 per Huabao Flavours’
share, i.e. RMB10.96 per share; or

2. 50% of any one of the following:

(a) the average trading price (total trading amount for
the last 20 trading days/total trading volume for
the last 20 trading days) of Huabao Flavours' shares
for the last 20 trading days immediately preceding
the announcement of the draft Huabao Flavours
Share Incentive Scheme of RMB22.26 per Huabao
Flavours’ share, i.e. RMB11.13 per Huabao Flavours’
share;
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(b) 50% of the average trading price (total trading
amount for the last 60 trading days/total trading
volume for the last 60 trading days) of Huabao
Flavours’ shares for the last 60 trading days
immediately preceding the announcement of the
draft Huabao Flavours Share Incentive Scheme
of RMB22.25 per Huabao Flavours' share, i.e.
RMB11.13 per Huabao Flavours’ share; or

(c) 50% of the average trading price (total trading
amount for the last 120 trading days/total trading
volume for the last 120 trading days) of Huabao
Flavours’ shares for the last 120 trading days
immediately preceding the announcement of the
draft Huabao Flavours Share Incentive Scheme
of RMB24.32 per Huabao Flavours’ share, i.e.
RMB12.16 per Huabao Flavours’ share.

In order to fully mobilize the enthusiasm of the Incentive
Participants of Huabao Flavours, and to effectively combine
the interests of shareholders of Huabao Flavours, the
interests of Huabao Flavours and the personal interests of
the core team to achieve a better incentive effect, the board
of directors of Huabao Flavours fixed the Grant Price at
RMB11.13 per Huabao Flavours’ share, representing 50% of
the average trading price of Huabao Flavours’ shares for the
last 20 trading days immediately preceding the announcement
of the draft Huabao Flavours Share Incentive Scheme, which
complies with the provisions of the Administrative Measures.

The Grant Price of the reserved portion of the Restricted
Shares is the same as the Grant Price of the initial grant of
the partially Restricted Shares, which is RMB11.13 per Huabao
Flavours' shares. The board of directors of Huabao Flavours
must convene a meeting to consider and approve the relevant
proposal and disclose the grant of the reserved portion of
Restricted Shares prior to the grant.
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Adjustment to the Grant Price and/or number of
Restricted Shares

In the event of capitalization of capital reserve, bonus issue,
share sub-division or share consolidation, rights issues or
distribution of dividends of the Company during the period
from the date of the announcement of the Huabao Flavours
Share Incentive Scheme to the granting of Restricted Shares
to the Incentive Participants, and from the granting of
Restricted Shares to the Incentive Participants to the vesting
of the Restricted Shares to the Incentive Participants, the
Grant Price of Restricted Shares will be adjusted accordingly
in accordance with the provisions of Article VI of Chapter 5
of the Huabao Flavours Share Incentive Scheme. Save for the
distribution of dividends, the number of Restricted Shares
will also be adjusted in the event of capitalization of capital
reserve, bonus issue, share sub-division or share consolidation
rights issues of Huabao Flavours.

Corporate actions entitling adjustment of the Grant Price and/
or number of Restricted Shares, as set out in Rule 17.03(13)
of the Listing Rules, does not include distribution of dividends
which is mandatorily required under the relevant PRC laws
and regulations.

The Company has sought from the Stock Exchange for, and
the Stock Exchange has on 28 November 2023 granted, a
waiver to comply with the strict requirement under Rule
17.03(13) of the Listing Rules such that Huabao Flavours
can adjust the Grant Price in the event of a distribution of
dividends.

On 5 January 2024, the seventh meeting of the third session
of the board of directors and the sixth meeting of the third
session of the supervisory committee of Huabao Flavours
were convened to consider and approve, among others, the
Proposal on Adjusting the Grant Price of the Initial Phase
of Restricted Share Incentive Scheme, and the independent
directors of Huabao Flavours expressed their independent
opinions on the adjustments to the Grant Price of the initial
and reserved portions of the Restricted Shares under the
Incentive Scheme. The Grant Price of the initial and reserved
portions of the Restricted Share under the Incentive Scheme
then adjusted from RMB11.13 per share to RMB10.93 per
share accordingly.
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Validity Period and Termination

The Huabao Flavours Share Incentive Scheme shall be valid
for a maximum of 60 months from the date of initial grant of
Restricted Shares to the date on which all Restricted Shares
granted to the Incentive Participants are vested or lapsed. The
Restricted Shares granted to the Incentive Participants will
be vested in tranches according to the agreed proportion,
and each vesting will be subject to the satisfaction of the
corresponding Vesting Conditions.

The Shares granted under the initial and reserved grants
under the Huabao Flavours Share Incentive Scheme will vest
in three tranches after the expiry of 12 months from the
date of initial and reserved grants respectively, with the
percentage of vesting in each tranche being 30%, 30% and
40% respectively. The reserved portion of Restricted Shares
will be consistent with the assessment year and performance
assessment target of the initial grant of Restricted Shares.

Grant of Restricted Shares

The total number of Incentive Participants for the initial grant
under the Huabao Flavours Share Incentive Scheme is 46,
accounting for approximately 3.72% of the total number
of 1,235 employees of Huabao Flavours (as at 31 December
2022), including directors, senior management, core
management, technical and business personnel of Huabao
Flavours (including its controlling subsidiaries, the same is
applicable to below) and such other personnel (all of whom
being directors or employees of Huabao Flavours and/or its
controlling subsidiaries) as the board of directors of Huabao
Flavours may deem necessary to be incentivized, the above
participants do not include independent directors, supervisors
and shareholders or actual controllers who individually or
jointly hold more than 5% of the shares of Huabao Flavours
and their spouses, parents and children.

The initial grant of 14,500,000 Restricted Shares accounted
for 2.35% of the total share capital of Huabao Flavours as at
the date of this report and such initial grant accounted for
85.55% of the total grant; the reserved 2,450,000 Restricted
Shares accounted for 0.40% of the total share capital of
Huabao Flavours as at the date of this report and such
reserved portion accounted for 14.45% of the total grant.
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A list of the Incentive Participants and the allocation under

EEROBEEABEMBERABRERD

the Huabao Flavours Share Incentive Scheme is set out below: [ =D N
Restricted
Restricted Shares
Number of Shares granted
Restricted granted as a
Shares asa percentage
granted (ten percentage of current
thousand of total total share
Name Position shares) grants capital
BEN BERRHEME BRERGM
REMEKRRE KREGERT BREGEM
HE B FE(BR) #HEOLE BRELH
I Directors and Senior Management
— EE EREEAER
XIA Liqun Chairman of Huabao Flavours 230 13.57% 0.37%
BB EERHESZK
YUAN Xiaoqin Director, President of Huabao Flavours 150 8.85% 0.24%
REE EEMNEFTREAE
REN Miao Director, Vice President of
Huabao Flavours 80 4.72% 0.13%
E 3k EERNEFERENER
LI Xiaojun Vice President of Huabao Flavours 80 4.72% 0.13%
FNE EEWD BIER
ZHANG lJie Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer of Huabao Flavours 60 3.54% 0.10%
b7 FERD B R GEE
HOU Xiaoqin Vice President and Secretary of
the Board of Huabao Flavours 60 3.54% 0.10%
EB:E EERMBIERRETSWE
HAN Pengliang Director of Huabao Flavours 30 1.77% 0.05%
R EERNES
Il. Core management, technical and business personnel of
Huabao Flavours (including its controlled subsidiaries)
and such other personnel (all of whom being employees
of Huabao Flavours and/or its controlling subsidiaries)
as the board of directors of Huabao Flavours may deem
necessary to be incentivized (a total of 39) 760 44.84% 1.23%
— - EEROG(EERMBATRULER - Bif - ERABUR
EEROVESSARTEYANEMBAB(BREEROR
SEREZERMEATINET)(#39A)
Ill. Total of the initial grant 1,450 85.55% 2.35%
= BEARTHDER
IV. Reserved Restricted Shares 245 14.45% 0.40%
- EEREMRE
Total 1,695 100.00% 2.75%
&t
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Grant of Restricted Shares to Mr. Xia

The grant of the Restricted Shares to Mr. Xia, who also
being the executive Director, vice chairman and president of
the Company, will result in the shares of Huabao Flavours
to be issued upon exercise in full of the Restricted Shares
to be granted to Mr. Xia in the 12-month period up to and
including the date of such grant representing in aggregate
over 0.1% of the total shares of Huabao Flavours in issue.
Save as disclosed, Mr. Xia was not granted any options and/or
awards of shares of Huabao Flavours in the 12-month period
up to and including the date of such proposed grant of the
Restricted Shares.

The grant of the Restricted Shares to Mr. Xia under the
Huabao Flavours Share Incentive Scheme has been reviewed
and approved by the independent non-executive Directors.
In addition, since the incentive instrument adopted under
the Huabao Flavours Share Incentive Scheme is Restricted
Shares (with the right to subscribe shares of Huabao Flavours
at the Grant Price after satisfying the Vesting Conditions for
exercising the options), the grant of the Restricted Shares
to Mr. Xia is not subject to approval by Shareholders of the
Company at general meeting pursuant to Rule 17.04(2) of the
Listing Rules.

As Mr. Xia is also a director of the Company, the grant
of the Restricted Shares under the Huabao Flavours Share
Incentive Scheme to Mr. Xia by Huabao Flavours constitutes
a connected transaction of the Company under Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules. Given that the grant of the Restricted
Shares to Mr. Xia under the Huabao Flavours Share Incentive
Scheme, if exercised in full, will represent over 0.1% but less
than 1% of the total shares of Huabao Flavours in issue, the
proposed grant of the Restricted Shares to Mr. Xia constitutes
an exempted connected transaction of the Company under
Rule 14A.92(3)(a) of the Listing Rules.

On 5 January 2024, general meeting of the Company and
Huabao Flavours were held respectively to approve and adopt
the Huabao Flavours Share Incentive Scheme.

J6] B 50 £ B Hi IR M IR SR
IJTE?EE(FUT?%$/ FIRITES  BIERR
RE)BRORFIMEREHSEHEEZARETA

(@%EZ B)1218 A MREAEETERETER
R BIMERER G TEITEEROORMNE
EERTEERMD ZIBMNEEEB0.1% - KR EX
PRS- EEBBEFERDRFIERTE A H
(BREZA)12EAHHE EXERERTE
B 2 B 1) B (T B AR A 2, ok B2 R

BRIBEERMDREZBFERNELEER TR
MHREERBLIFNTESETHENER R
HEE o BbIN - ARIRIBEE R DR EHE T
KANBE TEARFIERE(RNMmEITERE
RENGBIRERE  BRUARTERRBES
BB R ) » EILRIR ET R AIZE 17.04(2)
- ABEXERTRAIEREEANBRRERS
FERAB B

HREXENAARNGES  BELTMRAUE
14AE - EERMBEEEROHKREZEE
MELERTFRHMEREBRANF—HBE
R BEZEEROHREHEFEMELER
F PR HI RS A E R EATE - BIEEERD

DETRMAHBIBOI%ELN1% » Bt
R EHRAIE 14A.92(3)(a) 1§ BEmE L
E&%BE%IJ MR R AN B —IHE R R B E

RS e

R2024F1A5H KRR RESE KK DR
BITRR R KD DAL E IR ZEE IR 5 IS E
& -
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The following Restricted Shares were awarded on 5 January T3 R &IRHN2024FE1 ASAEE TR

2024 and outstanding as of the date of this report: HEXRNREHHEKREE -

Vested  Cancelled Lapsed Share

for the for the for the Share closing price Share

period from period from period from closing immediately closing

5January  5January 5 January price on before price

2024and  2024and 2024 and Date of the date Vesting  the date immediately

Grantedon uptothe uptothe  uptothe Asof  grant of of grant of  period of of grant of before

5 January date of date of date of the date of  Restricted Restricted  Restricted  Restricted the vesting

Name or category of participants 2024 this report this report this report this report  Shares Shares Shares Shares dates
H2024%  B204E  B2UE ZRIRY

1A5ARE 1B5AE 1A5HE ZRHBS RORFE  2EEE

R2024F  EARE BEARE BEARE BE B¥Ez  EZRURH 2kt BEZRH

SEER LGB 1ASERE BHSERE AHHEZE AMHEAN ARERE IRIRHETE BROUTE 5EA Wi b

RMB RMB RMB

ARE ARE ARE

Directors of Huabao Flavours

EERHES

XIA Liqun 2,300,000 - - - 2,300,000 5 January 2024 20.70 Note 1 20.93 N/A
EFE 2004% 1750 i3 MER
YUAN Xiaogin 1,500,000 - - - 1,500,000 5 January 2024 20.70 Note 1 20.93 N/A
REE 2024% 1750 (i3 MER
REN Miao 800,000 - - - 800,000 5 January 2024 20.70 Note 1 20.93 N/A
5 2004% 1750 e MER
Other employees of Huabao Flavours 9,900,000 - - - 9,900,000 5 January 2024 20.70 Note 1 20.93 N/A
EERHOEMET 2024% 1750 e MER
Total 14,500,000 - - - 14,500,000

At

Note 1: For Restricted Shares granted in view of the achievement of 31 : FARIE 2024 F —2026 F 2 EBITHERIS

performance targets 2024 to 2026, 30% of such Restricted ABEFZRHIBOME - ZEXRFBRHH
Shares are scheduled to be vested after March 2025, a 30% 5] R 2025F3 HI25HE - 530% &R
further 30% are scheduled to be vested after March 2026 2026 F3 A1EHE - FER40% 5T 72027 &
and the remaining 40% are scheduled to be vested after SRIERE -

March 2027.
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SHARE INCENTIVE SCHEME - GUANGDONG
JIAHAO SHARE INCENTIVE SCHEME (Note: see
Note 20 Share-based payment to the consolidated
financial statements)

Pursuant to a written resolution of the directors of
Guangdong Jiahao passed on 15 October 2020, Guangdong
Jiahao, an indirect non-wholly-owned subsidiary as well as a
non-principal subsidiary of the Company, approved, adopted
and implemented a share incentive scheme (the “Guangdong
Jiahao Share Incentive Scheme”) in which Eligible Participants
(as defined below) will be entitled to participate. The
Guangdong Jiahao Share Incentive Scheme is not subject to
the requirements of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

The following is a summary of the principal terms of the
Guangdong Jiahao Share Incentive Scheme.

Summary of Terms
Purposes

The purposes of the formulation and the implementation
of the Guangdong Jiahao Share Incentive Scheme is to
establish an effective incentive and discipline mechanism for
Guangdong Jiahao, attract and retain outstanding talents, so
as to fully motivate the management and core team members
of Guangdong Jiahao to effectively align the interests of the
Company, Guangdong Jiahao and its employees, and to create
the future of the Company with concerted effort.

RERBTE -BEREREZRBDTE
(i : IS RESMBHRRMWE20 R0
REBRNZMN)

B2020F 10 A15H ' EREES(—KARQT]
MESEEZIEZENBRARIREZTEHEA
) BBTEREEAZE  HERATH
TERESEE(ERE R ESE T
gl]) o Hp - fERSEE(TERTOBAE
BL2HE - EREREZREETE LR
FTEERRTEARE -

TXBURERERRESB M RGN -

RFABEE

RE

HEEINB S EREREFELBRAAE
HIRMEH - WS MBEEFAST - ROBDE
REZERBABMZOESKENERYE - B
MK ARE] - BERBZRME TN SES
—i > HAIRRIMARK - SIELEE T BERZ
SISt 8 o
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Types of Awards and Who May Participate

Under the Guangdong Jiahao Share Incentive Scheme, the
board of directors of Guangdong Jiahao (the “Relevant
Board”) (including any committee or person(s) duly
authorized by the Relevant Board) may, at its discretion,
invite directors, senior management, core technical personnel
or other employees of Guangdong Jiahao to participate in
the Guangdong Jiahao Share Incentive Scheme, whereby
the relevant employees will be awarded restricted shares
(the "Restricted Shares”) and will be required to settle the
relevant subscription price (the “Employee Subscription
Price”). The Restricted Shares will be released upon the expiry
of the period of restriction on transfer of such Restricted
Shares, such as the relevant sale restriction period/lock-
up period. The relevant employees passed a resolution to
establish certain limited partnership shareholding platforms
(the "Employees Shareholding Platform(s)”) through which
they will participate in the Guangdong Jiahao Share Incentive
Scheme by way of indirect shareholding (the "Award(s)”) in
the capacity of limited partners (the “Eligible Participant(s)”or
“Participant(s)”) and will be required to settle the relevant
Employee Subscription Price. The Group or its controlled
affiliates are the general partners of such partnership(s).

Maximum Number of Shares

According to the Guangdong Jiahao Share Incentive Scheme
approved by the Relevant Board, upon the implementation of
the Guangdong Jiahao Share Incentive Scheme, the number
of underlying shares under the Guangdong Jiahao Share
Incentive Scheme represented approximately 1.98% of the
total equity interests in Guangdong Jiahao (a limited liability
company) and as at 31 December 2023, those equity interests
have been vested to the Employees Shareholding Platforms.

Consideration for Restricted Share Units and Restricted
Share Purchase Price

The Eligible Participants would indirectly hold equity interests
in Guangdong Jiahao through limited partnerships, and
the Employees Shareholding Platforms would purchase the
Group's existing equity interests in Guangdong Jiahao for
cash at the price(s) agreed between the Company and the
Eligible Participant(s). The aggregate Employee Subscription
Price payable by the Eligible Participants amounted to
approximately RMB46.5 million.
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Vesting Schedule

For the purpose of this Guangdong Jiahao Share Incentive
Scheme, four limited partnerships have been established,
namely Yingtan Xiangshan Corporate Advisory Centre (Limited
Partnership) (BEHZ L PEZARL(BRAEH)), Yingtan
Zhonghao Corporate Advisory Centre (Limited Partnership) (&
BRZMEZERPO(ERAE)), Yingtan Guanghao Corporate
Advisory Centre (Limited Partnership) (BEEEZREHEMF
D(BERAE#)) and Yingtan Huajia Corporate Advisory Centre
(Limited Partnership) (BEEEZNTERABTPO(BERAEE)),
through which the Participants indirectly hold equity interests
in Guangdong Jiahao and the relevant Awards have vested in
the Employees Shareholding Platforms.

As at 31 December 2023, the Guangdong Jiahao Share
Incentive Scheme has covered in total 70 (31 December 2022:
62) Participants, including directors and senior management
of Guangdong Jiahao. The chairman of Guangdong Jiahao,
XIA Liqun, who is also a director of the Company and one of
the Participants.

7 B i R 7%
RAREREZRESBFE 22BN REE
BEIUCEXZATL(EREE)  BEPxDL
EHATPL(BRER)  EEESLERKAT
LD(ERER)  EEERLEXERTL(BR
BB NERRABLEE  HBHRBBATL
ERABEEXHERARRESZNEE  BH
RECRBIEIHRYS -

M2023F 12 A31H ERESBRESB
ETHHEIERERELTOA(2022F 12 B
318:62AN) ' BEEREREEREE  H
FEREEEREMB(NAARRRES) -
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Yingtan Xiangshan

Corporate Advisory
Centre (Limited
Partnership)

(B E B L (3
hOERAE)),
Yingtan Zhonghao
Corporate Advisory
Centre (Limited
Partnership)

(B b 5 0 23
FONEREE)),
Yingtan Guanghao
Corporate Advisory
Centre (Limited
Partnership)
(BRSO
(BRAR))

Restrictions on share transfers:

1

Sale restriction period:
36 months from the date
of Award and the sale
restriction period shall
remain effective regardless
of whether Guangdong
Jiahao could be listed (i.e.
initial public offering of
shares) or not;

Lock-up period: Upon
the listing of Guangdong
Jiahao, the Participants
are subject to lock-up
requirements as agreed
under the relevant share
incentive agreement(s) and
the relevant requirements as
stipulated under the listing
rules of domestic exchange;

During the sale restriction
period or lock-up period,
the limited partners shall
not transfer their respective
shares in the assets of the
partnerships, except in the
case of withdrawal;

After the date falling on the
fifth anniversary of the date
of Award, the Participants
may transfer all or part of
their respective awarded
shares in the event that
Guangdong Jiahao remains
unlisted.
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Yingtan Huajia
Corporate Advisory
Centre (Limited
Partnership)
(BREREHT
ROERER))

Prior to the listing of
Guangdong Jiahao and
within 36 months from
the date of listing of
Guangdong Jiahao, the
Participants shall not
transfer all or part of their
respective awarded shares
to any third party (including
other Participants on the
Employees Shareholding
Platforms) not recognised
by the general partners of
the partnerships without the
prior consent of the general
partners of the partnerships;

After the date falling on the
fifth anniversary of the date
of Award, the Participants
may transfer all or part of
their respective awarded
shares in the event that
Guangdong Jiahao remains
unlisted;

Upon the listing of
Guangdong Jiahao, if
according to the relevant
laws and regulations, the
Participants is required to
comply with the obligations
such as specific lock- up
period or restriction on
the percentage of sale due
to the Participants being
the senior management
of the company, having
special status or the
number of shares held
reaches a certain threshold,
the Participants shall
comply with the relevant
regulations in addition to
the requirements under the
agreement.
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Vesting of Awards, Termination and Withdrawal of
Participants

The Awards have been vested in the Employees Shareholding
Platforms and the Participant(s) shall withdraw from the
Guangdong Jiahao Share Incentive Scheme if any of the
following occurs: (1) amendment(s) to the Guangdong
Jiahao Share Incentive Scheme, or amendment(s) to the
share incentive agreement(s) for the compliance with
the requirements of the company’s lending banks, or
amendment(s) to the share incentive agreement(s) for the
compliance of the listing rules of the stock exchange or the
requirements of the regulatory authority regarding the listing
of the company, but the Participant(s) declines to execute
the amended share incentive agreement; (2) the company is
dissolved or its business license is revoked or cancelled; (3)
the partnership is dissolved or its business license is revoked
or cancelled; (4) the Participant has reached the retirement
age and has completed the retirement formalities and does
not continue to serve after retirement; (5) the company
terminates the labour contract or employment contract with
the Participant due to strategic adjustment or redundancy; (6)
the Participant resigns during the term of the labour contract,
or the company or the Participant refuses to renew the
labour contract upon its expiry; (7) death or incapacity of the
Participant; (8) the Participant is held criminally responsible
for any criminal offence; (9) the Participant commits serious
misconduct, malfeasance, fraud, bribery, bribery solicitation,
misappropriation, embezzlement, divulgence of business,
customer and technical secrets or other violations of laws
or disciplines, causing significant damage to the company;
(10) the company determines that the Participant is directly
responsible for the company’s loss or decline in operating
results; (11) the Participant is considered to be detrimental
to the interests of the company when performing his duties;
(12) the Participant causes significant loss to the interests of
the company due to his negligence in performing his duties;
(13) the Participant violates the obligation of confidentiality
and divulges the confidential information of the company
(including the intellectual property rights, technical secrets,
customer information, financial information and other
business secrets). For the purpose of this Guangdong Jiahao
Share Incentive Scheme, the aforementioned trade secrets
include the fact presented in this Guangdong Jiahao Share
Incentive Scheme and the Guangdong Jiahao Share Incentive
Scheme documents and any of their contents; (14) the
Participant, in other capacities or in any way, is engaged in or
for the benefits of others engaged in any competing business
with the company without the prior written consent of the
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company; (15) the share of assets in the partnerships held
by the Participant is enforced by law; (16) the Participant
is dismissed by the company for violating the rules and
regulations of the company, or the Participant is removed
from the partnership(s).

The transfer price for the Participant’s withdrawal from the
Guangdong Jiahao Share Incentive Scheme will be based
on the reason(s) of his withdrawal. The transfer price in
the case of withdrawal is either the principal amount of
the Participant’'s investment or the principal amount of
the investment plus interest calculated at a rate of 5-10%
per annum on simple interest basis (interest is calculated
according to the actual number of days).

SHARE AWARD SCHEME

The Company adopted a share award scheme (the “Share
Award Scheme™) on 20 May 2022 (the “Adoption Date”)
for a term of 10 years from the Adoption Date until 19 May
2032, unless otherwise terminated. The Share Award Scheme
constitutes a share scheme of the Company under Chapter
17 of the Listing Rules. The purposes and objectives of the
Share Award Scheme are to recognise, reward, remunerate,
compensate and motivate the contribution of certain
participants and to provide incentives and help the Group
in retaining its existing employees and recruiting suitable
personnel as additional employees to further the operation
and development of the Group, by providing them with
a direct economic interest in attaining the Group’s long-
term business objectives, implementing the Group's long-
term business strategy, enhancing the Group’s values and
promoting the Group’s growth and development.

The Share Award Scheme shall be subject to the administration
of the Board in accordance with the rules related to the Share
Award Scheme, the respective trust deed(s) relevant to the
establishment of the trust(s) to support and facilitate the
operation of the Share Award Scheme, and all applicable laws
and regulations.

Participants of the Share Award Scheme cover any employees,
officers or directors of any members of the Group or of any
affiliates of the Company, and any persons (including advisors,
consultants or other service providers) who provide services to
any members of the Group on a continuing or recurring basis
in its ordinary and usual course of business which are material
to the long term growth of the Group as determined by the
Remuneration Committee and other persons as permitted
under the Listing Rules whom the Board in its sole discretion
considers may contribute or have contributed to the Group.
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Pursuant to the terms of the Share Award Scheme, the Board
may, from time to time, at its sole and absolute discretion
designate an award (“Award”and collectively “Awards"”) to be
made to a selected person among the participants (“Selected
Person”and collectively “Selected Persons”). Awards may be
satisfied by (i) existing Shares to be acquired by the trustee(s)
engaged by the Company for the purpose of administrating
the Share Award Scheme (the “Trustee(s)”), from the market,
or (ii) new Shares to be issued and allotted to the Trustee(s) by
the Company, in each case the Shares will be held on trust by
the Trustee(s) for the Selected Persons until the end of each
vesting period subject to fulfilment of the vesting conditions
(if any) in accordance with the provisions of the Share Award
Scheme.

Under the terms of the Share Award Scheme, (i) the aggregate
number of the Shares that may be awarded by the Board
under the Share Award Scheme shall not exceed 10% of
the issued share capital of the Company as at the Adoption
Date (or such other limit, if any, prescribed by the Listing
Rules from time to time); and (ii) unless specifically approved
by the independent shareholders, the aggregate number of
new Shares that may be granted as Awards annually under
the Share Award Scheme shall not exceed 3% of the issued
share capital of the Company as at the date on which the
Shareholders’ approval of a mandate for issue and allotment
of new Shares under the Share Award Scheme (the “Scheme
Mandate”) (or such other limit, if any, prescribed by the
Listing Rules from time to time) is given. As no Scheme
Mandate for allotment of new Shares has been obtained, at
the beginning and at the end of the Financial Year, and up
to the date of this annual report, no new Shares were issued
pursuant to the Share Award Scheme.
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The maximum number of Shares which may be awarded to a
Selected Person (i.e. maximum entitlement of) in any twelve
months under the Share Award Scheme shall not exceed
one percent of the total number of issued Shares as at the
Adoption Date unless the proposed grant has been specifically
approved by the Shareholders in a general meeting of the
Company. The Share Award Scheme does not specify any
minimum vesting period nor the grant price which is payable
by a Selected Person upon acceptance of an Award. Pursuant
to the Share Award Scheme, the Board has the authority to
determine, among other things, the vesting schedule, number,
the terms and conditions of the Award Shares and the grant
price (if any) payable by the Selected Person. The grant price
in respect of Awarded Shares under the Share Award Scheme
is determined by the Board in its absolute discretion at the
time of the grant. As at 31 December 2023, no Awarded
Shares have been granted under the Share Award Scheme yet.

As at 31 December 2023, (i) no Trustee has been appointed
for the purpose of the Share Award Scheme, (ii) no Award
has been granted under the Share Award Scheme, and (iii)
the Company has not yet obtained the approval from its
shareholders with respect to the Scheme Mandate for issue
and allotment of new Shares under the Share Award Scheme
and hence no Shares are available for issue under the Share
Award Scheme as at the date of this report.

For more details of the Share Award Scheme, please refer to
the Company’s announcement dated 21 May 2022.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the Financial Year and
up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors:

Ms. CHU Lam Yiu (Chairlady and CEO)

Mr. LAM Ka Yu (Co-Chairman)

Mr. XIA Liqun (Vice Chairman and President)

Mr. POON Chiu Kwok (Vice President and Company Secretary)
Ms. LAM Ka Yan

Ms. CHOY Man Har

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. LEE Luk Shiu
Mr. Jonathan Jun YAN
Mr. HOU Haitao

In accordance with bye-law 84(1) and (2) of the Bye-laws,
Ms. CHU Lam Yiu, Mr. LEE Luk Shiu and Mr. HOU Haitao shall
retire from office by rotation at the forthcoming AGM. All of
them being eligible, have offered themselves for re-election at
the forthcoming AGM.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors who proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming AGM has a service contract with the Company
which is not determinable by the Company within one year
without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Other than disclosed in Note 36 to the consolidated financial
statements, no contracts of significance in relation to the
Group's business to which the Company, its ultimate holding
company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which
a director of the Company had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any
time during the Financial Year.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESSES

None of the Directors and their respective close associates (as
defined in the Listing Rules) is considered to have an interest
in any business which competes or is likely to compete, either
directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of Directors and senior management are
set out on pages 36 to 41 of this annual report.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND THE FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Particulars of the remuneration of the Directors and the five
highest paid individuals during the Financial Year are set
out in Note 39 and Note 28 to the consolidated financial
statements respectively.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2023, the interests and short positions of
the Directors and chief executives in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), as
recorded in the register maintained by the Company under
Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code were as follows:
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Long position in ordinary shares of the Company KRR EBRER
Number Percentage
of issued of the issued
Name of Director(s) Capacity Shares held share capital
BREERT HE#&1T
EEHA 514 igrig -4z REBD K
CHU Lam Yiu Held through controlled corporations et 2,293,408,900 71.00%
RIEE g ol ek VNI ES ¥ SR
CHQOY Man Har Beneficial owner 3,000 <0.00%
BXE EmEBA

Note: 2,293,408,900 ordinary shares of the Company were held
by Mogul Enterprises Limited, Resourceful Link International
Limited, Power Nation International Limited, Jumbo Elite
Limited, Raise Sino Investments Limited and Real Elite
Investments Limited, respectively. Ms. CHU Lam Yiu is the sole
beneficial owner of the aforesaid six companies.

MisE : AN A A) 22,293,408,900 8% ¥ i@ i 5 o 5l
1 Mogul Enterprises Limited, Resourceful
Link International Limited, Power Nation
International Limited, Jumbo Elite Limited,
Raise Sino Investments Limited #1Real Elite
Investments Limited 5 78 o RMEL LA il
NEARMNE—ESEBA
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, the
Company is not aware of any of the Directors or their
respective associates had any interests or short positions in
the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company
or any of its subsidiaries or associated companies as defined
in the SFO.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Other than disclosed in Note 20 to the consolidated
financial statements, at no time during the Financial Year
was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any
arrangements to enable the Directors of the Company to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company were entered into or existed during the Financial
Year and up to the date of this report.

DIRECTORS’ PERMITTED INDEMNITIES

Pursuant to the Bye-laws and subject to the relevant
provisions therein, every Director shall be indemnified
and secured harmless out of the assets and profits of the
Company from and against all actions, costs, charges,
losses, damages and expenses which he/she may incur in or
sustain by the execution of his/her duty as a director of the
Company or otherwise in relation thereto. The Company has
arranged appropriate insurance cover for the Directors and
senior management of the Company in respect of legal action
against them in the course of execution of their duties in
good faith.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Share Option
Scheme”above and Note 20 to the financial statements, no
equity-linked agreement was entered into by the Company
during the Financial Year.

INTERESTS OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 December 2023, other than the interests disclosed in
the section headed “Directors’ interests in shares, underlying
shares and debentures”, the Company is not aware of any
other person who held interests or short positions in 5%
or more of the issued share capital of the Company under
Section 336 of the SFO.
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SIGNIFICANT EVENTS OR TRANSACTIONS
USE OF THE PROCEEDS FROM SHARE PLACEMENT

The Group completed the top-up placing and subscription on
13 December 2021 and 20 December 2021, respectively, and
the Company received net proceeds (i.e. after deducting the
commission payable to the placing agents, professional fee
and other related costs and expenses in relation to the top-
up placing and subscription) from the top-up subscription
of approximately HK$2.16 billion and the number of issued
shares of the Company was increased to 3,229,926,876. The
net price for each top-up placing share was HK$17.67.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group utilised all of the
proceeds from share placement, details of which are set out in
the table below.

EXEHIRZROEEMER R

AEBLEERNEERRESTED BN 2021
F12H13BK%2021F 12 H20B%E/K * AR
RIWEBEIFT SR EFAEAERCERTRAES
HR{IKRENREREZAE - BEERBIK
ERREESHREU EXERREMEBAER
MAXE)N21.6 BB TMARABEETRG
BB IR HNZE 3,229,926,876 1% - FIREEE
FEEERMDENFER17.678TT °

MR2023F 128318 AEBEBFERE2IRK
NEESHMEMERE  FBHHANTEX -

Use of proceeds (in HK$Smillion) BENRfZ(EL B8 TEx)
As at As at
31 December Actual use 31 December
Intended use of proceeds mMERETE AR 2022 of proceeds 2023
MH2022F mMERIE M2023 &
12H31H BERAR 12A31H
Acquisition of and/or investment in U BB K2 SR E B A 50 50 -
business(es) which leverage on the MAXAEEFFELHN
competitive advantage of the Group  ¥#&(INAEA EHIE)

should suitable opportunities arise

Investigation Against Directors

References are made to the announcements of Company
dated 24 January 2022, 26 January 2022, 27 January 2022,
21 July 2022, 26 July 2022, 20 January 2023, 3 July 2023 and
14 July 2023, respectively, in relation to the investigation for
suspected disciplinary violations and residential surveillance
at a designated location (387 /& FTEEMR/E1E) against Ms. CHU
Lam Yiu (“Ms. Chu”) and Mr. LAM Ka Yu (“Mr. Lam”). Ms.
Chu is the Chairlady of the Board, the chief executive officer,
an executive director, the controlling shareholder (holding
ultimately approximately 71% interests in the Company’s
shares as at the date of this report) and is the mother of Mr.
Lam and Ms. LAM Ka Yan (“Ms. Lam”), and Mr. Lam is an
executive director and co-chairman of the Company.

HEERERBRRNILRAE

ZIRMA AT HE DR /2022F1 248 -
202241 268 2022418278 2022
F7H8218 202297H26H 2023418
208 20237 A3BK&202347A14BH
BAMBELZLLE(TRZL]) RMEFLEEHK
TEDASBREEIEIIRABLIHAITIETE
EREREFNZENE - KL+t AEEST
B BREHITE RITEE - ERBERREA
WEBHSREREBEERRTRMD L 71%) RIkE
FEMET LT (IMZENEHE - BEMREE
BARARRNITESRBELE
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On 20 January 2023, the Group was advised by Ms. Chu’s
family member that Anyuan County Police Bureau (X REZ AL
/@) had lifted Ms. Chu's residential surveillance and that she
was on bail pending further investigation. Concurrently, Ms.
Chu was placed under residential surveillance at a designated
location (J8 7€ B ATEERREE) by Chongging Yongchuan District
Police Bureau (EEMXJIBE AL B).

On 3 July 2023, the Group was advised that Chongging
Yongchuan District Police Bureau (EE MK JIEALZR)
had lifted Ms. Chu’s residential surveillance. Ms. Chu has
resumed work accordingly. On 14 July 2023, the Company
was informed that Ms. Chu and Mr. Lam are no longer subject
to any bail conditions as imposed by Changsha County Police
Bureau (R B ALRE).

Further announcement(s), if required, will be made to keep
the shareholders of the Company and the public informed of
the development in this matter.

Disclosure of Non-Fulfillment of Profit Guarantee under
Rule 14.36B of the Listing Rules

References are made to the Company’s announcements
dated 8 March 2022, 9 August 2023 and 11 March 2024
respectively. On 8 March 2022, Huabao Flavours, a non-
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company and the shares of
which are listed on the ChiNext Market of Shenzhen Stock
Exchange (Stock Code: 300741), Shanghai Keli Enterprise
Management and Consulting Company Limited* (L8R F
PEEEZAAMRAR) ("Keli Enterprise”), Qian Rong (%)
and Wong Kam Wing (&$84%) (the beneficial controllers of
Keli Enterprise) and other related parties entered into a shares
transfer agreement (the “Share Transfer Agreement”) to
further acquire 27% equity interest in Shanghai Yifang Rural
Technology Holdings Co. Ltd. (“Shanghai Yifang”) for a total
consideration of RMB121.5 million in cash. Upon completion
of the transaction, Shanghai Yifang became an indirect non-
wholly owned subsidiary of Huabao Flavours and the results
of Shanghai Yifang have been consolidated into the financial
statements of Huabao Flavours since March 2022. As at the
date of this report, Huabao Flavours held approximately 67%
interest in Shanghai Yifang.
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Pursuant to the Share Transfer Agreement, among others,
Huabao Flavours, Qian Rong and Wong Kam Wing shall fulfill
their capital increase obligations as scheduled in proportion
to their respective shareholdings in Shanghai Yifang, and
Qian Rong and Wong Kam Wing agreed to undertake the
performance undertaking and compensation obligations to
Huabao Flavours. The performance undertaking period is
three years commencing from 1 January 2022 to 31 December
2024 (the "Performance Undertaking Period”). The results of
Shanghai Yifang during the Performance Undertaking Period
will be a consolidated net profit of not less than RMB41.00
million in 2022, a consolidated net profit of not less than
RMB55.00 million in 2023 and a consolidated net profit of
not less than RMB74.00 million in 2024. If Shanghai Yifang
does not achieve the performance undertaking after the
expiry of the Performance Undertaking Period, Qian Rong and
Wong Kam Wing shall compensate Huabao Flavours in cash
within 15 days after Shanghai Yifang’'s 2024 annual audit
report is issued. As at the date of this report, Qian Rong and
Wong Kam Wing have not yet fulfilled their obligations by
paying the second instalment of the capital increase amount
(RMB7,095,700 in total) under the Share Transfer Agreement,
and have not rectified the same within 15 days after they have
received the written notice from Huabao Flavours.

Based on the financial information of Shanghai Yifang, the
actual net loss of Shanghai Yifang for the year ended 31
December 2023 amounted to approximately RMB65,755,900
(2022: net loss of approximately RMB41,940,000). The
performance shortfall for the year ended 31 December
2023 amounted to approximately RMB120,755,900 (2022:
approximately RMB82,940,000).

The actual performance of Shanghai Yifang for the years 2022
and 2023 did not meet the guaranteed profits provided by
Qian Rong and Wong Kam Wing.

In addition, Qian Rong and Wong Kam Wing have not yet
fulfilled their obligations by paying the second instalment of
the capital increase amount (RMB7,095,700 in total) under
the Share Transfer Agreement, and have not rectified the
same within 15 days after they have received the written
notice from Huabao Flavours.
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The Share Transfer Agreement did not provide any option for
Huabao Flavours to sell the equity interests in Shanghai Yifang
or any part thereof back to Qian Rong and Wong Kam Wing.
However, the consideration will be adjusted after the expiry
of the Performance Undertaking Period in accordance with
the Share Transfer Agreement if Shanghai Yifang does not
achieve the Performance Undertaking. As the failure of Qian
Rong and Wong Kam Wing to fulfil their obligation by paying
the second instalment of the capital increase amount in the
previous period was already a serious breach of the terms
agreed under the Share Transfer Agreement, and taking into
account the fact that Shanghai Yifang sustained a loss during
the Performance Undertaking Period, Huabao Flavours has
applied to the Shanghai International Arbitration Center with
Qian Rong and Wong Kam Wing as respondents for arbitration
("Arbitration”), requesting Qian Rong and Wong Kam Wing to
compensate Huabao Flavours for liquidated damages, loss of
expected benefits, and legal fees totaling RMB332.03 million,
and to bear the corresponding legal costs of the Arbitration.
Huabao Flavours received the “Notice of Acceptance” issued
by the Shanghai International Arbitration Center on 9 August
2023.

As of the date of this report, as the Arbitration is still in the
hearing stage, the Group is unable to accurately predict the
final outcome of the Arbitration or evaluate the impact of
the Arbitration on the Group’s financial position. Should
there be any further information regarding the Arbitration,
the Company will make further announcements to inform
the shareholders and the public as and when appropriate in
accordance with relevant requirements.

Update on a Director’s Biographical Details

References are made to the Company’s announcements dated
5 July 2023 and 6 July 2023 respectively in relation to inside
information and change in biographical details of Ms. CHOY
Man Har (“Ms. Choy"), an executive director and deputy chief
financial officer of the Company.

On 5 July 2023, the Independent Commission Against
Corruption of Hong Kong (“ICAC") conducted a search at the
business offices of the Company in Hong Kong. The Company
provided certain files and records for the purpose of an ICAC
investigation.
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In addition, the Company has been informed that Ms. Choy
was arrested on 5 July 2023 by ICAC in relation to offences
under the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance (Cap. 201), Crimes
Ordinance (Cap. 200) and the Organized and Serious Crimes
Ordinance (Cap. 455) for investigation. On 6 July, Ms. Choy
has been released on bail without any charge laid against
her. The Company will monitor this matter and take necessary
legal advice as appropriate.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Except for disclosed above and elsewhere in this report, there
were no significant events after the reporting period.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the Financial Year, the percentage of revenue from sales
of goods or rendering services attributable to the Group’s five
largest customers in aggregate accounted for approximately
16.2% and the largest customer Yunnan Tobacco (Group)
Company Limited contributed approximately 5.4% to the
revenue from sales of goods or rendering services of the
Group and the percentage of purchases attributable to the
Group's five largest suppliers in aggregate accounted for
approximately 15.0% and the largest supplier contributed
approximately 7.4% to the purchases of the Group.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates or any
Shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors,
owned more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital)
had any interest in the Group's five largest customers and
suppliers.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Group'’s connected transactions and continuing connected
transactions are primarily classified based on (I) the connected
transactions with Guangdong Tobacco Company; and (ll) the
continuing connected transactions between the Group and
Broad Far Group.

n

Connected transactions with Guangdong Tobacco
Company

The Company indirectly holds approximately 55.375%
equity interests in Guangdong Jinke, which is regarded
as an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company. Guangdong Tobacco holds 17.5% equity
interest in Guangdong Jinke. Guangdong Tobacco
Company are regarded as connected persons at the
subsidiary level of the Company under the Listing
Rules. Transactions between the Group and Guangdong
Tobacco Company constitute connected transactions of
the Company under the Listing Rules.

The Group did not enter into any framework agreement
with any members of Guangdong Tobacco Company in
2022 and 2023.

References are made to the Company’s announcements
dated 23 February 2023, 27 June 2023, 29 August
2023 and 27 November 2023 respectively (collectively,
the “"Announcements”). Since one or more of the
applicable percentage ratios of the transaction amounts
of the transactions contemplated under the Purchase
Orders (collectively, the “Purchase Orders”) between
members of the Group and members of Guangdong
Tobacco Company for sale and purchase of flavours
(tobacco flavours), tobacco raw materials, etc., on an
aggregated basis, exceeds 1% but not more than 5%,
such transactions contemplated under the Purchase
Orders are subject to the reporting, annual review, and
announcement requirements, but are exempt from the
independent shareholders’ approval requirements.

For the Financial Year, the actual transaction amount
for the connected transactions between the Group and
members of Guangdong Tobacco Company mentioned
above was approximately RMB169.5 million (2022:
approximately RMB167.6 million) which exceeded 1%
but not more than 5% of the applicable percentage
ratios.
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Directors’ Report

Set out below are the principal terms of the Purchase
Orders placed by Guangdong Tobacco Company with
members of the Group for the Financial Year, with an
aggregate consideration of approximately RMB169.5
million:

RAFBFE  BRFERARRANEHE
RERR NEAREN/ARK1.695
BITHRBRIEN T REREIINT

Amount in RMB THEBARK
Transaction  Transaction
No. of Amount Amount
Date of Date of Acceptance Purchase  (exclusive  (inclusive
Purchase Order of Purchase Order Purchaser Seller Subject Matter Orders of tax) of tax)
R5EH R5EH
JERS ERHAH TERE TEZH BhsE TEHE (F&H) (B%)
From 12 January 2023 to  From 17 January 2023 Guangdong  The Group Provision of tobacco raw 126 169.5 191.3
21 December 2023 to 28 December Tobacco materials by the Group to million million

2023 Company Guangdong Tobacco Company

20235141282 2023514178 ERPERE AKE FEERERPERR 126 1695%T  1.913F%n

2023F12A218 2023124288

REERTERH

For all the Purchase Orders, payment of the transaction
amounts was settled in arrears by cash transfer. Upon
receipt of the Purchase Orders and in compliance with
the internal control system, the Group would carry out
transactions in accordance with the terms and conditions
of the Sale Agreement.

The transactions between Guangdong Tobacco Company
and the Group are subject to aggregation under the
Listing Rules. The Company will continue to monitor the
transaction amounts between the Group and Guangdong
Tobacco Company and re-comply with all applicable
reporting, disclosure and, if applicable and required,
independent shareholders’ requirements under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.

IWTERBIEMNS XZEEANSE
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(I) Continuing connected transactions with Broad Far

Group

On 14 March 2023, Chemactive entered into a
framework agreement with Broad Far (“Framework
Agreement”), pursuant to which Chemactive and its
subsidiaries shall provide tobacco related raw materials
and related services to Broad Far Group for a term of
2 years from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2024
(both days inclusive). The price shall be based on
implementation of bidding prices (if applicable) or market
prices, i.e. prices and terms payable to Chemactive and
its subsidiaries shall be no less favourable than those
terms offered by independent third party customers for
provision of similar products and services in its ordinary
and usual course of business and other terms that are
consistent with industry practice in general.

Chemactive is a wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company. Broad Far is ultimately controlled and
beneficially owned by Madam Chu and therefore is an
associate of a connected person of the Company under
the Listing Rules. Accordingly, transactions between
the Group and Broad Far Group under the Framework
Agreement constitute continuing connected transactions
of the Company under the Listing Rules.

The annual caps (details of which is set out in the
Company's announcement dated 14 March 2023) under
the Framework Agreement for the years ended 31
December 2023 and 2024 were set at not exceeding
RMB18.0 million and RMB25.0 million respectively.
Reference is made to the Company’s announcement
dated 27 October 2023, the Company has revised the
annual cap under the Framework Agreement for the
year ending 31 December 2023 to RMB33.5 million
while the annual cap for the year ending 2024 was kept
unchanged at RMB25 million. For details, please refer to
the Company’s announcements dated 27 October 2023.

For the Financial Year, the actual transaction amount
under the Framework Agreement was approximately
RMB30.9 million (2022: RMB13.9 million).
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Directors’ Report

Annual review of continuing connected transactions

The aforesaid continuing connected transactions have been
reviewed by the INEDs of the Company. The INEDs confirmed
that the aforesaid continuing connected transactions had
been entered into:

(i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the
Group;

(i) on normal commercial terms or better; and

(iii) in accordance with the relevant agreements governing
them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the
interests of the Shareholders of the Company as a whole.

The Company has engaged the independent auditor,
PricewaterhouseCoopers to report on the Group's
abovementioned continuing connected transactions in
accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance
Engagements 3000 (Revised) ‘Assurance Engagements Other
Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information’
and with reference to Practice Note 740 'Auditor’s Letter on
Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong
Listing Rules’ issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. PricewaterhouseCoopers have issued to
the Company their unqualified letter containing their findings
and conclusions in respect of the abovementioned continuing
connected transactions for the Financial Year in accordance
with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the significant related party transactions entered
into by the Group during the Financial Year are set out in Note
36 to the consolidated financial statements. None of these
related party transactions constitutes a disclosable connected
transaction as defined under the Listing Rules, except for the
transactions described in this paragraph headed “Connected
Transactions and Continuing Connected Transactions”, in
respect of which the disclosure requirements in accordance
with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules have been complied.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

During the Financial Year, neither the Company nor any of
its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company's listed securities.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Details of the Group's corporate governance practices are set
out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 42 to 71 of
this annual report.

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Except for disclosed elsewhere in this report, as at 31
December 2023, none of the members of the Group was
involved in any material litigation or arbitration and no
material litigation or claim was pending or threatened or
made against any member of the Group.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that was publicly available and to
the best belief and knowledge of the Directors, the Company
had maintained the prescribed public float throughout the
Financial Year and up to the date of this report as required
under the Listing Rules.

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements for the Financial Year
have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers who will retire
and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment at
the forthcoming AGM of the Company.

By Order of the Board
CHU Lam Yiu
Chairlady

Hong Kong, 26 March 2024
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Independent Auditor’s Report

e
pwec

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF HUABAO INTERNATIONAL
HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION
What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Huabao International
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”), which are set out on pages 131 to 271, comprise:

e the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2023;

e the consolidated income statement for the year then
ended;

e the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for
the year then ended,;

e the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the
year then ended,

e the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended; and

e the notes to the consolidated financial statements,
comprising material accounting policy information and
other explanatory information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 31 December 2023, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the
Code"), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with the Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

The key audit matter identified in our audit is related to

38 3 B BT R

BMEBRFTHOERESFTELSEER

Impairment of goodwill: (E
How our audit addressed RPN ETOfERE
Key Audit Matter the Key Audit Matter FARENEE REETEE
Impairment of goodwill  Our procedures in relation to EERE B EEERER
management’s impairment B HETHNRERE
Refer to Note 4 (Critical assessment of goodwill MG BEREN
accounting estimates and  included: Ta(AREEEAET
judgements) and Note 9 RAE) MM To(E — HPIE/RE - T
(Intangible assets) to the - We understood, FEE)FM - & 15 KB 3 By
consolidated financial evaluated and tested EFER_T_=F ZREMRBN
statements, as at 31 management’s process +=—A=+—8"R» =2 | 17
December 2023, the Group and controls in respect IR EEKREELR Bl EE(EET
had a total cost of goodwill of the impairment of HENREEERA THEMMIE
balance amounting to goodwill and assessed R ¥ 5,953,293,000 A HE M E B

RMB5,953,293,000
which was arisen

from acquisitions in
previous years. As at

31 December 2023, an
accumulated impairment
of RMB2,389,346,000
has been recognised.
Impairment charge
amounting to
RMB56,502,000 was
recognised in current year,
of which RMB37,420,000
was in respect of the
CGUs of Yancheng City
Chunzhu Aroma Co., Ltd
("Yancheng Chunzhu”),
RMB13,504,000 in respect
of the CGUs of Jiangxi
Xianghai Biological
Technology Co.,Ltd
("Jiangxi Xianghai”), and
RMB5,578,000 in respect
of the CGUs of Shanghai
Yifang Rural Technology
Holdings Co.,Ltd. and its
subsidiaries (“Shanghai
Yifang"”), respectively.

the inherent risk of
material misstatement by
considering the degree
of estimation uncertainty
and level of other
inherent risk factors,
such as complexity,
subjectivity, changes

and susceptibility to
management bias or
fraud.

- We evaluated the
historical accuracy of the
plan and forecast by, for
example, comparing the
forecast used in the prior
year model to the actual
performance of the
business in the current
year.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

How our audit addressed
the Key Audit Matter

38 3 B BT R

REEITEE

BMBEFTOAEE
REETEE

Management tests at

least annually whether
goodwill is subject to any
impairment, in accordance
with the accounting policy
stated in Note 2.6 and
Note 2.7. The recoverable
amount of CGUs has been
determined based on the
higher of their fair value
less costs of disposal and

their value in use amounts.

We focus on auditing the
impairment of goodwill
including the related
disclosures because the
estimation of recoverable
amount is subject to high
degree of estimation
uncertainty. The inherent
risk in relation to the
impairment of goodwill
is considered significant
due to subjectivity of
significant assumptions
used, including budgeted
gross margin, estimated
pre-tax discount rate and
forecast and terminal
growth rates, and
significant judgements
involved in selecting data.

We assessed whether
the identification of
CGUs and allocation of
goodwill for impairment
assessment aligned with
our understanding of
the Group's business
activities.

We obtained valuation
reports issued

by independent
valuers engaged by
management.

We assessed the
independence,
professional competence
and objectivity of
independent valuers.

We evaluated the
appropriateness of the
goodwill impairment
testing methodology
adopted by management
with the involvement of
our in—house experts.
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38 3 B BT R

How our audit addressed BB F T A B2 18

Key Audit Matter the Key Audit Matter ARETSE BRETEE
- We evaluated the - HERE®RXRR
underlying key EmEERB

assumptions of budgeted
gross margin and
forecast and terminal
growth rates used in the
cash flow forecast taking
into account historical
results and market
developments.

We evaluated the
reasonableness of the
pre—tax discount rate
used in the calculation
by evaluating the cost of
capital of the respective
CGUs, referring to
comparable companies
(e.g. capital structure,
etc.) and taking into
account the specific
circumstances of the
respective CGUs, and
comparing with the
industry or market data.

We evaluated
management’s sensitivity
analysis of the key
assumptions in the
goodwill impairment
assessment, including
budgeted gross margin,
estimated pre—tax
discount rate and
forecast and terminal
growth rates.
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How our audit addressed R EsT R
Key Audit Matter the Key Audit Matter ARETSE BRETEE
- We also considered - ERTHEEE
whether the judgements BEHEMED
made in selecting data FE = B A RE
would give rise to XPEFEER
indicators of possible Elmm o

management bias.

- BAETREKER

- We tested the EmENRME
mathematical accuracy FFEBRER
of the underlying value FTEERM -

in use calculation.

- FETEER

- We assessed the ERBAREZEN
adequacy of the FEOM -
disclosures related to the
impairment of goodwill BPIEREEBER
in the context of the B ENEZHE R
applicable financial HET A A BB R E
reporting framework. BRERBITHREFAX

o

We considered that
management’s significant
judgements and assumptions
applied in the assessment of
impairment of goodwill were
supportable by the evidence
we obtained.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the
information included in the annual report other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form
of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE AUDIT
COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give
a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the
Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative
but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body,
in accordance with Section 90 of the Companies Act 1981
of Bermuda and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a
high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis
of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

e  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Group’s internal control.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

e  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

e  Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue
as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention
in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the
date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as
a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible
for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them
all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be
thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Mr. Chow Sai Keung.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 26 March 2024
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Consolidated Statement of

Financial Position

e M BARR R

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (BREAEEBEEI  FTBBIUARETTIIR)
As at 31 December
®12H31H
Note 2023 2022
Bt &E 2023 2022 4
ASSETS EE
Non-current assets FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - W RERE 6 2,193,713 2,042,644
Right-of-use assets FREEE 7 374,411 385,498
Investment properties A 8 27,382 27,332
Intangible assets mLEE 9 4,187,984 4,322,720
Investments in associates REEERR 2" E 10 432,442 691,748
Investments in jointly controlled entities M ILRIZEHITEE 2 RE 11 22,130 19,802
Financial assets at fair value through LWAREBEGEREER
other comprehensive income BEEt A MEE
Wz SBEE 13 10,378 16,006
Financial assets at fair value UNAnEBEFEEE
through profit or loss HEEt AlER
LERMEE 17 190,136 253,058
Deferred income tax assets RIEFTSHEE 14 205,579 152,524
Other non-current assets HM3Eme)&E - 8,634
7,644,155 7,919,966
Current assets REBEE
Biological assets EYEE 210 1,470
Inventories FE 15 994,592 1,020,023
Trade and other receivables B 5 R HE AW FRTE 16 930,782 1,242,178
Financial assets at fair value through LWAnBEFEAEHR
other comprehensive income BEFARMEEKE
ZEMEE 13 23,168 49,794
Financial assets at fair value through LWAREBEFEREER
profit or loss gEEt AlEs
ZERMEE 17 3,869,711 1,637,613
Cash and bank balances e RRITHER 18 2,539,493 4,747,978
8,357,956 8,699,056
Total assets BWEE 16,002,111 16,619,022
EQUITY xR
Capital and reserves attributable to ZAATEHRZFEA
the Company’s equity holders ERRAR #E
Share capital (N 19 328,619 328,619
Reserves i 21 4,248,159 4,380,460
Retained earnings IREB & A 22 7,903,653 7,941,787
12,480,431 12,650,866
Non-controlling interests FEEFI RS 1,790,706 1,906,572
Total equity R 14,271,137 14,557,438
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Consolidated Statement of mE BRI R
Financial Position

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (BREAEEBEEI  FTBBIUARETTIIR)

As at 31 December

R12A31H
Note 2023 2022
B 5k 2023 F 2022 F
LIABILITIES afE
Non-current liabilities FREBEE
Borrowings B 24 36,000 -
Financial liability for non-controlling FEVE I R R ROh B
interest put option TRAE 23 147,656 131,836
Lease liabilities HEBE 7 28,365 37,290
Deferred income tax liabilities BEEFERMAR 14 124,960 125,368
Other payables H T 5RI8 25 11,446 12,163
348,427 306,657
Current liabilities REBAE
Borrowings B% 24 419,250 677,700
Lease liabilities HEAE 7 16,554 23,480
Trade and other payables B 5 RHE M ENRIE 25 613,899 722,135
Current income tax liabilities BEHMEHAas 172,012 215,650
Contract liabilities cRBE 5 160,832 115,962
1,382,547 1,754,927
Total liabilities wneE 1,730,974 2,061,584
Total equity and liabilities BEZREE 16,002,111 16,619,022
The above consolidated statement of financial position should — _F#L4R4 B FEHA T 3K & S AR JE P 5 — G B8

be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

The financial statements on pages 131 to 271 were approved £ 131 E271 BN E®RE S R 2024%F3 A
by the Board of Directors on 26 March 2024 and were signed 26 HEEERIELEF -

on its behalf.
Mr. XIA Liqun Mr. LAM Ka Yu
EREEE MEFEE
Director Director
E -
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Consolidated Income Statement

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

mERER

(BRABEAEIN

IR BIINARETLIIR)

Year ended 31 December
BZ12831HILEE

Note 2023 2022
Bt E 2023 & 20224
Revenue BE 5 3,307,839 3,828,984
Cost of goods sold SHE B 27 (1,838,474) (1,951,421)
Gross profit EF 1,469,365 1,877,563
Other income and other gains — net H A R H A s — % 26 146,608 212,812
Selling and marketing expenses HENMTSHEERY 27 (326,809) (344,405)
Administrative expenses TERER 27 (830,866) (825,959)
Impairment of goodwill B E 9 (56,502) (1,507,710)
Net impairment losses on financial assets & gt & E Rl (B8 K F 58 (23,745) (20,276)
Operating profit/(loss) EERF(EE) 378,051 (607,975)
Finance income B 75 A 84,952 71,791
Finance costs & A A (24,846) (37,970)
Finance income — net BT — H R 29 60,106 33,821
Share of results of associates and il ANEIDa
jointly controlled entities HEEHIER %5 10, 11 59 (7,056)
Provision for impairment relating to BERNRIREZ
the investment in an associate B 10 (22,291) (139,000)
Profit/(loss) before income tax BREAER,(FE) 415,925 (720,210)
Income tax expense FriSFif X 30 (125,442) (180,840)
Profit/(loss) for the year TEERF,(EHE) 290,483 (901,050)
Attributable to: FEqL -
Equity holders of the Company RAREZFEA 233,633 (1,054,547)
Non-controlling interests FEVE MR 56,850 153,497
290,483 (901,050)
Earnings/(loss) per share for profit/ HAEEXAQATEZEEA
(loss) attributable to the Company’s EEHNERER,(EiE) RMB cents RMB cents
equity holders for the year AR%ESD ARED
Basic and diluted HEAN#E 31 7.23 (32.65)
The above consolidated income statement should be read in AR A U S 3R FE AR R B A — BRI GE -

conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of
Comprehensive Income

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

REEEWER

(BRRBEREN

B EBEANARETTIIR)

Year ended 31 December
BZ12B831HILEE

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
Profit/(loss) for the year KEERF(FHE) 290,483 (901,050)
Other comprehensive income: Htt2mElE :
Items that will not be reclassified to T A EF FIEZ B 9 E H
profit or loss
Fair value changes of equity investments LAREBEFEAEEEHTA
at fair value through other Hir 2 Em o EmiRE 2
comprehensive income, net of tax BB ANEES (183,855) (1,583)
Currency translation differences of the RRE REIFGINER 2
Company and its non-foreign operations BB EEE 39,307 107,178
Items that may be reclassified to A] B 3 7 2 2 1R e #9H B
profit or loss
Currency translation differences of BINER c BB EE
foreign operations 39 (2,762)
Other comprehensive (loss)/ AEERBAEMEE
income for the year, net of tax (E518), W (144,509) 102,833
Total comprehensive income/ TEERBEEZE
(loss) for the year, net of tax Uz (BB )%%5E 145,974 (798,217)
Total comprehensive income/ FEiE2EWRE - (FE) 2858 :
(loss) attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company RRGERFEE A 77,810 (958,614)
Non-controlling interests FEPE SR 68,164 160,397
145,974 (798,217)

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income — _Ei#lt4R

should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of mEEREER
Changes in Equity
(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (BREAEEBEEI  FTBBIUARETTIIR)

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

RRRERRA AR

Non-
Share Retained controlling Total
Note capital Reserves earnings Total interests equity
W3k KA EE  REEH g HmtEE  gEn
Balance at 1 January 2022 R2022%51818 328,619 4387519 9,168,518 | 13,884,656 1,834,163 15,718,819
Fair value changes on financial assets at fair value WAREEHEBEEHH ALR
through other comprehensive income, net of tax ENE EREAE KA
MEEY 2 - (158 - (1,583) - 158
Currency translation differences ERHEZE - 97,516 - 97,516 6900 104,416
Loss for the year FEEBE - - (1,054547) | (1054547) 153497 (901,050)
Total comprehensive loss for the year ended HZUNENRNALEEN
31 December 2022 el 5 -t - 95933 (1,054547) | (958,614) 160397 (798217)
Transactions with owners in their capacity BANTREANR R
as owners:
Appropriations from net profit BEFEN 2,0 - N3 (215D) - - -
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests RSN EET ANRE - - - - (208,646)  (208,646)
Share-based payment - Value of employee services FhaERNEN-EEREEE 20 - 3713 - 3713 - 3713
Acquisitions of additional equity interests in [eE3zsilie Sl PR
non wholly-owned subsidiaries from WEAR EMRE
non-controlling interests - (27,566) - (27,566) (66,962) (94,528)
Acquisition of equity interest in Shanghai Wi LRZH BRI
Yifang Rural Technology Holdings Co., Ltd. ERAARENBA
and its subsidiaries (" Shanghai Yifang") (TH8ZF )2 B - - - - 15777 165,777
Additional investment in a non wholly-owned BNTERERZA Y
subsidiary of Shanghai Yifang F2ENBLA - (6,530) - (6,530) 20,72 14192
Disposal of Xinjiang Huabao Natural Biological RENEEEAMENBRRN
Technology Co,, Ltd ("Xinjiang Huabao”) BRAA(HEEE)) - - - - 1,12 1,121
Put option liability arising from business combination ~ EBAHELzDAHELE bE| - (119887) - | (119,887) - (119887)
Final dividends for the year ended HRRTAEZ2001E12831R
31 December 2021 paid to shareholgers LEEZERRE - - (58| (4820) - (s480)
Special dividends for the six months ended HREXAEZ2002%6830R
30 June 2022 paid to shareholders IEAER 2 RIS 2 - - (95840) | (95,840) - (95,800)
Dilution of investment in an associate REERTZ RENRERE - 255 - 2575 - 255
Total transactions with owners ERRARGAE - (10099 (72084 | (@75176)  (87,988)  (363,164)
Balance at 31 December 2022 R202512A8318 328,619 4380460 7941787 | 12,650,866 1,906,572 14,557,438
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Consolidated Statement of

Changes in Equity

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

REERBBHR

(BRRBEREN

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

B EBEANARETTIIR)

AARRERE ARG
Non-
Share Retained controlling Total
Note capital  Reserves  earnings Total interests equity
i R B REEA gt FEGMER S
Balance at 1 January 2023 RWBE151H 328,619 4,380,460 7,941,787 | 12,650,866 1,906,572 14,557,438
Fair value changes on finanial assets at fair value WAAEEEEERTH AL
through other comprehensive income, net of tax ENE ERMEE L RREN
MEEY 2 - (183,855 - | (183:855) - (183,859)
Currency translation differences EHhEEE - Bm - 802 1314 39,34
Profit for the year FERRT - - 33633 | 23363 56850 290,483
Total comprehensive income for the yearended ~ BZ 20312831 BLEEH
31 December 2023 2EUEER - (155823) 233633 | 77810 68,164 145,074
Transactions with owners in their capacity ARDARBANRS
as owners;
Appropriations from net profit RAEHEN 0,0 - 949 (19.419) - - -
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests mERSIMERT HARE - - - - (184,030)  (184,030)
Share-based payment- Value of employee services RABRENTA-EEREEE 20 - 4,103 - 4,103 - 4,103
Special dividends for the year ended HREXAEZN0NE1 AR
31 December 2022 paid to shareholgers LLEEZBRIRE 2 - - (148,866) |  (148,866) - (148,866)
Interim dividends for the six months ended HREXAEZ203%6530R
30 June 2023 paid to shareholders ARz R ERE 3 - - (47,306) |  (47,306) - (47,306)
Special dividends for the six months ended ARERAEZ 202356 A30R
30 June 2023 paid to shareholders IEAERZERIRE Bl - - (56,176) |  (56,176) - (56,176)
Total transactions with owners SREARAAE - BS2 (M6T) | (48245)  (184,030)  (432,275)
Balance at 31 December 2023 R203E125318 38,619 4,248,159 7,903,653 | 12,480,431 1,790,706 14,271,137

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should
be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

In _\éiﬁﬁiﬁ:%%

(BRRBEREN

B EBEANARETTIIR)

Year ended 31 December
BZ12831HILEE

Note 2023 2022
B 5k 2023 F 2022 %

Cash flows from operating activities ZEZEHEHE
Cash generated from operations EEBEECRS 33(a) 1,186,645 1,029,918
Income tax paid [=ERPEIEE T (221,379) (231,172)
Net cash generated from EETHEECRSFE

operating activities 965,266 798,746
Cash flows from investing activities REZENEELSHE
Acquisition of a subsidiary W BB B A A - (79,233)
Acquisitions of equity PN N vl g3

interest in associates = (9,200)
Proceeds from disposal of HERB AT R

a subsidiary and associates B N alprER 14,837 -
Purchases of financial assets BANLNAREEFZAH

at fair value through profit or loss BEt A ER EeRMEE (13,551,646) (15,011,795)
Proceeds from disposal of financial HELNARBEFEAER

assets at fair value through BEtABER ERMEE

profit or loss Fri8 I8 11,378,162 16,747,528
Purchases of right-of-use assets for BA L ERE

land use rights Mz (EREEE (15,558) (55,803)
Purchases of property, plant and BAYE  HREREE

equipment and intangible assets REYEE (446,111) (434,993)
Purchases of investment properties BAREEYE (788) (27,734)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEYZE - HBEREE

plant and equipment FiS 508 33(b) 15,545 18,001
Short-term deposits placed FAREBEFER (95,760) -
Dividends received SEdds 12,776 8,553
Interest received B U F B 83,857 88,715
Net cash (used in)/generated BREZESH(FTA),/

from investing activities EECBHEEHE (2,604,686) 1,244,039
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows MEBEERER

(BRRBERAEIN  HESEAUARETTIIR)

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

Year ended 31 December
BZ12B831HILEE

Note 2023 2022
(i 2023 F 2022 F

Cash flows from financing activities ®BEIBNRESHKE
Final dividends for the MR AEE

year ended 31 December 2021 2021412 A31H

paid to shareholders IHFEZHRKE = (54,821)
Special dividends for the MR AEE

six months ended 30 June 2022 2022%F 6 A30H

paid to shareholders 1788 A 2 BRI B - (95,840)
Special dividends for the MR AEE

year ended 31 December 2022 202212 A31H

paid to shareholders I FE 2 RIS (148,866) -
Interim dividends for the MR NEE

six months ended 30 June 2023 2023 6 A30H1E

paid to shareholders NME Az P ERE (47,306) -
Special dividends for the MR AEE

six months ended 30 June 2023 20236 A30H 1L

paid to shareholders NE R Z FRIRE (56,176) -
Dividends paid to [ FE5 il 1 f 2 2 ST AR B

non-controlling interests (184,030) (194,454)
Acquisitions of additional equity interests [AIFEFR$I MU EIEEE

in non wholly-owned subsidiaries B8 A B2 RN A

from non-controlling interests - (94,528)
Decrease/(increase) in deposit for HHERREERLD

short-term borrowings (#h0) 18,650 (75,800)
New bank borrowings raised FIRIRITE R 33(c) 632,550 750,590
Repayment of bank borrowings BEIETER 33(c) (855,000) (1,179,178)
Principal elements of lease payments SNEENR TS 33(c) (24,880) (26,987)
Interest elements of lease payments SNEERRZFEFLD 33(0) (1,550) (1,735)
Interest paid related to EAER1T B R % E At AR

bank borrowings and others ZBERFE (7,588) (24,882)
Net cash used in financing activities BEFEFfMAZRESFE (674,196) (997,635)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash ReMReSEMORD)

and cash equivalents S B INFEE (2,313,616) 1,045,150
Cash and cash equivalents FUI2RERREEED

at the beginning of the year 4,668,475 3,541,425
Effects of exchange rate change BEEBREEIRE R

on cash and cash equivalents ReFEEMNTE 26,169 81,900
Cash and cash equivalents FRZAERREEEY

at the end of the year 2,381,028 4,668,475
The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be  F#l4R& 35 & i & 7% 8 AR FEFH o — 01 BIGE -

read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION

Huabao International Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
was incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted company
with limited liability. The address of its registered office
is Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM 11,
Bermuda.

The Company has its primary listing on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”)
are mainly engaged in the research and development,
production, distribution and sale of flavours and
fragrances, and food ingredients, tobacco raw materials,
aroma raw materials and condiment products in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"). Ms. Chu Lam
Yiu (“Ms.Chu”), who is the Chairlady of the Board of
Directors, holds approximately 71% beneficial equity
interest in the Company as at 31 December 2023.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in
thousands of units of RMB (“RMB'000") unless otherwise
stated. These consolidated financial statements have
been approved for issue by the Board of Directors on 26
March 2024.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

This note provides a list of the material accounting
policies adopted in the preparation of these consolidated
financial statements. These policies have been
consistently applied to all the years presented, unless
otherwise stated. The consolidated financial statements
are for the Group consisting of the Company and it's
subsidiaries.

2.1 Basis of preparation

(a) Compliance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRS”) and
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
("HKCO”)

The consolidated financial statements of the
Group have been prepared in accordance with
HKFRS as issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and
the disclosure requirements of the HKCO Cap.
622.

HKFRS comprise the following authoritative
literature:

e Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
e Hong Kong Accounting Standards

e Interpretations developed by the HKICPA

(b) Historical cost convention

The consolidated financial statements of the
Group have been prepared on a historical
cost basis, except for financial assets at fair
value through other comprehensive income
("FVOCI") and financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss (“FVPL"), which are
carried at fair value.

Huabao International Holdings Limited #8 EIE % A R A 7
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(c

New and amended standards adopted by
the Group

The Group has applied the following
amendments or annual improvements for the
first time for their annual reporting period
commencing 1 January 2023:

° HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts

e Definition of Accounting Estimates —
amendments to HKAS 8

o International Tax Reform - Pillar Two
Model Rules — amendments to HKAS 12

° Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction — amendments to HKAS 12

e Disclosure of Accounting Policies -
amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS
Practice Statement 2

The amendments listed above did not have
material impact on the amounts recognised
in prior periods and are not expected to
significantly affect the current or future
periods.
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Notes to the Consolidated e B RR M
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (BREAEEBEEI  FTBBIUARETTIIR)
2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2. EXRESTHEBEE)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued) 2.1 REEE(E)
(d) New and amended standards and (d) [HARERAZHER - ZERIEET
interpretations not yet adopted R
The following new and amended standards REBWEEFRAUATER
and interpretations have been issued but are BT R E B FTER -« 28|
not yet effective and have not been early CHPES-

adopted by the Group:

Effective for the
financial year
beginning on

or after
RT3 BHH
Z BB
MHRFEBER

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of liabilities as current
or non-current
ER G ERE 1 5RER] RBEEMIERBEEZSRR
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with covenants
BB G ERE 1 5RIEF] BAGIGRZIERD AR
Amendment to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback
ERVBREERE 16 5RKIEFT ErOEzHERE
Amendments to HKAS 7 Supplier finance arrangements
and HKFRS 7
BEEGTEANETRK HERRE 2
BRI EERE 7 RER]
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial Statements —
(Revised) Classification by the Borrower of

a Term Loan that Contains
a Repayment on Demand Clause

BEREESTHUERT) MBHER 2V —EFRAHBEEEX
BGR2BEHER 2
Amendment to HKFRS 21 Lack of Exchangeability
BEEMBWMEERE 215785 A= AT A3
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or contribution of assets between
and HKAS 28 an investor and its associate or
joint venture
BEAVBWRELENE 105 KL KEERHEBENRNEEDLE
EREGETERE 28 5RI1EF] ZHMEEHERHE

1 January 2024

20241 H18
1 January 2024
2024F1H1H
1 January 2024
2024F 1 51H
1 January 2024

20241 A1 H

1 January 2024

20241 A1 H

1 January 2025
202541 A1H
To be determined

N

En
it
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(d) New and amended standards and

interpretations not yet adopted
(Continued)

The Group has already commenced an
assessment of the impact of these new
or revised standards, amendments and
interpretations, certain of which are relevant
to the Group's operations. According to the
preliminary assessment made by the directors
of the Company, these standards, amendments
or interpretations are not expected to have a
material impact on the Group in the current
or future reporting periods and on foreseeable
future transactions.

2.2 Consolidation

(a) Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured
entity) over which the Group has control. The
Group controls an entity when the Group is
exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns
from its involvement with the entity and has
the ability to affect those returns through its
power to direct the activities of the entity.
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the
date on which control is transferred to the
Group. They are deconsolidated from the date
that control ceases.

Inter-group transactions, balances and
unrealised gains on transactions between
group companies are eliminated. Unrealised
losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the transferred asset. When
necessary, amounts reported by subsidiaries
have been adjusted to conform with the
Group's accounting policies.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.2 Consolidation (Continued)
(a) Subsidiaries (Continued)

(i)

Business combinations

The Group applies the acquisition
method to account for business
combinations. The consideration
transferred for the acquisition of a
subsidiary is the fair values of the assets
transferred, the liabilities incurred to the
former owners of the acquired business
and the equity interests issued by the
Group. The consideration transferred
includes the fair value of any asset or
liability resulting from a contingent
consideration arrangement and fair value
of any pre-existing equity interest in the
subsidiary. Identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities and contingent liabilities
assumed in a business combination are
measured initially at their fair values at
the acquisition date.

The Group recognises any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree on
an acquisition-by-acquisition basis. Non-
controlling interests in the acquiree that
are present ownership interests and
entitle their holders to a proportionate
share of the entity’s net assets in the
event of liquidation are measured at
either fair value or the present ownership
interests’ proportionate share in the
recognised amounts of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. All other
components of non-controlling interests
are measured at their acquisition date
fair value, unless another measurement
basis is required by HKFRS.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.2 Consolidation (Continued)
(a) Subsidiaries (Continued)

(i)

Business combinations (Continued)

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as
incurred.

If the business combination is achieved
in stages, carrying value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the
acquiree is re-measured to fair value at
the acquisition date. Any gains or losses
arising from such re-measurement are
recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be
transferred by the Group is recognised
at fair value at the acquisition date.
Subsequent changes to the fair value
of the contingent consideration that
is deemed to be an asset or liability is
recognised in accordance with HKFRS 9
either in profit or loss or as a change to
other comprehensive income.

The excess of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interest in the acquiree and
the acquisition-date fair value of any
previous equity interest in the acquiree
over the fair value of the net identifiable
assets acquired is recorded as goodwill.
If the total of consideration transferred,
non-controlling interest recognised and
previously held interest measured is less
than the fair value of the net assets
of the subsidiary acquired in the case
of a bargain purchase, the difference
is recognised directly in the income
statement.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.2 Consolidation (Continued)
(a) Subsidiaries (Continued)

(it)

Changes in ownership interests

When the Group ceases to consolidate
or equity account for an investment
because of a loss of control, joint control
or significant influence, any retained
interest in the entity is re-measured
to its fair value with the change in
carrying amount recognised in profit or
loss. The fair value becomes the initial
carrying amount for the purposes of
subsequently accounting for the retained
interest as an associate, joint venture
or financial asset. In addition, any
amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in respect of that
entity are accounted for as if the Group
had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities. This may mean the
amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to
profit or loss or transferred to another
category of equity as specified/permitted
by applicable HKFRS.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.2 Consolidation (Continued)

(b) Associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group
has significant influence but not control
or joint control, generally accompanying a
shareholding of between 20% and 50% of
the voting rights. Investments in associates
are accounted for using the equity method
of accounting. Under the equity method
of accounting, the investments are initially
recognised at cost, and the carrying amount
is increased or decreased to recognise the
investor’s share of the profit or loss of the
investee after the date of acquisition. The
Group’s investment in associates includes
goodwill identified on acquisition. Upon the
acquisition of the ownership interest in an
associate, any difference between the cost of
the associate and the Group’s share of the net
fair value of the associate’s identifiable assets
and liabilities is accounted for as goodwill.

If the ownership interest in an associate is
reduced but significant influence is retained,
only a proportionate share of the amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss where
appropriate.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.2 Consolidation (Continued)
(b) Associates (Continued)

The Group’s share of post-acquisition profits
or losses is recognised in the consolidated
income statement, and its share of post-
acquisition movements in other comprehensive
income is recognised in consolidated other
comprehensive income with a corresponding
adjustment to the carrying amount of the
investment. When the Group’s share of losses
in an associate equals or exceeds its interests
in the associate, including any other unsecured
receivables, the Group does not recognise
further losses, unless it has incurred legal or
constructive obligations or made payments on
behalf of the associate.

The Group determines at each reporting date
whether there is any objective evidence that
the investment in the associate is impaired.
If this is the case, the Group calculates the
amount of impairment as the difference
between the recoverable amount of the
associate and its carrying value and recognises
the amount in provision for impairment
relating to the investment in an associate in
the income statement.

Profits and losses resulting from upstream
and downstream transactions between the
Group and its associates are recognised in
the Group’'s financial statements only to the
extent of unrelated investor’s interests in the
associates. Unrealised losses are eliminated
unless the transaction provides evidence
of an impairment of the asset transferred.
Accounting policies of associates have
been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the
Group.

Gain or losses on dilution of equity interest in
associates are recognised in the consolidated
income statement.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.2 Consolidation (Continued)

(c

Jointly controlled entity

Investments in joint arrangements are
classified either as joint operations or joint
ventures, depending on the contractual rights
and obligations each investor has, rather than
the legal structure of the joint arrangement.
The Group has assessed the nature of its joint
arrangements and determined them to be
joint ventures. Joint ventures are accounted
for using the equity method.

Under the equity method of accounting,
interests in joint ventures are initially
recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter
to recognise the Group's share of the post-
acquisition profits or losses and movements
in other comprehensive income. When the
Group’'s share of losses in a joint venture
equals or exceeds its interests in the joint
ventures (which includes any long-term
interests that, in substance, form part of the
Group’s net investment in the joint ventures),
the Group does not recognise further losses,
unless it has incurred obligations or made
payments on behalf of the joint ventures.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the
Group and its joint ventures are eliminated to
the extent of the Group’s interest in the joint
ventures. Unrealised losses are also eliminated
unless the transaction provides evidence
of an impairment of the asset transferred.
Accounting policies of the joint ventures have
been changed to ensure consistency with the
policies adopted by the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.3 Foreign currency translation

(a)

(b)

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of
each of the Group’s entities are measured
using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates
(the "functional currency”). The Company’s
functional currency is Hong Kong dollars
("HKD") and majority of the subsidiaries of the
Group operate in the PRC and their functional
currency are RMB. The consolidated financial
statements are presented in RMB, which is the
Group's presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated
into the functional currency using the
exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions or valuation where items are
re-measured. Foreign exchange gains and
losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions and from the translation at year-
end exchange rates of monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are recognised in the consolidated income
statement, except when deferred in equity as
qualifying cash flow hedges or qualifying net
investment hedges.

Foreign exchange gains and losses are
presented in the consolidated income
statement within other income and other
gains — net.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.3 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(b) Transactions and balances (Continued)

()

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the date when the fair
value was determined. Translation differences
on assets and liabilities carried at fair value
are reported as part of the fair value gain or
loss. For example, translation differences on
non-monetary assets and liabilities such as
equities held at fair value through profit or
loss are recognised in profit or loss as part
of the fair value gain or loss and translation
differences on non-monetary assets such as
equities classified as fair value through other
comprehensive income are recognised in other
comprehensive income.

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the
group entities (none of which has the currency
of a hyperinflationary economy) that have
a functional currency different from the
presentation currency are translated into the
presentation currency as follows:

(i) assets and liabilities for each statement
of financial position presented are
translated at the closing rate at the
reporting date;
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.3 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(c

(d)

Group companies (Continued)

(i)  income and expenses for each income
statement are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is
not a reasonable approximation of the
cumulative effect of the rates prevailing
on the transaction dates, in which case
income and expenses are translated at
the dates of the transactions); and

(iii) all resulting currency translation
differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising
on the acquisition of a foreign operation are
treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign
operation and translated at the closing rate.
Currency translation differences arising are
recognised in other comprehensive income.

Disposal of foreign operation and partial
disposal

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that
is, a disposal of the Group’'s entire interest in
a foreign operation, or a disposal involving
loss of control over a subsidiary that includes
a foreign operation, a disposal involving loss
of joint control over a jointly controlled entity
that includes a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of significant influence over an
associate that includes a foreign operation),
all of the currency translation differences
accumulated in equity in respect of that
operation attributable to the owners of the
company are reclassified to profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.3 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(d) Disposal of foreign operation and partial
disposal (Continued)

In the case of a partial disposal that does
not result in the Group's losing control
over a subsidiary that includes a foreign
operation, the proportionate share of
accumulated currency translation differences
are reattributed to non-controlling interests
and are not recognised in profit or loss. For all
other partial disposals (that is, reductions in
the Group’s ownership interest in associates
or jointly controlled entities that do not result
in the Group's losing significant influence
or joint control), the proportionate share
of the accumulated exchange difference is
reclassified to profit or loss.

2.4 Property, plant and equipment

Construction in progress and immature bearer
plants represent the direct costs of construction
of property, plant and equipment incurred plus
interest capitalised less any impairment losses. No
provision for depreciation is made on construction
in progress until such time the relevant assets are
completed and available for their intended use.
The Group's fruit trees qualify as bearer plants
under the definition in HKAS 41 "“Agriculture”
and are therefore accounted for under the rules
for plant and equipment. Fruit trees are classified
as immature until the fruits can be commercially
harvested. At that point they are reclassified as
mature and depreciation commences. Immature
fruit trees are measured at accumulated cost less
impairment.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.4 Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

All other property, plant and equipment are stated
at historical cost less depreciation and impairment
losses. Historical cost includes expenditure that is
directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s
carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset,
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will
flow to the Group and the cost of the item can
be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the
replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs
and maintenance are charged to the consolidated
income statement during the financial period in
which they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
is calculated using the straight-line method to
allocate their costs to their residual values over
their estimated useful lives as follows:

Buildings 20-35 years
Plant and machinery 3-20 years
Mature bearer plants 21.5-25 years
Motor vehicles 3-10 years
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 3-10 years
Leasehold improvements 3-10 years

Furniture, fixtures and equipment and leasehold
improvements are depreciated over the shorter of
their useful life or the lease term, unless the entity
expects to use the assets beyond the lease term.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

24

25

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of
each reporting period. An asset’s carrying amount
is written down immediately to its recoverable
amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater
than its estimated recoverable amount (Note 2.7).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount
and are recognised within other income and other
gains — net, in the consolidated income statement.

Investment properties

Investment properties are held for long-term rental
yields or for capital appreciation or both and are
not occupied by the Group. Commercial properties
held under leases held for rental yields and are
not occupied by the Group are recognised as
investment properties.

The Group measured its investment properties
at cost, including related transaction costs and
where applicable borrowing costs. Depreciation is
calculated using the straight-line method to allocate
their cost over their useful life at about 15 years.

If an item of owner-occupied property becomes an
investment property because its use has changed,
the carrying amount of the item at the date of
transfer is equal to the carrying amount of the
investment property measured by the cost model.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.6

Intangible assets

(a)

Goodwill

Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries
represents the excess of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interest in the acquiree and the acquisition-
date fair value of any previous equity interest
in the acquiree over the fair value of the
identified net assets acquired.

For the purpose of impairment testing,
goodwill acquired in a business combination
is allocated to each of the cash-generating
units (“CGUs"), or groups of CGUs, that is
expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination. Each unit or group of units to
which the goodwill is allocated represents
the lowest level within the entity at which
the goodwill is monitored for internal
management purposes. Goodwill is monitored
at the CGU or group of CGUs level.

Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken
annually or more frequently if events or
changes in circumstances indicate a potential
impairment. The carrying value of the CGU
or the group of CGUs to which goodwill has
been allocated is compared to the recoverable
amount of the unit, which is the higher
of value in use (“VIU"”) and the fair value
less costs to disposal. Any impairment is
recognised immediately as an expense and is
not subsequently reversed.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.6

Intangible assets (Continued)

(b)

(c

(d)

Customer relationships and non-
competition agreement

Customer relationships and non-competition
agreement acquired as part of a business
combination are capitalised separately
from goodwill and are carried at cost less
accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impairment losses. Amortisation is calculated
using the straight-line method to allocate
the cost of the intangible assets over their
estimated useful lives of 5 to 10 years.

Trademarks and licenses

Separately acquired trademarks and licenses
are shown at historical cost. Trademarks and
licenses acquired in a business combination
are recognised at fair value at the acquisition
date. They have a finite useful life and are
subsequently carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment
losses. Amortisation is calculated using the
straight-line method to allocate the cost of
trademarks and licenses over their estimated
useful lives of 10 to 20 years.

Computer software

Acquired computer software licenses are
capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred
to acquire and bring to use the specific
software. These costs are amortised over their
estimated useful lives of 3 to 5 years.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.6

2.7

Intangible assets (Continued)
(e) Patents

Patents include purchased technology and
skills acquired from third parties. They have
a finite useful life and carried at cost less
accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impairment losses. Amortisation is calculated
using the straight-line method to allocate the
cost of the technology and skills over their
estimated useful life of 3 to 10 years.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life, for
example goodwill or intangible assets not ready to
use, are not subject to amortisation and are tested
at least annually for impairment, or more frequently
if events or changes in circumstances indicate that
they might be impaired. Assets that are subject to
amortisation are tested for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An
impairment loss is recognised for the amount by
which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is
the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell
and VIU. For the purposes of assessing impairment,
assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which
there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-
generating units). Non-financial assets other than
goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed
for possible reversal of the impairment at the end
of each reporting date.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.8 Investments and other financial assets

(a) Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the
following measurement categories:

e those to be measured subsequently
at fair value (either through other
comprehensive income or through profit

or loss), and

° those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s
business model for managing the financial
assets and the contractual terms of the cash

flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and
losses will either be recorded in profit or
loss or other comprehensive income. For
investments in equity instruments that are not
held for trading, this will depend on whether
the Group has made an irrevocable election at
the time of initial recognition to account for
the equity investment at FVOCI.

The Group reclassifies debt investments
when and only when its business model for
managing those assets changes.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.8

Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

(b) Recognition and derecognition

(c

Regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognised on trade-date, the date
on which the Group commits to purchase or
sell the asset. Financial assets are derecognised
when the rights to receive cash flows from
the financial assets have expired or have been
transferred and the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership.

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a
financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case
of a financial asset not at FVPL, transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction
costs of financial assets carried at FVPL are
expensed in profit or loss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are
considered in their entirety when determining
whether their cash flows are solely payment of
principal and interest.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.8 Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

(c) Measurement (Continued)
Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group’'s business model
for managing the asset and the cash flow
characteristics of the asset. There are three
measurement categories into which the Group
classifies its debt instruments:

e Amortised cost: Assets that are held
for collection of contractual cash flows
where those cash flows represent solely
payments of principal and interest are
measured at amortised cost. Interest
income from these financial assets is
included in finance income using the
effective interest rate method. Any
gain or loss arising on derecognition
is recognised directly in profit or loss
and presented in other income and
other gains - net together with foreign
exchange gains and losses. Impairment
losses are presented as separate line item
in the consolidated income statement.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.8

Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

(c) Measurement (Continued)

Debt instruments (Continued)

Financial assets at FVOCI: Assets that are
held for collection of contractual cash
flows and for selling the financial assets,
where the assets’ cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and interest,
are measured at FVOCI. Movements in
the carrying amount are taken through
other comprehensive income, except
for the recognition of impairment gains
or losses, interest income and foreign
exchange gains and losses which are
recognised in profit or loss. When
the financial asset is derecognised,
the cumulative gain or loss previously
recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified from equity to
profit or loss and recognised in other
income and other gains - net. Interest
income from these financial assets is
included in finance income using the
effective interest rate method. Foreign
exchange gains and losses are presented
in other income and other gains - net
and impairment expenses are presented
as separate line item in the consolidated
income statement.

Financial assets at FVPL: Assets that
do not meet the criteria for amortised
cost or FVOCI are measured at FVPL. A
gain or loss on a debt investment that
is subsequently measured at FVPL is
recognised in profit or loss and presented
net within other income and other gains
- net in the period in which it arises.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.8 Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

(c)

(d)

Measurement (Continued)
Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity
investments at fair value. Where the Group's
management has elected to present fair
value gains and losses on equity investments
in other comprehensive income, there is no
subsequent reclassification of fair value gains
and losses to profit or loss following the
derecognition of the investment. Dividends
from such investments continue to be
recognised in profit or loss as other income
and other gains - net when the Group's right
to receive payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets
at FVPL are recognised in other income and
other gains - net in the consolidated income
statement as applicable. Impairment losses
(and reversal of impairment losses) on equity
investments measured at FVOCI are not
reported separately from other changes in fair
value.

Impairment

The Group assesses the expected credit losses
on a forward-looking basis associated with its
debt instruments carried at amortised cost.
The impairment methodology applied depends
on whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the
simplified approach permitted by HKFRS 9,
which requires expected lifetime losses to
be recognised from initial recognition of the
receivables, see Note 3.1(b) for further details.

e M| RME

(BRRBEREN

B EBEANARETTIIR)

2. EXRGHEEBEER)

28 RERHEMEMEE(H)

(d)

& (&)
#m TR
AEBRBRAANBENEMN
ﬁﬁé\ RE - HAKHEEEE

EEREMEmksET 254
RRENAALEBEKS )SZ)EH
B AR IR ER
SEENKEMER é,ﬁ;ﬂrﬂ
ENORERD c EASHEE
BN FRE R A - R F
BB BHEENBREA/HE
YA R B A U 2k — 58

NAREEFEREZEBF A
BHEMNEREEZ A EEE
BRGEAREREMRARE
Y st — FREIER - LA SR(E
EFfE BEESFARMER
Yo ot 2 B HE % B B Rk (B /S 1R
( ﬁﬁ%%?ﬁé@)jiﬁiéﬁiﬁﬁ
RABEESHOIFE

b4/

7N S5 B4R A BE 1 B AT R
BERAIR2EHRTABRER
ZEHERER - IR ZRE
BIDEBRANEEHBRERR

B B AIEIE

WEZREFIEMS - A5E
REEBMBREEMNFE IR
FLRFEVRIE 50 - BRJTER
E%EHHT_Z HiE 1878 8 B R HE
B J?E H& IEH‘I%L/( ﬁ@ I u$ ‘%
FAMIEE 3.1(b) St

2023 Annual Report 3§

163



164

Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.9

Inventories

Raw materials, work in progress and finished goods
are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value ("NRV"). Cost comprises direct materials,
direct labour and an appropriate proportion of
variable and fixed overhead expenditure, the latter
being allocated on the basis of normal operating
capacity. Costs are assigned to individual items of
inventory on the basis of weighted average costs.
Costs of purchased inventory are determined after
deducting rebates and discounts. Net realisable
value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business less the estimated costs of
completion and the estimated costs necessary to
make the sale.

2.10 Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers
for goods sold in the ordinary course of business.
Trade receivables are recognised initially at the
amount of consideration that is unconditional,
unless they contain significant financing
components, when they are recognised at fair
value. If collection of trade and other receivables
is expected in one year or less (or longer if in
the normal operating cycle of the business), they
are classified as current assets. If not, they are
presented as non-current assets.

The Group holds the trade and other receivables
with the objective of collecting the contractual cash
flows and therefore measured them subsequently at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.
Details about the Group’s impairment policies and
the calculation of the loss allowance are provided
in Note 3.1(b).
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.11 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand,
deposits held at call with banks and other short-
term highly liquid investments with original
maturities of three months or less that are readily
convertible to known amounts of cash and which
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value.

2.12 Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value,
net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost; any
difference between the proceeds (net of transaction
costs) and the redemption amount is recognised in
the consolidated income statement over the period
of the borrowings using the effective interest
method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are
recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the
extent that it is probable that some or all of the
facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is
deferred until the draw-down occurs. To the extent
there is no evidence that it is probable that some
or all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee is
capitalised as a prepayment for liquidity services
and amortised over the period of the facility to
which it relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless
the Group has an unconditional right to defer
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months
after the reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.13 Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to
get ready for their intended use or sale, are added
to the cost of those assets, until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use
or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from
the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are charged to the
consolidated income statement in the period in
which they are incurred.

Borrowing costs include interest expense and
exchange differences arising from foreign currency
borrowings to the extent that they are regarded
as an adjustment to interest costs. The exchange
gains and losses that are an adjustment to interest
costs include the interest rate differential between
borrowing costs that would be incurred if the entity
had borrowed funds in its functional currency, and
the borrowing costs actually incurred on foreign
currency borrowings. Such amounts are estimated
based on interest rates on similar borrowings in the
entity’s functional currency.

2.14 Employee benefits

(a) Short-term obligations

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including
non-monetary benefits and accumulating sick
leave that are expected to be settled wholly
within 12 months after the end of the period
in which the employees render the related
service are recognised in respect of employees’
services up to the end of the reporting period
and are measured at the amounts expected
to be paid when the liabilities are settled. The
liabilities are presented as trade and other
payables in the consolidated statement of
financial position.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.14 Employee benefits (Continued)

(b) Pension obligations

The Group operates the Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme (“MPF Scheme”) in Hong Kong
which is generally funded through payments
to insurance companies under defined
contribution plan. It pays contributions to
administered pension insurance plans on a
mandatory, contractual or voluntary basis.
Moreover, all the employees of the Group's
entities incorporated in Mainland China of
the PRC (the “Mainland China"”) participate
in employee social security plans, including
pension, medical, housing and other welfare
benefits, organised and administered by the
local governments. The Group also makes
defined contribution to retirement schemes
managed by the insurance company in
accordance with German regulation and
rules for the employees of the subsidiary
located in Germany. In the United States of
America (“USA"), the Group makes defined
contributions at certain percentage of monthly
salary to retirement and medical schemes
managed by the federal government of USA
in accordance with US rules and regulations.
It is the federal government’s responsibility
to pay the retirement benefits to those staff
who retire. The Group has no further payment
obligations once these contributions have
been paid. The contributions are recognised as
employee benefit expense when they are due
and are reduced by contributions forfeited by
those employees who leave the scheme prior
to vesting fully in the contributions. Prepaid
contributions are recognised as an asset to
the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in
the future payments is available. No pension
obligation is required under the Botswana
laws and regulation.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.15 Financial liability for non-controlling interest

put option (“NCI put option”)

NCI put option is the financial instrument granted
by the Group that non-controlling interest may
have the right to request the Group to purchase
the equity instrument they held for cash or other
financial assets when certain conditions are met.
If the Group does not have the unconditional right
to avoid delivering cash or another financial assets
under the NCI put option, a financial liability is to
be recognised at the present value of the estimated
future cash outflows. Subsequently, if the Group
revises its estimates of payments, the Group
will adjust the carrying amount of the financial
liability to reflect actual and revised estimated cash
outflows. The Group will recalculate the carrying
amount by computing the present value of revised
estimated future cash outflows at the financial
instrument’s original effective interest rate and
the adjustments will be recognised as changes in
finance cost in the consolidated income statement.
If the NCI put option expires without delivery, the
carrying amount of the liability is reclassified to
equity. The financial liability for NCI put option are
classified as current liabilities unless the NCI put
option can only be exercised 12 months after the
end of the reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.16 Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense or credit for the period
is the tax payable on the current period’s taxable
income based on the applicable income tax rate for
each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred
tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary
differences and to unused tax losses.

(a)

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated
on the basis of the tax laws enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of the
reporting period in the countries where the
company and its subsidiaries and associates
operate and generate taxable income.
Management periodically evaluates positions
taken in tax returns with respect to situations
in which applicable tax regulation is subject
to interpretation and considers whether it
is probable that a taxation authority will
accept an uncertain tax treatment. The Group
measures its tax balances either based on the
most likely amount or the expected value,
depending on which method provides a better
prediction of the resolution of the uncertainty.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.16 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

(b) Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using
the liability method, on temporary differences
arising between the tax bases of assets
and liabilities and their carrying amounts
in the consolidated financial statements.
However, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if they arise from the initial
recognition of goodwill. Deferred income
tax is also not accounted for if it arises from
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction other than a business combination
that at the time of the transaction affects
neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss
and does not give rise to equal taxable and
deductible temporary differences. Deferred
income tax is determined using tax rates (and
laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period
and are expected to apply when the related
deferred income tax asset is realised or the
deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is
probable that future taxable amounts will be
available to utilise those temporary differences
and losses.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.16 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

(b) Deferred income tax (Continued)

(c)

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not
recognised for temporary differences between
the carrying amount and tax bases of
investments in foreign operations where the
company is able to control the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences and it is
probable that the differences will not reverse
in the foreseeable future.

Offsetting

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset
where there is a legally enforceable right to
offset current tax assets and liabilities and
where the deferred tax balances relate to the
same taxation authority. Current tax assets
and tax liabilities are offset where the entity
has a legally enforceable right to offset and
intends either to settle on a net basis, or
to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit
or loss, except to the extent that it relates
to items recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity. In this case, the
tax is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, respectively.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.17 Share-based payment

(a)

Employee share scheme

As disclosed in Note 20, Guangdong Jiahao
Foodstuff Co., Ltd (“Guangdong Jiahao”), a
subsidiary of the Group operates equity-settled
shared-based compensation plan, under
which Guangdong Jiahao granted its equity
instruments to its employees and employees of
its subsidiary in exchange for their service.

The fair value of the employee service
received in exchange for the grant of equity
instruments is recognised as an expense. The
total amount to be expensed is determined
by reference to the fair value of the equity
instruments granted:

e Including any market performance
conditions (e.g., the entity’'s share price);

e Excluding the impact of any service
and non-market performance vesting
conditions (e.g., profitability, sales
growth targets and remaining an
employee of the entity over a specified
time period); and

e Including the impact of any non-vesting
conditions (e.g., the requirement for
employees to save or holdings shares for
a specific period of time).
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.17 Share-based payment (Continued)

(a) Employee share scheme (Continued)

Non-market performance and service
conditions are included in assumptions
about the number of equity instruments that
are expected to vest. The total expense is
recognised over the vesting period, which
is the period over which all of the specified
vesting conditions are to be satisfied.

In addition, in some circumstances employees
may provide services in advance of the grant
date and therefore the grant date fair value
is estimated for the purposes of recognising
the expense during the period between service
commencement period and grant date.

At the end of each period, the entity revises
its estimates of the number of options that
are expected to vest based on the non-market
vesting and service conditions. It recognises
the impact of the revision to original
estimates, if any, in profit or loss, with a
corresponding adjustment to equity.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.18 Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable for the sales
of goods and services in the ordinary course of the
Group's activities. Revenue is shown, net of value-
added tax, returns, rebates and discounts and
after eliminating sales with the Group. The Group
recognises revenue when the amount of revenue
can be reliably measured; when it is probable that
future economic benefits will flow to the entity;
and when specific criteria have been met for each
of the Group's activities, as described below.

Revenues are recognised when or as the control of
the asset is transferred to the customer. Depending
on the terms of the contract and the laws that
apply to the contract, control of the asset may
transfer over time or at a point in time. Control
of the asset is transferred over time if the Group's
performance:

e provides all of the benefits received and
consumed simultaneously by the customer; or

e creates and enhances an asset that the
customer controls as the Group performs; or

e does not create an asset with an alternative
use to the Group and the Group has an
enforce able right to payment for performance
completed to date.

Huabao International Holdings Limited ¥ ¥ BB} 2% A R A 7

e M| RME

(BRBEREIN - IEELBAUARETTIIR)

2.

EXRGTEHRBER)

2.18 W AFERR

BHEFZEREEELHRA

BWABAEEEBRXEBRETHE
B MRS B R R E R
B E - WARRASIBRITIRIA
KEEERRBUEHEERMEA -
ERASEERAEFER BX
KE BN RAERAERE
EARENBREDTARERE
RASESEBEA - FBEOTAHR

A

5);[{0

BANEBEERFN RSB REFBHE
R REARGRIERR A RS
B BEREHIR AR
REFHHETES - MREEN
REWmT  BENZHESERER
B

o RHEFFREKBIMBEEFT
BB ¢ X

s AIEYEBREFEEBEHITHR
EHIMEE ¢ X

s TERAKHAZAEEARA
BNEE  BASEHER
TTHORER) AT BBE S B B
BB -



Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.18 Revenue recognition (Continued)

If control of the asset transfers over time, revenue
is recognised over the period of the contract
by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of that performance obligation.
Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the asset.

In determining the transaction price, the Group
adjusts the promised amount of consideration
for the effect of a financing component if it is
significant.

2.19 Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their
fair value where there is a reasonable assurance
that the grants will be received and the Group will
comply with all attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred
and recognised in the consolidated income
statement over the period necessary to match
them with the costs that they are intended to
compensate.

Government grants relating to property, plant and
equipment are included in non-current liabilities as
deferred government grants and are credited to the
consolidated income statement on a straight-line
basis over the expected lives of the related assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

3.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1 Financial risk factors

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of
financial risks: market risk (including foreign
exchange risk, cash flow and fair value interest rate
risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.
The Group's overall risk management programme
focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets
and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on
the Group's financial performance.

Risk management is carried out under the policies
approved by the Board of Directors. The Group
identifies and evaluates financial risks in close co-
operations with its operating units. The Board
provides principles for overall risk management,
as well as policies covering specific areas, such as
foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk
and liquidity risk.

(a) Market risk
() Foreign exchange risk

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong
and Mainland China and is exposed
to foreign exchange risk primarily
through financial instruments that are
denominated in a currency other than
the functional currency in which they
are measured. The functional currency
of the PRC subsidiaries is RMB, and the
functional currency of the HK subsidiaries
is HKD. The majority of the subsidiaries of
the Group operate in the PRC and most
of their transactions are denominated in
RMB. The Group is exposed to foreign
currency risks, mainly with respect to
HKD, United States dollars (“USD") and
Indonesia Rupiah(”“IDR"), being the
main foreign currencies in which the
Group's financial assets and liabilities
denominated.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3. BI¥RMEE (&)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 MEERREZ(E)
(a) Market risk (Continued) (a) THEREREE)
(i) Foreign exchange risk (Continued) (1) SMNEE (&)
If HKD, USD and IDR had strengthened/ HZE2023F12A3181t
weakened by 5% against RMB during FEA BHEBE - X
the year ended 31 December 2023, with TRHEBEBRLARKEH
all other factors remaining unchanged, B/ BES%  mEHE
the profit after income tax for the year tERERFITE  AlY
would have been affected as follows: REERBRERAD R
Z2mT -
Change of profit after income
tax increase/(decrease)
KEBRBEBRFWN
gam/ (Rd)
For the year ended
31 December
BZ12A31MHBLEE
2023 2022
2023 2022 F
Group rEE
— Strengthened by 5% —FH{E5% 49,994 45,721
- Weakened by 5% —B2E5% (49,994) (45,721)

(ii)  Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

Other than deposits held in banks, the
Group does not have significant interest-
bearing assets. Fluctuation of market
rates does not have a significant impact
to the Group’s performance.

The Group’s exposure to changes in
interest rates is mainly attributable to
its borrowings which are at floating
rates and expose the Group to cash flow
interest-rate risk, details of which have
been disclosed in Note 24. The Group
currently does not use any interest rate
swaps to hedge its exposure to interest
rate risk. However, the Group will
consider hedging significant interest rate
exposure should the need arise.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(a) Market risk (Continued)

(i)

(ifi)

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk
(Continued)

As at 31 December 2023, if interest
rates on borrowings at floating rates
had been 50 basis point higher or lower
with all other variables held constant,
interest charges for the year ended 31
December 2023 would increase/decrease
by approximately RMB11,000 (2022:
RMB546,000).

Price risk

The Group is exposed to price risk mainly
from listed equity investments held
by the Group, which are classified as
financial assets at FVPL (Note 17).

Management considers the price risk
exposure for certain biological assets is
insignificant to the Group. The sensitivity
analysis is determined based on the
exposure to price risk of the listed equity
investments classified as financial assets
at FVPL at the end of each reporting
period. If the fair values of the listed
equity investments classified as financial
assets at FVPL held by the Group had
been 5% higher/lower, profit after
income tax for the year would have been
approximately RMB1,091,000 higher/
lower for the year ended 31 December
2023 (2022: RMB2,083,000).
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(b) Credit risk

Credit risk arises from cash and bank balances,
contractual cash flows of debt instruments
carried at amortised cost, at FVPL and at
FVOCI.

(i)

Risk management and Security

For cash and bank balances, the Group
manages the credit risk by placing all the
bank deposits in state-owned financial
institutions or reputable banks which
are all high-credit-quality financial
institutions.

The Group does not require collateral
from the debtors on the outstanding
balances. To manage the credit risk in
respect of trade and other receivables,
the Group performs ongoing credit
evaluations of its debtors’ financial
condition. The Group has monitoring
procedures to ensure that follow-up
action is taken to recover debts. The
Group reviews regularly the recoverable
amount of each individual receivable to
ensure that the adequate impairment
losses are made for irrecoverable
amounts. Based on the historical credit
losses experienced and forward-looking
information on macroeconomic factors,
the Group maintains an allowance for
doubtful accounts and actual losses
incurred have been within management’s
expectations.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(i)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group has four types of financial
assets that are subject to the credit risk
assessment:

Cash and bank balances
o Trade receivables

° Other receivables (excluding
prepayments)

o Debt investments carried at FVOCI

Cash and bank balances

While cash and bank balances are also
subject to the impairment requirements
of HKFRS 9, the identified impairment
loss was immaterial as the management
considers that the counterparties are
reputable banks and financial institutions
with high credit ratings. There is no
significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(i)

Impairment of financial assets
(Continued)

Trade receivables

The Group applies the simplified
approach to provide for expected credit
losses prescribed by HKFRS 9, which
permits the use of lifetime expected loss
allowance for all trade receivables.

To measure the expected credit losses,
trade receivables have been grouped
based on shared credit risk characteristics
and invoice dates. The historical loss
rates for each aging bucket are derived
base on the probability of a receivable
progressing through successive stages of
delinquency to write-off. The historical
loss rates are adjusted to expected loss
rates to reflect current and forward-
looking information on macroeconomic
factors affecting the ability of the
counterparty to settle the receivables.
The Group has identified the China
consumer price index (CPl) growth and
the broad measure of money supply (M2)
growth, etc. in which it sells its goods
to be the most relevant factors, and
accordingly adjusts the historical loss
rates based on expected changes in these
factors.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

e M| RME

(BRBEREIN - IEELBAUARETTIIR)

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3. BI¥EKBEE(&E)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)

3.1 BiEREZE(E)
(b) EER(E)

(i) Impairment of financial assets (i) ZEEEZHEE)
(Continued)
Trade receivables (Continued) B RrWER(E)
On that basis, the loss allowance for EULEGE £ R20234F
trade receivables as at 31 December K 2022%F12 8318 -
2023 and 2022 is determined as follows: B 5 RN ERES

As at 31 December 2023

FAUNLA RBIR
7 2023F12H31H
0-1 1-2 2-3 over 3

year years years years Total

0-1% 1-25 2-3F  HBB3F a5

Effective expected TR AMEER
loss rate

Gross carrying amount  EREEE

Loss allowance HERERRE

0.48%  21.46% 51.15%  80.26%
625,220 16,580 64,924 32,813 739,537
2,991 3,558 33,211 26,335 66,095

As at 31 December 2022

20224912 A831H

0-1 1-2 2-3 over 3
year years years years Total
0-14 125 2-3F BB3F B

Effective expected HEAAREER
loss rate

Gross carrying amount  BRTEIB(E

Loss allowance RERESE

0.39% 12.74% 37.88% 96.95%
936,796 68,068 28,592 4,733 1,038,189
3,610 8,674 10,831 4,589 27,704
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(i1)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Trade receivables (Continued)

The loss allowance for trade receivables
as at 31 December 2023 and 2022
reconciles to the opening loss allowance
as follows:

e M| RME

(BRBEREIN - IEELBAUARETTIIR)

3. BKEBERE(E)
3.1 B¥EREEGE)
(b) EEEEE)
(i) HHEEZHEE)
Z oW (E)

B F RN 2023F &
2022 12 A31H W R
B 5 f5 E1 HR WD R (B 7 1
FIFER AT -

Year ended 31 December

BZ12831BLEE

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 4F
Opening loss allowance at FORERE
the beginning of the year 27,704 13,237
Provision for impairment loss B S REWFURERE
on trade receivables 38,535 17,888
Increase arising from acquisition UE& /82575 2180
of Shanghai Yifang - 3,526
Decrease arising from disposal ~ HEHBEE 2 F L
of Xinjiang Huabao - (2,589)
Written off as uncollectible A 45 Y U 0] T e (144) (4,358)
Closing loss allowance at FREERE
the end of the year 66,095 27,704

Trade receivables are written off when
there is no expectation of recovery.
The creation and release of provision
for impaired receivables have been
included in “net impairment losses on
financial assets” in the consolidated
income statement. Subsequent recoveries
of amounts previously written off are
credited against the same line item.

BRI E ZRRENE
A Wm0 B o B
WHRERBE RS
REFIBRT D E
BEREE KT R
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(i1)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Other receivables

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 three-
stage approach to measuring ECL of
other receivables. The Group makes
periodic collective assessments as
well as individual assessment on the
recoverability of other receivables based
on historical settlement records and past
experience.

The Group considers the probability
of default upon initial recognition of
asset and whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk on
an ongoing basis throughout each
reporting period. Impairment on other
receivables is measured as 12-month
expected credit losses when there has
been no significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition. If a significant
increase in credit risk has occurred since
initial recognition, then impairment is
measured as lifetime expected credit loss.

Huabao International Holdings Limited #8 EIE % A R A 7
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(i1)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Other receivables (Continued)

To assess whether there is a significant
increase in credit risk the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring
on the asset as at the reporting date
with the risk of default as at the date of
initial recognition. It considers available
reasonable and supportive forwarding-
looking information. Especially the
following indicators are incorporated:

e external credit rating

e actual or expected significant
adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a
significant change to the debtor’s
ability to meet its obligations

e actual or expected significant
changes in the operating results of
the debtor

e significant increases in credit risk on
other financial instruments of the
same debtor

e significant changes in the expected
performance and behaviour of the
debtor, including changes in the
payment status of debtors in the
Group and changes in the operating
results of the debtor
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Notes to the Consolidated e B RR M
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (BREAEEBEEI  FTBBIUARETTIIR)

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3. BI¥EKBEE(&E)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 MEEMEZE(E)
(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) EER(E)
(i) Impairment of financial assets (Continued) (i) =EEEZHE(E)
Other receivables (Continued) HAth UK (&)

Basis for recognition
of expected credit

Category Company definition of category loss provision

5l BB ARRESR A= BB XM ER KB RN

Performing Debtor whose credit risk is in line 12 month expected losses.
with original expectations Where the expected lifetime

of an asset is less than 12
months, expected losses are
measured at its expected
lifetime (stage 1).

% BEHEAGEARRTEREH REAEHEE WREE
B FEER U B BR A P12 1E A
I 78 B4 2k & LA H 78 B ik [0 Bf
(F—FER)FE -

Underperforming Receivables for which a significant Lifetime expected losses
increase has occurred compared to (stage 2).
original expectations; a significant
increase in credit risk is presumed if
interest and/or principal repayments
are past due

REFIE JEUWBR RERTEBARIRIG AN - IARF BHTEEIBR(F2MR) -
BER/gA&EEaH  AREREA
EW EEE il

Non-performing Interest and/or principal repayments Lifetime expected losses

(credit impaired) are past due or it becomes probable (stage 3).
a debtor will enter bankruptcy
BER(ERAXE) FEM/ SASEEAINEFSARN BEEHRBLR(EIMRER) -
sk
Huﬁ&%

Write-off Interest and/or principal repayments Asset is written off
are past due and there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery

adk'z| MEM XA EECAHERESE BENH
32 ) U [0 7 HA
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3.

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(if)  Impairment of financial assets (Continued) (i)

Other receivables (Continued)

The loss allowance for other receivables
December 2023 and 2022
reconciles to the opening loss allowance

at 31

as follows:

e M| RME

(BRBEREIN - IEELBAUARETTIIR)

MEERERE (&)
3.1 MEEMEZE(E)

(b)) EEEE (&)
ZHEEZRE(E)
H UK (&)
H At fE YRR 2023 F &
2022F 12 A31H & &
BEREBEEAFTVRERE
BRI T -

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLEE

2023 2022
2023 2022
Opening loss allowance at FORERE
the beginning of the year 27,965 29,565
(Reversal)/provision for Hth B US FORE
impairment loss on other ChE), B
receivables (14,790) 2,388
Decrease arising from disposal ~ HEHBEE 2L
of Xinjiang Huabao - (6)
Written off as uncollectible A 45 Y U 0] T e 8 (7.427) (3,982)
Closing loss allowance at FREERE
the end of the year 5,748 27,965

As at 31 December 2023, the gross
carrying amount of other receivables
excluding prepayments was
RMB222,571,000 (31 December 2022:
RMB197,231,000), which is the maximum
risk exposure to loss of other receivables.

MW2023F 128318
TEEBMAR EfE
WHHEAEEAAR
#222,571,00075(2022
F12A31H: AR ¥
197,231,0007T ) ° & =
SEAZEXRERN X
RNEREE o
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(i1)

(iii)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Debt investments carried at FVOCI

Debt investments carried at FVOCI
include the debt securities, which are
notes receivable held within a business
model whose objective is achieved by
both collecting contractual cash flows
and selling financial assets. The identified
impairment loss was immaterial as
the management considers that the
counterparties are reputable banks and
financial institutions with high credit
ratings. There is no significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition. As
at 31 December 2023, the maximum risk
exposure to debt investments carried at
FVOCI is the carrying amount.

Financial assets at FVPL

The Group is also exposed to credit risk
in relation to debt investments that are
measured at FVPL. The maximum exposure
at the end of the reporting period are the
carrying amount of wealth management
products and contingent consideration,
which are RMB3,847,748,000 (2022:
RMB1,594,315,000) and RMB34,290,000
(2022: RMB63,490,000), respectively.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(c)

Liquidity risk

Cash flow forecast is performed in the
operating entities of the Group. The directors
monitor rolling forecasts of the Group's
liquidity requirements to ensure it has
sufficient cash to meet operational needs and
that the Group does not breach borrowing
covenants on its borrowing facilities. Such
forecasting takes into consideration the
Group’'s debt financing plans, covenant
compliance, compliance with internal
statement of financial position ratio targets
and if applicable, external regulatory or
legal requirements — for example, currency
restrictions.

The table below analyses the Group's financial
liabilities into relevant maturity groupings
based on the remaining period at the
reporting date to the contractual maturity
date. The amounts disclosed in the table are
based on the contractual undiscounted cash
flows. Balances due within 12 months equal
their carrying balances, as the impact of
discounting is not significant.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

3.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(c) Liquidity risk (Continued)

e M| RME

(BRBEEPEIN  IELSBEAUARETTIIR)
3. jﬁﬂmmii(nﬁ)
3.1 BiEREZE(E)

(C) ///bﬁﬁ”/(ﬁ(;ﬁ)

Between Between Between Between
Less than 1and 2 and 3 and 4 and
1 year 2 years 3 years 4 years 5 years Total
—ERT —-EZME MEZ=F -EENE NEZLE st
At 31 December 2023 ®2023512831A
Borrowings e
(including interest) (RHEAE) 421,901 38,412 - - - 460,313
Trade and other payables B 5 R Eth (A
excluding non-financial (TRE#LR
liabilities Bf&) 439,133 - - - - 439,133
Financial liability for JEEB R
NCI put option BeBBaE - 85,887 99,856 185,743
Lease liabilities HEAR 18,098 14,677 5,668 5,785 2,536 46,764
879,132 138,976 105,524 5,785 2,536 1,131,953
At 31 December 2022 ®K2022%512831H
Borrowings EX
(including interest) (RHEAE) 684,651 - - - - 684,651
Trade and other payables ~ E 5 REAENHIE
excluding non-financial (TRE#ER
liabilities Bf&) 527,407 - - - - 527,407
Financial liability for SRR
NCI put option EzemaR - - 85,887 99,856 - 185,743
Lease liabilities HEEE 23,684 19,259 15,862 2,642 1,240 62,687
1,235,742 19259 101,749 102,498 1,240 1,460,488

3.2 Capital risk management

The Group's objectives when managing capital
are to safeguard its ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders
and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain
an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of
capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid
to shareholders, return capital to shareholders,
issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt. The
operating cash inflows of the Group are sufficient
for investing activities including acquisition of new
businesses.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

e M| RME

(BRBEREIN - IEELBAUARETTIIR)

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3. HEEERE(H&)
3.2 Capital risk management (Continued) 3.2 EXERERE(E)
The Group monitors its capital risk based on REEUEARBELREREER
the debt-to-equity ratio. This ratio is calculated BB o bbb TR RRE S FRERR A
by dividing the net debt by the total owners’ BMERTE - AEENEKFER
equity. The Group's net debt is calculated as total BER(BERBRIERBE TR
borrowings (including current and non-current FZHeLBE2EEY  BAREKEE
borrowings) less cash and cash equivalents. No WIRERREEFBMWESEARANERK
debt-to-equity ratio is presented as the Group had TE - NEBEMR2023F %2022 F
net cash surplus as at 31 December 2023 and 2022. 12A31BEBYHEABEL X
AREEERE BT °
3.3 Fair value estimation 3.3 AAEEME
(a) Fair value hierarchy (a) AAREEER
This section explains the judgements and LEDRE T ERESREE
estimates made in determining the fair B~ 7o B B RF BT i A9 ) B A
values of the financial instruments that are hEt A BEmMRPUARAE
recognised and measured at fair value in the BffENEREE - BTET
financial statements. To provide an indication AREEAREBENE AEL
about the reliability of the inputs used in WAISEMN - NEBGESRE
determining fair value, the group has classified ERGHENREED RN =18
its financial instruments into the three levels B - RAET A A SEER
prescribed under the accounting standards. An B ER -
explanation of each level follows underneath
the table:
Note Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
M -8 =B =B et
At 31 December 2023 ®2023%512A31H
Financial assets at FVPL UAREEFEAR
BEITABRZ
SREE
- Listed equity investments ~ — FHERKE 17 21,963 - - 21,963
- Wealth management -MEEEEM 17
products - - 3,847,748 3,847,748
- Unlisted equity investments ~ — 3k F T IRE 17 - - 155,846 155,846
- Contingent consideration ~ — B Z£EHE 17 - - 34,290 34,290
Financial assets at FvOoCl ~ AAREBEHERH
FHIAHLMRE
KRz eMEE
- Unlisted equity investments —FRAF EIRIIE EH 13
in the PRC BaRE - - 10,378 10,378
- Debt securities —BHES 13 - - 23,168 23,168

21,963 - 4,071,430 4,093,393
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

e M| RME

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (BREAEEBEEI  FTBBIUARETTIIR)
3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3. B¥ERKREE(HE)
3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued) 3.3 AREEMLF(E)
(a) Fair value hierarchy (Continued) (a) AAEEERE
Note Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Wizt F-B BB E=E it
At 31 December 2022 72022E12 8310
Financial assets at FVPL UDABEERR
EBABE
tREE
- Listed equity investments ~ — FTEHRE 17 43,298 - - 43,298
- Wealth management -HEEEER 17
products - - 1,594,315 1,594,315
- Unlisted equity investments ~ — 3 FTTERRE 17 - - 189,568 189,568
- Contingent consideration ~ — XA EEHE 17 - - 63,490 63,490
Financial assets at FVOCl  MAREEEAHE
FEIAEMRE
KEzeREE
- Unlisted equity investments ~ — AR EIAI3E £ 13
in the PRC BaRE - - 16,006 16,006
~ Debt securities ~EBES 13 - - 49,794 49,794
43,298 - 1,913,173 1,956,471
The different levels have been defined as TREBHEEERL T ¢

follows:

Level 1: The fair value of financial instruments
traded in active markets (such as publicly
traded derivatives, and equity securities) is
based on quoted market prices at the end of
the reporting period. The quoted market price
used for financial assets held by the group is
the current bid price. The quoted market price
already incorporates the market’s assumptions
with respect to changes in economic climate
such as rising interest rates and inflation,
as well as changes due to ESG risk. These
instruments are included in level 1.
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Financial Statements

(BRBEERES - HELBIUARETLIIR)
B EREE(E)

DR EEME (E)
RABEER(E

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3.
3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued) 3.3

(a) Fair value hierarchy (Continued) (a)

Level 2: The fair value of financial instruments
that are not traded in an active market (for
example, over-the-counter derivatives) is
determined using valuation techniques which
maximise the use of observable market data
and rely as little as possible on entity-specific
estimates. If all significant inputs required to
fair value an instrument are observable, the
instrument is included in level 2.

Level 3: If one or more of the significant
inputs is not based on observable market data,
the instrument is included in level 3. This is
the case for unlisted equity securities and for
instruments where ESG risk gives rise to a
significant unobservable adjustment.

There were no transfers of financial assets
between level 1, level 2 and level 3 fair value
hierarchy classifications for the years ended 31
December 2023 and 2022. There are no other
financial instruments that were measured at
fair value as at 31 December 2023 and 2022.

The financial assets of level 1 within the fair
value hierarchy as at 31 December 2023
and 2022 were the listed equity investments
included in financial assets at FVPL. The fair
value of these financial instruments traded
in active markets is based on quoted market
prices at the reporting date. A market is
regarded as active if quoted prices are readily
and regularly available from an exchange,
dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service,
or regulatory agency, and those prices
represent actual and regularly occurring
market transactions on an arm’s length basis.
The quoted market price used for financial
assets of level 1 held by the Group is the
current bid price.

FEE:AAHERTSRXHH
T/ T A5 HMT E LR
an) B~ S EERB G ERM
E - RMERMRAREM
MR BRA SRR - MR
BEAREBEMBHNMEEER
wWAEDAES  QZEER

SHEE_E -

FZE MR -EXZEEER
WAEYIFERABRNTS
BiE - AIZEERBRES=
o IF EMAAREFFMESG A
REHNEBATABRARNE
EREERERBR

HE2023F M 2022512 A31
HIEFE  HMESREERSE
— B BE_EBME-EREE
Al M A E T - 72023
%2022 12H31H » I &
Hih& T ANDRABET

=
£ -°

M 2023 K% 2022412 A 31
B AREBEELATHNE |
THMEERSTANRAREBER
EREEHTABZNEHE
ERFMNLEMERKE - /58
MERARSMNELEERTARN
AREBEERREHNMSR
B MEAURRGZ X5
AN ITHEAR EE
RIS B E MR e R 1S B
WE - BIEEMBSERARE
Br o WHEEERRRTHE
R GEME FH B E %
ERTIHERS o NEERKEN
FEeRmEEFERANTS®R
BARAEREAE -
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e MR ME

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (BREAEEBEEI  FTBBIUARETTIIR)
3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3. BI¥RMERE (&)
3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued) 3.3 AREEMF(E)
(b) Valuation techniques used to determine (b) AAEBEAFRAIIEES A
fair values
Asset-based approach, market approach and F-EREMEEMEARZM
income approach are adopted in the valuation EREABEERBE  MHE
of financial assets of level 3. MU ERIE o
(c) Fair value measurements using significant (c) BAEXTJHEEHAEE
unobservable inputs (level 3) ETRAAEETE(E=ZE)
The financial assets of level 3 within the fair B £20234F F2022%12H
value hierarchy as at 31 December 2023 and 31 AABEERTHNE
2022 were financial assets at FVOCI and —EeMEERNRAAEBMER
financial assets at FVPL. The following table EAEZHFAEMEEYK
presents the changes of the Group’s financial ENERMEEMNURAAEER
assets of level 3 within the fair value hierarchy EBHEZFHFABEEZHN SR
for the years ended 31 December 2023 and BE - TRIETAEEHZE
2022: 2023F K%2022F12A31H
IFFENARBEERTRE=
EemEENE
Unlisted Wealth
equity management Debt  Contingent
investments products securities consideration Total
i Bz 3B
RERE  EREER  BBEEF  RERE #it
At 1 January 2022 R2022%1818 233,549 3,256,499 48,785 - 3,538,833
Additions NE 7,795 15,004,000 342,081 - 15,353,876
Disposals e - (16,747,528) (341,072) - (17,088,600)
Fair value change recognised in ~ RAE 2 AP ERL
other comprehensive income MEEED (1,862) - - - (1,862)
Fair value change recognised in ~ RAEMIAFIE thlzs -
other income and FERERL
other gains - net AEEE (42,739) 81,344 - 63,490 102,095
Currency translation differences EBREZE 8,831 - - - 8,831
At 31 December 2022 R2022%E12A318 205,574 1,594,315 49,794 63,490 1,913,173
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(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

e M| RME

(BRRBEREN

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3.

3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)

(c) Fair value measurements using significant
unobservable inputs (level 3) (Continued)

B EBEANARETTIIR)

MR EREEE)
3.3 AREEME(E)
(c) BHAEATTHZHALE
BT AL BETE(EFZF)

(&

Unlisted Wealth
equity management Debt  Contingent
investments products  securities consideration Total
kL BE #5
RERE EBER EHES kERE #it
At 1 January 2023 R2023F1 718 205,574 1,594,315 49,794 63,490 1,913,173
Additions RE 8,170 13,545,500 121,860 - 13,675,530
Transfer from associate to BEENT REEAS
financial assets at FVOCI (Note 10)  WMAREEFEEZED
AR ERED
SRAE(M10) 179,391 - - - 179,391
Disposals ik (4,632) (11,373,530) (148,486) - (11,526,648)
Fair value change recognised in REHZEREPER
other comprehensive NAEBEEY
income (Note 13) (FizE13) (185,019) - - - (185,019
Fair value change recognised in REMRARNE iz -
other income and FETRAL
other gains - net MMEER (39,249) 81,463 - (29,200) 13,014
Currency translation differences ~ EHBEEE 1,989 - - - 1,989
At 31 December 2023 R20235 128318 166,224 3,847,748 23,168 34,290 4,071,430
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(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (BREAEEBEEI  FTBBIUARETTIIR)

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3. BI¥EKBEE(&E)

3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued) 3.3 AREBEMG(E)
(d) Valuation inputs and relationships to fair (d) THUBEZWAEEELLE
value BZHEFR
The following table summarises the TRIIEEARARBEER
quantitative information about the significant FE-EeREETNTAHER
unobservable inputs used in level 3 fair value B ABUE ©
measurements.

Relationship of unobservable

Description Fair value Unobservable inputs Range of inputs inputs to fair value
g MEE E BTN HEEE TIEERARBELAEENER
At 31 December
#2A318
2023 2022 2023 2022
3% 0% 2035 008
Unlisted equity investment 166,224 205,574 Discount for lack of marketability 9%-29.50% 9%-19%  The higher the Discount for lack of
FriERRE fipdpk Akl marketabiliy, the lower the fair value
BITERALTIES  AEEME
Enterprise Value/Sales multiple of peers 0.83-4.19 1.60-3.65  The higher the Enterprise Value/Sales
TR EV/Sales multiple, the higher the fair value
TEEHEVSalesdin - AREEME
Price/Sales multiple of peers 3.74-5.00 4.43-6.80 The higher the Price/Sales multiples,
TBEEPIS the higher the fair value

TERAMSHE  DAEEE

Price/Earnings multiple of peers 2 20 The higher the Price/Earnings multiples,
AEEPE the higher the fair value
TEEHPEER  AAEES
Wealth management products 3,847,748 1,594,315 Expected rate of retur 1.00%-9.55%  1.00%-4.71% The higher the Expected rate of return,
HEERER ekt the higher the fair value
EHOREds RABELS
Debt securities 23,168 49,794 Risk-adjusted discount rate 1.25%-2.60% 2.55%  The higher the Risk-adjusted discount
EHEs ElE S rate, the lower the fair value
BRSEEREES MREEME
Contingent consideration 34,290 63,490 Risk-adjusted discount rates 14.54%  12.86%-14.95% The higher the Risk-adjusted discount
JEFERR ElE S rates, the lower the fair value
BRSEERES RREEME
Revenue growth rates 9%-24% 5%-65%  The higher the Revenue growth rate,
WAERE the higher the fair value
WASREES RABELR
Gross margin 13.38%-23.56%  20.24%-28.08% The higher the Gross margin, the higher
= the fair value

EH=d8 MEBELR
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Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)

(e)

()

Group’s valuation processes

The Group's finance department includes a
team that performs the valuations of financial
assets required for financial reporting purposes
with the assistance of an independent valuer
when necessary, including level 3 fair values.
This team reports directly to the chief financial
officer ("CFO"). Discussions of valuation
processes and results are held between the
CFO and the valuation team at least once for
every six months, in line with the Group's
reporting dates.

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the
fair value of financial assets and liabilities
measured at amortised cost approximate their
carrying amounts due to the short maturities
or the impact of discounting is insignificant.

e M| RME

(BRRBEREN
3.

B EBEANARETTIIR)

MR EREEE)
D AEEMGE ()
(e) FEEAILZIEERE

3.3

(f)

AEBZHBMRE — @D
M AERUBREEEH
7 WEFEHHBFILFME
WREOME T H S REEETT
e BREEE=ELNE
Bt/ NABRRMEEE
(TS5 EL | IESR - M54 ES
Kt NETV IR A EB 2 &
A EBIE ¥ FRIT R R A
ERZEEGER -

M2023F 12 A31H K&2022
F12A831H BARIHAE
IR E 85/ AR
A ENERMEEMNBENA
AEETEERmMEMRS °
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Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated.
They are based on historical experience and other
factors, including expectations of future events that
may have a financial impact on the entity and that are
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning
the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The
estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
discussed below.

(a) Impairment of goodwill

The Group tests at least annually whether goodwill
has suffered any impairment in accordance with
the accounting policy stated in Note 2.6 and Note
2.7. The recoverable amounts of CGUs have been
determined based on the higher of value in use
and the fair value less costs to disposal. These
calculations require the use of estimates. Details of
impairment charge, key assumptions and impact of
possible changes in key assumptions are disclosed
in Note 9.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b) Estimation of the fair values of financial assets

(c)

and financial liabilities

The fair values of financial instruments that are
not traded in active markets are determined
using valuation techniques. The Group uses its
judgements to select a variety of methods and
make assumptions that are mainly based on market
conditions existing at the end of each reporting
period. Changes in these assumptions and estimates
could materially affect the respective fair values of
these financial assets and financial liabilities (Note
3.3).

PRC enterprise income tax and deferred
taxation

The Group’s subsidiaries that operate in the PRC
is subject to enterprise income tax in the PRC.
Significant judgement is required in determining
the provision for income tax. There are many
transactions and calculations for which the ultimate
determination is uncertain during the ordinary
course of business. Where the final tax outcome of
these matters is different from the amounts that
were initially recorded, such difference will impact
the income tax and deferred tax provision in the
period in which such determination is made.

Deferred tax assets relating to certain temporary
differences and tax losses are recognised when
management considers it's probable that future
taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences or tax losses can be utilised.
The outcome of their actual utilisation may be
different.

e M| RME
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(9]

(d)

PRC enterprise income tax and deferred
taxation (Continued)

Pursuant to the Corporate Income Tax Laws of the
PRC approved by the National People’s Congress on
16 March 2007, a 10% withholding tax is levied on
dividends remitted from the PRC entities to overseas
investors with effect from 1 January 2008. A lower
withholding tax rate of 5% is applied to Hong Kong
investors as there is a tax treaty between the PRC
and Hong Kong. However, the 5% treaty rate is not
automatically granted. The taxpayer needs to apply
to the relevant tax bureau for an approval for the
treaty rate. The directors estimated that a portion
of profits generated by the PRC subsidiaries would
be distributed to their Hong Kong immediate parent
companies and the approval for the treaty rate
will be obtained. Therefore, deferred income tax
liabilities had been provided based on 5% or 10%
of the estimated profits to be remitted to Hong
Kong. The directors of the Company will review the
funding requirements of the Group and revise the
dividend distribution policy of its subsidiaries as
appropriate.

Estimation of financial liability for NCI put
option

The Group granted put option to the non-
controlling interest owners that they have the right
to request the Group to further acquire the equity
interests in a non-wholly owned subsidiary that
held by the non-controlling interest owners when
certain conditions are met. The Group initially
recognise a financial liability at the present value
of the estimated future cash outflows under the
put option arrangement, and at the end of each
subsequent period, the Group will review their
estimations. If the Group revises its estimates
of payments, the Group will adjust the carrying
amount of the financial liability to reflect actual
and revised estimated cash outflows and the
adjustments will be recognized in finance cost in
the consolidated income statement.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(e) Impairment of financial assets

The loss allowances for financial assets are based
on assumptions about risk of default and expected
loss rates. The Group uses judgment in making
these assumptions and selecting the inputs to
the impairment calculation, based on the Group's
past history, existing market conditions as well
as forward looking estimates at the end of each
reporting period. Details of the key assumptions
and inputs used are disclosed in the tables in Note
3.1(b).

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group has organised its operations into four main
operating segments:

(1

(2)
3)

(4)

Flavours and fragrances, and food ingredients (“F&F
and Food ingredients”);

Tobacco raw materials;
Aroma raw materials; and

Condiment.

The chief operating decision-makers have been identified
as the executive directors (the “Executive Directors”).
The Executive Directors review the Group's internal
reporting in order to assess performance and allocate
resources. Management has determined the operating
segments based on these reports.
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Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

5.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

The Executive Directors consider the business from the
operation’s perspective and assess the performance of
F&F and Food ingredients, tobacco raw materials, aroma
raw materials and condiment segments.

(1

(2)

3)

(4)

F&F and Food ingredients segment includes research
and development, production and sale of flavours
and fragrances products, and food ingredients.

Tobacco raw materials segment includes research
and development, production and sale of paper-
making reconstituted tobacco leaves and new
materials products that are innovative, functional
and applicable to tobacco industry.

Aroma raw materials segment includes research and
development, manufacture and sale of aroma raw
materials products that are extracted from natural
materials or generated from chemical process.

Condiment segment includes production, sales,
marketing and distribution of condiments.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

5.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(CONTINUED)

e M| RME

(BRRBEREN

5.

The segment information for the year ended 31
December 2023 is presented below:

EXERDBER(E)

B EBEANARETTIIR)

HE2023FE12A3MBILEEZHEE

BEFIT

Year ended 31 December 2023

BEABENANALEE

F&F and Tobacco Aroma

Food raw raw
ingredients ~ materials  materials  Condiment Others Total

EER
RREH BRRR ERR Bl Hit @t
Total revenue @fﬁ%gﬁ 1,484,628 485,751 630,255 754,060 - 3,354,694
Inter-segment revenue PRHEES (20,195) (21,091) (5,569) = = (46,855)
Segment revenue - net PREEE-F8 1,464,433 464,660 624,686 754,060 - 3,307,839
Segment result PEEE 405,526 90,768 (83,412) 116,751 (151,582) 378,051
Finance income FIBMA 84,952
Finance costs BEMK (24,846)
Finance income - net BB -F8 60,106
Share of results of associates WSH 2nak
and jointly controlled entities ARAEHER R 59
Provision for impairment relating ~ REEARKE
to the investment in an associate 2B EEE (22,291)
Profit before income tax R AI A 415,925
Income tax expense FERRX (125,442)
Profit for the year AERRA 290,483
Depreciation e 66,679 57,861 64,112 16,890 5,456 210,998
Amortisation 5 12,367 8,688 9,105 74,793 1,646 106,599
As at 31 December 2023
R20235128318

F&F and Tobacco Aroma

Food raw raw
ingredients ~ materials  materials  Condiment Others Total

EER

AREH ERREH EER Bl Hit @it
Segment assets PHEE 8,214,006 2,137,936 1,450,550 3,325,617 874,002 16,002,111
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EXERDBER(E)

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5.
(CONTINUED)

The segment information for year ended 31 December
2022 is presented below:

HE2022F 12831 BIEFEZ2H A
B25mT -

Year ended 31 December 2022

BEARENANALEE

F&F and Tobacco Aroma

Food raw raw
ingredients ~ materials  materials  Condiment Others Total

EER
RRER ERRH ERR Bl i h
Total revenue el 1,893,883 475,082 929,619 573,069 — 3,871,653
Inter-segment revenue PRHEES (16,547) (20,825) (5,297) — — (42,669)
Segment revenue - net SPELE- 5 1877336 454257 924322 573,069 — 3,828,984
Segment result DEEE 824,095 (237,514) 79,526 (1,116,941) (157,141) (607,975)
Finance income BHBA 71,791
Finance costs BEMK (37,970)
Finance income - net BBWA -5 33,821
Share of results of associates and ~ FE(SEEE AR R
jointly controlled entities RABHEE R (7,056)
Provision for impairment relating ~ RBEDRERE
to the investment in an associate ~ ZREZEE (139,000)
Loss before income tax BiAER (720,210)
Income tax expense FERRX (180,840)
Loss for the year AEEBR (901,050)
Depreciation e 67,075 83,945 58,713 10,595 5,010 225,338
Amortisation 5 9,548 8,645 11,200 74,546 964 104,903
As at 31 December 2022
R20225128318

F&F and Tobacco Aroma

Food raw raw
ingredients ~ materials  materials  Condiment Others Total

EER

ARER ERRH ERR Bl it @t
Segment assets PHEE 8,982,722 2,017,984 1,446,564 3,305,516 866,236 16,619,022
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(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

5.

e M| RME

(BRRBEREN

B EBEANARETTIIR)

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. BXERSBERGE)
(CONTINUED)
Segment result represents the profit before income tax DHEERRERED 2B ATRA -
earned by each segment without inclusion of unallocated ERWREREARPENARARY - &
corporate expenses, finance costs, finance income, share B - BT - IR AR R
of results of associates and jointly controlled entities and FEZEHER s EERBEERAIRE 2R
provision for impairment relating to the investment in an BEREE O BEERFERRIEER
associate. This is the measure reported to chief operating MABBELH o RAMRAETELE AR
decision makers for the purposes of resource allocation EENWH o
and assessment of segment performance.
Segment assets are measured in the same way as SHEERARVBERRERNTES
in financial statements and allocated based on the % WK D E R EARREITHE © B
operations of the segment. Non-current assets other PRITEMELEMGEMEENIN - R
than financial instruments and deferred tax assets of 2023 F & 2022F 12 A31 BASE/IE
the Group as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 are mainly MEBEEFZMNPAE -
located in the PRC.
The Group's revenue is generated from contracts with AEBZWATBHETFHNESRMES
customers and recognized at a point in time. Revenues WHERE R - KEIEBEFHIK
from external customers are derived from the sales to AFERREHETEARS -
customers mainly of whom located in the PRC.
Revenue derived from sales made to the single largest HE2023F12A31HIEFE - KER
external customer for the year ended 31 December BRAINE -—FEFHBAGERERA
2023 amounted to 5% (2022: 7%) of the Group's total 5% (20224 : 7%) B WA REHER
revenue. These revenues are attributable to F&F and REMER D HEER -
Food ingredients segment.
(a) Liabilities related to contracts with customers (a) EEFEEHEBNERS
The Group has recognised the liabilities related to AEECHRRERTFPSHNER A
contracts with customers: S5
As at 31 December
R12A31H
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
Prepayment from customers BPEMAEXR 127,428 76,724
Unrealized sales incentives RERHIEE MR 33,404 39,238
Total contract liabilities BERARE 160,832 115,962

2023 Annual Report 3§

205



Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

5.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

(a)

Liabilities related to contracts with customers
(Continued)

(i)

(i)

(iii)

e M| RME

(BRRBEREN

B EBEANARETTIIR)

5. EXRERIBERGE)

(a) EEFzaREBNEMEE)

Significant changes in contract liabilities (i) BAHEEZEALZE
The Group receives payments from customers AEEZRBEHNOTENTRE
based on billing schedule as established in HERPRWE|IFIA - KIBB
contracts. Payments are usually received in BRE KRR KBTI
advance under the contracts which are mainly B GEEHNETEREHER
from sales of condiments. The increase in Kep - ERBEEMHEER
contract liabilities were mainly attributable to PRl A2 8K am B SE S IE AN o
the increase in condiments business.
Revenue recognised in relation to contract (i) HEE[EEEEEE EZUA
liabilities
Year ended 31 December
BZE12A31BLEE
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 4F
Revenue recognised that EREEFYERAR
was included in the BREAN 2 CHERHWA
contract liabilities balance at
the beginning of the year 88,253 127,854

All contracts are for periods of one year or
less. As permitted under HKFRS 15 “Revenue
from Contracts with Customers”, the
transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied
contracts is not disclosed.

Contract liabilities related to unrealized

MEARMOBRAS —FXHE
1o RIEEE MW E £
FI5RIBFFPEHBAINR
o ABRBRENARNRZS

{B#E

(iii) E2 4 6 B & 16 5 79 & & 3 15

sales incentives are analysed as follows: EXZBHAT :
As at 31 December
R12A31H
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 4
Unrealised sales incentives expected FEERA — &R I K
to be redeemed within one year RAEAIR SH E 12 18,650 19,387
Unrealised sales incentives expected FEEIA — 412 1K)
to be redeemed over one year REIR I E R 14,754 19,851
33,404 39,238
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

e M| RME

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (BREAEEBEEI  FTBBIUARETTIIR)
6. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 6. WX BIERRE
Mature  Immature Furniture,
Plant and bearer bearer Motor fixturesand  Leasehold ~Construction
Note Buildings  machinery plants plants  vehicles ~ equipment improvements in progress Others Total
AN RHRN Gl 48
[iE: B? HERRE fERBD EEREN it REE  BEEE  EEIR i it

At 1 January 2022 RanE1R18
Cost g3 105,678 1,350,802 - - 58,963 239,874 90,072 249,138 2962 3,048,489
Accumulated depreciation githi& (41429 (756,555) - - (4616 (164981)  (22,108) - (183 (1,405923)
Net book amount EH5E 642,382 594,247 - - 12,801 74,893 67,966 249,138 1139 1,642,566
Year ended EYE

31 December 2022 1A ALEE
Net book amount at 1 January MAIBEESE 642382 594,247 - - 12,801 74,893 6796 249,138 1139 1,642,566
Acquisiton of equity interest WE LAZ 2 g

in Shanghai Yifang 1,749 49,135 38,130 84,944 1,5% 1547 20,740 802 - 218,643
Additions g 2819 26,098 an 7321 4,283 28,334 3825 357,751 - 430,808
Transfers £l 54367 120825 - - - 2,142 BA3(200737) - -
Disposals & (3,293 (8,434) - - (1,39 (1,105) (560) - (843) (15,625)
Depreciation it (45263 (100,668) (1,791) - (3,408) (30.410) (19.831) - (296)  (201,667)
Provision for impairment HERE - - - - - - B - B
Currency transltion differences SHhEES (16) (758) - - (6) - 153 - (307)
Net book amount t 31 December M2A3BERFE 672,745 680,445 36,750 92,1 13,836 75,721 95,543 375,333 - 042,644
At 31 December 2022 R2ENR3A
Cost i 112314 153434 38,541 92,11 54,930 256,791 159,963 407,107 2962 3,670,031
Accumulated depreciation SHNERFERR

and impairment (450397)  (853,879) (1.791) - (41,004 (181,070) (64,420) (31.774) (2962)  (1,627387)
Net book amount ERAE 672,745 680,445 36,750 92,1 13,836 75,121 95,543 375,333 - 042,644
Year ended BAnE

31 December 2023 1BNALER
Net book amount at 1 January MAIRERSE 672,45 680,445 36,750 92.M 13,836 75,121 95,543 375,333 - 2,042,604
Additions HE 45,626 452819 - 2,780 2,180 14,495 3,290 306,289 - 420,479
Transfers &y 173,43 94,168 842 (842) - 6,861 10,746 (285,018) - -
Disposals ik (3.239) (7,205) - - (214 (868) (216) - - (11,802)
Depreciation fE (50,721) (93,253) 2817 - (3,180) (17,645) (18,083) - - (185299)
Provision for impairment HERE fi - (47.062) (8,508 (20,787) - - - - (76353)
Currency translation differences ShiERE 1470 2,449 - - 16 109 - - - 4,084
Net book amount at 31 December M2A3NRERFE 839,124 675,361 26,671 7342 12,578 18,673 91,280 396,604 - 2193713
At 31 December 2023 H20235128318
Cost i1 1,339,152 1,586,908 39,383 94,209 55,942 273,108 173,998 428318 2962 3,994,040
Accumulated depreciation BHNERAERE

and impairment (500,028)  (911,547) (12,712) (20,787) (43364)  (194,435) (82,718) (31,774) (2,962)  (1,800,327)
Net book amount ERAE 839,124 675,361 26,671 B340 12,578 18,673 91,280 396,604 - 2193713
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Notes to the Consolidated e B RR M
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (BREAEEBEEI  FTBBIUARETTIIR)
6. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 6. V¥  MBRBRE(E)
(CONTINUED)
Depreciation was recorded in the following categories: WEZRUTOEXH

Year ended 31 December

BZ12H8318LEE

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F

Manufacturing overheads 2iEE A 141,570 156,631

Administrative expenses TRER 43,065 44,258

Selling and marketing expenses HEREERX 664 718

Other non-current assets HinIEms & E = 60

Total depreciation FrERE 185,299 201,667

(i)  The amount represents impairment loss provided (i) WeBEBARLEBZXHCGURIA
for the bearer plants and plant and machinery due BB CGUEERWAME EFEY
to the decrease in revenue and operating profit RIR D T S AR E M E Y A R 2R &
generated from the CGU of Shanghai Yifang and REFHROMBEERLX -
the CGU of Jiangxi Xianghai, respectively.

(i) As at 31 December 2023, buildings with net book (i) M2023F12A318 EEFEA
value of RMB28,661,000 were pledged as collateral AR # 28,661,000 THIEFE K
for the Group’s borrowings (31 December 2022: HAERNEEEZMNIEFRQ022%F
RMB5,996,000). 12A31H : AR¥5,996,0007T) °
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Notes to the Consolidated e B RR M
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (BREAEEBEEI  FTBBIUARETTIIR)
7. LEASE 7. HE
(a) Amounts recognised in the consolidated (a) REEUBERAREINESEHE
statement of financial position
The consolidated statement of financial position FEMBRARBTRUTHEESR
shows the following amounts relating to lease: RS

As at 31 December

®W12H31H
Note 2023 2022
Bt 2023 2022 %
Right-of-use assets: ERAEEE:
Land use rights -+ b {5 AR (i) 330,591 327,497
Properties LS 43,820 58,001
374,411 385,498
Lease liabilities: HESE:
Current mE 16,554 23,480
Non-current FERB 28,365 37,290
44,919 60,770
Additions to the right-of-use assets for the year HZE2023F12A31HILFE  FH
ended 31 December 2023 were RMB37,817,000. EELINTE A ARK37,817,000
ﬁ o
() The Group's interests in right-of-use assets for () AEEELHFEAERRF
land use rights represent prepaid operating AREENERATENNLESE
lease payments and their net book amounts. MEFIERHREFE -
At 31 December 2023, land use rights with net 2023 12H318 K ®E
book value of RMB10,584,000 were pledged HE A AR 10,584,0007T
as collateral for the Group’s borrowings (31 AR HEBERAAE
December 2022: RMB11,666,000). EEREFm - (2022512
HA31H: AR ®11,666,000

L) °

2023 Annual Report % %R 209



Notes to the Consolidated e B RR M
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (BREAEEBEEI  FTBBIUARETTIIR)
7. LEASE (CONTINUED) 7. HEE)
(b) Amounts recognised in the consolidated income (b) RNEEWNEREINSEE
statement

Year ended 31 December
BZE12A31HILEE

Note 2023 2022
B E 2023 F 2022
Depreciation and FREEENITE
amortisation charge of MEHER
right-of-use assets:
Land use rights T fE R 12,583 11,162
Properties LIES 24,080 23,318
36,663 34,480
Interest expense MBS 29 1,550 1,735
Expense relating to REHEHEER
short-term leases 27 30,830 29,669
The total cash outflow for leases for the year ended HE2023F 12 A31HIEFENHEE
31 December 2023 was RMB57,224,000 (2022: Bemb BB /AR 57,224,000
RMB58,394,000). J0(2022 F : AR#58,394,0007T) °
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

8.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

e M| RME

(BRBEREIN - IEELBAUARETTIIR)

BREMW=R

Land and Construction

buildings in progress Total
T RiEF HEEIR WEt
Year ended B2ZF2022F
31 December 2022 12A31HILEE
Net book amount at 1 January 71 A 1 BEEEFE - - -
Additions NE 6,732 21,002 27,734
Depreciation e (413) - (413)
Currency translation differences E¥HRE =% 11 - 1
Net book amount ®12A31H
at 31 December FREVEE 6,330 21,002 27,332
At 31 December 2022 A 2022F12A31H
Cost B AR 6,743 21,002 27,745
Accumulated depreciation ZEE (413) - (413)
Net book amount REFE 6,330 21,002 27,332
Year ended BZ2023F
31 December 2023 12A31BLEE
Net book amount at 1 January 1 A1 HEEE/FE 6,330 21,002 27,332
Additions NE - 788 788
Transfers =5 22,403 (22,403) =
Depreciation e (1,619) - (1,619)
Currency translation differences &E#¥BE =58 268 613 881
Net book amount ®12A31H
at 31 December FREVFE 27,382 — 27,382
At 31 December 2023 7A20234F12H31H
Cost PR AN 29,414 - 29,414
Accumulated depreciation ZEHTE (2,032) = (2,032)
Net book amount EREFE 27,382 = 27,382

Depreciation is included in cost of goods sold in the

consolidated income statement.

REMMEZHESRABREREANK
BRI EEARS ©
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Notes to the Consolidated e B RR M
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (BREAEEBEEI  FTBBIUARETTIIR)
9. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 9. BIEE
Trademarks Non-
and Customer  competition Computer
Goodwill licenses relationships ~ agreement software Patents Total
HE BERFUR EFBR  FHIHE G 4| &t
(a) (b)
At 1 January 2022 R2022€1B818
Cost AR 5,903,875 544,838 787,443 3,085 14,768 64,173 7,318,182
Accumulated amortisation ZHEHRAE
and impairment (825,134) (149,337) (430,832) (3,013) (8,803) (53,756) (1,470,875)
Net book amount FAFE 5,078,741 395,501 356,611 72 5,965 10,417 5,847,307
Year ended BZnE
31 December 2022 12ANALEE
Net book amount at 1 January M ATRRAFE 5,078,741 395,501 356,611 72 5,965 10,417 5,847,307
Acquisition of equity interest Wi L% 2 g
in Shanghai Yifang 49,418 75 15,869 - - 6,900 72,262
Additions RE - 9 - - 5,315 - 5,324
Amortisation B - (23,169) (61,441) - (2,355) (7,498) (94,463)
Impairment AfE (1,507,710) - - - - - (1,507,710)
Net book amount RM2A318
at 31 December FEFE 3,620,449 372,416 311,039 72 8,925 9,819 4,322,720
At 31 December 2022 R20225 12318
Cost KA 5,953,293 544,922 803,312 3,085 20,083 71,073 7,395,768
Accumulated amortisation ZHBHLAE
and impairment (2,332,844) (172,506) (492,273) (3,013) (11,158) (61,254) (3,073,048)
Net book amount BE%E 3,620,449 372,416 311,039 7 8,925 9819 4,322,720
Year ended 82234
31 December 2023 12ANALEE
Net book amount at 1 January MATEERFE 3,620,449 372,416 311,039 72 8,925 9,819 4,322,720
Additions RE - - - - 23,151 2,481 25,632
Amortisation B - (23,172) (61,883) - (4,665) (4,296) (94,016)
Impairment HE (56,502) - (9,850) - - - (66,352)
Net book amount MM2A318
at 31 December BEZE 3,563,947 349,244 239,306 1 27,411 8,004 4,187,984
At 31 December 2023 R2023E12A318
Cost [ 5,953,293 544,922 803,312 3,085 43,234 73,554 7,421,400
Accumulated amortisation ZitEERAE
and impairment (2,389,346) (195,678) (564,006) (3,013) (15,823) (65,550)  (3,233,416)
Net book amount BEFE 3,563,947 349,244 239,306 1] 27,411 8,004 4,187,984
Amortisation is included in cost of goods sold, administrative HMIEBRETHERE  THRERKESE
expenses and selling and marketing expenses. MR ERNA -
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9.

(a)

e M| RME

(BRBEREIN - IEELBAUARETTIIR)

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED) 9. EEEE(E)
Goodwill is mainly attributable to the anticipated (a) EMEXEZHKEFINEHRENMN
profitability of operations, the anticipated future U~ B HR B R PR 4K 17 [R) AN e R 4
operating synergies and enlarged market share. RET IS0 RRE o REBER AR
Goodwill arising from prior year is allocated to the FEELEHECEDBRETHEN
Group's CGUs identified. The goodwill is allocated CGUs > BME 5 B ZCGUs £ 7| A
in CGUs as follows: ™~
As at 31 December 2023 As at 31 December 2022
R2023512A318 120025128318
Reconstituted Reconstituted
Tobacco Tobacco
Flavours Leaves Jiahao Flavours Leaves Jiahao
Subgroup ("RTL") Foodstuff Others (i) Total Subgroup ("R1L") Foodstuff Others Total
BE AEgE ELE it i Bk BREE E530 L) Ehy
Goodwil BE 1,186,344 356,168 1,969,377 52,058 3,563,947 1,186,344 356,168 1,969,377 108,560 3,620,449
() During the year ended 31 December (i) # =2023F12H31H IEF

2023, there are three CGUs with goodwill
impairment included in others, comprising
the CGU of Shanghai Yifang, Yancheng
City Chunzhu Aroma Co., Ltd ("Yancheng
Chunzhu”) and Jiangxi Xianghai Biological
Technology Co.,Ltd ("Jiangxi Xianghai”).

E- B3EBERIEM]H
CGUEBERZERE  BELE
ZEHCGU ~ B mENEREA
PR~ A ([ B8k HFAT 1 )CGU FIT
AHESEMRHEERAR(T
aEE)CGU °
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Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

9.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)
(Continued)

(a)

(i)

(Continued)

Following the ending resurgence of
Novel Coronavirus Pneumonia Pandemic
("Pandemic”) in the PRC in 2022, demanding
for food and beverages increased in 2023,
triggering the increase of Shanghai Yifang's
sale of products. However, even though the
industry has recovered from the previous
winter season, the recovering rate has not
reached management’s previous forecast,
leading to continuing impairment loss in
2023. As at 31 December 2023, management
engaged an independent valuer to conduct
an impairment test on goodwill of CGU of
Shanghai Yifang. In the goodwill impairment
test carried out by the valuer, fair value less
costs to disposal and VIU of the CGU of
Shanghai Yifang was assessed by using market
approach and income approach respectively.
According to the result of the test, VIU was
higher than fair value less costs to disposal
and therefore VIU was adopted to be the
recoverable amount of the CGU of Shanghai
Yifang. Based on the test result, an impairment
of RMB5,578,000 was recognised for the CGU
of Shanghai Yifang for the year ended 31
December 2023, resulted in a reduction in the
carrying amount of the goodwill of Shanghai
Yifang from RMB5,578,000 to zero as at 31
December 2023.
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(BRRBEREN
9.

B EBEANARETTIIR)

BmLEE(HE)

(@) (#&)
(i)

(&)

BEZ 2022 F R B A T AR
EMARBIEBDER
2023F R @ K AR & sk i
n HHLEFEHERBEES
®hne A - BEERENR L
EHERLME  BEFER
B AEINEEBLEANE
Bl BH2023FRMERKLE
BIEE - HLE 202312 A 31
A BEEEREE (AT
FEBZEACGUZEEETH
BRI - SR ETH ERE
AR - D RIAT S A MU S
A E EBZERCGUBA R
BEREEEERMVIU - 1R
BASAGER VIUSRARE
BEREEEEHAENFE )
KABAVIUEA £8Z HCGU
R el & B8 o IR EA B A
R EBEXEHFEZE2023F12
A31HIEFEANCGURERR
& A R #5,578,000T @ &
WMESZAFHER@EAR
2023912 A31B H AR
5,578,000 THZEZ -



Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

9.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)
(Continued)

(a)

(i)

(Continued)

Following the decrease in revenue and
operating profit of Yancheng Chunzhu
and Jiangxi Xianghai due to decline in the
demand, the price drop for aroma raw
material products and the increased tariff,
the profit margins of for aroma raw material
products were squeezed. As a result, the
performance of of Yancheng Chunzhu and
Jiangxi Xianghai, under the Group’'s aroma
raw materials segment, were directly affected.
As at 31 December 2023, management
engaged an independent valuer to conduct an
impairment test respectively on goodwill of
both CGU of Yancheng Chunzhu and Jiangxi
Xianghai. In the goodwill impairment test
carried out by the valuer, fair value less costs
to disposal and VIU of the CGU of Yancheng
Chunzhu and Jiangxi Xianghai was assessed by
using market approach and income approach
respectively. According to the result of the
test, VIU was higher than fair value less costs
to disposal and therefore VIU was adopted
to be the recoverable amount of the CGU
of Yancheng Chunzhu and Jiangxi Xianghai.
Based on the test results, an impairment of
RMB37,420,000 was recognised for the CGU
of Yancheng Chunzhu for the year ended
31 December 2023, and an impairment of
RMB13,504,000 was recognised for the CGU
of Jiangxi Xianghai. As at 31 December 2023,
the impairment losses resulted in a reduction
in the carrying amount of the goodwill of
Yancheng Chunzhu from RMB66,730,000
to RMB29,310,000, and a reduction in the
carrying amount of the goodwill of Jiangxi
Xianghai from RMB13,504,000 to zero,
respectively.

e M| RME

(BRRBEREN
9.

B EBEANARETTIIR)

BmLEE(HE)

(@) (#&)
(i)

(&)

EERETMIAESAE
KT - BRHERERT
pEARBER EASZEEXRER
WAFEEFBETEE  BIR
BEROFEEHEZRER -
EHit - SEFFEREREETH
EIEMAMIAE SRR
RPN EETE - HE2023F
128310 EEEBESTH
Y AHEEE EW A AT A
BBCGUNEE D RIETT
BERAR - FFHMmETHE
BABRI R - 2 B AT 5 A
U & FF A Bk F AT T
AEECGUM AR BERE
BEEEAMVIU - 8158 5 4
R VIUBRAREBEREE
EEAENFE BEHREA
VIUERBERETTIARE
CGUM AT Yz [B] & %8 - 1R 15 A
SAER - HE2023F12 A 31
BIEFE EHEMTHCGU
TR R E A R 37,420,000
JT 0 I B S A CGURE IR
B AR #13,504,0007C ° A
2023412 A31H " @ EE
KEYERETHEREEE
B A K #66,730,000 7T 55 4
= A R #29,310,000 7T T
AESEEFEMEERARE
13,504,000 TR > & AR
=T
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9. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)
(a) (Continued)

e M| RME

(BRRBEREN

B EBEANARETTIIR)

9. EIEEE(E)

(a) (#&

(i)

(Continued)

Other than the CGU of Shanghai Yifang,
Yancheng Chunzhu and Jiangxi Xianghai, as at
31 December 2023, management reassessed
the key assumptions for impairment testing
of goodwill of all CGUs. Based on the
assessment, the Group considered that there
was no additional impairment.

The VIU calculations use pre-tax cash flow
projections based on financial budgets
prepared by management covering a five-year
period. Cash flows beyond the five-year period
are extrapolated using the estimated terminal
growth rates below. The terminal growth
rate does not exceed the long-term average
growth rate for the businesses in which the
CGU operates. The discount rates used are
pre-tax and reflect specific risks relating to
the relevant segments or entities as below.
Management determined budgeted gross
margin based on past performance and their
expectations for the market development. The
key assumptions used for VIU calculations are
as follows:

(i)

As at 31 December 2023
HNBENA3NA
Flavours Jiahao
Subgroup RTL  Foodstuff Others
R BEEE  EERR it

)

(&)

BT EBZETT CGU - B EM
CGURIITIABBCGUIN B
2023%F12A31H - & 12

BRFFEFTA CGUE B 2R
EAAPOERER - REF
- AEERR/LEREIGE
BAE o

VUREREEERRNASF
Hﬂﬁﬂ“ﬁ%ﬁﬁi‘ﬁuﬂ'ZEﬂﬁl bR
//lbiﬁ = E@ﬁﬂaﬁﬁmiﬁi
TMEF AT HTER KEF 1

BE I BRI R
FEBBCGUZEBH HBE

BNRTFHERX - FIAZ
BRIR R R BLAN BE R R I [ R &
BRZLED AR R ZFER
BRI PRI - EEERESB
ENREREEMISERNTE
HIREE BRI EH R - FFEVIU
MRS RERIIRIE

As at 31 December 2022
20025127318
Jiahao

Foodstuff

EEAD

£3Rm it

Flavours
Subgroup R

Forecast growth rate BiiRE

Terminal growth rat KEFERE

Budge ted gross pro f it margin LHETIES
re-tax discount rate nnkRE

-5.0%-~0.0%

L1%~216%  71%-17.7% -5.8%-~51.8%
0.0% 4.0% 30%  0.0%-~3.0%
826% 47.7%~49.2% 51.7%~333% 13.4%-~46.0%
16.3% 20.0% 173%  14.5%~19.0%

-14.0%-0.0%

-6.0%-20.1%
0.0% 3.0%
82.6% 51.9%-54.9%
14.6% 19.0%

1.8%-22.7%
30%
53.7%-55.6%
15.9%

-11.2%-824%

0.0%-3.0%
13.4%-~44.9%
15.0%-~19.8%
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Notes to the Consolidated
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(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

9.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

(a)

(Continued)

(i)

(Continued)

The recoverable amounts and the headrooms
available (the excess of the recoverable
amounts over the carrying amounts) of the
CGU of Flavours Subgroup, CGU of RTL and

e M| RME

(BREAEEBEEI  FTBBIUARETTIIR)
9. EIEEE(E)
(@) (#&)
i (&)

EREBHCGU - BEEER
CGUMBEERmMMCGU 2T
U 2] & &8 & AR 28 [ (AT Uk
OEeREEARAMEIDD) IR

CGU of Jiahao Foodstuff are as follows: wnR
As at 31 December 2023 As at 31 December 2022
R2023F12A31H 2022512318
Flavours Jiahao Flavours Jiahao
Subgroup RTL  Foodstuff  Subgroup RTL Foodstuff
&R BEEE ERRR XL BEEE REEM
Recoverable amount pEEka 5,689,407 1,049,362 3,317,437 8,643,717 910,991 3,065,913
Headroom TREZH 1,282,007 135,373 297,424 3,564,620 - -
As at 31 December 2023, analysis has been R2023F12HA31H » KEE
performed by the management of the Group EREE R CGURMBEERER
on the reasonably possible changes in each of AR S TEBABREINAER
the key assumptions, with all other variables SE(EMAHMEHERET
held constant, of goodwill impairment tests BHBERT)ETHN - BIE
of the CGUs. Based on the results of the DITESR - BREENEGIER
analysis, reasonably possible changes in the REEBHWARENRSELEN
key assumptions would not cause the CGUs’ FREEEAETKEEE -
carrying amount to exceed their recoverable
amount.
As at 31 December 2023 As at 31 December 2022
HNBENANA RUNENFNE
Flavours Subgroup fIL Jiahao Foodstuff Flavours Subgroup R Jiahao Foodstuft
B AERE LEEE 1 EcH BRRm
From To From To from To from To from To From To
] z B z ] Z ] Z ] i B -
Forecast growth rate BirdRe S0%-00% -308%-258%  20%-216%  5.9%-196%  TA%TT%  1.2%-118%  -14.0%-00% -107.0%~1218% NA NA A A
Temingl growth rate NA NA L0% 18% 30% 1% NA A NA NA A NA
Budgeted gross profit margin % 82.6% 60.2% 477%-49.2% 4A0%-455%  517%~533%  48.7%-50.3% 82.6% 385% NA NA A A
Pre-tax discount rate eSS 163% 300% 20.0% B.9% 173% 205% 146% £5.6% NA NA A A
(b) Trademarks mainly represent Peacock, Xinghu, by MEXZEIE 2H MEWL

Samshiang, Chunzhu, Jinba, Jiahao, Zhanwang,

Jinchan, and Sanfan trademarks.

. N
B EEX -2

EEM B
. =EEE -
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(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (BREAEEBEEI  FTBBIUARETTIIR)

10. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES 10. REBFE QAR ZRE
As at 31 December 2023, the Group has interests in MR2023F12A31H "EE B )\ @E
eight individually immaterial associates (31 December (2022F 128318 : +@)WIHMEFE
2022: ten). The following table analyses the movements AREERNA AR TR AE
of the carrying amount of the Group’s investments ERzSHme  nRECEHEZEH K
in these associates and its share of results of these HEMZERERRINES -
associates.
An analysis of the movements of equity investments in REE RN ERIREEFOTOT

associates is as follows:

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLLEE

2023 2022

2023 2022 %

At the beginning of the year F9 691,748 806,407
Acquisition of equity interest AR i)”mift B R

in Shenzhen Ruili Technology BRAQ

Co., Ltd. (“Shenzhen Ruili") (ﬁﬁ?ﬁﬂ”ﬁ%@nz%ﬁé - 4,000
Increase investment in Hunan HE N E = maREHE

Jiapinjiawei Technology EREBARAA

Development Group Co., Ltd. ([HrEEmeEikl)

("Hunan Jiapinjiawei”) - 5,200
Provision for impairment relating & & 87N A48 BHE

to the investment in Junjieshang  BRE A A ([EEAR )

Network Technology Co., Ltd. 2 REEE

("Junjieshang”) (i) (22,291) (139,000)
Transferred to financial assets BHEEUAAEETE

at FVOClI BEEFHFTAHMEE

WamremEE (i) (179,391) -
Disposal of Yunnan Ruisheng HE EEn A EE R

Tobacco Technology Group (RE)BERAQF]

Co., Ltd. ("Yunnan Ruisheng”) ([EERAL (ii) (48,771) -
Disposal of Shenzhen Ruili HERYIHE (3,100) -
Share of results of associates R N (2,269) (7,156)
Dividends received B RS (4,548) (5,110)
Transferred from a subsidiary EELRNEMNGIEEYN (iii) 779 -
Dilution of investment KB ENT 2 RIEWHE

in an associate - 25,755
Exchange difference EHER 285 1,652
At the end of the year FR 432,442 691,748

218 Huabao International Holdings Limited #8 EIE % A R A 7



Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

following associates:

10. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)
As at 31 December 2023, the Group had interests in the

e M| RME

(BRBEREIN - IEELBAUARETTIIR)

10. REEZE QT2 RE(E)
M2023F 12 A31H » KEB R A TE
ENREAEL

% of
Place of ownership
Name incorporation Interests Principal activities
£5B HEMALEE isEEEIE TEXR
Guizhou Huangguoshu Golden Leaf PRC 40.00% Produce and sell RTL
Technology Co., Ltd. H EEMEERERE
("Huangguoshu Golden Leaf”)
EMNERECERMBERAA]
([BEREEE])
Yunnan Hongta Blue Eagle Paper PRC 25.10% Manufacture and sales of
Co., Ltd. ("Hongta Blue Eagle”) A cigarette paper and auxiliary
EHAEEEREESR AT products
([AIBEE ) GEMEEBERENREE M
Yunnan Nongken Gaoyuan PRC 30.00% Purchase and sale of agricultural
Food Co., Ltd. i products, coffee and tea raw
EHEERRREMBRAF materials
REBLIHE REEM - YR
R
Xiamen Fengtao Ceramics PRC 13.04% Manufacture special ceramic
Co., Ltd. A Y products, special machinery
EFREWMEABR AR for water resources and special
equipment for environmental
protection
AERERERD  KEREM
W SRR E R R B
Broad Far (Hong Kong) Limited Hong Kong 21.06% Research and development,
and its subsidiaries A production and sales of heat-
(“Broad Far Group") not-burn tobacco products
BE(EB)BRAFLEK B QR EE - EEMEE MR REE
([MEEEE]) BEEm
Yingtan Dongwu Technology PRC 35.00% Produce and sell household
Co., Ltd ("Yingtan Dongwu”) H chemical products
EBERBHRERAEELNA HENHERRLEEM
(IEERZE]
Hunan Jiapinjiawei PRC 40.57% Research, develop, produce and
W EmER H sell health food and biological
products
- AEMHEEREREMRE
Y&
PT.SPV International Indonesia Indonesia 40.00% Production of tobacco raw-
("PT SPV") (iii) EEEfs material

PT.SPV International Indonesia
(TPT SPV I )iii)

FEZERIRE
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10. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

The associates are private entities and no quoted price is
available.

11.

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Both external and internal sources of information
of associates are considered in assessing whether
there is any indication that the investment may
be impaired, including but not limited to financial
position, business performance and market
capitalization. The Group carries out impairment
assessment on those investments with impairment
indications, and the respective recoverable amounts
of investments are determined with reference to
the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and
VIU.

On 30 April 2023, the Group lost significant
influence over Junjieshang. The Group carried
out a fair value assessment of the investment in
Junjieshang and an impairment of investment
of RMB22,291,000 was recognised in respect of
the difference between the fair value and the
carrying amount of the investment in Junjieshang.
The fair value of the investment in Junjieshang of
RMB179,391,000 was designated to “Financial
assets at FVOCI".

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the
Group disposed the shares of Yunnan Ruisheng due
to the business development.

In August 2023, the Group disposed 60% shares
of PT SPV, which caused the Group losing control
and maintaining significant influence over PT SPV.
The carrying amount of the investment in PT SPV
of RMB779,000 was transferred to “investment in
associates”, remaining 40% shares.

INVESTMENTS IN JOINTLY CONTROLLED
ENTITIES

The Group has interests in two immaterial joint ventures
as at 31 December 2023 (31 December 2022: two). The
following table analyses the movement of the carrying
amount of the Group’s investments in these jointly
controlled entities, and its share of results of these
jointly controlled entities.

Huabao International Holdings Limited ¥ ¥ BB} 2% A R A 7

e M| RME

(BRRBEREN

B EBEANARETTIIR)

10. REFEQ T 2RE (F)

11.

HEBERTRLAELE
5EE -

i) MNAEREZGLHERMETRE -
Bt & R AR AT SMNEB AT A BE B 2R
BHUEWERE  BRENRREE
NREIMFHERR  EHRRMT
B AKEHBERETRNITEE
TTRERE - MAKENIRESRE
D2ERREEBRLEKRAEVIU

MR2023F4 308 » REHEKY
BRENERNTES - XEEEER
HEISEEITA S EENE - W
RHFERN AR EERREE B
ZBERT AR 22,291,000 TH
LERE - BARRIRENAAEEBA
R # 179,391,000 T4 &2 8 = IA
AREEAEEEEH AL E
WmmhEmEE] -

(i) M2023F12 A31BIEFEHRE -
AEBRERERMEEEE R A
2 RRHE o

(i) 7N %= BN 2023FE8 A H EPT SPV
60% MR HE - BRAREEELEPT
SPVHIIEHIEW HIZERTEN -
T2 40% ¥ PT SPVHI R ER E K
R EEAR779,000T8E A
[REtERRZIRE ] -

RAREFIERZIRE

MN2023F 12 A31H ANEB P E
(2022912 A31H : WE) WM&
A ERZEH ERER#EZD - TR
AEERZERRZEHEENRE 2K
HEZHLEEGEZSHERAEHER
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(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

11.

INVESTMENTS IN JOINTLY CONTROLLED

ENTITIES (CONTINUED)

An analysis of the movements of equity investments in
jointly controlled entities is as follows:

e M| RME

(BRRBEREN
11.

FiA 2 EANARETFTIIR)
RAREZEHERZRE (&)

JiSPES H% HIE B AR

/

''''''' B85 17 40

7|

Year ended 31 December

BZ128318LLEE

2023 2022

2023 F 2022 4

At the beginning of the year F4 19,802 202,831
Transfer to investments in subsidiaries S EIGZE R M HlEE

upon gaining control over HAHMBARZIE

Shanghai Yifang - (183,129)

Share of results of jointly controlled entities fE{GLRIIEHI ERE 24 2,328 100

At the end of the year FXR 22,130 19,802

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had interests in the

following jointly controlled entities:

M2023F 12 A31H » REEBRNA TR
RIEHI B E AR

% of
Place of ownership
Name incorporation Interests Principal activities
=1 HEMARIE FrisERAEO FEXER
Wuxi Jintou Huikai Emerging PRC 40.00% Equity investment, investment
Industry Venture Capital Fund i management, asset management
Partnership (Limited Partnership) and other activities
EHSRERFTEEXAZE RiERE REEEREEER
REEGERLE(ARER) )
Shanghai Miou Food Technology PRC 20.00% Purchase and sale of agricultural
Co., Ltd (“Shanghai Miou") AR products.

FEREBRARARAR
(I EBXB])

REMHEEREM

The above entities are accounted for as jointly controlled
entities of the Group, whereby the Group and the
counterparty have joint control and rights to the net
assets of the arrangement, pursuant to Article of

Association.

The jointly controlled entities are private entities and no

quoted price is available.

RB(ARIER) LT BIEALNEE
MARZHERAR ASEEX5Y

FHZREWFEELB KRZEFIER -

EXREHEEALATE  TEQ
T IZHRE o
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e M| RME

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (BREAEEBEEI  FTBBIUARETTIIR)
12. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 12. TREEDSE
As at 31 December
®12H31H
Note 2023 2022
M 5 2023 F 2022 4
Financial assets ERMEE
At amortised cost DR AT E
Trade and other receivables B 5 PR N H A e IR
(excluding non-financial assets) (TEiEEEmEE) 890,265 1,179,751
Cash and bank balances He MIRITER 18 2,539,493 4,747,978
At fair value DNAREBEFE
Financial assets at FVOCI NAnEBEFEREE
BB AEMEE
WS EE 13 33,546 65,800
Financial assets at FVPL UWAnEEFEAE
BH) T ABEH
TREE 17 4,059,847 1,890,671
7,523,151 7,884,200
Financial liabilities cREE
At amortised cost DU R AT 2
Trade and other payables B 5 & E AR IR
(excluding non-financial liabilities) (TeiEEemaE) 439,133 527,407
Borrowings B 24 455,250 677,700
Lease liabilities HEas 7 44,919 60,770
Financial liability for NCI FEVE G MR = FROh
put option HiEsemAas 23 147,656 131,836
1,086,958 1,397,713
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Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (BREAEEBEEI  FTBBIUARETTIIR)
13. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 13. UAAEEHEBEHSBH T AHM
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME PHBHEZEHEE
(a) Classification of financial assets at FVOCI (@) UrArnEETTEEHEHTAH
tHEEHRENEREENSE
Financial assets at FVOCI comprise: WARnBEFEBEESFTAHEM

FHRENEREEERRE

*  Equity investments which are not held for s TRIRXFHMIBFBHIRERE  MA
trading, and which the Group has irrevocably & BT V1A E SR I B 1 0] 13 H
elected at initial recognition to recognise in BISERRAZER -

this category.

e Debt investments where the contractual cash e EHRREREEALAENAE AR
flows are solely principal and interest and the BERERRERENEESHE
objective of the group’s business model is EXRBEREEEKEXBENER
achieved both by collecting contractual cash wE o

flows and selling financial assets.

Financial assets at FVOCI include: UAREBEFZEEEEHH T AEM
PHEHNGZZEMEERTE :

As at 31 December

®12A31H
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 4
Non-current assets: FREBEE :
Unlisted equity investments REIREIE LRI E
in the PRC 10,378 16,006
Current assets: REBEE .
Debt securities (i) BB ES() 23,168 49,794
Total @zt 33,546 65,800
(i) Debt securities are notes receivable which (i) EFEHFe—EAKRRAERR
held within a business model whose objective ERENHEEREERE N
is achieved by both collecting contractual cash EBEXTHANRKER -

flows and selling financial assets.
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13. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(CONTINUED)

(b) Amounts recognised in other comprehensive
income

e M| RME

(BRBEREIN - IEELBAUARETTIIR)

13. LAREBEFTEBEHESHTAEM
PHKEzZERMEE(F)

(b) Eft2HEWEHEINEE

Year ended 31 December
BZ12B31HILEE

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 %F
Losses recognised in other R HE A 2 s R R A
comprehensive income: (R
— Related to equity investments —HEERKR AR (185,019) (1,862)

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the
losses recognised in other comprehensive income
mainly represent the losses in investment on
Junjieshang. Considering that the actual advertising
orders is much lower than the forecast based
on the framework contract signed in prior year,
Junjieshang is confronted with huge challenges
in developing its existing business and expanding
its new business in the face of weakening
downstream markets. Based on the the assessment
results, the Group recognised fair value loss of
RMB177,260,000 in other comprehensive income,
with the fair value of RMB2,131,000 at the end of
the year.

(c) Fair value, impairment and risk exposure

Information about the methods and assumptions
used in determining fair value is provided in Note
3.3.

The fair value measurements of financial assets

at FVOCI are categorised within level 3 of the fair
value hierarchy and are denominated in RMB.

Huabao International Holdings Limited #8 EIE % A R A 7

HZE2023F12A31BEEE &
HihzemB ST ERANBRAETES
HENSNKERK - EEIER
EEFERENBELELFERTN
EREXTER  BANESE THM
LR ERAEEBNERTE
HEBRERKE - REBEFHER
AREBEEMEARFZIPERLD
BEEKRARE177,260,0007T
FRALEEASAREE 2,131,000

ﬁo

(o) 2AREE BREREREERE
MiE3.3R K T ARMEEAAEE
PE R T AMRERAER

RAREBEFELEZEFHTARLM
rEbEZEREENAAREER
EBRAREBEEBANE = A
AANRBEEHE -



Notes to the Consolidated e B RR M
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (BREAEEBEEI  FTBBIUARETTIIR)

14. DEFERRED INCOME TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES 14. EEFIEHEE AfF

The movements in the deferred income tax are as BEIEMBHRESHIT -
follows:
Deferred income tax assets Deferred income tax liabilities
BEMERER BEFEHER
Withholding
income tax
on dividends
Unrealised Valuation  expected to
profits surplus of  be remitted
arising assetsand  from group
from recognition entities
inter-group  Recoverable of intangible incorporated
sales tax loss Others Total assets i the PRC Others Total
SEARLR
S8R hEERH
LAMBE AREH
FEEH BETM ELNRS
S8R BHREY FEEZ
AERER TREER 2 Bt BENRR RRFSH 2t @it
At 1 January 2022 R202%E1518 83,484 50,260 40,425 174,169 136,558 12,892 6,627 156,077
Acquisition of equity interest WELBZT < g
in Shanghai Yifang - 2,803 645 3,448 13,054 - - 13,054
Disposal of Xinjiang Huabao REHNEEE - - (509) (509) - - - -
Recognised in the income statement  INMERRIEH 774 (2,874) 2,187 87 (9930) (12,89 4,009 (18,813)
Recognised in other REBZENETER
comprehensive income - - 279 279 - - - -
Total @t 84,258 50,189 43,027 177,474 139,682 - 10,636 150,318
Set-off of deferred income tax BEEZERFHER
assets/liabiltes BE/8f (24,950) (24,950)
At 31 December 2022 R202%12A8318 152,524 125,368
At 1 January 2023 R2023E15818 84,258 50,189 43,027 171,474 139,682 - 10,636 150,318
Recognised in the income statement REERED 8,938 2.1 10,971 41,180 (21,554) 15,000 (4,565) (11,119
Recognised in other REMZERETER
comprehensive income - - 1,164 1,164 - - - -
Total @ 93,196 71,460 55,162 219,818 118,128 15,000 6,071 139,199
Set-off of deferred income tax BEEEERER
assets/labilites EE/8E (14,239) (14,239)
At 31 December 2023 R2023512531H 205,579 124,960
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14. DEFERRED INCOME TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES

15.

(CONTINUED)

As at 31 December 2023, deferred income tax
liabilities of RMB298,827,000 (31 December 2022:
RMB226,563,000) have not been recognised for
the withholding tax that would otherwise be
payable on the undistributed profits amounting to
approximately RMB4,930,220,000 (31 December 2022:
RMB4,525,522,000) retained by certain subsidiaries, as
the management expects it is probable that such amount
of profit will not be distributed in the foreseeable future.

e M| RME

(BRRBEREN

B EBEANARETTIIR)

14. EEFREHEE BE(E)

MR2023F12A831H & & B I &k 5
ETHBRARIZADRANH ARE
4,930,220,0007c(20229F 12 A 318 :
A R #4,525,522,0007C ) 8 X it #Y 78
RASRERREEMSHAGBEARE
298,827,0007T(20224F 12 A31H : A
R 226,563,00070) r AEEEFET %
ERNEATERHRRBEAIETSHAE -

INVENTORIES 15. &
As at 31 December
M12H831H
2023 2022
2023 2022 4
Raw materials - at cost JRAM B — 1A AR 460,528 419,976
Raw materials - at NRV R R — 1% 0] # I8 5E 192,710 206,848
Work in progress - at cost R — LR 80,569 88,851
Finished goods - at cost RIFY o — H A AR 134,179 162,854
Finished goods - at NRV BIpk o — R B FE 126,606 141,494
994,592 1,020,023

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the cost
of inventories recognised as expense and included
in cost of goods sold and administrative expenses
amounted to approximately RMB1,287,000,000 (2022:
RMB1,451,284,000).

As at 31 December 2023, the Group recognised provision
for impairment of approximately RMB4,386,000 in
respect of the losses on obsolete inventories (31
December 2022: RMB4,312,000).

Huabao International Holdings Limited ¥ ¥ BB} 2% A R A 7

HE2023F12A31BIEFEEZHFEK
AERBERYFABEXRARARITRE
BMEEH A ARK1,287,000,0007T
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(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (BREAEEBEEI  FTBBIUARETTIIR)
16. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 16. EZ R HMEWKIE
As at 31 December
®12H31H
Note 2023 2022
Bt 2023 F 2022 4
Trade receivables B S WA (a) 739,537 1,038,189
Less: provision for impairment of B B 5 EBGRIR
trade receivables B 3.1 (b) (66,095) (27,704)
Trade receivables - net E 5 EWGRIE — F 5 673,442 1,010,485
Notes receivable JE Uk ZE 1 46,182 27,574
Prepayments and other receivables — F&{ 3038 & E {th jiE Ug 5008 212,025 228,234
Advances to staff BI#% 2,469 2,532
Others HAth 2,412 1,318
Less: provision for impairment of B E A FEMGRIE
other receivables B B 3.1 (b) (5,748) (27,965)
930,782 1,242,178
(a) The credit period generally granted to customers (a) BTEFWEEH—MKRA0ZE180
ranges from 0 to 180 days. As at 31 December H e R2023%F Kk2022F12 A 31
2023 and 2022, the ageing analysis of the trade H BHRKFBE(BEBESH
receivables (including amounts due from related HoRKFB)BBEEZHAHOE
parties which are trade in nature) based on invoice RO

dates were as follows:

As at 31 December

M®12A31H
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 4
0-1year 0E 14 625,220 936,796
1 -2 years 1225 16,580 68,068
2 - 3 years 2E3F 64,924 28,592
Over 3 years 3FE 32,813 4,733
739,537 1,038,189
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16. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(CONTINUED)

(a) (Continued)

The carrying amounts of the Group's trade
receivables are denominated in the following

e MR M EE
(B BHEEES - FALEOIARBTIIIR)
16. E5 R HEMEYRKE(E)

(a) (&)

AEBENE ZRUGKHREEIL T
S B BELL

currencies:
As at 31 December
M12H31H
2023 2022
2023 & 2022 4
RMB AREE 663,811 971,811
usD ETT 57,296 61,112
IDR e & 15,434 3,130
Others Hith 2,996 2,136
739,537 1,038,189

17. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS

(a) Classification of financial assets at FVPL

The Group classifies the following financial assets
at FVPL:

e debt instruments that do not qualify for
measurement at either amortised cost or
FVOCI, and

e equity instruments that are held for trading

228 Huabao International Holdings Limited #8 EIE % A R A 7
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17. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS (CONTINUED)

(a) Classification of financial assets at FVPL

e M| RME

(BRERBEEIN  FESEHUARETTIIR)
17. LA REBEFEBHEHTAER
ZEMEE(HE)
(a) BAREBESTEBEESET AR

(Continued) ENEREESE(E)
Financial assets at FVPL include: UAREBEEFZEEEHT AER
ZJEMEERE
As at 31 December
®12H831H
Note 2023 2022
B 5 2023 F 20224
Non-current assets: ERBEE :
Unlisted equity investments RIELEMERIRE 155,846 189,568
Contingent consideration B EEWEE (i) 34,290 63,490
190,136 253,058
Current assets: REEE -
Listed equity investments FHEREE 21,963 43,298
Wealth management products HEEIRED (ii) 3,847,748 1,594,315
3,869,711 1,637,613
Total et 4,059,847 1,890,671

(i)

The contingent consideration receivable by
the Group is contingent upon the future
financial performance of Shanghai Yifang and
the fair value of the contingent consideration
is nil at the acquisition date and subsequent
change of the fair value is recognised in
“other income and other gains - net”. As
at 31 December 2023, the fair value of the
contingent consideration is RMB34,290,000
(2022: RMB63,490,000). The fair value was
estimated based on the value of probable
future cash inflow extending beyond one year
of the business combination and applying
an appropriate discount rate to arrive at the
present value, taking into account the credit
risk.

The wealth management products were placed
in banks in the PRC for cash management
purposes and with expected rate of return
ranging from 1.00% to 9.55% (2022: 1.00%
to 4.71%) per annum.

() AEEREUNSEEEME
BURK E/BZEH KK
X BZKBEEFER
BEHNAREBEAZT A
REEMNEREBEEEHTAIEAM
WAREMKZE - F5E] - B
20234128318 &k B ¥
BHENAABEAARE
34,290,00070(20224F : AR
63,490,0007T) - AAEEE
BECEAHF—FA LR
ARBERANEE  TERE
ERRR  KABEEOFEEX
SR ERGETH -

iy BEHERTFTHRRHB HIRIT
ARBEeEEBEN B
Bl ENFETF1.00%E
9.55% (2022 %F : 1.00% &
4.71%) °
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

(BRRBEREN

17. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH

PROFIT OR LOSS (CONTINUED)

17. XA
2%

e M| RME

B EBEANARETTIIR)

REEFEEHESBHTARR
BMEE (&)

(b) Amounts recognised in profit or loss (b) REZRAZEH
During the year, the following (losses)/gains were RER - RIBZBERZ(EB), /I
recognised in profit or loss: maR
Year ended 31 December
BZE12A31HLEE
Note 2023 2022
k3 2023 F 2022 4
Fair value (losses)/gains on RE AU A R H At
equity instruments recognised Wz — FREERZ
at FVPL in other income EmTAEMNARER
and other gains - net (E18), W (21,824) 3,957
Fair value gains on R E AU A R HoAth
debt instruments recognised s — SRR
at FVPL in other income EBEETAERN
and other gains - net AAEEKES 42,214 38,605
Fair value (losses)/gains on REMUA KEAM
contingent consideration ek — FEEER
recognised in other income RAFEME
and other gains - net ~AEE
(B18), W (29,200) 63,490
26 (8,810) 106,052
(c) Risk exposure () FERBEEZ

Information about the Group’s exposure to credit

risk is disclosed in Note 3.1.

For information about

the methods and assumptions used in determining

fair value see Note 3.3.

Huabao International Holdings Limited #8 EIE % A R A 7
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Notes to the Consolidated e B RR M
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (BREAEEBEEI  FTBBIUARETTIIR)
18. CASH AND BANK BALANCES 18. BERMBITHEXK
As at 31 December
®12H31H
Note 2023 2022
M 5 2023 F 2022 4
Cash and bank balances He MIRITER (@) 2,539,493 4,747,978
Less: Restricted bank balances B ZERAERITER (b) (62,705) (79,503)
Short-term deposit HETER (c) (95,760) -
Cash and cash equivalents BehBEEEY 2,381,028 4,668,475
(a) Cash and bank balances are denominated in the (a) R NMBITFEHRUATHEE LT
following currencies: N

As at 31 December

M®12A31H
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 4
RMB AR 1,668,765 3,963,834
usDb ETT 630,044 273,165
HKD T 200,275 496,464
Others HAh 40,409 14,515
2,539,493 4,747,978
(b) As at 31 December 2023, restricted bank balances (b) H2023%12A31H  XEHERTT
represented security deposits. FERBRESR °
(c) As at 31 December 2023, short-term deposit () M2023F12A318 BHERA
represented the bank deposit over three months. EFZR=EAMRITER
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

19.

e M| RME

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (BREAEEBEEI  FTBBIUARETTIIR)
SHARE CAPITAL 19. A
Share capital
Number of ['&
shares RMB’000
R EE AR¥ Tt
Ordinary shares, issued and fully paid: TR BEETRER :
At 31 December 2022, M2022%F12A31H -
1 January 2023 and 2023F 1 A1HR
31 December 2023 202312 A31H 3,229,926,876 328,619
SHARE-BASED PAYMENT 20. ROAREBRNZN

20.

On 1 December 2020, shares of Guangdong Jiahao, a
subsidiary of the Group, were granted to 80 eligible
employees (the “Grantees”) of Guangdong Jiahao and
its subsidiary (the “Employee Share Plan”). Four limited
partnerships controlled by the Group were incorporated
in the PRC under the Partnership Enterprise Law of
the People’s Republic of China as a vehicle to hold the
ordinary shares for the Grantees under the Employee
Share Plan. Under this plan, approximately 1.98%
equity interest in Guangdong Jiahao was granted to
the Grantees through their interests in the four limited
partnerships with consideration of approximately
RMB46,496,000 and will be vested if certain services
conditions are met.

As certain Grantees ceased the employment with
Guangdong Jiahao, the corresponding 0.28% of the
equity interests were repurchased by the general
partner of the vehicle at a consideration of the price
that the employees initially purchased. On 13 January
2023, Guangdong Jiahao redistributed 0.22% of the
equity interests to 29 Grantees with consideration of
approximately RMB6,201,083. After that, Guangdong
Jiahao has granted a total of approximately 1.92%
equity interests under this plan.

The amounts of share-based compensation recognised
as expenses with a corresponding credit to reserves of
the Group during the year ended 31 December 2023 was
RMB4,103,000 (2022: RMB3,713,000).

Huabao International Holdings Limited ¥ ¥ BB} 2% A R A 7

R2020F 12 A1 8 BREx © AEE
ZHBRR BRTFSOBRERESZKREN
BARKMNEGEREE(IHETADER
2RO ([EBRETE]) - BIB(E
BREFE)  NRAAREBEIEH IR
BCREARAMBABOELI)ETH
AR ERAEELE  EAWRK
FAFBEERBROFRFES - BIEZAT
2 HETABBETNREREED
E¥NEFERTH18%EREZZH
- REH A AR 46,496,000 : 1M
AEHE S 2 55 B D R m B T L AR AS 51 -

HMRBAIWEETFATEBZENERS
= MHEMO0.28% RIEREBE B AR
BETIZVIEBEMNERERE- - K2023
F1HA13B BEREEHM D294
WHERTAN02% i RENBARE
6,201,083 7T ° h18 * ERE=E KA
B2 R THI1.92% HIBLHE o

HZE2023F12A31HILFE  K&EE
BN AEROMSERAY LY - I
AR AREZ B A AR 4,103,000
J0(2022 F + AR¥3,713,0007T) °



Notes to the Consolidated

Financial Statements

e M| RME

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (BREAEEBEEI  FTBBIUARETTIIR)
21. RESERVES 21. ##E
Capital ~ Share-based  Currency
Contributed Merger Share Capital ~ redemption compensation translation  Statutory Other
Note surplus reserve  premium reserve reserve reserve reserve Reserve reserves Total
DU
i EEEE AR ROEE  EABE EAEEEE  OMORE EMAERE  iEEE  EbER it
At 1 January 2022 RUNE1F18 296,853 (628,438) 2,183,766 2411 4,760 6,283 92,638 821,508 1,607,738 4,387,519
Fairvalue changes on financial -~ AL BEHEAE
asets at FUOC, net of tax B9 ip2E
hazeEE
bliik%)
IvEE) ] - - - - - - - - (1,563) (1,563
Appropriations from net pofit - EEEFIA 2 - - - - - - - 2158 - 21503
Share-based payment o)
~Value of employee senvices ~ ~EEFRBEE 0 - - - - - 3713 - - - 3713
Acquisitions of additional equity A B fER
interests in non wholly-owned WEFLENELT
subsidiaries from LESNRE
non-controlling interests - - - - - - - - (27,566) (27,566)
Additionalinvestment inanon ~ ESNEER HBES
wholly-owned subsidiary LERENELT
of Shangha Yifang - - - - - - - - (6,530) (6,530)
Put option iabilty arsing fron - ERAREEL
business combination DhEREE - - - - - - - - (119,887) (119,887)
Dilution of investment AEERIIRE
inan associte HRERE - - - - - - - - 25,75 05755
Currency transltion differences SEHEZE - - - - - - 97,516 - - 97,51
At 31 December 2022 R2%128318 296,853 (628.438) 2,183,766 2411 4760 9,9% 190,154 843,031 1471927 4,380,460
At 1 January 2023 RABE1R1A 296,853 (628,438) 2,183,766 2,41 4,760 9,996 190,154 843,031 1477921 4,380,460
Fairvalue changes on finandal ~ JL2 /B3 E
assetsat FIOC netoftax -~ BEEEHALR
NG SHAE
bli3i%)
RrEED (8) - - - - - - - - (183855) (183855
Aporopriations from net profit A F B 0 - - - - - - - 19419 - 19,419
Share-based payment O
~Value of employee senvices ~ ~EEFRBEE 20 s - - - - 4,103 - - - 4,103
Currency transltion differences  SEHEZE - 5 - - - - 2803 - - 2803
At 31 December 2023 RABENA3NA 296,853 (628,438) 2,183,766 241 4,760 14,09 218,186 862,450 1,294,072 4,248,159
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Notes to the Consolidated e R

Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (BREAEEBEEI  FTBBIUARETTIIR)

21. RESERVES (CONTINUED) 21. f#fk

(@) For the year ended 31 December 2023, the (a)
fair value loss of RMB183,855,000 on financial
assets at FVOCI were recognised in other
comprehensive income, net of tax (2022: fair value
loss of RMB1,583,000), of which RMB1,164,000
(2022: RMB279,000) was recognised in other
comprehensive income as deferred tax (Note 14).

(b) Contributed surplus of the Company represents (b)
(i) the difference between the consolidated
shareholders’ funds of the subsidiaries at the date
on which the corporate reorganisation became
effective and the nominal amount of the Company’s
shares issued under the reorganisation; (ii) the
transfer of credit balance from share premium
pursuant to the capital reorganisation in 2006 and
relevant laws and regulations in Bermuda.

(&)

H Z®2023F12A8318 I+ F -
NARBEFEEHEZSH T AEM
TEHRECEREECANEREE
(Wi )&% A AR% 183,855,000
TL(2022F : AREEBBARE
1,583,0007T) * EFRREMEEY
WIERARE1,164,000 7T A IE T
FHIE(20224F + AR®279,0007T)
(FtzE14) »

RRABZEHMABIB()VEBERZ
A BRARZZAalRRESHEMR
BAAREBETROMIBEZZEZR
(iVE2006 FIRBEAREHR B R
EREERERARDEEE AN
BHHEE -

22. RETAINED EARNINGS 22. REBEF
Year ended 31 December
BZ12A8318L
Note 2023 2022
B aE 2023 & 20224
At the beginning of the year F14 7,941,787 9,168,518
Profit/(loss) for the year FERF,(E8) 233,633 (1,054,547)
Appropriations from net profit B AR B AT 21 (19,419) (21,523)
Special dividends for the year BZE 2022412 A31H
ended 31 December 2022 IEFEZFRIRE 32 (148,866) -
Interim dividends for the HZE2023F6 A30H
six months ended 30 June 2023 LE7ME A 2 BARR 2 32 (47,306) -
Special dividends for the #H=2023F6A30R
six months ended 30 June 2023 LE7ME A 2 BRI 2 32 (56,176) -
Final dividends for the year BZE2021F12A31H
ended 31 December 2021 IEFEZBHRRE - (54,821)
Special dividends for the HZE 202296 A30H
six months ended 30 June 2022 1788 A 2 BRI B = (95,840)
At the end of the year FXR 7,903,653 7,941,787
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

23. FINANCIAL LIABILITY FOR NON-CONTROLLING

INTEREST PUT OPTION (“NCI PUT OPTION")

e M| RME

(BRBEREIN - IEELBAUARETTIIR)

23. FEFHMEERLHREREAR
([RHPERE]D

Year ended 31 December

BE12A31HL
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
Present value of liability in relation BT —H BRI R A
to a put option granted to non-controlling  RSHEIEREMN A ERE
shareholders of a subsidiary 147,656 131,836

According to the "Equity Transfer Agreement in respect
of Shanghai Yifang”, signed on 8 March 2022, the
non-controlling shareholders of Shanghai Yifang, after
Shanghai Yifang being acquired by Huabao Flavours
& Fragrances Co., Ltd. ("Huabao Flavours”), shall
have the right to request Huabao Flavours to further
acquire the non-controlling shareholders’ equity
interests in Shanghai Yifang when certain conditions
are met. The further acquisition price was determined
by making reference to the net profit to be generated
by Shanghai Yifang in future periods. Accordingly,
the liability was initially recognised at present value of
redemption amount of approximately RMB119,887,000
by the Huabao Flavours with reference to the present
value of the estimated future cash outflows under the
arrangement and was accreted to redemption amount of
approximately RMB147,656,000 as at 31 December 2023
(2022: RMB131,836,000). The accretion charge of the
financial liability for NCI put option in the finance cost
was amounting to approximately RMB15,820,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: RMB11,949,000)
(Note 29).

BRIEMN2022F3 A8HZ T A LB ZE
FIREEEGE)  EEERRHERA
AI(TEERMD DR EkiER - £8Z
FRIGEERBRE AT MR — ERGR
EREERMNE—TEEIIFERRRER
EBTHFHRE - E—TBEERHZ
EEBFZEFRRREBEAFANBETE
Bt ZABYVSLERABERSE R
BHAR®119,887,0007T J"HES
BH2ERLBELHE THEGTRRRE
MEMIRE MEBELQ SRR 2023F 12
A31THEEMEN AR 147,656,000
J0(2022%F + AR#%131,836,00070) °
H E2023F12A31BILEE . %
BRAARIHEEEENEROAR
#15,820,00070(2022F : A R ¥
11,949,000 7)) (K15£29) »
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

e M| RME

(BRBEREIN - IEELBAUARETTIIR)

24. BORROWINGS 24. EX
As at 31 December
M12A31H
Note 2023 2022
(k3 2023 F 2022 4F
Non-current FERE
Long-term bank borrowings REFIRITE N
- Secured bank borrowings —BEBRITER (a) 36,000 15,000
Less: current portion B mEE S - (15,000)
36,000 -
Current RE
Short-term bank borrowings RERITER
— Secured bank borrowings —BERBITER (a) - 50,000
— Unsecured bank borrowings —\EIEIRIRITER (b) 419,250 612,700
Current portion of non-current liabilities IEREIBE T 2R E D
- Secured bank borrowings —BEMBITER (a) - 15,000
419,250 677,700
Total borrowings BER 455,250 677,700
(a) As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s secured bank (a) M2023F12A31H ' AEBEZHE

borrowings of RMB36,000,000 (31 December 2022:
RMB65,000,000) were repayable within two years
(31 December 2022: repayable within one year) and
secured by certain buildings and right-of-use assets
of Shanghai Yifang with total carrying values of
approximately RMB39,245,000 (31 December 2022:
RMB17,662,000). During the year, the average
interest rate of the borrowings was 4.2% (2022:
4.2%) per annum.
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EHIRITER A AR 36,000,000
t(2022%F12A31H: A R ¥
65,000,0007C) * ZERFRWF
W ®E(2022F 128318 — £
NEE) WA LBZEHEEEY
AARBE39,245,000 THE T
N REEEFERT(2022F12 A
310 AR®17,662,0007T) °
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Notes to the Consolidated e B RR M
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (BREAEEBEEI  FTBBIUARETTIIR)
24. BORROWINGS (CONTINUED) 24. EF(E&)
(b) The Group's unsecured bank borrowings are (b) AEBEZEEHETERETR—F
repayable within one year. During the year, the RNEEEE - Eﬁ\ﬁﬁq ZERTH
average interest rate was 2.9% (2022: 2.8%) per M E B S F29E2022%F :2.8
annum. E) -
(c) An analysis of the carrying amounts of the Group’s (0 BRENSHASEEERNEEMER
borrowings by type is as follows: ™

As at 31 December

®12A31H
2023 2022
2023 & 2022 4
At fixed rates &l E F == 450,250 677,700
At floating rates R | pe 5,000 -
455,250 677,700
(d) As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the maturities (d) H20234%F K2022912A8318 -
of the borrowings are as follows: EREHBAT -
As at 31 December
®12A31H
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 4
Within 1 year —F AR 419,250 677,700
Between 1 and 2 years —EF 36,000 -
455,250 677,700
(e) As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the carrying (e) FM20234F N2022%F12HA31H -
amounts of the Group’s borrowings were FEBERNEEEEAARE R
denominated in RMB. BN o
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Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (BREAEEBEEI  FTBBIUARETTIIR)
25. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 25. EFRHEMEMNRE
As at 31 December
®12H31H
Note 2023 2022
Bt 2023 F 2022 4
Trade payables B S EN A (a) 238,732 277,249
Note payables FEE= & 18,530 -
Wages payable JERTE 115,466 97,021
Other taxes payable HAith eS8 59,300 98,107
Accruals for expenses JEETRS 10,088 9,677
Other payables H A JE 508 171,783 240,481
Deferred income from BT 47 B BE A 2 SR SEUR A
government grants 11,446 11,763
625,345 734,298
The non-current and current portion of trade and other B 5 K& B fth JE R EY FE M B) K Eh &R 1D
payables was as follows: mR

As at 31 December

MW12A31H
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 4
Non-current e E 11,446 12,163
Current B 613,899 722,135
625,345 734,298
The non-current portion of trade and other payables B REMBEMNRIETHIERESE S E
mainly represents the deferred income derived from EEXREFEBNEENS BB S0
various grants received from government authorities in EREWA o
PRC.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

25. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (CONTINUED)

(a)

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the ageing
analysis of the trade payables (including amounts
due to related parties which are trade in nature)
based on invoice dates was as follows:

e M| RME

(BRBEREIN - IEELBAUARETTIIR)

25. ESRHEMBENSRKIE(E)
(@ 2023 FK2022F12A31H &5
ENRB(EEBEBEINE S EN
RIE)BREEZAHMIER

T

R 53 AT 0

As at 31 December

M12831H
2023 2022
2023 2022 4F
0 - 90 days 0ZF90H 216,774 245,146
91 - 180 days 91 %180 H 8,112 9,721
181 - 360 days 181 %360 B 3,704 5,113
Over 360 days 360 HEA E 10,142 17,269
238,732 277,249

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade payables
are denominated in the following currencies:

AEBNEZEMNFTHEREENLT

SIS EAL

As at 31 December

M12831H
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 4F
RMB AREE 233,210 263,867
IDR He&E 1,405 7,786
usD ETT 3,016 1,753
HKD iy 307 1,363
Others Hih 794 2,480
238,732 277,249
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Notes to the Consolidated

Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

26. OTHER INCOME AND OTHER GAINS - NET

e M| RME

(BRRBEREN

S BEHUARETTIR)
26. HtW AR EMbksS — F5E

Year ended 31 December

BZ128318LEE

Note 2023 2022
B 5 E 2023 2022 F
Changes in fair value of NARBEAEEHE
financial assets at FVPL FFAEZENEREER
NAEEE 17 (8.810) 106,052
Dividend income from financial LWARBEFEEHEES
assets at FVPL FFPABEHNEREEL
R B 10,251 3,444
Loss on disposal of associates HEB S G2 EE (3,442) -
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary HEHRBAGEE (3) (1,184)
Gain on disposal of property, HEYZE - B REE
plant and equipment 2 Wz 3,743 5,085
Government grants N2 350 151,051 126,085
Foreign exchange losses - net EHE K EE — F 5 (5,635) (17,871)
Change in fair value of previously — BART#: A £ [F 422 6 & 52
held interest in a jointly R A B A B R Y
controlled entity upon NIEES
acquisition as a subsidiary - (24,083)
Written off of payables atkich AN 195 12,234
Donations 8 A (302) (839)
Others HAh, (440) 3,889
146,608 212,812
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (BrZHEEEEI -

27. EXPENSES BY NATURE

Expenses included in cost of goods sold, selling and
marketing expenses and administrative expenses are
analysed according to their nature (with the exception of
“research and development expenses” which are shown

e M| RME

B EBEANARETTIIR)

27. #MESENEX
ERBEHEERAK - 58 KTi5HER
Y RITRER - WREEMEE (BRMFE(a)

RIRMEE BB RO EFH 4

BERAXHAC T BREARMENSRE) D

as a single item and analysed according to their nature T -
in Note (a) below) as follows:
Year ended 31 December
BZE12A31BLEFE
Note 2023 2022
B E 2023 F 2022 F

Depreciation e 195,292 207,173
Amortisation g 101,446 98,253
Provision for impairment of M R NERERERE

property, plant and equipment 6 76,353 31,774
Provision for impairment of BREEERERE

intangible assets 9,850 -
Provision for impairment FERERE

of inventories 3,421 1,760
Changes in inventories of finished MR ERRTFEES

goods and work in progress 51,844 (8,106)
Raw materials and consumables used 2 BRE & EER 1,142,332 1,385,390
Short-term lease rentals EHHERS 7 30,830 29,669
Auditor’s remuneration ZEEN 2

- Audit services — ZE R 9,360 10,418

- Non-audit services — IR ERHG 311 -
Consulting service fee HERBKE 21,724 18,229
Travelling expenses EIRF 32,004 17,307
Employee benefit expenses EEREHFAX 652,530 608,149
Research and development expenses 3 2 (a) 253,196 266,233
Delivery expenses EEHHY 37,730 38,064
Utilities expenses NEF AL 98,990 92,055
Motor vehicle expenses HBEERMY 7,119 6,163
Maintenance expenses HEB 22,335 16,123
Advertising, promotion and BE - HEREREREE

agency services expenses 92,894 124,624
Office administrative MARBAE

and communication expenses 9,350 9,370
Other surcharges E BT pnFr & 39,025 44,738
Others Eh 108,213 124,399
Total of cost of goods sold, BEENE - HERTS

selling and marketing expenses HEFAZMITHRER

and administrative expenses 2,996,149 3,121,785
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Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (BREAEEBEEI  FTBBIUARETTIIR)
27. EXPENSES BY NATURE (CONTINUED) 27. REBESENBEXZ (&)
(a) Depreciation, amortisation and employee benefit (a) MEHRZIPBIENINE - HHEKLE
expenses included in research and development BRMAXIIRET :

expenses are set out below:

Year ended 31 December

BZ12H318LEE

2023 2022

2023 F 2022 F

Depreciation e 15,706 18,165
Amortisation #iH 5,153 6,650

Employee benefit expenses BEREHHAX 147,318 137,114

168,177 161,929

No development cost has been capitalised for the EHZE2023F12 A31HLEFER
year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: nil). W EAAERANDEAR(E(2022

Fm|E)o
28. EMPLOYMENT BENEFIT EXPENSES 28. EERBAIFAX

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A8318LEE

Note 2023 2022

gz 2023 F 2022 4

Wages, salaries and bonus TE& - HRIEA 647,462 597,579
Defined contribution plans and TEREMHRETEI R

other employee insurances Hi B TRE (a) 110,196 91,702

Share-based benefits LARR 1D A EHE 2 & F) 20 4,103 3,713

Other benefits H At 48 F 38,087 52,269

799,848 745,263
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

28. EMPLOYMENT BENEFIT EXPENSES
(CONTINUED)

(a)

Defined contribution plans and other employee
insurances

The expenses mainly include contribution of
pension, housing scheme and other employee
insurances for employees, of which the arrangement
of pension scheme is as below:

In Hong Kong, the Group operates a MPF Scheme
for all eligible employees. The assets of the MPF
Scheme are held separately from those of the
Group.

Under the MPF Scheme, the employees are required
to contribute 5% of their monthly salaries up to a
maximum of HKD1,500 per employee with a choice
to make additional contributions. The employer’s
monthly contributions are calculated at 5% of each
employee’s monthly salaries up to a maximum of
HKD1,500 (the “mandatory contributions”). The
employees are entitled to 100% of the employer’s
mandatory contributions upon their retirement at
the age of 65 years old, death or total incapacity.

In Mainland China, the Group makes defined
contribution to retirement schemes managed by
the local governments. It is the local governments’
responsibility to pay the retirement benefits to
those staff who retire.

In Germany, the Group makes defined contributions
at certain percentage of monthly salary to
retirement schemes managed by the insurance
company in accordance with German rules
and regulations. It is the insurance company'’s
responsibility to pay the retirement benefits
to those staff who retire. In Botswana, no
pension obligation is required under its laws and
regulations.

e M| RME

(BRRBEREN

B EBEANARETTIIR)

28. BEERBANFEX (&)

(a)

EEHTEREME TRE

LRI

AEBRBEMBEREREERY
miEEEtEc REEFECEESR
AEEMFEBILOR

BIERESE  BEZEEBZAEKA
¥5% (&=t R5EA B %1,500
TO)EH R W AT IR BN
"R - BENERELZEEAFH
5% (f = it 558 &8 ¥ 1,500 7T )
ER (MR HER]) - BEATR
ATHEHBERK  GREKTEEAT
YEBE N B UR B £ 1E HH 2 2 BF 58 )
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Notes to the Consolidated e B RR M
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (BREAEEBEEI  FTBBIUARETTIIR)
28. EMPLOYMENT BENEFIT EXPENSES 28. EERERIBXZ (&)
(CONTINUED)
(b) Five highest paid individuals (b) EEESHMAL
The five individuals whose emoluments were the FR - EAEBEZRAEZZSHHA
highest in the Group for the year include 4 (2022: 4) T EFEMA(20224% : A ) BE
directors whose emoluments are reflected in Note = MEEzHEFBESHNH T
39(a). The emoluments paid and payable to the 39(a) e NFEENT REMEBRT —L
remaining 1 (2022: 1) individual during the year are (20225 : =) AL ZBISAT -
as follows:

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A318LEE

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 %
Basic salaries and allowances BEAR# e KER 10,460 11,171
Contributions to the retirement scheme R{RIBFIET I 13 15
10,473 11,186

The emoluments fell within the following bands: BEZHNEEUATHE :

Number of employees
EEAH
Year ended 31 December
BZ12A318LEE

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 4
Emolument bands B < &5 [
HKD11,500,001-HKD12,000,000 711,500,001 7T —
75 12,000,000 7T 1 -
HKD13,000,001-HKD13,500,000 751 13,000,001 7T —
7B 13,500,000 7T - 1
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

29. FINANCE INCOME AND FINANCE COSTS

e M| RME

(BRERBEEIN  FESEHUARETTIIR)
29. MHEWARBME KA

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLEE

Note 2023 2022
B E 2023 F 2022 F
Finance income: BB
— Interest income on bank deposits ~ —RITFERZFEWA 84,952 71,791
Finance costs: BEKA
— Interest expense on —-RITERR
bank borrowings and others HMFEEH (16,560) (24,286)
— Interest expense on R 5= L
financial liability for NCI MEEH
put option 23 (15,820) (11,949)
— Interest expense on lease liabilities —ME&EZFEER 7 (1,550) (1,735)
(33,930) (37,970)
Amount capitalised MNEEREARL (i) 9,084 —
Finance costs expensed BENARE R (24,846) (37,970)
Finance income - net BASIA — 558 60,106 33,821

(i)  The capitalisation rate used to determine the
amount of borrowing costs to be capitalised is the
weighted average interest rate applicable to the
entity’s general borrowings during the year, in this
case 3.10%.

30. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

The amount of taxation charged to the consolidated
income statements represents:

(i) FARETERERENTENE
AR B R A ARFE — R AE FUE
HINREF I FZE 3.10% ©

30. FABHX
HAGAWERIHIBELENROT -

Year ended 31 December

BZ12H318LEE

Note 2023 2022
B aF 2023 F 20224

Current income tax B HARIIE
- PRC corporate income tax — RS (a) 176,938 196,512
- Hong Kong profits tax —BEBGEH (b) 61 2,955
— Botswana company income tax — BRI EREH () 1 142
— Germany company income tax — BB EREN (d) 58 54
- Indonesia company income tax —HIEEFEITEMSR (o) 683 77
Deferred income tax RIEFTISHL 14 (52,299) (18,900)
125,442 180,840
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

30. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED)

(a)

PRC corporate income tax has been calculated on
the estimated assessable profit for the year at the
tax rates applicable to respective companies of the
Group.

The income tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted to the major subsidiaries of the Group
incorporated in the PRC are derived from various
tax policies as follows:

(i)  The Corporate Income Tax Law of the PRC
stipulates the applicable income tax rate at
25% for domestic enterprises in the PRC.

(ii) Enterprises supported by Western Development
Strategy can continue to enjoy tax rate of 15%
until 2030. High/New tech enterprises whose
main business income accounts for more than
60% of the total income, simultaneously
enjoy additional tax incentives from Tibet
Autonomous Region Government that can be
exempted from the local share of corporate
income tax, can accrue income tax expenses at
reduced rate of 9%.

(iii) The Corporate Income Tax Law also stipulated
that the Corporate Income Tax shall be levied
at the reduced rate of 15% for High/New Tech
Enterprises that are specifically supported by
the State.

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the
rate of 16.5% (2022: 16.5%) on the estimated
assessable profit for the year. Under the current
Hong Kong Inland Revenue Ordinance, from
the year of assessment 2018/2019 onwards, the
subsidiaries in Hong Kong are subject to profits
tax at the rate of 8.25% on assessable profits
up to HK$2,000,000, and 16.5% on any part of
assessable profits over HK$2,000,000.

Botswana company income tax has been provided
at the rate of 15% (2022: 15%) on the estimated
assessable profit for the year.

Germany company income tax has been provided
at the rate of 15% (2022: 15%) on the estimated
assessable profit for the year.

Huabao International Holdings Limited ¥ ¥ BB} 2% A R A 7
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

30.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED)

(e)

Indonesia company income tax has been provided
at the rate of 22% (2022: 22%) on the estimated

assessable profit for the year.

e M| RME

(BRRBEREN

30. 15
(e)

B EBEANARETTIIR)

SHBIX (8)
EERTCEMSHIEAFE G
SHEER B A AT K22% (2022
F 0% )BE -

No provision for income tax in other jurisdictions () AEBEREZE2023F K 2022F 12
has been made as the Group had no assessable A 31 HIEFETEAMRDERER I &
profit in other jurisdictions for the years ended 31 G ERFAERBA - SEREA
December 2023 and 2022. AVEREE B PTETIEL A -
The taxation on the Group's profit before income (99 AEBEBBRAEHEAAFTIE -
tax differs from the theoretical amount that would E@ZXEIEET*E AN R AT M
arise using the standard tax rates applicable to the BMEREARRETNIEREES
respective companies of the Group as follows: PR - 3T -
Year ended 31 December
BZE12A318LEE
Note 2023 2022
(i 2023 F 20224
Profit/(loss) before income tax  BRFBIEF,(Ei8) 415,925 (720,210)
Less: Share of results o RS RR R
of associates and jointly HRAZHEEXEE
controlled entities 10, 11 (59) 7,056
415,866 (713,154)
Tax calculated at statutory RERMETTENTIE
tax rate 159,326 223,247
Tax incentives BB = 30(a) (114,736) (121,514)
Super deduction for research ﬁﬁ%"%ﬁﬁm*ﬁmﬂfﬁﬁ’]
and development expenditure (16,138) (17,806)
Utilisation of previously A 2 AR RS E A
unrecognised tax losses (1,581) (1,670)
Expenses not deductible for AR 2 2 R
tax purposes 26,373 45,574
Income not subject to tax BARNBANZE (5,621) (5,828)
Withholding tax on the P B A FIUCER I A P EE A
earnings from subsidiaries ZTEIRFTIEE 40,824 19,032
Tax losses for which WEBERELEESHEEN
no deferred income tax MBEE
assets were recognised 36,995 39,805
Income tax expense Fi8 R 125,442 180,840
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Notes to the Consolidated e B RR M
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (BREAEEBEEI  FTBBIUARETTIIR)

30. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED) 30. FIEHAX (&)
As the directors are not certain whether future taxable AARZEEEIMERARELEBRAER
profit would be available in certain subsidiaries, the MANBENE  AEEILER20234F
Group did not recognise deferred income tax assets of NRANBERETHEB AR 2 AT ETE
RMB143,491,000 (31 December 2022: RMB112,095,000) 1B AR #759,410,0007C(2022F 12 A 31
as at 31 December 2023 in respect of tax losses of H: AR# 606,230,000 7T)AEEFTESH
such subsidiaries amounting to RMB759,410,000 (31 BEH AR 143,491,0007(2022 F 12
December 2022: RMB606,230,000). The tax loss will HA318: AK®112,095,0007T) ° 7] &
expire in the following years: BMEBEBR T FERERHE -

As at 31 December

R12H831H
2023 2022
2023 & 2022 4
Year FE
2023 20234 = 9,507
2024 20244 36,052 36,329
2025 20254 31,840 33,858
2026 2026 4 90,875 91,487
2027 2027 4 146,012 151,476
2028 20284 158,499 -
No expiring date REBEREA 296,132 283,573
759,410 606,230

248 Huabao International Holdings Limited #8 EIE % A R A 7



Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

31. EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE

(a) Basic earnings/(loss) per share

e M| RME

(BRBEREIN - IEELBAUARETTIIR)

31 BREFN(BR)
(a) BREAERF (FHH)

Basic earnings/(loss) per share is calculated by BREAXRBF(BE)HIREBEFA
dividing the profit/(loss) attributable to equity AAREZRFEARERAT (&
holders of the Company by the weighted average B) BRUEZE2023F %2022F
number of ordinary shares in issue during the years 12A31BIEFEE ZHTEBERKRD

ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

MEFHEBEE -

Year ended 31 December
BZ12831HILEE

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 4
Profit/(loss) attributable to KRaERFEA
equity holders of the Company PR BT (E18) 233,633 (1,054,547)
Weighted average number of EBTCEBR
ordinary shares in issue ('000) IEFEHE(FED) 3,229,927 3,229,927
Basic earnings/(loss) per share KATEERFE AEMN
for profit attributable to BEREAXREF(FH#E)
the equity holders of the (BRAR®S)
Company (RMB cents per share) 7.23 (32.65)
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

31.

(b) Diluted earnings/(loss) per share

e M| RME

(BRBEREIN - IEELBAUARETTIIR)

EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE (CONTINUED) 31 BEREF,(FE) (&)

(b) SREEER (&E)
Year ended 31 December
BZ12831BLEE

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
Profit/(loss) attributable to ARBIERFEA
equity holders of the Company: AT, ()
Used in calculating basic ARFTEERER
earnings/(loss) per share Br/(E8) 233,633 (1,054,547)
Less: profit adjusted for B BB AR TR
restricted shares 1% 2 i 8 B 19 R ()
granted by a subsidiary (i) (15) -
Used in calculating diluted ARETESREE
earnings/(loss) per share ar/ (E8) 233,618 (1,054,547)
Weighted average number of ERTZEBRZ
ordinary shares in issue (‘000) T E(FE) 3,229,927 3,229,927
Weighted average number of gREERF(EEB)®
ordinary shares for diluted T EmkEE (T
earnings/(loss) per share ('000) 3,229,927 3,229,927
Diluted earnings/(loss) per share AQFEFRFTE AEMN
for profit attributable to the SREBERF(FHE)
equity holders of the Company (BRAR®S)
(RMB cents per share) 7.23 (32.65)
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

31.

EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE (CONTINUED)
(b) Diluted earnings/(loss) per share (Continued)

(i)

As disclosed in Note 20, the subsidiary’s
Employee Share Plan should be considered
in calculating the diluted earnings per share,
by adjusting the profit or loss attributable to
equity holders of the Company.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the
1.98% restricted equity interests unvested
by the end of 31 December 2022 are not
included in the calculation of diluted earnings/
(loss) per share because they are antidilutive.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the
1.70% restricted equity interests unvested by
the end of 31 December 2023 are not included
in the calculation of diluted earnings/(loss) per
share because they are antidilutive. While for
the 0.22% restricted equity interests granted
during the year, the profit or loss amounted
to RMB15,000 attributable to equity holders
of the Company is adjusted.

e M| RME

(BRBEREIN - IEELBAUARETTIIR)

31 BRERN (BB (&)
(b) BREERR (FE) (&)
(i) WKIFE208E - ZMEB A A
B TR BIREFESK
BERNEZRE  LHEBARQ
AESR B ARIGERL -

B E2022F12A8318 It #
€ F2022F12A318 &

SRB A 1.98% R Hil 14 A% i
TREESREERT/ (B
BIWsE+  BAvMEASR
RN -

#H E2023F12A318 1t F
€ H2023F12A318 &

SRB A 1.70% R #I M A% #E
AREERBENR AT
SHESREERT (BB
AE e MAFE TH0.22%
PR MERERFAE T HBRA
RAEZFAEARGESAR
#15,000 7T °
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

32. DIVIDENDS

e M| RME

(BRBEREIN - IEELBAUARETTIIR)
32. RE

Year ended 31 December

BZ128318LEE

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
Paid interim dividend of HK1.60 cents BfEZ 202356 A30H
per share for the six months ended WEREAZFERETR
30 June 2023 FE#E1.601L 47,306 -
Paid special dividend of HK1.90 cents BEZE2023F6 A30H
per share for the six months ended LE7XME A 2 BRI S
30 June 2023 FAAEE 1.9014 56,176 -
Paid special dividend of HK3.38 cents EfEZE2022%F6 A30H
per share for the six months ended LE7SE A 2 R Bl % R
30 June 2022 BB 3.381l - 95,840
103,482 95,840
Proposed final dividend of HK0.8 cents  #RE = 20234 12 A31H
per share for the year ended IEEEZBHRRE
31 December 2023 FREY 0.81L 23,416 -
Proposed special dividend of HK4.2 cents #t/k& £ 2023412 A31H
per share for the year ended IEFEZHFRIRE
31 December 2023 BB 4.21 122,935 -
Paid special dividend of HK5.1 cents ENEZE2022F12 8318
per share for the year ended LEFEZFERIRE
31 December 2022 BB 5.1l - 148,866
146,351 148,866
249,833 244,706

On 26 March 2024, the Board proposed a final dividend
of HKO0.8 cents per share and special dividend of HK4.2
cents per share, totalling approximately RMB146,351,000
for the year ended 31 December 2023. The proposed
dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December 2023
is calculated based on the total number of shares in issue
as at the date of this report. The proposed dividend is
subject to the shareholder’s approval at the Company’s
forthcoming Annual General Meeting. The financial
statements do not reflect this dividend payable.
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Notes to the Consolidated e B RR M
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (BREAEEBEEI  FTBBIUARETTIIR)
33. CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS 33. BEEACHES
(a) Reconciliation of profit/(loss) before tax to cash (a) BREBAER (FE) BEEEL
generated from operations ZRERAHR

Year ended 31 December
BEZ12A31ALEE

Note 2023 2022
B & 2023 & 20224
Profit/(loss) before income tax BREARR(FE) 415,925 (720,210)
Adjustments for: HE
- Depreciation —HE 210,998 225,338
— Amortisation — 106,599 104,903
— Provision for impairment of goodwill —EERERE 9 56,502 1,507,710
— Provision for impairment of inventories ~ —F&R{ERE 27 3,421 1,760
~ Provision for impairment - B RHEMEK
of trade and other receivables SRR EEE 23,745 20,276
— Provision for impairment of —ME - HEREE
property, plant and equipment WERE 6 76,353 31,774
— Provision for impairment —-BEEERERE
of intangible assets 9 9,850 -
— Provision for impairment relating to —BENRREY
the investment in an associate HERE 10 22,291 139,000
- Share-based payment-value - BEROTH
of employee services - EERKERE 20 4,103 3,713
— Interest expense —-MEEA 29 24,846 37,970
— Interest income —FEWA 29 (84,952) (71,791)
— Share of results of associates —E(EEE N R &
and jointly controlled entities HREZHERB B (59) 7,056
— Gains on disposal of property, —HEME  HER
plant and equipment R 2 Wi 26 (3,743) (5,085)
- Written off of payables — R EE BT R 26 (195) 12,234
- Loss on disposal of a subsidiary —-HENBARCER 26 3 1,184
- Gain on disposal of an associate —HEHEQA W 26 3,442 —
- Change in fair value of previously held — —IARTIA IR HIE 42
interest in a jointly controlled entity 2K ANTE
upon acquisition as a subsidiary NARNANEE — 24,083
- Changes in fair value of —-RAanBEFEER
financial assets at FVPL BT ABENEE
BEZARERS 26 8,810 (106,052)
- Losses/(gains) on fair value —-EMEENAREEE
change of biological assets B8, () 1,919 (2,094)
- Dividend income from —“URAREBEFEEEEH
financial assets at FVPL FTABEREMEE
2R EMA 26 (10,251) (3,444)
- (Gains)/losses on termination of leases  — & IFFRE 7 (Hzk), /B8 (995) 1,294
— Foreign exchange losses - net —EHE S EE - 58 26 5,635 17,871
Changes in working capital: HEESE
- Biological assets —-4£YMEE (6,612) (2,425)
— Inventories -FE 27,963 (60,053)
- Trade and other receivables — B 5 ME R FIE 354,756 7,042
- Trade and other payables —ESREMmENZIA (108,579) (91,135)
- Contract liabilities -&REE 44,870 (51,001)
Cash generated from operations BEEECES 1,186,645 1,029,918
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Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (BREAEEBEEI  FTBBIUARETTIIR)
33. CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS 33. ¥ EE4XZ2HE(E)
(CONTINUED)
(b) In the consolidated statement of cash flows, (b) REEREREXRA HEW
proceeds from disposal of property, plant and ¥ BBERBREZIFSRERE

equipment comprise:

Year ended 31 December
BZ12B31HILEE

Note 2023 2022

B 5 2023 2022 F

Net book amount BREDFAE 6 11,802 12,916
Gains on disposal of property, HEYZE - e REE

plant and equipment pal & 26 3,743 5,085
Proceeds from disposal of HEWE - HEREE

property, plant and equipment  BJFTS K 15,545 18,001
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Notes to the Consolidated e B RR M
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (BREAEEBEEI  FTBBIUARETTIIR)
33. CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS 33. BEEL2RE(A)
(CONTINUED)
(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from () MEITBHELENEERAGE
financing activities
This section sets out an analysis of the movements REE R EES PN aEE s T
in liabilities from financing activities: THONT

Liabilities from financing activities

HEEBELNEE
Financial
liability for
Lease NCI put
Note  Borrowings liabilities option Total
E)
M EE HEEE HESE At
At 1 January 2022 R2022%181H 962,774 40,927 - 1,003,701
Changes from financing cash flow: BMETHHRESRESL !
Proceeds from borrowings EEMER 750,590 - - 750,590
Repayments of borrowings BERER (1,179,178) - - (1,179,178)
Principal elements of lease payments ~ AER Tz AL HH - (26,987) - (26,987)
Interest paid BRFE (24,286) (1,735) - (26,021)
Total changes from financing RETEHH
cash flow RERBRAT (452,874) (28,722) - (481,596)
Other changes: Hit2s
Acquisition of equity interest Wike EBE R 2 g
in Shanghai Yifang 134,500 19,069 119,887 273,456
Increase in lease liabilities AERERFUHMEE
from entering into new mENMHEEERE
leases during the year - 34,158 - 34,158
Decrease in lease liabilities from AEFRELEHE
termination of leases during the year ~ MRV KEEEE - (6,397) - (6,397)
Interest expenses ez 29 24,286 1,735 11,949 37,970
Currency translation difference R 9,014 - 9,014
Total other changes Hi@ g @t 167,800 48,565 131,836 348,201
At 31 December 2022 R2022%12A31H 677,700 60,770 131,836 870,306
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Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

33. CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS

(CONTINUED)

(c)

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from
financing activities (Continued)

e M| RME

(BRRBEREN

33. ¥EEA R ()

B EBEANARETTIIR)

(c) MEFDELENRERDR(E)

Liabilities from financing activities

RETHELNER
Financial
liability for
Lease NCI put
Note ~ Borrowings liabilities option Total
i3 B HESE RLHESE @t
At 1 January 2023 W202351818 677,700 60,770 131,836 870,306
Changes from financing cash flow: RETEHNELSHES(
Proceeds from borrowings EERER 632,550 - = 632,550
Repayments of borrowings BEER (855,000) - - (855,000)
Principal elements of lease payments  TAEMN R Z &S HH = (24,880) - (24,880)
Interest paid BFIE (16,560) (1,550) - (18,110)
Total changes from financing BEZHH
cash flow ReRBRLAGH (239,010) (26,430) - (265,440)
Other changes: Hth 25 :
Increase in lease liabilities from entering KEE Rz U HAE
into new leases during the year mEMNEERR - 22,259 - 22,259
Decrease in lease liabilities from AEERALHEE
termination of leases during the year TR MR EEE - (13,230) - (13,230)
Interest expenses MEXH 29 16,560 1,550 15,820 33,930
Total other changes Hi g gdst 16,560 10,579 15,820 42,959
At 31 December 2023 2023512 A318 455,250 44,919 147,656 647,825
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

34. CONTINGENCY

Reference is made to the announcement of the Group
dated 9 August 2023 in relation to the initiation of
arbitration by Huabao Flavours against Qian Rong and
Wong Kam Wing, both of whom are the non-controlling
shareholders of Shanghai Yifang. Considering that
Qian Rong and Wong Kam Wing’s failure to fulfil their
obligation to pay the second phase of capital injection
has seriously violated the Equity Transfer Agreement
in respect of Shanghai Yifang (the “Agreement”) and
Shanghai Yifang has been continuously sustaining loss
during the performance commitment period, Huabao
Flavours has submitted arbitration application to the
Shanghai International Arbitration Center, with Qian
Rong and Wong Kam Wing as defendants. Huabao
Flavours requests that the respondent compensate
a total of RMB332,030,000 for breach of contract
damages, expected loss of benefits, legal fees and the
corresponding arbitration costs. At the time the financial
statements were authorised for issue, the arbitration
application has not been adjudicated. The contingent
asset has not been recognised as a receivable at 31
December 2023 as receipt of the amount is dependent
on the outcome of the arbitration process.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had no significant
contingent liabilities (31 December 2022: nil).

e M| RME

(BRRBEREN

B EBEANARETTIIR)

34. HAREH

IR AEB B A2023F8A9HK
NE ABRSREERME LEXHZ
FEPEHERR R E R E IR R IR R E -
EERIER ERLRBITE_HEE
STNER BEER T(LEZEFRES
ZHBEIATEBHBE])  BLEZX
FEBXHBEPREBBANFTEEE -
EERMGE R EEBBEEMEP ORI
HEF BREEBABARFIHEE
BEXNS BHAZEKX - FE KA
FER & B A 25 A K% 332,030,000
T BEARUBRERAERLE - (FH
B oRE R - 20235128318 -
KBEEERMAERBER  BAES
WEHZESBEURRHEMNER -

M2023F 12 A31H - £E@TESE A2
FARBE(2022F 128318 1 &) o

35. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 35. EREE
Capital expenditure contracted for but not yet recognised REREENEDNABEBRREBENENR
as liabilities at the end of the year are as follows: AT :
As at 31 December
R12A31H
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
Property, plant and equipment I EE T 85,507 139,761
Intangible assets mEAE 8,266 23,878
Right-of-use assets EREEE 6,110 4,760
Investment in a jointly controlled entity HAHEREHETE 2 KE 28,000 28,000
Financial assets at FVPL NAREBEFEBEZEHTA
BREIZEMEE 12,572 19,164
140,455 215,563
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36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(@) Names and relationship with related parties

Name

=L

e M| RME

(BRBEREIN - IEELBAUARETTIIR)

36. EBARS
(a) FEAEES BBERARE

Relationship

B &

Huangguoshu Golden Leaf
BERBEE

Hongta Blue Eagle
ARRERE

Broad Far Group

BEEE
Yingtan Dongwu
BERE

Hunan Jiapinjiawei
GEERRERL
Shanghai Miou
FERE

Yingtan Weizhijia Food Co. Ltd.

and its subsidiaries
("Weizhijia”)
EBERRERMERAT R
HMBAR([R2ZR])
PT SPV
PT SPV

An associate indirectly held by the Company

NS kSRl =/NE]

An associate indirectly held by the Company
NSRS R R o) —/NE]

An associate indirectly held by the Company and an entity
controlled by the Company’s ultimate holder
RAGIEEFENBERRARRNR A RERA ARG 2 A7
An associate indirectly held by the Company

NS kS RN 0] —/NE]

An associate indirectly held by the Company
RRAREEFEBE QR

A jointly controlled entity indirectly held by the Company
RAREEFEN LRSI EE

An entity controlled by the Company’s ultimate holder

RRBREFEE NESZ A7)

An associate indirectly held by the Company
NSk SR = /NC]

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the
Group disposed of Yunnan Ruisheng and Shenzhen
Ruili, the associates indirectly held by the Company,
and since then it was no longer a related party.

The Group further acquired 27% and reached 67%
in aggregate of equity interests in Shanghai Yifang
in March 2022, and Shanghai Yifang becomes a

subsidiary of the Group.

Huabao International Holdings Limited ¥ ¥ BB} 2% A R A 7

HZE2023F12A31BIEEE &
EERETARRBEFENBE
NEIEMEALRYISE - B i1
BE@EBS -

AREBR2022F3 81— FWE F
LT 27% Bt - AETIFIRELAIE
67% © LBEFBLKABREED
BB AR e
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(BRBEERES - HELBIUARETLIIR)
36. BB AR % (&)

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(CONTINUED)
(b) Transactions with related parties

(b) BREBINXZ

Year ended 31 December

BZ12H8318LLEE

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 4
Sales of goods and services: HE B m R
- Huangguoshu Golden Leaf —ERESE 5,606 6,350
— Broad Far Group —BErEE 33,223 17,299
- Hunan Jiapinjiawei — M EmER 447 314
- Shanghai Miou — KB 37 22
- Shanghai Yifang —LBEH - 28
39,313 24,013
Purchase of goods and services: BEMmERT
- Huangguoshu Golden Leaf - ERXHEE - 134
- Broad Far Group —BREE 31 15
- Yunnan Ruisheng — =@t 21 113
— Hunan Jiapinjiawei — i EmER 153 857
- Shenzhen Ruili —RYIEHEE - 136
- Shanghai Miou — LK E 1,024 268
— Weizhijia —RZK 1,074 -
- Shanghai Yifang — /% - 680
2,303 2,203
Dividend revenue: AR EWA -
- Hongta Blue Eagle —HREE 3,088 5,110
Sales of property, plant HEME - HERHE
and equipment:
— Hunan Jiapinjiawei — MR - 44
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(BRBEERES - HELBIUARETLIIR)
36. BB A X% (&)

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(CONTINUED)
(c) Balances with related parties (c) BAEES A&
As at 31 December
R12A31H
2023 2022
2023 F 20224

e s R B 7 A Bk

Balances due from related parties:

- Huangguoshu Golden Leaf —HERESE
— trade and other receivables —E 5 & HAth fE YR 5,182 6,553
- Broad Far Group —BR&E
— trade and other receivables — 8B 5 Rk HAtb FEYR 15,434 8,815
- Yunnan Ruisheng —EERF
— other receivables — H fth YR - 35
- Yingtan Dongwu —BERE
— trade receivables — B o R 714 504
— Hunan Jiapinjiawei — M EmER
— trade and other receivables — 8B 5 R H A FEYR 7 21
— prepayment —FARTRIA 130 —
21,467 15,928
Balance due to related parties: JE{<F A BGE 7 A R
- Huangguoshu Golden Leaf —EBERHeE
— trade payables —B IR - 36
— Broad Far Group —1HREH
- trade and other payables — B 5 RHAMERNRK 400 353
- Yunnan Ruisheng — EFER
— trade payables — B I EMNR - 31
- Hunan Jiapinjiawei — M EmER
— trade payables —B IR 167 127
- Shenzhen Ruili — RIS E
— trade payables — B I EMNK - 136
— PT SPV —PT SPV
— other payables — E e K 228 -
795 683

BB T AR SEER 28
KBR BB E

The balance with related parties was unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand.

o
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(BRBEREIN - IEELBAUARETTIIR)

36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 36. BEEARS (1)

(CONTINUED)
(d) Key management compensation

Key management includes directors (executive,
non-executive and independent non-executive) and
senior management. The amounts of compensation
paid and payable to directors is disclosed in Note
39(a). The amounts of compensation paid and
payable to senior management for employee
services is shown below:

d) FEEBAEME

TEERABBREEWMOTE
FRTEFEBUFRTE
EIMSREEAR - O MERN
TEEHM S E E W FE39) T
B-EERBENRENSAE
EENMEIT

Year ended 31 December

BZ128318LLEE

2023 2022

2023 F 2022 4

Fees, salaries and bonus TE& - FHRIEA 21,300 21,597
Employer’s contributions to B EBRIRFT B

retirement benefit scheme 544 512

21,844 22,109
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(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

37. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Place of
incorporation and

e MR ME

(BRBHERES -
37. EMBARZHE

Nominal value of
issued/registered

Ownership
interest held

B EBEANARETTIIR)

Principal activities and

Name kind of legal entity capital by the Group % place of operation
ERBILER BRALER/ FEEEAN
RAER EETRER AMEAHE B % TEEBREERY
Direct  Indirect
B [k
Amber (XiaMen) Fragrance Co., Ltd. PRC, Limited liability company RMB30,000,000 - 51 Research, development,distribution
(formerly known as “Xiamen Amber HE - RAERAH AE%30,000,0007¢ and retail of fragrances in the PRC
Daily Chemical Technology Co., Ltd.") e EE - HERTEARR
EFRNERRLERAR W W {tIER  ®HE
(RiTB[ EFIRE R LR ERHERAR])
Aromascape Development Centre GmbH ~ Germany, Limited liability company EUR25,000 - 100 Research and development of
Aromascape Development Centre 2B EREAAT 7T 25,000 flavours & fragrances in Germany
GmbH ! HEER - 28
F&G (Botswana) (Pty) Limited Republic of Botswana, BWP100 - 100 Production and sales of
F&G (Botswana) (Pty) Limited Limited liability company flavours of fragrances in Botswana
ERRMERE EH1007T EENHEER  BH
BREAAT BRI ALAE
Guangdong Golden leaf PRC, Limited liability company RMB100,000,000 - 100 Research & development,
Technology Development Co., Ltd. HE - AREALNA AR100,000,0007 manufacture and sale of
ERESEREREARAF 0 reconstituted tobacco leaves
in the PRC
HE - EERBEREES A
Guangdong liahao Foodstuff Co., Ltd. PRC, Limited liability company RMB119,680,000 - 99.2  Production, sales, marketing
ERERRMABATCX R BREELA AR 119,680,000 and distribution of condiment
products in the PRC
BE - HE ERRAEERD  PH
Guangdong Jiahao Marketing Co., Ltd PRC, Limited liability company RMBS5,000,000 - 99.2  Sales, marketing and
EREREHERAA P BREEAA AR¥5,000,000 7 distribution of condiment
products in the PRC
HE SRR HARR  PE
Guangdong linke Reconstituted PRC, Limited liability company RMB40,000,000 - 55.375  Manufacture & sale of
Tobacco Leaves Co., Ltd. R EtEREELA AR 40,000,000 7 reconstituted tobacco
EReNBEREFRAR™ leaves in the PRC
EERBEBEEE HE
Guangzhou Huabao Food Co., Ltd. PRC, Limited liability company RMB10,000,000 - 100 Research, development,
ENEZRAERARF W W P BREEAA AR 10,000,000 manufacturing & sales
of flavours & fragrances
in the PRC
HE - AERBERR  hE
GuangZhou Hua Fang Tobacco Flavors Ltd.  PRC, Limited liability company RMB23,380,000 - 51 Manufacturing & sales of

BMEZERERERAR M

ME - BRAEAT

Huabao International Holdings Limited #8 EIE % A R A 7

AEH 23,380,000 T

tobacco flavours &
fragrances in the PRC
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Financial Statements
(BBEIREES - FIESEEUARETTHIR)

37. TEMBRAA2FE(E)

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

37. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(CONTINUED)
Place of Nominal value of Ownership
incorporation and issued/registered interest held Principal activities and
Name kind of legal entity capital by the Group % place of operation
EMALBER BRALER/ RERKEHN
NAER EETRER dMEAEE BE% TEEBREERY
Direct  Indirect
%3 [Eh:3
Huabao Flavour & Chemical PRC, Limited liability company RMB530,000,000 - 100 Research, development,
Technology Development(Shanghai) PR BREEAA AR530,000,0007 manufacturing & sales of
Co., Ltd. tobacco raw materials
EZRMHBR(LE)ERAR D ™ in the PRC
e CERBERARERETEN
WHHER PE
Huabao Flavours & Fragrances (HK) Limited Hong Kong, Limited HKD3,000,000 - 100 Research, development,
ZEAR(BB)ERAA liability company 713,000,000 T manufacturing & sales of flavours &
B ERAT fragrances in Hong Kong
0E - EERHERR BR
Huabao Flavours & Fragrances Co, Ltd PRC, Limited liability company RMB615,880,000 - 81.184  Manufacturing & sales of
BEEFRRHEBAF 00 00 60 PR RABRAA AR¥ 615,880,000 tobacco flavours &
fragrances in the PRC
EEREEERER E
Huabao Korea Company Limited Korea, Limited liability company ~ WON16,320,000,000 - 100 Manufacture and sale of
EERAN oo % BREAAH 58 16,320,000,000 filter materials in Korea
Ha - EERHEREREER  BE
Hunan Jishou Minzu Materials Co., Ltd PRC, Limited liability company RMB60,000,000 - 85  Production of tobacco raw materials
AT EMREEN AR AR B EtAREELR AR 60,000,000 and cigarette filter in the PRC
EEREEERREE PE
Jiangxi Xianghai Biological PRC, Limited liability company RMB100,000,000 - 100 Produce, research and sale of
Technology Co.,Ltd R - BREELA AR100,000,0007 synthetic perfume in the PRC
IREEEENHRERARA EERBEERE 1 H
Jiangxi H&K Food Technology PRC, Limited liability company RMB350,000,000 - 100 Manufacturing and sales of food
Development Co., Ltd PR BREEAA AR350,000,0007 flavours and fragrances in the PRC
IREZELLRMMRERARAT M " EERBEFRE  dH
Jiangxi Yifang Rural Technology Co.,Ltd.  PRC, Limited liability company RMB205,000,000 - 67.244  Production of food additives & food
IREHEENRBRAR W X HE - ERETAH AR 205,000,000 7T production and sales in the PRC
RRFNEEERRREEHE - PE
Owada Flavours (Guangzhou) Co., Ltd. PRC, Limited liability company HKD60,000,000 - 100 Research, development, production
BEEFR(BEMARAR mE - EREARA 760,000,000 7 and sale of tobacco flavours &

fragrances in the PRC
EERHERRERER PHE
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AR 11,000,0007

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (BREAEEBEEI  FTBBIUARETTIIR)
37. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 37. TEMBRAA2FE(E)
(CONTINUED)
Place of Nominal value of Ownership
incorporation and issued/registered interest held Principal activities and
Name kind of legal entity capital by the Group % place of operation
ERMALBER BRALER/ KEREEN
NAER EETRER dMEAEE BE% TEEBREERY
Direct  Indirect
%:3 [EE:3
Shanghai H&K Flavors & Fragrances PRC, Limited liability company RMB260,000,000 - 100 Manufacturing & sales of food
Co., Ltd. PE - BREEAA AR 260,000,00070 flavours & fragrances in the PRC
LEEEHATRERAR . EEREERRER PE
Shanghai Huabao Biological PRC, Limited liability company RMB10,000,000 - 100 Production and sale of tobacco raw
Technology Co, Ltd HE - BREEAT AE10,000,0007C material in the PRC
TEZREPHRERAR D016 EERHEERRE  PE
Shanghai Yifang Rural Technology PRC, Limited liability company RMB120,000,000 - 67.244  Research and development,
Holdings Co.,Ltd. PR BREEAA AR120,000,0007 production and sales of food
LEZFRENBERARW. W additives in the PRC
RMEHNTE  EERHEE  TE
Smart Sino International Investment PRC, Limited liability company USD55,640,000 - 100 Investments holding in the PRC
Holdings (China) Co., Ltd HE - BREEAT %7T.55,640,000 RERR B
ERERREAR(PE)ERART L 22
Shanghai Xiangyue Technology PRC, Limited liability company HKD 10,000,000 - 100 Sale of aromatic raw materials and
Development Co., Ltd PR BREEAA 710,000,000 7 natural extracts in the PRC
LEEUNRERERAT L HEFRHRARRERY - dE
Yancheng City Chunzhu Aroma Co.,Ltd PRC, Limited liability company RMB6,000,000 - 100 Production and sales of aromatic raw
ERTETEHERAR HE - ERETAH AEH6,000,000 7T materials in the PRC
EERBEERE 1 H
Yingtan Huabao Flavors & Fragrances PRC, Limited liability company RMB96,500,000 - 100 Production and sale of tobacco
Co., Ltd. PR BREEAA AR 96,500,000 7 flavours & fragrances in the PRC
ERZEERARRA EERBERR  hE
Yongzhou Shanxiang Flavour Co., Ltd. PRC, Limited liability company RMB35,000,000 - 9414 Production and sale of flavours
KMLEEHERAR HE - ERETAH AEH 35,000,000 7T & fragrances in the PRC
EERBEERE 1 H
Yunnan Tianhong Flavor and Fragrance PRC, Limited liability company UsD2,550,000 - 60  Production and sale of tobacco
Co., Ltd. PR BREEAA F712,550,000 flavours & fragrances in the PRC
EBRRERBRAR EEREEERER E
Zhaoging Perfumery Co., Ltd. (Guangdong) PRC, Limited liability company RMB11,000,000 - 100 Manufacturing & sales of food

flavours & fragrances in the PRC

EERBERRAER TE
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Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

37. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)

(a)

Material non-controlling interests

The total comprehensive income attributable
to non-controlling interests for the year ended
31 December 2023 is RMB68,164,000 (2022:
RMB160,397,000), of which RMB66,366,000 (2022:
RMB146,288,000) is from Huabao Flavours &
Fragrances Co., Ltd. and its subsidiaries (“Huabao
Flavours Group”). The non-controlling interests in
other subsidiaries are not material.

Set out below are the summarised financial
information of Huabao Flavours Group:

Summarised consolidated statement of
financial position of Huabao Flavours Group

e M| RME

(BRAFEAEI  ELBAUARBTILIIR)
37. XEMEBARZFHE ()

(a) EARFEHIMERES

H £2023F12A318 1t & E -
JEEFIREEEMEE R ERER
A R #68,164,0007T(2022 4 :
AR #160,397,0007T ) © H A5k
BEBEBERMDERAFREWES
NR([EERHDER]) 2 IEZH
MEZEMEZEAREREAARE
66,366,000 (20224 : A R ¥
146,288,0007T) ° MEAMHE QA
MFEIR B MRS NEKX -

ST 51 R £ S R BT
HE -

EAROEEZREMBMRRRE
3

As at 31 December

M12H31H
2023 2022
2023 F 2022

Current mE
Assets BE 5,905,767 6,559,465
Liabilities =R (670,457) (1,080,830)
Total current net assets REEEERTE 5,235,310 5,478,635
Non-current ERH
Assets BE 2,325,764 2,447,122
Liabilities =R (207,616) (177,831)
Total non-current net assets FREFEEMREE 2,118,148 2,269,291
Net assets BEE 7,353,458 7,747,926
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(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (BREAEEBEEI  FTBBIUARETTIIR)
37. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 37. TEMB AR ZFHE(E)
(CONTINUED)
(a) Material non-controlling interests (Continued) (a) BEARFEFIMER(E)
Summarised consolidated income statement EEROEEZGENBERRES
and consolidated statement of comprehensive E2HWBERPE

income of Huabao Flavours Group

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31MBLEE

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 4
Revenue =X 1,484,628 1,893,883
Profit before income tax R 756 AT 22 A 437,471 866,784
Income tax expense Frisfim (62,943) (134,512)
Profit for the year KEEZ AT 374,528 732,272
Other comprehensive income Hib 2 mE 7,146 48,835
Total comprehensive income 2HENEEEE 381,674 781,107
Total comprehensive income o EL T IR B S A
allocated to non-controlling interests 2Kz %58 66,366 146,288
Dividends paid to A 2 ) M A R A 2 A% R
non-controlling interests 37,219 37,313
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(BRBEREIN - IEELBAUARETTIIR)

37. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 37. TEMB AR ZFHE(E)
(CONTINUED)
(a) Material non-controlling interests (Continued) (a) BEARFEFIMER(E)

Summarised consolidated statement of cash

flows of Huabao Flavours Group

EERONEEREREREREE

Year ended 31 December

BZ128318LEE

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
Cash flows from operating activities REFE2HESHE
Cash generated from operations EEEECZES 781,253 855,076
Income tax paid ERFTSH (97,452) (164,993)
Net cash generated from LERYEE R SFE
operating activities 683,801 690,083
Net cash (used in)/generated BEEB(FTA) EEZ
from investing activities R F5E (2,116,350) 1,224,959
Net cash used in financing activities B EESFTA IR EF5E (996,845) (646,958)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash BERBEEEEY
and cash equivalents CRY),/ #EinsEE (2,429,394) 1,268,084
Cash and cash equivalents FYzHReRBEEFEY
at the beginning of the year 3,575,161 2,271,032
Effects of currency translation BEmANRSRES
on cash and cash equivalents ZEYHEE 6,456 36,045
Cash and cash equivalents RERZEERRESEEY
at the end of the year 1,152,223 3,575,161
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RRAFHHBRRR R FEE B

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 38.
RESERVE MOVEMENTS OF THE COMPANY

Statement of financial position of the Company

ENNSLEEE 3OS

As at 31 December

268

®12A31H
Note 2023 2022
Bt &E 2023 & 2022 4
ASSETS EE
Non-current assets FRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries REB AR ZKE 1,128,321 1,112,197
Current assets REBEE
Trade and other receivables B 5 N E A e B IE 893 763
Amounts due from subsidiaries NI EENGIE ] 6,222,057 6,191,600
Cash and cash equivalents BehIBE2EEY 59,652 31,112
6,282,602 6,223,475
Total assets BHEE 7,410,923 7,335,672
EQUITY ER
Capital and reserves attributable QA FERFIFEF A
to the owners of the Company FEERAR
Share capital fi& 7 328,619 328,619
Reserves B (a) 2,816,101 2,710,794
Retained earnings REEF 4,019,530 4,110,756
Total equity S 7,164,250 7,150,169
LIABILITIES =L
Current liabilities RBAE
Amounts due to subsidiaries FEASHB B A R R 245,481 184,596
Trade and other payables B 5 & B A e RRIA 1,192 907
246,673 185,503
Total liabilities wasE 246,673 185,503
Total equity and liabilities HEZERaE 7,410,923 7,335,672

The statement of financial position of the Company was
approved by the Board of Directors on 26 March 2024

and was signed on its behalf.

Mr. XIA Liqun

KRB ZHBARREKRENR2024F3 A26 B M

EERMELRE -

Mr. LAM Ka Yu

BREEE MEFEE
Director Director
EFE EE

Huabao International Holdings Limited ¥ ¥ BB} 2% A R A 7
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38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 38. XAFRMNUBMRRARREHFED
RESERVE MOVEMENTS OF THE COMPANY (&)
(CONTINUED)
(a) Reserve movements of the Company (a) ARFEERE
Capital Currency
Contributed Share Capital redemption Other Translation
surplus  premium reserve reserve reserve reserve Total
&% Hih Eu
EHBRY ROAEE EARE  EORE BE  RERE @t
At 1 January 2022 R2022F1R18 296,853 2,183,766 2,411 4,760 40,125 (432,132) 2,095,783
Currency translation differences EHHEZE - - - - - 615,011 615,011
At 31 December 2022 R2022F128318 296,853 2,183,766 2,411 4,760 40,125 182,879 2,710,794
At 1 January 2023 R2023F1818 296,853 2,183,766 2,411 4,760 40,125 182,879 2,710,794
Currency translation differences EBHEZE - - - - - 105,307 105,307
At 31 December 2023 R2023F126318 296,853 2,183,766 2,411 4,760 40,125 288,186 2,816,101

39. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

39. EENNEMESR

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (a) EERTHEARZME
The remuneration of each director and chief BREERTHRARNEZ 20234
executive of the Company for the years ended 31 N2022F 12 A3 BIEFEZE
December 2023 and 2022 are set out below: R
Year ended 31 December 2023 Vear ended 31 December 2022
BEABENANALEE BENNENAYBLER
Employer's Employer's
contribution Share- contribution Share-
to pension based Other o pension based Other
Note fees  Salaries Bonus  scheme benefits  benefits Total fees  Salaries Bonus scheme benefits  benefits Total
Er kR Er UBA
#EG  BER BRE BER
Name of directors ~ E2ft4 k3 it e W REER ZBH REEA i (53 5t M REER ZBH AR 5
Erecutive directors; ~ 478%:
Ms.CHULamYu  FiERE f 8,908 - - - - - B8 4 - - - 4297
Mr. POON Chiu Kok~ EREILE - - 1529 - -3 2165 1459 - 36U
M. XA Ligun EilERE -4l 53 18 - s T 505 513 14,219
M. LAM Ka Yu HETEE 378 - - - - - R - - 2503
Ms. AMKaYan  HEfRE fi 2,161 - - - - - 1811 - - - 1811
Ms. CHOY ManHar ~ BNERE fi -3 - ] - W 3 20 14 - W3
Independentnon-  BUEHTES
exeutive directors:
MrlEELkShe  ERKRE JLE} - - - - W 206 - - - - 206
M. WA Yungan fighnt ] - - - - - - ] - - - - i
M. YAN Jonathan Jun  Jonathan Jun Yan 7 16 - - - - 26 206 - - - - 206
Wi, HOU Haitao RhERE fi) 16 - - - - 26 7 - - - - il
15,526 13,610 5133 1,561 183 546 37,659 9,230 12,626 5,15 1488 1314 ) 30,25
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39. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(CONTINUED)

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments
(Continued)

(i) Ms. CHU Lam Yiu is also the chief executive officer
of the Company.

(i) Ms. LAM Ka Yan and Ms. CHOY Man Har were
appointed on 14 February 2022.

(iii)  Ms. MA Yunyan retired on 20 May 2022.

(iv)  Mr. HOU Haitao was appointed on 20 May 2022.

No directors waived any emoluments during the
years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and
2022, no emoluments had been paid by the Group
to the directors as an inducement to join or upon
joining the Group or as a compensation for loss of
office.

Directors’ retirement benefit

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and
2022, no retirement benefits paid to the directors
of the Company by a defined benefit pension plan
operated by the Group in respect of the director’s
services as a director of the Company and its
subsidiaries or other services in connection with the
management of the affairs of the Company or its
subsidiary undertaking.

Directors’ termination benefit

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and
2022, no payments to the directors of the Company
as compensation for the early termination of the
appointment.

Consideration provided to third parties for
making available directors’ services

During the years ended 31 December 2023
and 2022, the Company did not provide any
consideration to any third party for making
available director’s services.

Huabao International Holdings Limited #8 EIE % A R A 7

e M| RME

(BRRBEREN

B EBEANARETTIIR)

39. EEMRAEMER(A)

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

ESRITRARME (F)

()  KIMELEIREAEENEERT

=

B °

(i) MBI ZELREXERZLEH2022
F)H14BERE -

(i) MEHZELMR2022F5H20H K8
£ o

(iv) ®&EBEEN2022F58200 %
£

B £20239F N2022%F12A31H
WWFE  EFSENEEAME -

H 220239 N2022%12A31H
WEFE  AEENERZESZ B
SERMARSE R RE)SIEABE
BimE o

EEENKER

H 2£20239F M2022%F12A31H
HFE AEEYERESI 5
BEEAXRRGEEFARESIEM
AR 75 i A & B & 8 Y % B s iR K
FrEIMmRE A RKEF -

ESEEBERN

B £2023F K2022%F12A31H
HFE AEEVERESI AR
B E B 2 BE(E o

ME=FXTREEERFE 2K
&

#H £2023F K20229F12A31H
LEFE AEBEUVENRRHEEER
BmRE=ZFIRENEE -



Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

39. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(CONTINUED)

(e)

(f)

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other
dealings in favour of directors, controlled
bodies corporate by and connected entities
with such directors

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and
2022, no loans, quasi-loans or other dealings in
favour of directors of the Company, controlled
bodies corporate by and connected entities with
such directors.

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

Save as disclosed in Note 36, during the years
ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, no other
significant transactions, arrangements and contracts
in relation to the Group’s business to which the
Company was a party and in which a director of the
Company had a material interest, whether directly
or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at
any time during the year.

40. EVENTS OCCURRING AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

According to the resolution of the Huabao Flavours
Group's special general meeting held on 5 January 2024,
the Board of Directors of the Company and Huabao
Flavours Group have duly agreed to grant 14.5 million
restricted shares to 46 eligible incentive recipients of
Huabao Flavours Group at an exercise price of RMB10.93
per share. At the time the financial statements were
authorised for issue, the Group had not yet completed
the estimation of its financial effect.
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Five Year Financial Summary

(All amount in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

EFMERE

(BRBEREIN - IEELBAUARETTIIR)

RESULTS e

Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended  Year ended
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
HE2019%F HZ2020F  HZ201F  HEZ2nE  BEABE
12F31H 128318 128318 12R31H 128318
IHERE LtFE IHERE tFE ILEE
Revenue EELE 4,241,040 3,854,058 3,882,683 3,828,984 3,307,839
Gross profit 5 2,745,410 2,442,407 2,296,662 1,877,563 1,469,365
Profit/(loss) before income tax BEAER/ (5E) 1,745,817 948,821 1,147,377 (720,210) 415,925
Income tax expenses FERRAX (372,076) (280,382) (251,593) (180,840) (125,442)
Profit/(loss) for the year AEERH/(BE) 1,373,741 668,439 895,784 (901,050) 290,483

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREGRE
As at As at As at As at As at
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
201945 2020 M20214 20224 R2023 &
120318 128318 120318 128318 128318
Total assets BEE 17,963,635 17,678,054 18,025,129 16,619,022 16,002,111
Total liabilities BeE (4,364,162)  (3,983,805)  (2,306,310)  (2,061,584)  (1,730,974)
Net assets FEE 13,599,473 13,694,249 15,718,819 14,557,438 14,271,137
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Five Year Financial Summary

EFMERE

(All amount in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (BREAEEBEEI  FTBBIUARETTIIR)
OTHER FINANCIAL INFORMATION H {th B 5 BB
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
2019% 2020 2021 2022F 2023 F
Earnings/(loss) per share, BREF/ (BR) -
basic (RMB cents) ER(ARES) 35.78 13.46 21.70 (32.65) 7.23
Earnings/(loss) per share, BRER/ (BR) -
diluted (RMB cents) 5 (ARED) 35.78 13.46 21.70 (32.65) 1.3
Aqgregated dividend per share BREGRE(BL)
(HKD cents) 18.8 9.0 8.4 - 2.4
Aqgregated special dividend BREERIRE (AL
per share (HKD cents) - 6.0 - 8.48 6.1
Financial year-end share price (HKD) YBEREZBREET) 2.86 10.68 14.40 4.03 2.49
EBIT ratio EBITX 40.8% 23.4% 28.7% -15.9% 11.4%
EBITDA ratio EBITDA X 47.0% 43.4% 43.5% 32.2% 22.9%
ROE ROE 9.4% 3.5% 5.2% -71.9% 1.9%
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Glossary

AGM

Board

Broad Far

Broad Far Group

Bye-laws
CAGR
CEO

CG Code

cGu

Chemactive
Company or Huabao

Director(s)

Executive Director(s)
FCG

Group

Guangdong Jiahao
Guangdong Jinke
Guangdong Jinye

Guangdong Jinye Group

Annual general meeting

The board of directors of the
Company

Broad Far Limited

Broad Far and its subsidiaries and
related companies

Bye-laws of the Company
compound annual growth rate
Chief Executive Officer

Corporate Governance Code set out
in Appendix C1 of the Listing Rules

Cash-generating unit
Chemactive Investments Limited
Huabao International Holdings
Limited

The director(s) of the Company

Executive director(s) of the
Company

Fellow member of The Chartered
Governance Institute

The Company and its subsidiaries

Guangdong Jiahao Foodstuff Co.,
Ltd.

Guangdong Jinke Reconstituted
Tobacco Leaves Co., Ltd.

Guangdong Golden Leaf Technology
Development Co., Ltd.

Guangdong Jinye and its subsidiaries
and affiliated companies

Huabao International Holdings Limited ¥ ¥ BB} 2% A R A 7
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Glossary

Guangdong Tobacco
Guangdong

Tobacco Company
Guangdong Zhaoging
HKD or HK$
HKFCG
Hong Kong

HNB

Hong Kong
Stock Exchange

Huabao Flavours

INEDs

Interim Period
Jiahao

Jiangxi Xianghai
Junjieshang

Listing Rules

China Tobacco Guangdong
Industrial Co., Ltd.

Guangdong Tobacco and its
subsidiaries and related companies

Zhaoging Perfumery Co., Ltd.
(Guangdong)

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful
currency of Hong Kong

Fellow member of The Hong Kong
Chartered Governance Institute

Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region of the People’s Republic of
China

Heat-not-burn

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited

Huabao Flavours & Fragrances Co.,
Ltd., a joint stock limited company
established in the PRC with limited
liability and an indirect non-wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company

Independent Non-executive
Director(s) of the Company

For the six months ended 30 June
2023

Jiahao Foodstuff Limited and its
subsidiaries

Jiangxi Xianghai Biological
Technology Co., Ltd.

Junjieshang Network Technology
Co., Ltd.

the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Main Board of the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange
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Glossary

Mainland China or PRC

Model Code

Reporting Period

R&D

RMB

RTL
SaasS

Scheme Mandate Limit

SFO

Shareholder(s)

Share(s) or
ordinary share(s)

Shenzhen Stock
Exchange

STMA

u.s.

USD or US$

276

The People’s Republic of China

Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers set out in Appendix C3 of
the Listing Rules

For the year ended 31 December
2023

Research and development

Renminbi, the lawful currency of
the PRC

Reconstituted Tobacco Leaves
software as a service

The Maximum number of Shares in
respect of which share options may
be granted under the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option

scheme(s) of the Company

the Securities and Futures

Ordinance, Chapter 571 of the Laws

of Hong Kong
Shareholder(s) of the Company

Ordinary share(s) of HKDO0.10 each
in the capital of the Company

Shenzhen Stock Exchange in the
PRC

State Tobacco Monopoly
Administration

United States of America

US dollars, the lawful currency of
the United States of America
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